Evaluating the abiotic stress tolerance of transgenic barley expressing an Arabidopsis vacuolar proton-pumping pyrophosphatase gene (AVP1)

> Rhiannon Kate Schilling B. Sc. Ag. Sc. (Hons)

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Faculty of Sciences School of Agriculture, Food & Wine The University of Adelaide



June 2014

Table of Contents

	Page
List of figures	IV
List of tables	VIII
List of appreviations	IX
	XI
	XII
List of publications	XIII
List of awards	XIII
Acknowledgements	XİV
Chapter 1: Literature review and research aims	
Background	2
Arabidopsis vacuolar H+-pyrophosphatase (AVP1)	
Phenotypes of transgenic plants expressing AVP1	9
Refining the phenotypes of transgenic plants expressing AVP1	16
Research aims	18
References	
Chapter 2: Evaluating the salinity tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	24
Statement of contributions	
Title page	
Summary	27
Introduction	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Experimental procedures	
Acknowledgements	42
References	
Tables	
Figures legends	47
Figures	
Supporting information	55
Additional information	
Chapter 3: Evaluating the low phosphorus tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	
Statement of contributions	
Title page	71
Abstract	
Background	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Methods	

Competing interests	Page 86
Acknowledgements	86
References	87
Figure legends	90
Figures	92
Additional files	96
Chapter 4: Evaluating the low nitrate tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	
Statement of contributions	
Title page	
Abstract	
Background	
Experimental design	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
Reference	
Tables	
Figure legends	
Figures	
Supplementary figures	
Chapter 5: Evaluating the tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley to combined stresses	
Statement of contributions	
Title page	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Results	141
Discussion	145
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
References	
Tables	
Figure legends	
Figures	
Supplementary figures	
Chapter 6: Evaluating the seedling vigour of transgenic AVP1 barley	
Statement of contributions	
Title page	
Abstract	
Introduction	

	Pag
Experimental design	178
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
References	
Table legends	
Tables	
Figure legends	
Figures	
Supplementary figures	
Chapter 7: Fine-tuning the expression of AVP1 in transgenic barley	
Statement of contributions	
Title page	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Experimental design	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgments	
References	
Figure legends	
Figures	
Supplementary figures	
Additional information	
Chapter 8: General discussion	
Review of thesis aims	
Summary of the main findings	
Implications of thesis findings	
Future research	
Concluding remarks	
References	
Chapter 9: Appendix	

List of Figures

	Page
Chapter 1: Review of literature and research aims	1
Figure 1. AVP1 and auxin distribution and abundance in plant cells	5
Figure 2. Outline of sucrose synthesis and other metabolic process that synthesis PPi	6
Figure 3. Proposed model of AVP1 in sucrose phloem-loading	8
Chapter 2: Evaluating the salinity tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	24
Figure 1. Molecular characterisation of wild-type, null segregants and transgenic barley expressing AVP1	
Figure 2. Projected shoot area of salt-treated transgenic barley expressing AVP1 and	50
Figure 2. Loof Net and Kt concentration of transmission barley surrossing. AV/D4 is called and	50
Figure 3. Leaf Na ⁺ and K ⁺ concentration of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 in saline soli. Figure 4. Non-destructive plant imaging of salt-treated transgenic barley expressing AVP1	51
and null segregants	52
Figure 5. Soil characterisation of a saline field trial site	53
Figure 6. Shoot biomass of wild-type and transgenic barley expressing AVP1 in a saline field trial	54
Figure S1. Leaf Na ⁺ and K ⁺ concentration of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley	F7
in a field with high salinity	5/
Figure A1. The saline GW field trial design at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2012	59
Figure A2. The saline Givi field trial design at Kunjin, western Australian in 2013	60
Figure A3. Shoot biomass of wild-type and 335:AVPT barley in a field with the low and high calibrity in 2012	C 4
Figure A4. The sheet biomass of wild type and 25S: AV/D1 in the low colinity field in 2012	01
Figure A4. The shoot biomass of wild-type and 355.AVP1 in the low samily held in 2015	02
a field with low and high salinity in 2012	63
Eigure A6 Loaf Nat. Kt and CL concentration of wild type and 25S: AV/P1 harley in the	05
low salinity field in 2013	64
Figure A7 Average rainfall for Corrigin Western Australia in 2012 and 2013	0 4 65
Figure A8. The soil electrical conductivity of individual plots in low and high salinity	05
areas of field at Kuniin. Western Australia in 2012	66
Chapter 3: Evaluating the low phosphorus tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	 69
Figure 1 Shoot biomass of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in a soil with low P	00
availability amended with sufficient and low P	92
Figure 2 Shoot and root biomass of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in hydroponics	02
with sufficient and low P concentration	93
Figure 3. Shoot and root P concentration of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in	
hydroponics with low P concentration	
Figure 4. Bromocresol purple images of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley roots from	
hydroponic conditions with low P supply	95
Figure S1. Root biomass of wild-type and transgenic <i>AVP1</i> barley in a soil with low P	00
availability amenueu with sumclent and two and transcense AV/21 berlay	
rigure 52. Grant F concentration of wild-type and transgenic AVF / balley	100

Figure S3. Shoot P concentration of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in a soil with	Page
low P availability	101
Figure S4. Shoot and root P content of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in hydroponic conditions with sufficient and low P supply	s 102
Figure S5. The rhizosphere pH of wild-type and transgenic <i>AVP1</i> barley in a soil with low P	102
availability amended with sufficient and low P	103
Chapter 4: Evaluating the low nitrate tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	104
Figure 1. Shoot and root biomass of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley in 5 mM and 0.5 mM NO ₃ - treatments	126
Figure 2. Dry matter root:shoot ratio of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley in 5 mN and 0.5 mM NO ₃ - treatments	1 127
Figure 3. Leaf SPAD values of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley in 5 mM and 0.5 mM NO_{2} treatments	128
Figure 4. Root NO ₃ - influx values of null segregants and transgenic $AVP1$ barley in 5 mM	120
Eigure S1 Image of hydronenics and unidirectional 15N labelled experiment flux set up	129
Figure S1. Image of hydroponics and unique ctional "N-labelled experiment hux set-up	
Figure S2. Relative real AVPT expression revers in null segregants and transgenic AVPT	404
Chanter 5: Evaluating the telerance of transgenia AVP1 herlay to combined stranges	131 120
Eigure 1. Shoet and reat biomage of W///220 and Colden Dromise barlow in control	132
Figure 1. Shoot and toot biomass of Wi4550 and Golden Fromise barley in control,	150
Figure 2. Loof Net. Kt and Chooppontrations of W///220 and Colden Droming barlow in	159
Figure 2. Lear Na ² , R ² and Gr concentrations of Wi4550 and Golden Fromise barrey in	160
Eigure 3. Cumulative plant water use of W///230 and Colden Promise barlow in control	100
matrix only combined and esmetic only treatments	161
Figure 4. Shoet and reat biomage of pull approaches and 25S: AV/D1 borlow in control	101
Figure 4. Shoot and root biomass of null segregatits and SSS.AVFT barrey in control,	160
Figure 5. Loof Net. Kt and Chooppontrations of null appropriate and 25S: AV/D1 horlow in	102
equire 5. Leal Na ⁺ , R ⁺ and Ci concentrations of hun segregants and 555.AVF / barrey in	162
Figure 6. Cumulative plant water use of pull segregants and 25S AV/P1 barlov in control	105
matric only combined and esmetic only treatments	164
Figure S1. A soil water retention curve of a sandy learn from Monarte. South Australia	104
Figure S1. A soll water retention curve of a salidy loan norm wonarto, South Australia	100
Figure S2. Electrical conductivity (EC1:5) of soil incubated with different rates of NaCi	
and transgonic AVP1 barlov	167
Eigure S4, Dry metter restricted to the of WI4220 and Colden Bromiss in control metric only	107
esphined and espectic only treatments	/, 160
Eigure S5 Loof SDAD value of W//220 and Calden Dramine in control, matrix only	100
Figure 55. Lear SFAD value of W14550 and Golden Fromise in control, matric only,	460
Eigure SG Loof SDAD value of cull approache and transcenie AV/D1 hadavia control	109
rigure So. Lear SFAD value of null segregants and transgenic AVPT barley in control,	170
mathe only, complined and osmolic only treatments	170

	Page
Chapter 6: Evaluating the seedling vigour of transgenic AVP1 barley	171
Figure 1. Shoot and root biomass of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley at 11 d	
after seed imbibition at 0 mM NaCl	203
Figure 2. Total plant biomass of null segregants and transgenic <i>AVP1</i> barley at 0 mM NaCl	004
	204
Figure 3. Lotal root length and average root diameter of null segregants and transgenic	005
AVP1 barley at 0 mM NaCl between at 11 d after seed imbibition	205
Figure 4. Projected shoot and root area of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley at	
0 mM NaCl between 3 to 11 d after seed imbibition	206
Figure 5. Longitudinal seed cross sections and average dry weight of intact embryos of	
wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley	207
Figure 6. Leaf glucose-6-P, galactose, ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in	
transgenic AVP1 barley in the Smirnoff and Wheeler ascorbic acid pathway	208
Figure 7. Length and width of 1 st leaf and size and number of by adaxial epidermal cells in	
transgenic AVP1 barley at 11 d after seed imbibition in 0 mM NaCI	209
Figure S1. Image of the non-destructive paper roll germination assay set-up	. 210
Figure S2. Microscope image of an adaxial leaf imprint of wild-type barley	211
Figure S3. Shoot and root biomass of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley at 11 d	
after imbibition at 100 mM NaCl	. 212
Figure S4. Total plant biomass of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley at 100 mM	
NaCl between 2 to 11 d after seed imbibition	213
Figure S5. Longitudinal sections of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley seeds stained in	
	214
Figure S6. Microscope images showing starch granules in the solution surrounding the	
root hairs of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley	215
Figure S7. Image of transgenic AVP1 barley showing twinning phenotype	. 216
Chapter 7: Fine-tuning the expression of AVP1 in transgenic barley	217
Figure 1. Histochemical GUS staining of <i>ZmRab17:uidA</i> barley leaf and roots at 0 or	
200 mM NaCl	242
Figure 2. Relative AVP1 expression level in the roots of ZmRab17:AVP1 and ZmUbi:AVP1	
barley at 0 mM and 200 mM NaCl	243
Figure 3. Shoot and root biomass of wild-type, null segregants and ZmRab17:AVP1 and	
ZmUbi:AVP1 barley at 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCl	244
Figure 4. Average root length of wild-type, null segregants and <i>ZmRab17:AVP1</i> and	
ZmUbi:AVP1 barley at 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCl	245
Figure 5. Average leaf SPAD value of wild-type, null segregants and ZmRab17:AVP1 and	
ZmUbi:AVP1 barley at 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCl	246
Figure 6. Leaf and root Na ⁺ concentrations of wild-type, null segregants and ZmRab17:AVP1	
and <i>ZmUbi:AVP1</i> barley at 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCl	. 247
Figure 7. Leaf and root K ⁺ concentrations of wild-type, null segregants and ZmRab17:AVP1	
and <i>ZmUbi:AVP1</i> barley at 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCl	. 248

	Figure S1. Histochemical GUS staining of <i>ZmRab17:uidA</i> barley leaf and roots at 0 and	Page
	200 mM NaCl	
	Figure S2. Shoot and root biomass of null segregants, ZmRab17:AVP1-2 and 35S:AVP1	
	barley (cv. WI4330) at 0 and 200 mM NaCl	250
	Figure S3. Relative AVP1 expression in leaf tissue of null segregants, ZmRab17:AVP1-2 and	
	35S:AVP1 barley (cv. WI4330) at 0 mM NaCl	251
	Figure S4. Leaf and root Na ⁺ , K ⁺ and Cl ⁻ concentrations of null segregants,	
	ZmRab17:AVP1-2 and 35S:AVP1 barley (cv. WI4330) at 200 mM NaCl	252
	Figure S5. Leaf Na+, K+ and CI- concentrations of null segregants, ZmRab17:AVP1-2 and	
	35S:AVP1 barley (cv. WI4330) at 0 mM NaCl	253
	Figure A1. Images of wild-type, ZmRab17:AVP1 and ZmUbi:AVP1 barley at a non-saline	
	GM field site near O'Halloran Hill, South Australia	255
Cl	napter 8: General discussion	256
	Figure 1. A flowchart outlining various traits observed or hypothesised to be contributing to	
	the larger growth of transgenic plants expressing AVP1	263
	Figure 2. Large variation in salinity influences plant density in the high salinity field trial plots	267
	Figure 3. Image of waterlogging at the saline GM field trial plots at Kunjin, WA	267

List of Tables

	Page
Chapter 2: Evaluating the salinity tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	24
Table 1. The number of heads, number of grains, grain weight and grain yield per plant of	
transgenic barley expressing AVP1	46
Table S1. Projected shoot area and relative growth rates of null segregants and transgenic	
AVP1 barley at 0 mM NaCl	55
Table S2. Grain yield of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in a non-saline field	56
Table A1. The number of tillers, grains per plant, grain weight, grain yield per plant and	
plot grain yield of wild-type and 35S:AVP1 in a field with low and high salinity in 2012	67
Table A2. The number of tillers and total plot grain yield of wild-type and 35S:AVP1 in	
a field with low salinity in 2013	68
Chapter 3: Evaluating the low phosphorus tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	69
Table S1. The number of root tips, root length and root diameter of wild-type and transgenic	
AVP1 barley in hydroponic conditions with low P supply	96
Table S2. The amount of plant available P (resin P) in a low available P soil from Monarto,	
South Australia after amendment with various levels of CaHPO2.2H2O	97
Table S3. The shoot biomass of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in a low available P	
soil amended with varied levels of CaHPO2.2H2O	98
Chapter 4: Evaluating the low nitrate tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley	104
Table 1. Shoot and root N concentration of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley at	
5 mM and 0.5 mM NO ₃	123
Table 2. Shoot and root N contents of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley at 5 mM	
and 0.5 mM NO ₃	124
Chapter 5: Evaluating the tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley to combined stresses	
Table 1. Matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments	
Chapter 6: Evaluating the seedling vigour of transgenic AVP1 barley	171
Table 1. Metabolite levels of amino acids and amines, sugars, organic acids and other	
compounds in the 1 st leaf of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley at 0 mM NaCl	198
Table 2. Metabolite levels of amino acids and amines, sugars, organic acids and other	
compounds in the roots of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley at 0 mM NaCl	199

List of Abbreviations

3'	three prime of nucleic acid sequence
5'	five prime, of nucleic acid sequence
~	approximately
°C	degrees Celsius
Ψ_	matric potential
(-)	negative control (water)
	Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics
	analysis of variance
	type-1 Arabidonsis vacuolar H+-nyronhosnhatase
	agin-of-function AV/P1 allele
hn	hase nairs of nucleic acid
by	base pairs, or nucleic acid
	calcium chlorido
CL	
CIII	
CV.	
	day(s)
DNA	deoxyribonucieic acid
	deoxynucleotide tripnosphate
dS	deciSiemens
DHA	denydroascorbic acid
dpi	dots per inch
DW	dry weight
EC _{1:5}	electrical conductivity of 1:5 (soil:water) extract
ECa	apparent soil electrical conductivity
EM	electromagnetic
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations
FW	fresh weight
g	gram(s)
gDNA	genomic deoxyribonucleic acid
GM	genetically modified
GRDC	Grains Research and Development Corporation
GUS	β-glucuronidase protein
h	hour(s)
H⁺	hydrogen ion
H⁺-PPase	proton-pumping pyrophosphatase
H+-ATPase	proton-pumping adenosine 5'-triphosphatase
ha	hectare
H ₂ O	water
HCI	hydrochloric acid
ICP-OES	Inductive Couple Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometry
K⁺	potassium ion
kg	kilogram(s)

kPa	kiloPascal(s)
L	litre(s)
Μ	molar
mg	milligram(s)
Mg ²⁺	magnesium ion
min	minute(s)
mL	millilitre(s)
mm	millimetre(s)
mM	milliMolar
MPa	megaPascal(s)
n	sample size
Na ⁺	sodium ion
NaCl	sodium chloride
NO ₃ -	nitrate
nulls	null segregants
P	nhosphorus
	polymerase chain reaction
nH	power of hydrogen
рп D.	orthophosphate
	plasma mombrano
Г IVI РО.3-	plasma membrane
	inorgania nyronhoanhata
	norganic pyrophosphale
рил	ribenueleie eeid
RI-PUR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SA	
S	seconds
SVVP	soli water potential
	1st progeny of primary transformant
	2 nd , 3 nd , 4 ^m and 5 ^m progeny of 1 ₁ plant
uidA	β -glucuronidase gene
UV	ultraviolet light
VRI	vernalisation
V/V	volume per volume
WA	Western Australia
WABC	Western Australia Biogeochemistry Centre
WAS	Waite Analytical Services
wk	week(s)
WHC	water holding capacity
WT	wild-type
w/v	weight per volume
X-Gluc	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indoyl-glucuronide
μg	microgram(s)
μL	microlitre(s)
μm	micrometre(s)
μM	micromolar
µmol	micromole(s)
μS	microSiemens

Abstract

Commercially relevant barley varieties with improved abiotic stress tolerance are needed to increase crop productivity. Previously, transgenic barley with constitutive *CaMV* 35S expression of *AVP1*, a gene encoding the type I *Arabidopsis* vacuolar proton-pumping pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase), had a larger shoot biomass in non-saline and saline conditions compared to null segregants. However, the growth and grain yield of the transgenic *AVP1* barley was yet to be evaluated in a saline field. It was also yet to be investigated whether the larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley in both non-saline and saline conditions arose from a change in tissue solute accumulation, water use, plant nutrition, carbohydrate metabolism, heterotrophic growth or a combination of these traits. In addition, for this *AVP1* technology to be applicable for barley grain growers, a commercially relevant transgenic *AVP1* barley cultivar with well-regulated control of *AVP1* expression was needed.

The first focus of this project evaluated the growth and grain yield of *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. Golden Promise) in a low and high salinity field near Kunjin, Western Australia. Field trial results validated greenhouse-based findings of improved shoot biomass in transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to wild-type. Furthermore, results demonstrated for the first time that transgenic *AVP1* barley had increased grain yield per plant compared to wild-type in a field with high salinity. These findings suggest that transgenic *AVP1* barley is a promising option to help increase the grain yield of cereal crops in a saline field.

The second focus of this project investigated the abiotic stress tolerance and potential factors contributing to the larger shoot biomass of *35S:AVP1* barley. At low phosphorus (P) supply, *35S:AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass, greater root P uptake and increased rhizosphere acidification compared to wild-type. At low nitrate (NO₃⁻) supply, two *35S:AVP1* barley lines had increased shoot biomass but with no difference in NO₃⁻ uptake capacity compared to null segregants. The shoot biomass of *35S:AVP1* barley was also increased compared to null segregants under low water availability and low water availability concurrent with salinity. Furthermore, an increase in plant biomass from 6 days after seed imbibition, thus seedling vigour, was detectable in *35S:AVP1* barley compared to null segregants. Leaf metabolites involved in ascorbic acid synthesis were also significantly altered in the *35S:AVP1* barley compared to null segregants. Collectively, these findings suggest that a combination of traits is contributing to the improved growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley.

The third focus of this project evaluated the salt stress inducibility of the *ZmRab17* promoter and investigated the salinity tolerance of commercially relevant barley (cv. WI4330) expressing *AVP1* via the *ZmRab17* and the constitutive *ZmUbi1* promoter. The *ZmRab17* promoter was salt-stress inducible in barley root stelar cells with basal transgene expression in non-saline conditions. However, the shoot and root biomass of *ZmRab17*:*AVP1* and *ZmUbi1*:*AVP1* barley did not differ to wild-type and null segregants in saline conditions. These findings suggest that the type of promoter driving *AVP1* expression in transgenic barley is an important factor.

Declaration

This work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution to Rhiannon Kate Schilling and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

The author acknowledges that copyright of published works contained within this thesis (as listed below^{*}) resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library catalogue, the Australasian Digital Theses Program (ADTP) and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

*Schilling, R. K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J., and Plett, D.C. (2014). "Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field" <u>Plant Biotechnology Journal</u> **12**(3): 378-386.

.....

R. K. Schilling

Date

List of Publications

Research Articles

Schilling, R. K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J., and Plett, D.C. (2014). "Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field" <u>Plant Biotechnology Journal</u> **12**(3): 378-386. (5-year IF: 6.247)

List of Awards

The following prizes were awarded to Rhiannon K. Schilling during her PhD candidature:

The AgPOGS Prize (2012)

Awarded for the best oral presentation by audience choice at the University of Adelaide, School of Agriculture, Food and Wine Postgraduate Symposium by the Waite Agriculture Postgraduate Society.

The K.P. Barley Prize (2012)

Awarded by the Faculty of Sciences to a postgraduate student within the School of Agriculture, Food & Wine or the School of Earth & Environmental Sciences at The University of Adelaide on the basis of academic merit and research performance.

The Max Tate Prize (2012)

Awarded for the best oral presentation at the University of Adelaide, School of Agriculture, Food and Wine Postgraduate Symposium.

The Royal Society of South Australia Postgraduate Student Prize (2nd)

Awarded runner-up for the best oral presentation by a South Australian postgraduate student delivered at the Royal Society of South Australia meeting in 2012.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge and thank my PhD supervisors: Dr. Stuart Roy, Dr. Darren Plett, Prof. Petra Marschner and Prof. Mark Tester. I am fortunate to have had the opportunity to work with you all and greatly appreciate all your input into this project. You were all excellent supervisors who helped to guide me in the right direction, whilst giving me the freedom to research the questions that were of interest to me. Thank you all for the helpful advice and for always encouraging me to achieve my best.

I would also like to thank my independent advisor, Dr. Julie Hayes, for providing valuable input into my experimental designs and for helping to ensure my PhD project had tangible outcomes.

I am also grateful to the many people who have helped me during my PhD experiments. At the end of each chapter, I have included an acknowledgments section to thank those who have contributed to specific aspects of my PhD. I would also like to thank Kalyx Australia (Perth, WA), particularly Dr. Peter Carlton, Mrs. Caris Smith and Mr. Peter Burgess, for their assistance in conducting the GM field trials near Kunjin, WA. I am also grateful for the time and effort of Mrs. Jan Nield who completed the necessary reporting procedures to ensure the GM field trials in this project were compliant to all OGTR licence conditions; Dr. Andrew Jacobs for his help in organising the logistics of GM field trials; and the ACPFG administration team for their help in organising my frequent travel across to WA. I would also like to thank The Plant Accelerator team for their assistance during the hire of a PC2 greenhouse and growth chamber. I would like to acknowledge the financial support of a Grains Industry Research Scholarship from the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) and an Australian Postgraduate Award (APA). In addition, I would like to thank the Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics (ACPFG) for providing the resources necessary to undertake my PhD at The University of Adelaide, Waite campus.

To all the lab members of the ACPFG Salt Focus Group both past and present, particularly Dr. Monique Shearer, Mrs. Jessica Bovill, Dr. Aurelie Evard, Dr. Bo Li, Dr. Sandra Schmöckel, Mr. Gordon Wellman, Dr. Nawar Shayma, Dr. Joanne Tillbrook, Ms. Wenmian Huang, Ms. Jiaen Qiu, Dr. Aris Hairmansis, Ms. Melissa Pickering and Ms. Jodie Kretschmer, thank you all for helping to make daily life as a PhD student enjoyable. To all the lab members both past and present of the Soil Biology Group at the University of Adelaide thank you also for your support and friendship throughout my PhD.

Finally, to all my family and friends, particularly my parents Nigel and Wendy, thank you for your endless support and for always encouraging me to follow my interests.

Chapter 1

Literature review and research aims

Background

Need to improve the abiotic stress tolerance of cereal crops

Abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity and low nutrient availability, reduce the grain yield of cereal crops (Boyer, 1982; Tester and Bacic, 2005). Globally, crop growth is limited by both frequent drought events in arid and semi-arid regions and by salinity in more than 77 million ha of arable land (Boyer, 1982; Munns, 2002). Vast amounts of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) fertiliser used to increase yield of cereal crops is also inefficient and costly, with estimates suggesting \$2.3 billion of farm input costs in Australia alone are due to fertiliser use (ABARE, 2012). Furthermore, the impact of abiotic stresses on crop production is predicted to intensify in the future due to increasing land degradation, climate variability, urban expansion, and rising farm input costs (Burke et al., 2006; Tester and Langridge, 2010). With the human population expected to reach 9 billion people by the year 2050 (http://faostat.fao.org), it has been estimated that global food production will need to increase by a further 44 million tons each year above current increases (Tester and Langridge, 2010). The development of cereal crop varieties with improved abiotic stress tolerance is therefore needed to help increase crop productivity (Schroeder et al., 2013; Tester and Langridge, 2010).

Commercially relevant barley varieties with improved abiotic stress tolerance are needed

Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) is the fourth most cultivated cereal crop in the world (FAO, 2013). Malting and feed barley are important commodities for both the brewing and livestock industries respectively (Baik and Ullrich, 2008). In 2011-2012, the Australian grain harvest alone yielded 8.6 million tons of barley with an export value of \$1.8 billion (ABARE, 2012). However, abiotic stresses limit the productivity of barley production (Colmer et al., 2005; Jamieson et al., 1995; Raun and Johnson, 1999). Furthermore, success in breeding new varieties of barley with improved abiotic stress tolerance is limited, due to the complexity of abiotic stress tolerance, variation in the timing and extent of stresses (genotype x environment) influencing plant selection processes, and the lack of desired traits in closely related species (Cushman

and Bohnert, 2000; Richards, 1996; Tester and Bacic, 2005; Vinocur and Altman, 2005). Alternatively, the use of genetic engineering provides an opportunity to advance the development of barley varieties with improved abiotic stress tolerance (Cushman and Bohnert, 2000; Schroeder et al., 2013). The transfer of one or more candidate genes for abiotic stress tolerance into barley, such as genes involved in stress signalling, growth regulation, ion transport or reactive oxygen scavenging, has the potential to help improve the abiotic stress tolerance of this cereal crop (Cushman and Bohnert, 2000; Roy et al., 2011; Schroeder et al., 2013). The development of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1*, a gene encoding a vacuolar proton-pumping pyrophosphatase (H*-PPase) from *Arabidopsis thaliana*, is one such example with the potential to improve the abiotic stress tolerance of barley.

Arabidopsis vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase (AVP1)

Role in vacuolar ion sequestration

Vacuolar H⁺-PPases (EC. 3.6.1.1) have a number of key roles in plants (Barkla and Pantoja, 1996; Maeshima, 2000; Martinoia et al., 2007; Rea and Poole, 1993; Robinson, 1996). In *Arabidopsis*, three genes (*AVP1*, *AVP2* and *AVP3*) encoding vacuolar H⁺-PPases have been identified (Drozdowicz et al., 2000; Sarafian et al., 1992). AVP1 is a type I K⁺-dependent vacuolar H⁺-PPase and both AVP2 and AVP3 are type II K⁺-insensitive vacuolar H⁺-PPases (Drozdowicz and Rea, 2001; Sarafian et al., 1992). However, compared to AVP2 and AVP3, much more research has focused on characterising AVP1. AVP1 is a tonoplast bound protein which uses energy derived from the hydrolysis of cytosolic inorganic pyrophosphate (PP_i) to orthophosphate (P_i) to actively pump H⁺ from the cytoplasm into vacuoles (Duan et al., 2007; Kim et al., 1994; Zhen et al., 1997). This process (1) reduces the PP_i concentration in the cytoplasm and (2) increases the acidification of vacuoles (Ferjani et al., 2011; Maeshima, 2000). The increased vacuole acidification by vacuolar H⁺-PPases (and vacuolar H⁺-ATPases (EC. 3.6.1.3) establishes an electrochemical difference for H⁺ across the tonoplast (Maeshima, 2000; Sze et al., 1992). This electrochemical difference can be used by other vacuolar transporters, such as sodium/proton (Na⁺/H⁺) antiporters, to pump ions into vacuoles (Blumwald, 2000). Hence, vacuolar H⁺-PPases have been implicated in facilitating the sequestration of ions into vacuoles, which can enhance cell turgor and reduce the accumulation of toxic ions, such as Na⁺, in the cytoplasm (Blumwald, 2000). In addition to facilitating (1) vacuolar ion sequestration, it has also been proposed that AVP1 regulates a number of other traits including (2) auxin abundance and distribution, (3) heterotrophic growth and (4) loading of sucrose into the phloem (Ferjani et al., 2011; Gaxiola et al., 2012; Li et al., 2005).

Role in auxin abundance and distribution

AVP1 is thought to facilitate auxin transport and regulate auxin dependent organogenesis (Li et al., 2005) (Figure 1). *Arabidopsis* mutants without functioning AVP1 (*avp1-1*), due to an insertion of transfer-DNA (t-DNA) in the fifth exon preventing full-length transcription, had poor root, shoot and flower development (Li et al., 2005). The rosette leaf size of *avp1-1* mutants were 20 % smaller than wild-type and root cell elongation was disrupted in mutant plants compared to wild-type (Li et al., 2005). Conversely, transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* had a greater number and size of rosette leaves, due to an increase in cell number and a greater number of plasma membrane (PM) H*-ATPases and Pinformed 1 (PIN1) auxin efflux facilitator proteins compared to wild-type (Li et al., 2005) (Figure 1). The shoot tissue of *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* also had 50 % higher auxin content than wild-type (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Li et al., 2005) and transgenic bentgrass expressing *AVP1* had significantly higher root auxin content than wild-type (Li et al., 2010). However, other loss-of-function *Arabidopsis* mutants (*fugu5*) defective in AVP1 activity due to point mutations lacked an auxin phenotype suggesting AVP1 may not alter auxin fluxes or abundance and that the auxin phenotype of *avp1-1* plants may be allele specific (Ferjani et al., 2011).



Figure 1 This schematic depicts cells of the recessive *Arabidopsis* loss-of-function *AVP1* mutant (*avp1-1*), wild-type and *Arabidopsis* plant over-expressing *AVP1*. It is suggested that AVP1 may regulate auxinmediated organ development by altering the distribution and abundance of plasma membrane (PM) H⁺⁻ adenosine triphosphatase (H⁺-ATPase) and Pinformed 1 auxin efflux facilitator (PIN1). The mutant *avp1-1* plants have no AVP1 at the tonoplast (yellow shaded circle) and decreased PM H⁺-ATPase (dark blue shaded circle) and PIN1 (green shaded circle) compared to wild-type. While transgenic plants overexpressing *AVP1* have increased AVP1 at the tonoplast and increased PM H⁺-ATPase and PIN1 at the plasma membrane compared to wild-type. Source: Li et al., (2005).

Role in heterotrophic growth

Another proposed role of AVP1 is the hydrolysis of cytosolic PP_i, and thus, the regulation of cytosolic PP_i concentrations (Ferjani et al., 2011). Various metabolic reactions generate PP_i as a by-product including the synthesis of fatty acids, aminoacyl-tRNA, nucleic acids, cellulose, starch and sucrose (Maeshima,

2000). *Arabidopsis fugu5* mutants, which are defective in the *AVP1* gene, had 60 % fewer and 175 % larger cells in the cotyledon than wild-type (Ferjani et al., 2011). In addition, the *fugu5* mutants had 2.5-fold higher PP_i contents per seedling, around 50 % less sucrose per seedling and lacked heterotrophic growth when compared to wild-type (Ferjani et al., 2011). However, the wild-type phenotype was recovered in *fugu5* mutants when either sucrose or glucose was supplied in their growth media or when they were genetically engineered to express *IPP1*, a transgene encoding a cytosolic soluble inorganic pyrophosphatase from yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) (Ferjani et al., 2011). The authors suggest that the enhanced removal of cytosolic PP_i, which is an inhibitor of gluconeogenesis at high levels, could enhance gluconeogenesis and thus plant heterotrophic growth (Ferjani et al., 2011).



Figure 2 An outline of sucrose synthesis and other metabolic processes that generate inorganic pyrophosphate (PP_i) (outlined in red) including (a) the synthesis of fatty acids, (b) the breakdown of Fructose 1,6-b-P to Fructose 6-P, (c) the breakdown of Glucose-1-P to UDP-glucose and (d) the synthesis of nucleic acids, proteins, cellulose and aminoacyl-tRNA. It has been suggested that the main function of

vacuolar H⁺-PPase/FUGU5 is the hydrolysis of cytosolic PP_i enhancing processes, including gluconeogenesis. Source: Ferjani et al., (2011).

Role in loading of sucrose into the phloem

It is also proposed that AVP1 facilitates sucrose phloem-loading, and thus more efficient sucrose transport from source to sink tissues (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2011). It has been hypothesised that AVP1 is localised on the PM in phloem companion cells and can function as a PPi-synthase (Gaxiola et al., 2012). An increase in PP_i synthesis could increase sucrose respiration, and thus ATP supply. helping to facilitate the activity of PM H⁺-ATPases in companion cells (Gaxiola et al., 2012). Greater H⁺-ATPase activity helps to maintain an electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ across the PM of companion cells, and thus, meditate sucrose phloem-loading (Gaxiola et al., 2012). The authors suggest that greater sucrose transport from leaves (source) to roots (sink) could therefore increase root growth and rhizosphere acidification leading to improved nutrient and water uptake in transgenic plants expressing AVP1 (Gaxiola et al., 2012). In support of this hypothesis, there is evidence that AVP1 is localised on the PM of sieve-element companion cells in Arabidopsis (Paez-Valencia et al., 2011) and that vacuolar H+-PPases from other plant species are located on the PM of phloem cells (Langhans et al., 2001; Long et al., 1995; Robinson, 1996). However, it cannot be ruled out that the localisation of H+-PPases at the PM of phloem cells is due to remnants of the tonoplast adhering to the cell surface during sieve-element formation (Long et al., 1995). Nonetheless, it is thermodynamically feasible in vitro for H+-PPases to synthesise PP_i (Baltscheffsky H et al., 1966; Davies et al., 1997; Rocha Façanha and de Meis, 1998; Seufferheld et al., 2004) suggesting it is possible that this 'vacuolar' H+-PPases could alter sucrose phloem-loading (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Robinson, 1996). Furthermore, genes involved with sucrose transport and metabolism, including the sucrose proton symporter SUC1, are up-regulated in Arabidopsis over-expressing AVP1 suggesting AVP1 does influence transporters involved with sucrose phloemloading (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Gonzalez et al., 2010). Irrespective of the exact function of AVP1, this

vacuolar H⁺-PPase has been implicated in altering the phenotype of transgenic plants expressing this transgene (Gaxiola et al., 2001).



Figure 3 A proposed model suggesting H⁺-PPases, such as AVP1, are involved with sucrose (Suc) phloem-loading. It has been hypothesised that in phloem companion cells, AVP1 is localised on the plasma membrane (PM) and acts as a PP_i-synthase. By increasing the concentration of cytosolic PP_i, AVP1 is thought to facilitate sucrose respiration, and thus increase ATP supply, enhancing PM H⁺-ATPase activity in companion cells. Enhanced PM H⁺-ATPase activity helps to maintain an electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ across the PM meditating sucrose phloem-loading. Greater sucrose transport from leaves (source) to roots (sink) may increase root growth and rhizosphere acidification (proton

exudation) leading to improved nutrient and water uptake in transgenic plants expressing AVP1. Source: Gaxiola et al., (2012).

Phenotypes of transgenic plants expressing AVP1

Salinity

The constitutive expression of *AVP1* has been shown to improve the salinity tolerance of a salt-sensitive yeast (Gaxiola et al., 1999) and the growth of many transgenic plants under saline conditions. Compared to wild-type and/or null segregants under salinity stress, transgenic *Arabidopsis* (Gaxiola et al., 2001), lucerne (*Medicago sativa*) (Bao et al., 2009) and barley (Schilling et al., 2014) expressing *AVP1* had increased shoot biomass, transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa*) expressing *AVP1* had larger total plant biomass (Kim et al., 2013) and transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera*) (Li et al., 2010), cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*) (Pasapula et al., 2011) and peanuts (*Arachis hypogaea*) (Qin et al., 2013) expressing *AVP1* had increased shoot and root biomass. Furthermore, in a greenhouse-based experiment, transgenic cotton expressing *AVP1* had greater fibre yield compared to wild-type in saline conditions (Pasapula et al., 2011).

The improved growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in saline conditions has been attributed to AVP1 facilitating an increase in the activity of vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters, and thus greater sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010). It is suggested that the sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles away from cytosolic enzyme activity lessens the toxic effects of this cation and helps to increase the retention of water in plant tissues (Gaxiola et al., 2001). In support of this concept, transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* had increased leaf Na⁺ and a higher leaf water content compared to wild-type after treatment with 100 mM NaCl (Gaxiola et al., 2001). Other transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* also had an increase in shoot and root Na⁺ concentrations in saline conditions (Bao et al., 2009; Li et al., 2010). Measurements using the fluorescent indicator sodium green suggest

that the expression of *AVP1* in transgenic tobacco increases Na⁺ accumulation within vacuoles (Duan et al., 2007). The co-expression of *AVP1* and *PgNHX1*, a gene encoding a vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*), in tomato (Bhaskaran and Savithramma, 2011) and the co-expression of *AVP1* and *SsNHX1*, a gene encoding a vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from the halophyte *Suaeda salsa*, in rice (Zhao et al., 2006) also resulted in larger plant growth and higher leaf Na⁺ accumulation in saline conditions than the expression of either gene alone. This further implies that an enhanced electrochemical difference for H⁺ across the tonoplast by AVP1 can facilitate greater Na⁺ transport into vacuoles by NHX1. Furthermore, transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* had a decrease in vacuole membrane leakage and an increase in net photosynthesis compared to plants without this gene under salinity stress (Bao et al., 2009; Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013). This suggests that transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* have improved tolerance to both the ionic and osmotic effects of NaCl, which helps to improve plant growth under saline conditions.

However, to date, no studies have evaluated the shoot biomass or yield of a transgenic plant expressing *AVP1* in a field with salinity. An important component of a salt-tolerant crop is not only the ability to grow in a saline soil but to also produce high yields (Flowers, 2004). Given that larger plants may use more water, a larger shoot biomass may not necessarily be favourable in the field and could limit grain-filling by depleting soil water earlier in the growing season, particularly if low rainfall occurs at the end of the season (Richards et al., 2002). It is thus important that greenhouse-based findings of increased growth in saline conditions are validated in a field with salinity and that yield traits of transgenic plants are analysed (Flowers, 2004; Plett and Møller, 2010; Roy et al., 2011). Recently, transgenic barley constitutively expressing *AVP1* was shown to have a larger shoot biomass compared to null segregants in soil with a 150 mM NaCl treatment (Schilling, 2010). However, it is yet to be determined whether these transgenic *AVP1* barley lines have increased shoot biomass or altered grain yield in a field with salinity (Schilling, 2010).

Drought

The constitutive expression of AVP1 has been shown to improve the drought tolerance of plants. After 10 d of water deprivation, Arabidopsis over-expressing AVP1 had greater survival and retained more solutes and water in leaf tissue than wild-type (Gaxiola et al., 2001). Transgenic lucerne expressing AVP1 also had a larger shoot biomass, increased leaf water retention and higher photosynthetic rates than wild-type after watering was withheld (Bao et al., 2009). After 13 d of water stress, tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) Mill.) plants expressing AVP1D had a larger root dry weight, higher leaf water potential and improved recovery of shoot growth upon re-watering compared to null segregants (Park et al., 2005). Transgenic cotton and peanuts expressing AVP1 also had a larger shoot and root biomass under reduced irrigation conditions in a greenhouse and higher yields in a dryland field compared to wild-type and/or null segregants (Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013). However, transgenic tomato plants expressing AVP1D did not have improved drought resistance in the field (Yang et al., 2014). The increase in drought tolerance of transgenic plants expressing AVP1, which could not be explained by greater stomata closure, was ascribed to a larger root biomass (Park et al., 2005). A larger root biomass allows increased water uptake from a greater volume of soil and, thus a reduced amount of cell dehydration in transgenic plants expressing AVP1 compared to those without this gene (Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011). However, it is yet to be determined whether transgenic barley expressing AVP1 has a larger root biomass or altered water use in conditions with low water availability compared to plants without this gene (Schilling, 2010).

Low nutrient availability (P and N)

The expression of *AVP1* has been shown to improve the tolerance of transgenic plants to low P supply. Tomato expressing *AVP1D* had a larger shoot and root biomass and increased fruit dry weight production compared to wild-type in soil supplied with 100 ppm of P (Yang et al., 2007). The tomato expressing *AVP1D* also had 25 % more ripened fruit per plant than wild-type in a field with 22 µg P g⁻¹ soil (Yang et al., 2014). In a soil with low P availability (10 µM P/kg soil), *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* had a

larger shoot and root biomass, longer roots and a greater number of lateral roots than wild-type (Yang et al., 2007). This altered root morphology, a known plant response to low soil P (Gahoonia and Nielsen, 2004; Lambers et al., 2006), is thought to enable a greater exploration of soil and a larger root surface area for P uptake (Gaxiola et al., 2011). The transgenic Arabidopsis over-expressing AVP1 also had 2.3fold more shoot biomass than wild-type in soil containing poorly soluble rock phosphate. Furthermore, the transgenic Arabidopsis over-expressing AVP1 had increased root proton exudation compared to wild-type at low P supply (10 µM P), which was attributed to the up-regulated activity of the PM H⁺-ATPase (Yang et al., 2007). This increased rhizosphere acidification, another known plant response to low soil P availability (Hinsinger, 2001), can displace P from poorly soluble aluminium, iron or calcium phosphate complexes to increase P availability for plant uptake (Vance et al., 2003). Additionally, a more acidic apoplastic pH in the transgenic AVP1 plants could help to facilitate greater P movement within plants (Li et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007). Thus, the expression of AVP1 in transgenic plants appears to be a useful strategy for increasing the tolerance of plants to low P supply (Gaxiola et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). However, it is yet to be determined whether transgenic AVP1 barley has improved growth, altered rhizosphere acidification or greater P uptake at low P supply compared to plants without this gene (Schilling, 2010).

Transgenic romaine lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*) constitutively expressing *AVP1D* had larger shoot and root biomass compared to wild-type at low nitrate (NO₃⁻) supply (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). The transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce also had more marketable yields per unit of N compared to wild-type in the field (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). The improved growth of transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce at low NO₃⁻ supply was attributed to greater NO₃⁻ uptake, potentially as a result of enhanced rhizosphere acidification and larger root growth (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). In support of this, the transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce had a higher shoot N content compared to wild-type at low NO₃⁻ supply (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). The expression of a high affinity root NO₃⁻ transporter gene (*LsNRT2.1*) was also up-regulated in the

transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce compared to wild-type (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). However, to date, no studies have compared the high- and low-affinity NO₃⁻ uptake capacity of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* compared to plants without this gene. Additionally, it is not known if transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has improved growth at low NO₃⁻ supply compared to plants without this gene (Schilling, 2010).

Multiple abiotic stresses

To date, most studies have focused on improving the tolerance of cereal crops to a single abiotic stress, such as salinity or drought (Cushman and Bohnert, 2000). However, in a field, multiple concurrent abiotic stresses can influence crop growth throughout the growing season (Mittler, 2006; Mittler and Blumwald, 2010; Suzuki et al., 2014; Tester and Bacic, 2005). In addition, plant responses to combined stresses have been shown to be different to that of either individual stress (Rasmussen et al., 2013; Rivero et al., 2013; Rizhsky et al., 2002; Rizhsky et al., 2004). In *Arabidopsis*, 61 % of transcriptome changes under two combined abiotic stresses could not be predicted from the transcriptomic response to either stress applied individually (Rasmussen et al., 2013). Likewise, when combined drought and heat stress was applied to *Arabidopsis*, 454 transcripts were identified that were specifically expressed under the combined stresses compared to that under either stress alone (Rizhsky et al., 2004). In tobacco, a combined drought and heat stress also induced the expression of specific genes that were not induced when either stress was applied alone (Rizhsky et al., 2002). It has thus been suggested that a combination of one or more abiotic stresses must be considered a new state of abiotic stress (Mittler and Blumwald, 2010) and that more studies are needed to evaluate plant growth responses under combined abiotic stresses (Mittler and Blumwald, 2010; Suzuki et al., 2014).

Considering the improved tolerance of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* to various individual abiotic stresses (i.e. salinity, drought or low nutrient supply) (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling, 2010; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al.,

2014), it is possible that the expression of *AVP1* may improve plant tolerance to multiple concurrent stresses. In a dryland field, where multiple abiotic stresses can occur, transgenic cotton expressing *AVP1* had a larger shoot biomass and increased fibre yield than wild-type and null segregants (Pasapula et al., 2011). However, to date, the growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* under two or more combined abiotic stresses, such as salinity and low water availability, is yet to be tested in controlled conditions.

Non-stress conditions

Transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* have a larger shoot biomass, and occasionally root biomass, in nonstressed conditions compared to plants without this gene (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Schilling, 2010; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). In addition, transgenic plants expressing vacuolar H*-PPases from other species have a larger shoot biomass under non-stressed conditions (Gouiaa et al., 2012; Lv et al., 2008). Although there are some exceptions where no difference in biomass between non-transgenic and transgenic *AVP1* plants in non-stressed conditions occurs (Bao et al., 2009; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013), an explanation for the larger biomass of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in non-stressed conditions is yet to be elucidated. Given the role of AVP1 in improving plant abiotic stress tolerance (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling, 2010; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014), it is possible that the larger growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in the 'non-stressed' conditions is due to subtle alterations in nutrient or water availability allowing increasing nutrient or water uptake compared to null segregants. However, it is not known if transgenic *AVP1* barley has improved nutrient or water use compared to null segregants.

Given the proposed role of AVP1 in improving plant heterotrophic growth (Ferjani et al., 2011), it is also possible that transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* have improved seedling vigour. In *Arabidopsis*, *AVP1* appears to be involved with controlling cell proliferation and consequently the final leaf size (Vercruyssen

et al., 2011). Furthermore, the activity of vacuolar H+-PPases is often highest in young, growing tissues which have actively dividing cells and thus high PP_i and low ATP supplies (Heinonen, 2001; Maeshima, 2000; Nakanishi and Maeshima, 1998; Shiratake et al., 1997). Transgenic *AVP1* barley also had a larger projected shoot area, and thus shoot biomass, compared to null segregants at 9 d after sowing (14 d after seed imbibition) in non-stressed conditions and a faster relative growth rate between 9 to 19 d after sowing (14 to 24 d after seed imbibition) than null segregants (Schilling, 2010). However, it is unknown whether this difference in growth is due to differences in seed weight or relative growth rate prior to imaging at 9 d after sowing (before 14 d after seed imbibition). To date, no studies have investigated the seedling vigour of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* from seed imbibition and it is not known if improved seedling vigour is contributing to the larger growth of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* compared to null segregants in non-stressed conditions.

Furthermore, given the proposed role of AVP1 in enhancing sucrose phloem-loading (Gaxiola et al., 2012), it is possible that altered sucrose metabolism is contributing to the larger growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1*. Metabolomics on leaf tissue from *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* showed a significant increase in 11 amino acids compared to wild-type suggesting AVP1 has a role in nitrogen metabolism (Gonzalez et al., 2010). An increase in the sugar signalling metabolite trehalose-6-phosphate (T6P) was also observed in *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* suggesting AVP1 has a role in carbon signalling (Gonzalez et al., 2010). However, the increase in T6P was not statistically significant and the metabolomics analysis was limited to leaf tissue only (Gonzalez et al., 2010). It is thus not clear whether transgenic plants expressing *AVP1*, such as the transgenic *AVP1* barley, have altered carbohydrate metabolism compared to plants without this gene.

Refining the phenotypes of transgenic plants expressing AVP1

Refining transgene expression to specific cell types or to specific environmental conditions can help conserve cellular energy (Potenza et al., 2004), which may limit unfavourable growth phenotypes in transgenic plants in non-stress conditions, especially if the transgene of interest is important for plant growth (Morran et al., 2011). Hence, the stress-inducible expression of a transgene can improve transgenic plant growth in both non-stressed and stressed conditions compared to constitutive expression of the same transgene (Kasuga et al., 1999; Kovalchuk et al., 2013; Morran et al., 2011; Su and Wu, 2004; Waterer et al., 2010). To develop a high yielding salt tolerant transgenic crop it may therefore be beneficial to use a salt stress-inducible promoter to activate a transgene only when salinity is present (Roy et al., 2014; Tester and Bacic, 2005).

Previously, the constitutive *CaMV* 35S (Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2006) and maize *Ubiquitin* (*ZmUbi1*) (Kim et al., 2013) promoters have been used to control the expression of *AVP1* in transgenic plants to improve salinity tolerance. However, given that AVP1 is a H*-PPases which utilises a high-energy phosphoanhydride bond from the hydrolysis of cytosolic pyrophosphate (PP_i) (Maeshima, 2000), the salt stress-inducible expression of *AVP1* may help to conserve cellular energy in transgenic *AVP1* barley in areas of a field where no salinity occurs. Transgenic barley with salt stress-inducible expression of *AVP1* may also be better perceived by consumers than constitutive expression due to the greater control over the transgene expression (Potenza et al., 2004). However, alternatively given the larger growth of *35S:AVP1* barley in non-stressed conditions (Schilling, 2010), the use of a stress-inducible promoter, which may prevent this increase in growth, might not be beneficial.

Expression of a stress-inducible maize *ZmRab17* promoter has been shown to increase under drought stress (Busk et al., 1997) and preliminary testing of the salt stress inducibility of the *ZmRab17* promoter

has been conducted (Schilling, 2010). However, further work is needed to test the salt stress inducibility of T₂ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley in more controlled growth conditions, such as hydroponics (Schilling, 2010). It thus remains not known if the *ZmRab17* promoter is salt stress inducible, and if so, in what tissue(s) and cell type(s) expression occurs. Preliminary testing of T₁ *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) in soil with a 75 mM NaCl treatment was previously completed (Schilling, 2010). However, further testing of the T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) at higher concentrations of salinity and in a more controlled setup, such as hydroponic conditions, is needed to determine whether the salt stress-inducible expression of *AVP1* is advantageous or disadvantageous over constitutive *CaMV* 35S driven expression of *AVP1*.

Transgenic 35S:AVP1 barley was previously generated using the barley cultivar Golden Promise. However, Golden Promise is not well-adapted to Australian growing conditions (Forster et al., 1994) and is not suitable for commercial use by Australian grain growers. Thus, for the AVP1 technology to be applicable to Australian grain growers, a high yielding commercially relevant Australian barley cultivar with AVP1 expression is required. Furthermore, concerns have been raised over the use of the *CaMV* 35S promoter, which is derived from a virus, in transgenic plants (Ho et al., 1999). This suggests that the use of an alternative constitutive promoter derived from a plant, such as the maize *Ubiquitin* (*ZmUbi1*) promoter, to control *AVP1* expression in barley may be better perceived by consumers (Christensen and Quail, 1996). Transgenic rice with *ZmUbi1* driven expression of *AVP1* had improved plant growth compared to wild-type under salinity stress (Kim et al., 2013). Preliminary testing of T₁ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) in soil with a low salinity treatment was previously conducted (Schilling, 2010). However, further testing of the T₂ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) at higher concentrations of salinity is needed to determine whether the constitutive *ZmUbi1* driven expression of *AVP1* alters the growth or ion contents of transgenic barley in saline conditions.

Research aims

The focus of this PhD project is to evaluate the abiotic stress tolerance of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1*. The following research aims will be addressed:

- To evaluate the shoot biomass and grain yield of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in a field with low and high salinity (Chapter 2)
- To investigate the abiotic stress tolerance and potential factors contributing to the larger shoot biomass of transgenic AVP1 barley by evaluating:
 - a. the growth, rhizosphere acidification and P uptake of transgenic AVP1 barley at low and sufficient P supply (Chapter 3)
 - b. the growth and nitrate (NO₃-) uptake capacity of transgenic AVP1 barley at low and sufficient
 NO₃- supply (Chapter 4)
 - c. the growth, tissue ion contents and water use of transgenic *AVP1* barley under salinity, low water availability and a combination of the two stresses (Chapter 5)
 - d. the seedling vigour and carbohydrate metabolism of transgenic AVP1 barley (Chapter 6)
- To characterise the salt stress inducibility of the *ZmRab17* promoter and to evaluate the growth of commercially relevant barley (cv. WI4330) with *AVP1* expression via the stress-inducible promoter (*ZmRab17*) or the plant-derived constitutive promoter (*ZmUbi1*) in non-saline and saline conditions (Chapter 7)

References

- ABARE (2012) Agricultural commodity statistics 2012. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences.
- Baik, B.K. and Ullrich, S.E. (2008) Barley for food: Characteristics, improvement, and renewed interest. *J. Cereal Sci.* **48**, 233-242.
- Bao, A.K., Wang, S.M., Wu, G.Q., Xi, J.J., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, C.M. (2009) Overexpression of the Arabidopsis H⁺-PPase enhanced resistance to salt and drought stress in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). *Plant Sci.* **176**, 232-240.
- Barkla, B.J. and Pantoja, O. (1996) Physiology of ion transport across the tonoplast of higher plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* **47**, 159-184.
- Bhaskaran, S. and Savithramma, D.L. (2011) Co-expression of *Pennisetum glaucum* vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter and *Arabidopsis* H⁺-pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic tomato. *J. Exp. Bot.* **62**, 5561-5570.
- Blumwald, E. (2000) Sodium transport and salt tolerance in plants. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 12, 431-434.
- Boyer, J.S. (1982) Plant productivity and environment. Science 218, 443-448.
- Burke, E.J., Brown, S.J. and Christidis, N. (2006) Modeling the recent evolution of global drought and projections for the twenty-first century with the hadley centre climate model. *J. Hydrometeorol.* **7**, 1113-1125.
- Busk, P.K., Jensen, A.B. and Pages, M. (1997) Regulatory elements *in vivo* in the promoter of the abscisic acid responsive gene *rab17* from maize. *Plant J.* **11**, 1285-1295.
- Christensen, A. and Quail, P. (1996) Ubiquitin promoter-based vectors for high-level expression of selectable and/or screenable marker genes in monocotyledonous plants. *Transgenic Res.* **5**, 213-218.
- Colmer, T.D., Munns, R. and Flowers, T.J. (2005) Improving salt tolerance of wheat and barley: future prospects. *Aust. J. Exp. Ag.* **45**, 1425-1443.
- Cushman, J.C. and Bohnert, H.J. (2000) Genomic approaches to plant stress tolerance. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **3**, 117-124.
- Drozdowicz, Y.M., Kissinger, J.C. and Rea, P.A. (2000) AVP2, a sequence-divergent, K⁺-insensitive H⁺translocating inorganic pyrophosphatase from *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.* **123**, 353-362.
- Drozdowicz, Y.M. and Rea, P.A. (2001) Vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatases: from the evolutionary backwaters into the mainstream. *Trends Plant Sci.* **6**, 206-211.
- Duan, X.G., Yang, A.F., Gao, F., Zhang, S.L. and Zhang, J.R. (2007) Heterologous expression of vacuolar H⁺-PPase enhances the electrochemical gradient across the vacuolar membrane and improves tobacco cell salt tolerance. *Protoplasma* 232, 87-95.
- Ferjani, A., Segami, S., Horiguchi, G., Muto, Y., Maeshima, M. and Tsukaya, H. (2011) Keep an eye on PP_i: The vacuolar-type H⁺-pyrophosphatase regulates postgerminative development in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* **23**, 2895-2908.
- Flowers, T.J. (2004) Improving crop salt tolerance. J. Exp. Bot. 55, 307-319.
- Gahoonia, T.S. and Nielsen, N.E. (2004) Root traits as tools for creating phosphorus efficient crop varieties. *Plant Soil* **260**, 47-57.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Edwards, M. and Elser, J.J. (2011) A transgenic approach to enhance phosphorus use efficiency in crops as part of a comprehensive strategy for sustainable agriculture. *Chemosphere* **84**, 840-845.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J.S., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (2001) Droughtand salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the *AVP1* H⁺-pump. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 11444-11449.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Rao, R., Sherman, A., Grisafi, P., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (1999) The Arabidopsis thaliana proton transporters, *AtNHX1* and *AVP1*, can function in cation detoxification in yeast. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **96**, 1480-1485.

- Gaxiola, R.A., Sanchez, C.A., Paez-Valencia, J., Ayre, B.G. and Elser, J.J. (2012) Genetic manipulation of a "vacuolar" H⁺-PPase: from salt tolerance to yield enhancement under phosphorus-deficient soils. *Plant Physiol.* **159**, 3-11.
- Gonzalez, N., De Bodt, S., Sulpice, R., Jikumaru, Y., Chae, E., Dhondt, S., Van Daele, T., De Milde, L., Weigel, D., Kamiya, Y., Stitt, M., Beemster, G.T.S. and Inze, D. (2010) Increased leaf size: different means to an end. *Plant Physiol.* **153**, 1261-1279.
- Gouiaa, S., Khoudi, H., Leidi, E., Pardo, J. and Masmoudi, K. (2012) Expression of wheat Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter *TNHXS1* and H⁺- pyrophosphatase *TVP1* genes in tobacco from a bicistronic transcriptional unit improves salt tolerance. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **79**, 137-155.
- Heinonen, J.K. (2001) Biological role of inorganic pyrophosphate. London: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Hinsinger, P. (2001) Bioavailability of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as affected by root-induced chemical changes: a review. *Plant Soil* **237**, 173-195.
- Jamieson, P.D., Martin, R.J. and Francis, G.S. (1995) Drought influences on grain yield of barley, wheat, and maize. *New Zeal. J. Crop Hort. Sci.* 23, 55-66.
- Kasuga, M., Liu, Q., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. (1999) Improving plant drought, salt, and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. *Nat Biotech* **17**, 287-291.
- Kim, E.J., Zhen, R.G. and Rea, P.A. (1994) Heterologous expression of plant vacuolar pyrophosphatase in yeast demonstrates sufficiency of the substrate biding subunit for proton transport. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 91, 6128-6132.
- Kim, Y.S., Kim, I.S., Choe, Y.H., Bae, M.J., Shin, S.Y., Park, S.K., Kang, H.G., Kim, Y.H. and Yoon, H.S. (2013) Overexpression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase *AVP1* gene in rice plants improves grain yield under paddy field conditions. *J. Agri. Sci.* doi:10.1017/S0021859613000671.
- Kovalchuk, N., Jia, W., Eini, O., Morran, S., Pyvovarenko, T., Fletcher, S., Bazanova, N., Harris, J., Beck-Oldach, K., Shavrukov, Y., Langridge, P. and Lopato, S. (2013) Optimization of *TaDREB3* gene expression in transgenic barley using cold-inducible promoters. *Plant Biotech. J.* **11**, 659-670.
- Lambers, H., Shane, M.W., Cramer, M.D., Pearse, S.J. and Veneklaas, E.J. (2006) Root structure and functioning for efficient acquisition of phosphorus: matching morphological and physiological traits. *Ann. Bot.* **98**, 693-713.
- Langhans, M., Ratajczak, R., Lutzelschwab, M., Michalke, W., Wachter, R., Fischer-Schliebs, E. and Ullrich, C.I. (2001) Immunolocalization of plasma-membrane H*-ATPase and tonoplast-type pyrophosphatase in the plasma membrane of the sieve element-companion cell complex in the stem of *Ricinus communis* L. *Planta* **213**, 11-19.
- Li, J.S., Yang, H.B., Peer, W.A., Richter, G., Blakeslee, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Titapiwantakun, B., Undurraga, S., Khodakovskaya, M., Richards, E.L., Krizek, B., Murphy, A.S., Gilroy, S. and Gaxiola, R. (2005) *Arabidopsis* H⁺-PPase *AVP1* regulates auxin-mediated organ development. *Science* **310**, 121-125.
- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 272-289.
- Long, A.R., Williams, L.E., Nelson, S.J. and Hall, J.L. (1995) Localization of membrane pyrophosphatase activity in *Ricinus communis* seedlings. *J. Plant Physiol.* **146**, 629-638.
- Lv, S., Zhang, K.W., Gao, Q., Lian, L.J., Song, Y.J. and Zhang, J.R. (2008) Overexpression of an H⁺-PPase gene from *Thellungiella halophila* in cotton enhances salt tolerance and improves growth and photosynthetic performance. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **49**, 1150-1164.
- Maeshima, M. (2000) Vacuolar H+-pyrophosphatase. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1465, 37-51.
- Martinoia, E., Maeshima, M. and Neuhaus, H.E. (2007) Vacuolar transporters and their essential role in plant metabolism. *J. Exp. Bot.* **58**, 83-102.
- Mittler, R. (2006) Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. *Trends Plant Sci.* **11**, 15-19.
- Mittler, R. and Blumwald, E. (2010) Genetic engineering for modern agriculture: challenges and perspectives. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* **61**, 443-462.
- Morran, S., Eini, O., Pyvovarenko, T., Parent, B., Singh, R., Ismagul, A., Eliby, S., Shirley, N., Langridge, P. and Lopato, S. (2011) Improvement of stress tolerance of wheat and barley by modulation of expression of *DREB/CBF* factors. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 230-249.
- Munns, R. (2002) Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. *Plant Cell Environ.* 25, 239-250.
- Nakanishi, Y. and Maeshima, M. (1998) Molecular cloning of vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase and its developmental expression in growing hypocotyl of mung bean. *Plant Physiol.* **116**, 589-597.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Patron-Soberano, A., Rodriguez-Leviz, A., Sanchez-Lares, J., Sanchez-Gomez, C., Valencia-Mayoral, P., Diaz-Rosas, G. and Gaxiola, R. (2011) Plasma membrane localization of the type I H⁺-PPase AVP1 in sieve element–companion cell complexes from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Sci.* 181, 23-30.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1557-1569.
- Park, S., Li, J.S., Pittman, J.K., Berkowitz, G.A., Yang, H.B., Undurraga, S., Morris, J., Hirschi, K.D. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2005) Up-regulation of a H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) as a strategy to engineer drought-resistant crop plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 18830-18835.
- Pasapula, V., Shen, G., Kuppu, S., Paez-Valencia, J., Mendoza, M., Hou, P., Chen, J., Qiu, X., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Auld, D., Blumwald, E., Zhang, H., Gaxiola, R. and Payton, P. (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 88-99.
- Plett, D.C. and Møller, I.S. (2010) Na⁺ transport in glycophytic plants: what we know and would like to know. *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 612-626.
- Potenza, C., Aleman, L. and Sengupta-Gopalan, C. (2004) Targeting transgene expression in research, agricultural, and environmental applications: Promoters used in plant transformation. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant* **40**, 1-22.
- Qin, H., Gu, Q., Kuppu, S., Sun, L., Zhu, X., Mishra, N., Hu, R., Shen, G., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Burow, M., Payton, P. and Zhang, H. (2013) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene *AVP1* in peanut to improve drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Biotech. Rep.* **7**, 345-355.
- Rasmussen, S., Barah, P., Suarez-Rodriguez, M.C., Bressendorff, S., Friis, P., Costantino, P., Bones, A.M., Nielsen, H.B. and Mundy, J. (2013) Transcriptome responses to combinations of stresses in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1783-1794.
- Raun, W.R. and Johnson, G.V. (1999) Improving nitrogen use efficiency for cereal production. *Agron. J.* **91**, 357-363.
- Rea, P.A. and Poole, R.J. (1993) Vacuolar H⁺-translocating pyrophosphatase Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 44, 157-180.
- Richards, R.A. (1996) Defining selection criteria to improve yield under drought. *Plant Growth Regul.* **20**, 157-166.
- Richards, R.A., Rebetzke, G.J., Condon, A.G. and van Herwaarden, A.F. (2002) Breeding opportunities for increasing the efficiency of water use and crop yield in temperate cereals. *Crop Sci.* **42**, 111-121.
- Rivero, R.M., Mestre, T.C., Mittler, R.O.N., Rubio, F., Garcia-Sanchez, F. and Martinez, V. (2013) The combined effect of salinity and heat reveals a specific physiological, biochemical and molecular response in tomato plants. *Plant, Cell & Environ.* **37**, 1059-1073.
- Rizhsky, L., Liang, H. and Mittler, R. (2002) The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on gene expression in tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* **130**, 1143-1151.

- Rizhsky, L., Liang, H., Shuman, J., Shulaev, V., Davletova, S. and Mittler, R. (2004) When defense pathways collide. The response of *Arabidopsis* to a combination of drought and heat stress. *Plant Physiol.* **134**, 1683-1696.
- Robinson, D.G. (1996) Pyrophosphatase is not (only) a vacuolar marker. Trends Plant Sci. 1, 330.
- Roy, S.J., Negrão, S. and Tester, M. (2014) Salt resistant crop plants. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **26**, 115-124.
- Roy, S.J., Tucker, E.J. and Tester, M. (2011) Genetic analysis of abiotic stress tolerance in crops. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **14**, 232-239.
- Sarafian, V., Kim, Y., Poole, R.J. and Rea, P.A. (1992) Molecular cloning and sequence of cDNA encoding the pyrophosphate-energized vacuolar membrane proton pump of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **89**, 1775-1779.
- Schilling, R.K. (2010) *Evaluating the salt tolerance of barley expressing the Arabidopsis vacuolar H*⁺⁻ *PPase (AtAVP1)*. Honours thesis, School of Agriculture, Food and Wine:University of Adelaide.
- Schilling, R.K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J. and Plett, D.C. (2014) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field. *Plant Biotech. J.* **12**, 378-386.
- Schroeder, J.I., Delhaize, E., Frommer, W.B., Guerinot, M.L., Harrison, M.J., Herrera-Estrella, L., Horie, T., Kochian, L.V., Munns, R., Nishizawa, N.K., Tsay, Y.-F. and Sanders, D. (2013) Using membrane transporters to improve crops for sustainable food production. *Nature* **497**, 60-66.
- Shiratake, K., Kanayama, Y., Maeshima, M. and Yamaki, S. (1997) Changes in H⁺-pumps and a tonoplast intrinsic protein of vacuolar membranes during the development of pear fruit. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 38, 1039-1045.
- Su, J. and Wu, R. (2004) Stress-inducible synthesis of proline in transgenic rice confers faster growth under stress conditions than that with constitutive synthesis. *Plant Sci.* **166**, 941-948.
- Suzuki, N., Rivero, R.M., Shulaev, V., Blumwald, E. and Mittler, R. (2014) Abiotic and biotic stress combinations. *New Phytol.* doi:10.1111/nph.12797.
- Sze, H., Ward, J.M. and Lai, S.P. (1992) Vacuolar H⁺-translocating ATPases from plants structure, function and isoforms. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **24**, 371-381.
- Tester, M. and Bacic, A. (2005) Abiotic stress tolerance in grasses. From model plants to crop plants. *Plant Physiol.* **137**, 791-793.
- Tester, M. and Langridge, P. (2010) Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. *Science* **327**, 818-822.
- Vance, C.P., Uhde-Stone, C. and Allan, D.L. (2003) Phosphorus acquisition and use: critical adaptations by plants for securing a nonrenewable resource. *New Phytol.* **157**, 423-447.
- Vercruyssen, L., Gonzalez, N., Werner, T., Schmulling, T. and Inze, D. (2011) Combining enhanced root and shoot growth reveals cross talk between pathways that control plant organ size in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* **155**, 1339-1352.
- Vinocur, B. and Altman, A. (2005) Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: achievements and limitations. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **16**, 123-132.
- Waterer, D., Benning, N.T., Wu, G.H., Luo, X.M., Liu, X.J., Gusta, M., McHughen, A. and Gusta, L.V. (2010) Evaluation of abiotic stress tolerance of genetically modified potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* cv. Desiree). *Mol. Breed.* **25**, 527-540.
- Yang, H., Knapp, J., Koirala, P., Rajagopal, D., Peer, W.A., Silbart, L.K., Murphy, A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2007) Enhanced phosphorus nutrition in monocots and dicots over-expressing a phosphorusresponsive type I H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Plant Biotech. J.* **5**, 735-745.
- Yang, H., Zhang, X., Gaxiola, R.A., Xu, G., Peer, W.A. and Murphy, A.S. (2014) Over-expression of the *Arabidopsis* proton-pyrophosphatase *AVP1* enhances transplant survival, root mass, and fruit development under limiting phosphorus conditions. *J. Exp. Bot.* doi:10.1093/jxb/eru149.

- Zhao, F.Y., Zhang, X.J., Li, P.H., Zhao, Y.X. and Zhang, H. (2006) Co-expression of the Suaeda salsa SsNHX1 and Arabidopsis AVP1 confer greater salt tolerance to transgenic rice than the single SsNHX1. Mol. Breed. 17, 341-353.
- Zhen, R.G., Kim, E.J. and Rea, P.A. (1997) The molecular and biochemical basis of pyrophosphateenergized proton translocation at the vacuolar membrane. *Adv. Bot. Res. Inc. Adv. Plant Path.* 25, 297-337.

Chapter 2

Evaluating the salinity tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley

Statement of Contributions

The following chapter contains a published research article (see Appendix):

Schilling, R. K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J., and Plett, D.C. (2014). "Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field" <u>Plant Biotechnology Journal</u> **12**(3): 378-386. (5-year IF: 6.247)

Results in Figures 1, 2 and 3, and Table S1 and S2 are derived from a greenhouse-based experiment conducted by Rhiannon K. Schilling during her Honours candidature in 2010 at The University of Adelaide.

Results in Table 1 and Figures 4, 5 and 6 and Figure S1 are derived from a field trial experiment conducted by Rhiannon K. Schilling during her PhD candidature in 2011 at The University of Adelaide.

Schilling conducted the experiments, data analysis, interpretation of results and wrote the manuscript

Marschner, Tester, Roy and Plett supervised the project

Roy assisted with conducting the field trials

Plett generated the AVP1 construct

Berger contributed to the image data analysis

Shavrukov grew the T₂ generation of transgenic *AVP1* barley

All authors contributed to the discussion of the results and revision of the manuscript

By signing this statement of contributions, each author certifies that their stated contribution to the publication is accurate and that permission is granted for the publication to be included in the candidate's thesis:

Petra Marschner Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Yuri Shavrukov Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Bettina Berger Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Mark Tester Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Stuart Roy Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Darren Plett Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014

Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field

Running title: AVP1 improves barley growth in saline conditions

Rhiannon K. Schilling^{1,2}, Petra Marschner², Yuri Shavrukov^{1,2}, Bettina Berger^{2,3}, Mark Tester^{1,2,3,4}, Stuart J. Roy^{1,2,*} and Darren C. Plett^{1,2}

¹Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics, PMB 1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia.

² School of Agriculture, Food and Wine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

³ The Plant Accelerator, Australian Plant Phenomics Facility, The University of Adelaide, PMB 1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia.

*Corresponding author:

Stuart Roy, The Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics and The University of Adelaide, PMB1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia, <u>stuart.roy@acpfg.com.au</u>

Keywords: barley, salinity, AVP1, non-destructive imaging, grain yield, GM field trials

Word count: 6212 words

⁴ Current address: Center for Desert Agriculture, Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering, 4700 King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal 23955-6900, Saudi Arabia

Summary

Cereal varieties with improved salinity tolerance are needed to achieve profitable grain yields in saline soils. The expression of AVP1, an Arabidopsis gene encoding a vacuolar proton pumping pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase), has been shown to improve the salinity tolerance of transgenic plants in greenhouse conditions. However, the potential for this gene to improve the grain yield of cereal crops in a saline field has yet to be evaluated. Recent advances in high-throughput non-destructive phenotyping technologies also offer an opportunity to quantitatively evaluate the growth of transgenic plants under abiotic stress through time. In this study, the growth of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 was evaluated under saline conditions in a pot experiment using non-destructive plant imaging and in a saline field trial. Greenhouse grown transgenic barley expressing AVP1 produced a larger shoot biomass compared to null segregants, as determined by an increase in projected shoot area, when grown in soil with 150 mM NaCI. This increase in shoot biomass of transgenic AVP1 barley occurred from an early growth stage and also in non-saline conditions. In a saline field, the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 also showed an increase in shoot biomass and, importantly, produced a greater grain yield per plant compared to wildtype plants. Interestingly, the expression of AVP1 did not alter barley leaf sodium concentrations in either greenhouse or field grown plants. This study validates our greenhouse-based experiments and indicates that transgenic barley expressing AVP1 is a promising option for increasing cereal crop productivity in saline fields.

Word count: 246 words

Introduction

Salinity reduces the grain yield of cereal crops worldwide. Globally, at least 77 million ha of agricultural land is currently affected by salinity (Munns, 2002; Munns and Tester, 2008). The presence of high salt concentrations, particularly sodium chloride (NaCl), causes osmotic stress, ion toxicity and ion deficiencies in cereal crops (Colmer et al., 2005; Munns and Tester, 2008). Consequently, salt stress reduces water uptake and increases leaf senescence, resulting in stunted growth and an overall reduction in tiller number and grain yield (Munns, 2002). Cereal crop varieties with improved salinity tolerance are needed to increase crop productivity in saline soils.

One way to improve plant salinity tolerance is to increase the sequestration of sodium (Na⁺) ions into vacuoles by enhancing the activity of vacuolar sodium/proton (Na⁺/H⁺) antiporters (Apse et al., 1999). This enhanced vacuolar sequestration of Na⁺ can reduce Na⁺ toxicity in the cytoplasm and facilitate water uptake into plant cells (Blumwald, 2000). The Na⁺ pumping activity of vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters is driven by an electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ established across the tonoplast by two proton pumps, the vacuolar H⁺-pumping ATPase and the vacuolar H⁺-pumping pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) (Maeshima, 2000; Sze et al., 1992).

The constitutive expression of *AVP1*, an *Arabidopsis* gene encoding a type I vacuolar H⁺⁻ pyrophosphatase, has been shown to improve the salinity tolerance of transgenic *Arabidopsis* (Gaxiola et al., 2001), alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) (Bao et al., 2009), creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera*) (Li et al., 2010), cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*) (Pasapula et al., 2011), peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) (Qin et al., 2013) and rice (*Oryza sativa*) (Zhao et al., 2006). This improved salinity tolerance of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* was attributed to an enhanced electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ across the tonoplast facilitating Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter activity and thus increasing sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles (Duan et al., 2007; Gaxiola et al., 2001). In support of this hypothesis, the co-expression of the *Suaeda*

salsa Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter (*SsNHX1*) and *AVP1* resulted in greater salinity tolerance in rice than the expression of *SsNHX1* alone (Zhao et al., 2006). Thus, previous studies have shown that the expression of *AVP1* can improve shoot biomass under saline conditions in the greenhouse and that the expression of this gene could potentially increase the salinity tolerance of other agriculturally important cereal crops, such as barley (*Hordeum vulgare*).

Previous studies phenotyping transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in saline conditions have been limited to shoot biomass measurements at one time-point (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Lv et al., 2008; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2006). Recent advances in high-throughput phenotyping technologies offer the opportunity to non-destructively evaluate plant growth through time, providing accurate measures of relative plant growth rates (Berger et al., 2010; Furbank and Tester, 2011; Rajendran et al., 2009). The use of non-destructive plant imaging has been shown to reveal novel aspects of plant responses to abiotic stresses, such as drought and salinity (Berger et al., 2010; Rajendran et al., 2009). By allowing more detailed growth analysis of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* under salt stress through time, the use of non-destructive imaging technology could provide further insight into the timing and extent of effects from *AVP1* expression on plant growth, including the separation of possible effects on early vigour (Ferjani et al., 2011) from those on later growth stages.

Previous testing of transgenic *AVP1* plants in saline conditions has also been solely greenhouse-based (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Lv et al., 2008; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2006) with a limited focus on evaluating yield traits (Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013). An important component of a salt tolerant cereal crop is not only the ability to grow in a saline soil but to also produce high grain yields (Flowers, 2004). Saline field trials of transgenic plants are required

to measure yield traits and validate greenhouse-based findings of improved salinity tolerance (Flowers, 2004; Plett and Møller, 2010; Roy et al., 2011).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the growth of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* in saline conditions in the greenhouse using non-destructive plant imaging technology and to test whether these plants have improved grain yield in a saline field.

Results

Generation of transgenic barley expressing AVP1

Transgenic barley (cv. Golden Promise) expressing *AVP1* using the *CaMV* 35S promoter was successfully generated via *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation (Jacobs et al., 2007; Singh et al., 1997). The results for three independent barley transformation events (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) with two sibling lines from one transformation event (*35S-AVP1-1* and *35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) with two sibling lines from one transformation event (*35S-AVP1-1* and *35S-AVP1-1*b) were used in this study. PCR analysis of genomic DNA confirmed the presence of *AVP1* in the transgenic barley (*35S-AVP1-1* a, 1b, 2 or 3) and the absence of *AVP1* in wild-type and null segregants (Nulls 1, 2 & 3) (Figure 1a). Additionally, reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR) on cDNA confirmed the expression of *AVP1* in the transgenic barley lines and the lack of *AVP1* expression in wild-type and null segregants (Figure 1b).

Transgenic AVP1 barley has increased shoot biomass in a pot experiment

Non-destructive plant imaging of greenhouse grown plants showed that three independent transgenic barley lines expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) produced significantly larger (11 to 33 %) projected shoot areas (pixels) compared to null segregants when grown for 47 d in soil with 150 mM NaCl (Figure 2a & b). The sibling *35S-AVP1-1b*, however, showed no significant difference in projected shoot area (pixel) under salinity treatment compared to null segregants (Figure 2b). Additionally,

no significant difference in the 4th leaf blade Na⁺ and potassium (K⁺) concentrations were detected between the transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants grown under saline conditions (Figure 3a & b).

Relative growth rates derived for 35S-AVP1-1a plants show that this line had a faster relative growth rate than null segregants during early growth stages between 9 to 19 d after sowing in soil with 150 mM NaCl (Figure 4a & c). However, this line had similar relative growth rates to null segregants in the later growth stages from 28 to 47 d after sowing under saline conditions (Figure 4b & c). Notably, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3 showed a similar relative growth rate as null segregants under saline conditions between 9 to 19 d and between 28 to 47 d after sowing (Figure 4c). However, both lines already had a significantly larger projected shoot area than null segregants at 9 d after sowing under saline conditions (Figure 4c). As expected, the relative growth rates of all plants decreased over time (Figure 4c). In non-saline conditions, transgenic barley expressing AVP1 also had a larger projected shoot area than null segregants with a trend towards a faster relative growth rate during the early growth stages (9 to 17 d) and similar relative growth rates to null segregants in the later growth stages (28 to 47 d) (Table S1).

Characterisation of soil properties at a saline field trial site

The soil of the saline field trial site near Kunjin in the central wheatbelt of Western Australia comprised 90 % sand, 5 % silt and 5 % clay and was therefore classified as a sandy soil. An electromagnetic (EM) map of the field site showed a gradient in the apparent soil electrical conductivity (EC_a) from south to north, ranging from areas of low EC_a (41 mS m⁻¹) to areas of higher EC_a (199 mS m⁻¹) (Figure 5). Soil electrical conductivity (EC_{1:5}) measurements (0-10 cm depth) were used to identify suitable low salinity (EC_{1:5} = 161 \pm 11 µS cm⁻¹) and high salinity (EC_{1:5} = 1231 \pm 155 µS cm⁻¹) areas for the field trial plots (Figure 5). The low salinity field area is considered non-saline for cereal crop production in the wheatbelt of Western Australia. The grain yield (g plant⁻¹) results from this low salinity area are also consistent with those obtained for the transgenic *AVP1* barley and wild-type plants grown at a separate non-saline field area

(Table S2). The soil pH differed slightly between the low (pH = 6.18 ± 0.03) and high salinity (pH 7.10 \pm 0.04) areas (Figure 5).

Transgenic AVP1 barley has increased shoot biomass and grain yield in a saline field

Transgenic barley plants expressing *AVP1* (lines identified as *35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) and wild-type barley (cv. Golden Promise) plants were grown in a saline field trial. In the low salinity area, the transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had a significantly greater (17 to 33 %) shoot biomass compared to wild-type plants (Figure 6a). The average grain weight, number of grain heads and grains per plant of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* were similar to those of wild-type in the low salinity area (Table 1). Nevertheless, two transgenic lines (*35S-AVP1-1a* & *35S-AVP1-2*) had significantly higher (23 to 34 %) grain yield per plant than wild-type plants (Table 1).

In the high salinity area, the growth of all plants was greatly reduced (Figure 6a & b). However, the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 produced a significantly greater (30 to 42 %) shoot biomass and had greater survival in the high salinity area than wild-type plants (Figure 6a & b). As with greenhouse grown plants, there was no significant differences in Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations of youngest fully-emerged leaf blades between the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 and wild-type plants (Figure S1). Due to the large growth reduction of wild-type plants in the high salinity area, the grain yield was only measured on representative plants surviving in each plot. As such, these provide an over-estimate of average grains per plant across the whole plot. Nevertheless, the number of heads and grains per plant from transgenic barley expressing AVP1 were significantly greater (16 to 58 % and 76 to 85 % respectively) than wild-type plants in the high salinity area (Table 1). The average grain weight of transgenic AVP1 barley plants was also significantly greater (29 to 43 %) than wild-type plants (Table 1). Furthermore, the grain yield per plant of the transgenic AVP1 barley was significantly higher (79 to 87 %) than wild-type plants in the high salinity area (Table 1).

Discussion

Transgenic *AVP1* **barley has increased shoot biomass and grain yield under saline conditions** The expression of *AVP1* has previously been shown to improve transgenic plant growth in saline greenhouse conditions (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Lv et al., 2008; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2006). In this study, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* produced a greater projected shoot area, and therefore shoot biomass, in soil with 150 mM NaCl compared to null segregants (Figure 2 & 4). This result supports previous studies suggesting AVP1 contributes to improving shoot biomass under saline conditions.

To further understand the role of AVP1 in improving plant salinity tolerance, it is important to evaluate the yield of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 in saline conditions and to validate greenhouse-based findings of improved salinity tolerance in the field. Cotton plants expressing AVP1 were previously shown to have higher fibre yield compared to wild-type at 200 mM NaCI treatment in a greenhouse experiment and at a non-saline dryland field site (Pasapula et al., 2011). Additionally, transgenic peanuts expressing AVP1 grown in the field under low and high irrigation treatments had a higher yield than wild-type (Qin et al., 2013). However, to our knowledge, there are no previous reports on a saline field trial evaluating the growth and yield of a transgenic plant expressing AVP1. In this study, the results of a saline field trial show that transgenic barley expressing AVP1 have a significantly larger shoot biomass when grown in both low and high salinity areas compared to wild-type (Table 1, Figure 6). This increase in shoot biomass supports the pot experiment results presented in this study. Additionally, one transgenic AVP1 barley line (35S-AVP1-1b) had an increase in shoot biomass under field conditions that was not observed in the more controlled greenhouse conditions (Figure 2b & Figure 4c). This highlights the need to phenotype transgenic plants in both greenhouse and field conditions. Importantly, the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 also produced a higher grain yield per plant in the high salinity field plots compared to wild-type plants, which comprised more infertile heads and less grains per plant (Table 1). An increase in grain

number and grain weight are both contributing towards this increase in grain yield per plant of the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (Table 1).

Expression of AVP1 in transgenic barley does not alter leaf Na⁺ concentrations

The improved growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in saline conditions has been previously attributed to AVP1 facilitating an increase in activity of vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters, and thus greater sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010). This sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles presumably lessens the toxic effects of Na⁺ on cytosolic enzymes and could also facilitate retention of water in the plant tissues (Gaxiola et al., 2001). In support of this hypothesis, transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* retain more Na⁺ in their rosette leaves and have enhanced leaf water content after treatment with 100 mM NaCl compared to wild-type plants (Gaxiola et al., 2001). An increase in Na⁺, and other ions, has also been reported in shoot and root tissue of several other transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010). Furthermore, under saline conditions, a decrease in vacuole membrane leakage and an increase in net photosynthesis have been measured in transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Bao et al., 2009; Caxiola et al., 2009; Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013). This suggests that transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* have improved tolerance to both the ionic and osmotic effects of NaCl, which may help improve plant growth under saline conditions.

In this study, there were no significant differences in Na⁺ or K⁺ concentrations in the leaf tissue of barley lines expressing *AVP1* in the pot and field experiments under saline conditions compared to plants without this gene (Figures 3 & S1). This contrasting result to previous studies (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010) could be due to several factors, such as the plant species, plant age, the level and extent of salt treatment and the type of plant tissue sampled for ion analysis. However, it cannot be ruled out that, although the same amount of Na⁺ is present per unit leaf area compared to wild-type (Figures 3

& S1), the subcellular location of Na⁺ within the transgenic barley leaf expressing *AVP1* could be different, being potentially higher in the vacuole and lower in the cytoplasm. Nevertheless, the lack of increased Na⁺ accumulation in the leaves of the transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* suggests that there may also be other factors, in addition to the accumulation of Na⁺ within the vacuole, which contribute to the increased shoot growth.

Transgenic AVP1 barley has improved shoot growth in non-saline conditions

The transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b* & *35S-AVP1-3*) also had improved shoot growth in non-saline conditions compared to null segregants (Table S1). This is in agreement with previous studies, where transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* developed larger shoot and root biomass in non-saline conditions compared to plants without this gene (Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). Additionally, studies on transgenic plants expressing a H+-PPase from other plant species including *Thellungiella halophila* (syn. *Eutrema salsugineum*) (*TsVP*) and *Triticum aestivum* (*TVP1*), have reported an increase in shoot biomass under non-saline conditions (Gouiaa et al., 2012; Lv et al., 2008). Although there are exceptions where no growth differences between non-transgenic and transgenic *AVP1* plants in non-saline conditions are seen (Bao et al., 2009; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013), the increase in biomass of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in both non-saline and saline conditions is yet to be fully elucidated.

There are several factors potentially contributing to the improved growth of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1*. A recent study with *AVP1* loss-of-function mutants suggests that the major role of AVP1 is the hydrolysis of inorganic pyrophosphate (PP_i) in the cell cytoplasm rather than vacuolar acidification (Ferjani et al., 2011). This removal of cytosolic PP_i, which at high levels is an inhibitor of gluconeogenesis, may result in improved plant heterotrophic growth (Ferjani et al., 2011). The non-destructive plant imaging in our study shows that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had already produced a significantly larger

projected shoot area 9 d after sowing in both saline (*35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) and non-saline soils (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b* and *35S-AVP1-3*) compared to null segregants (Figure 4c and Table S1). It is possible that the transgenic *AVP1* barley plants are larger at 9 d due to a larger seed weight or a faster relative growth rate prior to imaging at 9 d after sowing. In support of the latter, the relative growth rates of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* were higher compared to null segregants in the early growth stages (9 to 19 d after sowing), whilst they were similar to null segregants in the later growth stages (28 to 47 d after sowing) (Figure 4c and Table S1). The larger shoot biomass of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* in non-saline and saline conditions could be due to enhanced removal of cytosolic PP_i improving seedling vigour.

The improved growth of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* may also be a result of more efficient sucrose transport enhancing plant water use or nutrition. Previous studies have demonstrated that transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* or *AVP1D* (the *E229D* gain-of-function mutant) have improved tolerance to low water (Gaxiola et al., 2001; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011), phosphorus (Yang et al., 2007) and nitrate provisions (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). This has been attributed to an increase in root biomass and rhizosphere acidification, allowing greater exploration of soil and consequently improved water, phosphorus and nitrate uptake (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Park et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007). AVP1 has also been shown to affect auxin-dependent organogenesis and root morphological traits (Li et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007). Recently, it has been hypothesised that transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* may have more efficient sucrose transport to sink organs enabling improved root growth (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). Subtle alterations in nutrient or water availability could therefore allow transgenic *AVP1* plants an advantage over plants without expression of this gene. In this current work, attempts were made to ensure all factors other than the desired treatment were non-limiting throughout the experiment duration. However, an increase in nutrient use efficiency or improved water uptake may

explain the observed increase in shoot biomass of transgenic AVP1 barley plants in non-saline and saline conditions.

Conclusions

In this study, it is shown that the expression of *AVP1* increases the shoot biomass of barley in saline and non-saline conditions. Additionally, it is shown that the expression of *AVP1* in transgenic barley improves the grain yield per plant of this cereal crop when grown in a high salinity field. To our knowledge, this is the first time that such effects of *AVP1* expression in transgenic plants have been validated in a saline field trial. The mechanism for this yield increase is unknown, although detailed non-destructive growth analysis of greenhouse grown transgenic *AVP1* barley plants is consistent with an effect of *AVP1* expression on early vigour. This study supports the concept that AVP1 may have additional benefits beyond facilitating increased sequestration of Na⁺ ions into vacuoles (Ferjani et al., 2011; Gaxiola et al., 2012). Furthermore, the results of this study indicate that the expression of *AVP1* in transgenic barley could provide a useful option for increasing cereal crop productivity in saline fields.

Experimental Procedures

Generation of transgenic barley expressing AVP1

The coding sequence of *AVP1* (At1g15690) was amplified from the *Arabidopsis thaliana* ecotype Col-0 cDNA and ligated into a pENTR-D-TOPO (Invitrogen) entry vector, before *AVP1* was recombined into the pMDC32 destination vector using the Gateway[®] LR recombination reaction (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) (Curtis and Grossniklaus, 2003; Jacobs et al., 2007). Transformation of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* cv. Golden Promise) with the *AVP1* pMDC32 vector was conducted using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* mediated transformation, followed by regeneration of barley plantlets in soil (Jacobs et al., 2007; Singh et al., 1997). A total of seven independent transgenic *AVP1* barley lines were generated. The five T₁ *AVP1*

barley lines that produced the most seed were grown for 14 d in nutrient solution containing 50 mM NaCl in a hydroponic system. Four lines showed a significant increase in leaf fresh weight compared to wild-type (data not shown). Three of these four lines (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2*, *35S-AVP1-3*), which had the largest growth improvement under saline conditions, are described in this study. In addition, two sibling lines from one transformation event (*35S-AVP1-1* and *35S-AVP1-1*b) were used.

Plant material and greenhouse growth conditions

Seeds of T₃ transgenic barley lines expressing *AVP1* and null segregants were surface sterilised by a 5 min exposure to ultraviolet light, then germinated at 21 °C for 5 d on moist filter paper in Petri dishes (145 mm diameter), which were placed in polyethylene bags to maintain humidity. Individual uniform size seedlings were transplanted (sowing) to sealed white pots (19.46 cm height × 14.94 cm diameter, Berry Plastics Corporation, Evansville, USA) filled with 3 kg of University of California (UC) mixture (1:1 peat:sand) and either 0 or 150 mM NaCl (9 mL of 5 M NaCl) mixed into the UC mix (1.5 kg) within the bottom half of each pot. To maintain similar Ca²⁺ activity to that of control pots, an additional 3 mM CaCl₂ (990 µL of 1 M CaCl₂) was added to salt treated pots. To minimise loss of soil water via evaporation, the soil surface of each pot was covered in 100 g of blue polypropylene beads (Misc 430C, Plastic's Granulating Service, Kilburn, SA, Australia).

Non-destructive plant imaging and image analysis

Nine days after transplanting, the pots were randomly loaded onto a fully automated conveyor system within a temperature-controlled Smarthouse maintained between 15-27 °C (The Plant Accelerator®, Adelaide, Australia; Longitude: 138.639933, Latitude: -34.971353). Plants were grown in natural light between the months of June and July in 2010. Every second day, an electronic conveyor system watered each pot using industrial scales (Bizerba, Balingen, Germany) and reverse osmosis (RO) water to maintain the soil water content at field capacity (300 mL water pot⁻¹).

Non-destructive measurements of plant growth occurred using a plant image capture and analysis system in The Plant Accelerator® facility (Scanalyzer 3D, LemnaTec, Aachen, Germany). High resolution visible light (RGB) digital images, including two side and one top view, were obtained for each plant every second day between 9 to 19 d and between 28 to 47 d after sowing. The projected shoot area (pixel) of each plant was calculated from the total shoot pixel area derived from the three combined RGB images (Golzarian et al., 2011; Rajendran et al., 2009). A linear correlation between shoot biomass and projected shoot area has been shown to occur in the early stages of plant development (Rajendran et al., 2009). The mean relative growth rate of each line was determined from the slope of an exponential curve fitted to the mean projected shoot area from 9 to 19 d and 28 to 47 d after sowing to separate early and late growth stages. Following the final imaging measurements, the 4th leaf blade was sampled for ion analysis and the youngest fully emerged leaf blade for genotyping and gene expression.

DNA extraction and PCR analysis

Genomic DNA was extracted from leaf tissue following the protocol of Edwards *et al.* (1991). The presence or absence of the *AVP1* gene in each plant was determined using PCR amplification from 1 μ L of genomic DNA template with an *AVP1* specific forward primer 5' – TGT TTT GAC CCC TAA AGT TAT C – 3' and reverse primer 5' – TGG CTC TGA ACC CTT TGG TC – 3', which amplified a fragment 439 bp in size. The PCR conditions used to amplify the *AVP1* fragment was an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 53 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. The *HvVRT2* vernalisation gene (GenBank DQ201168) was used as a control gene for PCR reactions and was amplified using *HvVRT2* specific forward primer 5' – CCG AAT GTA CTG CCG TCA TCA CAG – 3' and reverse primer 5' – TGG CAG AGG AAA ATA TGC GCT TGA – 3' which amplified a fragment 280 bp in size. The PCR conditions used to amplify *HvVRT2* were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 55 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. All PCR reactions contained 1× Platinum[®] *Tag* PCR buffer, 2 mM MgCl₂. 200 µM each dNTPs and 0.5 U of Platinum[®] Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Gel electrophoresis with 2 % agarose gel containing 5 µL/100 mL SYBR safe[®] stain (Invitrogen) and a ChemiScope 2850 imaging system (Clinx Science Instruments, Shanghai, China) was used to visualise PCR products and record gel images.

RNA extraction and gene expression analysis

Total RNA was extracted from leaf tissue as described by Chomczynski (1993). Extracted RNA was treated with Ambion[®] DNase-free (Madison, WI, USA) to remove DNA contamination. Superscript III RT kit (Invitrogen) was used to synthesise cDNA using 1 µL volume of DNase treated RNA. The expression of AVP1 in each plant was determined using PCR amplification of 1 µL of cDNA template with AVP1 specific forward primer 5' - TGT TTT GAC CCC TAA AGT TAT C - 3' and reverse primer 5' - TGG CTC TGA ACC CTT TGG TC – 3'. The PCR conditions used to amplify a fragment of the AVP1 transcript (expected band size of 439 bp) were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 53 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. The HvGAP gene (GenBank EF409629) was used as a control gene and amplified using HvGAP specific forward primer 5' - GTG AGG CTG GTG CTG ATT ACG - 3' and reverse primer 5' - TGG TGC AGC TAG CAT TTG ACA C – 3'. The PCR conditions used to amplify a fragment of HvGAP (expected band size of 189 bp) were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 58 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. All PCR reactions contained 1× Platinum® Tag PCR buffer, 2 mM MgCl₂, 200 µM each dNTPs and 0.5 U of Platinum[®] Tag DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Gel electrophoresis with 2 % agarose gel containing 5 µL/100 mL SYBR safe® stain (Invitrogen) and a ChemiScope 2850 imaging system was used to check PCR products and record gel images.

Soil characterisation of a saline field trial site

The field trial site was located near Kunjin, Western Australia (Longitude: 177.73390, Latitude: -32.33960). An electromagnetic (EM) map of the field site showing the apparent electrical conductivity was obtained using a vehicle fitted EM Geonics device (Precision Agronomics Australia, Esperance, Western Australia). Soil was collected from 0 to 10 cm depth using a spade in two field areas identified from the EM map as having low and high salinity. Soil texture (% sand, silt and clay) was determined using the hydrometer method (Day, 1965). Soil electrical conductivity (EC) and pH were measured in a 1:5 (soil:water) extract, after shaking on an orbital shaker for 1 h and settling for 30 mins, using a CyberScan PC 510 meter (Eutech Instruments, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA).

Saline field trial of transgenic barley

A field trial of T₄ transgenic barley lines expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1*-1a, *35S-AVP1*-1b, *35S-AVP1*-2 and *35S-AVP1*-3) and wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) was conducted at the saline field site. The field trial design was completely randomised with 2 plots (1.2 m width × 2 m length) per line in each salt treatment (low and high salinity area). Plots were sown in July 2011 at a sowing rate of 160 plants plot⁻¹ (Kalyx Australia, Perth, Western Australia). Total rainfall during the growing season was 287 mm (Weather Station 010536, Corrigin WA, <u>http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/</u>), with the high salinity field area prone to water-logging. Standard agronomic practices were used including: weed control using 2 L ha⁻¹ Sprayseed[®] (Syngenta), 2 L ha⁻¹ Treflan[®] (Nufarm) and 1 L ha⁻¹ Chlorpyrifos[®] (Dow AgroSciences) immediately before sowing; pre-emergent deep banding of 80 kg ha⁻¹ Vigour Atlas[®] fertiliser containing 10N:12P:9K (Summit Fertilisers); and pre- and post-emergent application of 100 kg ha⁻¹ of urea. Shoot and leaf tissue was sampled and plant tillers counted in October 2011 at the vegetative growth stage Z37 (Zadoks et al., 1974). Shoot material was dried for 3 d in an oven at 70 °C (Contherm Scientific Ltd, Wellington, New Zealand) for biomass measurements. A leaf blade was collected for genotyping and the youngest fully emerged blade collected for solute measurements. Grain was sampled from each plot in

December 2011 and the number of grain heads, number of individual grains and grain weight per plant were recorded.

ICP-OES determination of leaf solute concentrations

The 4th leaf blade (greenhouse grown plants) and the youngest fully-emerged blade (field grown plants) were dried for 3 d in an oven at 70 °C (Contherm Scientific Ltd). Dried leaf tissue was cut into 2 to 5 cm pieces and digested using 70 % nitric acid and 30 % hydrogen peroxide for Inductive Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometry (ICP-OES) analysis (Wheal et al., 2011).

Statistical analysis

Data was statistically analysed using a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) in Microsoft[®] Office Excel 2007 and the Least Significant Difference (LSD) was used to identify significantly different means at a probability level of $P \le 0.05$ or ≤ 0.01 .

Acknowledgements

We thank the ACPFG Transformation Group for barley transformation; Precision Agronomics Australia (Esperance, WA) for EM mapping; Kalyx Australia (Perth, WA), Jan Nield and Andrew Jacobs for GM field trial assistance; the Waite Analytical Services (Adelaide, SA) for ICP-OES analysis; The Plant Accelerator[®] of The Australian Plant Phenomics Facility (APPF) for bioinformatics and horticultural assistance; and Jessica Bovill for technical assistance. We also acknowledge the University of Connecticut (UConn) and Roberto Gaxiola. This project was supported by the Australian Research Council (ARC) and the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC). RS is a recipient of a GRDC Grains Industry Research Scholarship.

References

- Apse, M.P., Aharon, G.S., Snedden, W.A. and Blumwald, E. (1999) Salt tolerance conferred by overexpression of a vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter in *Arabidopsis*. *Science* **285**, 1256-1258.
- Bao, A.K., Wang, S.M., Wu, G.Q., Xi, J.J., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, C.M. (2009) Overexpression of the Arabidopsis H⁺-PPase enhanced resistance to salt and drought stress in transgenic alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.). Plant Sci. **176**, 232-240.
- Berger, B., Parent, B. and Tester, M. (2010) High-throughput shoot imaging to study drought responses. *J. Exp. Bot.* **61**, 3519-3528.
- Blumwald, E. (2000) Sodium transport and salt tolerance in plants. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 12, 431-434.
- Chomczynski, P. (1993) A reagent for the single step simultaneous isolation of RNA, DNA and proteins from cell and tissue samples. *BioTechniques* **15**, 532-537.
- Colmer, T.D., Munns, R. and Flowers, T.J. (2005) Improving salt tolerance of wheat and barley: future prospects. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* **45**, 1425-1443.
- Curtis, M.D. and Grossniklaus, U. (2003) A gateway cloning vector set for high-throughput functional analysis of genes in planta. *Plant Physiol.* **133**, 462-469.
- Day, P.R. (1965) Particle fractionation and particle-size analysis. In: Methods of soil analysis. Part 1 -Physical and mineralogical properties including statistics of measurement and sampling (C.A., B. ed) pp. 545-567. Madison: Am. Soc. of Agron.
- Duan, X.G., Yang, A.F., Gao, F., Zhang, S.L. and Zhang, J.R. (2007) Heterologous expression of vacuolar H⁺-PPase enhances the electrochemical gradient across the vacuolar membrane and improves tobacco cell salt tolerance. *Protoplasma* 232, 87-95.
- Edwards, K., Johnstone, C. and Thompson, C. (1991) A simple and rapid method for the preparation of plant genomic DNA for PCR analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **19**, 1349-1349.
- Ferjani, A., Segami, S., Horiguchi, G., Muto, Y., Maeshima, M. and Tsukaya, H. (2011) Keep an eye on PP_i: The vacuolar-type H⁺-pyrophosphatase regulates postgerminative development in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* **23**, 2895-2908.
- Flowers, T.J. (2004) Improving crop salt tolerance. J. Exp. Bot. 55, 307-319.
- Furbank, R.T. and Tester, M. (2011) Phenomics technologies to relieve the phenotyping bottleneck. *Trends Plant Sci.* **16**, 635-644.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J.S., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (2001) Droughtand salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the *AVP1* H⁺-pump. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 11444-11449.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Sanchez, C.A., Paez-Valencia, J., Ayre, B.G. and Elser, J.J. (2012) Genetic manipulation of a "vacuolar" H⁺-PPase: from salt tolerance to yield enhancement under phosphorus-deficient soils. *Plant Physiol.* **159**, 3-11.
- Golzarian, M., Frick, R., Rajendran, K., Berger, B., Roy, S., Tester, M. and Lun, D. (2011) Accurate inference of shoot biomass from high-throughput images of cereal plants. *Plant Methods* **7**, 2.
- Gouiaa, S., Khoudi, H., Leidi, E., Pardo, J. and Masmoudi, K. (2012) Expression of wheat Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter *TNHXS1* and H⁺- pyrophosphatase *TVP1* genes in tobacco from a bicistronic transcriptional unit improves salt tolerance. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **79**, 137-155.
- Jacobs, A., Lunde, C., Bacic, A., Tester, M. and Roessner, U. (2007) The impact of constitutive heterologous expression of a moss Na⁺ transporter on the metabolomes of rice and barley. *Metabolomics* **3**, 307-317.
- Li, J.S., Yang, H.B., Peer, W.A., Richter, G., Blakeslee, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Titapiwantakun, B., Undurraga, S., Khodakovskaya, M., Richards, E.L., Krizek, B., Murphy, A.S., Gilroy, S. and Gaxiola, R. (2005) *Arabidopsis* H⁺-PPase *AVP1* regulates auxin-mediated organ development. *Science* **310**, 121-125.

- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 272-289.
- Lv, S., Zhang, K.W., Gao, Q., Lian, L.J., Song, Y.J. and Zhang, J.R. (2008) Overexpression of an H⁺-PPase gene from *Thellungiella halophila* in cotton enhances salt tolerance and improves growth and photosynthetic performance. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **49**, 1150-1164.
- Maeshima, M. (2000) Vacuolar H+-pyrophosphatase. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1465, 37-51.
- Munns, R. (2002) Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. *Plant Cell Environ.* 25, 239-250.
- Munns, R. and Tester, M. (2008) Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 651-681.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1557-1569.
- Park, S., Li, J.S., Pittman, J.K., Berkowitz, G.A., Yang, H.B., Undurraga, S., Morris, J., Hirschi, K.D. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2005) Up-regulation of a H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) as a strategy to engineer drought-resistant crop plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 18830-18835.
- Pasapula, V., Shen, G., Kuppu, S., Paez-Valencia, J., Mendoza, M., Hou, P., Chen, J., Qiu, X., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Auld, D., Blumwald, E., Zhang, H., Gaxiola, R. and Payton, P. (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 88-99.
- Plett, D.C. and Møller, I.S. (2010) Na⁺ transport in glycophytic plants: what we know and would like to know. *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 612-626.
- Qin, H., Gu, Q., Kuppu, S., Sun, L., Zhu, X., Mishra, N., Hu, R., Shen, G., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Burow, M., Payton, P. and Zhang, H. (2013) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene *AVP1* in peanut to improve drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Biotech. Rep.* **7**, 345-355.
- Rajendran, K., Tester, M. and Roy, S.J. (2009) Quantifying the three main components of salinity tolerance in cereals. *Plant Cell Environ.* **32**, 237-249.
- Roy, S.J., Tucker, E.J. and Tester, M. (2011) Genetic analysis of abiotic stress tolerance in crops. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **14**, 232-239.
- Singh, R., Kemp, J., Kollmorgen, J., Qureshi, J. and Fincher, G. (1997) Fertile plant regeneration from cell suspension and protoplast cultures of barley (*Hordeum vulgare cv. Schooner*). *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* **49**, 121-127.
- Sirault, X.R.R., James, R.A. and Furbank, R.T. (2009) A new screening method for osmotic component of salinity tolerance in cereals using infrared thermography. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **36**, 970-977.
- Sze, H., Ward, J.M. and Lai, S.P. (1992) Vacuolar H⁺-translocating ATPases from plants structure, function and isoforms. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **24**, 371-381.
- Vercruyssen, L., Gonzalez, N., Werner, T., Schmulling, T. and Inze, D. (2011) Combining enhanced root and shoot growth reveals cross talk between pathways that control plant organ size in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* **155**, 1339-1352.
- Wheal, M.S., Fowles, T.O. and Palmer, L.T. (2011) A cost-effective acid digestion method using closed polypropylene tubes for inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) analysis of plant essential elements. *Anal. Methods* **3**, 2854-2863.
- Yang, H., Knapp, J., Koirala, P., Rajagopal, D., Peer, W.A., Silbart, L.K., Murphy, A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2007) Enhanced phosphorus nutrition in monocots and dicots over-expressing a phosphorusresponsive type I H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Plant Biotech. J.* **5**, 735-745.
- Zadoks, J.C., Chang, T.T. and Konzak, C.F. (1974) A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed Res.* **14**, 415-421.

Zhao, F.Y., Zhang, X.J., Li, P.H., Zhao, Y.X. and Zhang, H. (2006) Co-expression of the *Suaeda salsa SsNHX1* and *Arabidopsis AVP1* confer greater salt tolerance to transgenic rice than the single *SsNHX1*. *Mol. Breed.* **17**, 341-353.

Tables

Table 1 The number of heads, number of grains, grain weight and grain yield per plant of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) and wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) in a low and high salinity field area. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 6-12) with asterisks (* or **) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \le 0.05$ or ≤ 0.01).

Treatment	Line	No. of heads (per plant)	No. of grains (per plant)	Grain weight (mg)	Grain yield (g/plant)
Low Salinity	Wild-type	6.0 ± 0.4	107 ± 13	33.2 ± 1.0	3.57 ± 0.49
	<i>35S-AVP1</i> -1a	7.5 ± 0.6	150 ± 16 *	36.6 ± 0.8	5.45 ± 0.57 *
	<i>35S-AVP1</i> -1b	5.8 ± 0.3	98 ± 6	40.1 ± 3.8	3.77 ± 0.23
	35S-AVP1-2	6.6 ± 0.6	116 ± 12	40.3 ± 1.0	4.66 ± 0.49 *
	35S-AVP1-3	6.4 ± 0.5	122 ± 13	36.2 ± 1.5	4.40 ± 0.45
High Salinity	Wild-type	2.7 ± 0.3	10 ± 3	24.6 ± 5.7	0.28 ± 0.07
	<i>35S-AVP1</i> -1a	5.4 ± 0.9 *	60 ± 13 **	32.6 ± 1.8	2.02 ± 0.50 **
	<i>35S-AVP1</i> -1b	3.3 ± 0.2	56 ± 4.0 **	34.9 ± 2.0 *	1.97 ± 0.21 **
	35S-AVP1-2	6.4 ± 0.7 *	67 ± 11 **	41.3 ± 6.6 *	2.20 ± 0.34 **
	35S-AVP1-3	3.2 ± 0.5	41 ± 14 **	42.9 ± 5.5 *	1.34 ± 0.38 **

Figure Legends

Figure 1 Molecular characterisation of wild-type, null segregants and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1*. (a) Genotyping for the presence or absence of *AVP1* using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) with *AVP1* specific primers and *HvVRT2* specific primers (internal control) (b) Expression analysis of *AVP1* using reverse-transcription PCR (RT-PCR) with *AVP1* specific and *HvGAP* specific primers (internal control) for wild-type (cv. Golden Promise), null segregants and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1*. Lane (-) is a negative control (water). Lane WT is wild-type. Lanes Nulls 1, 2 & 3 are null segregants. Lanes *35S-AVP1* 1a, 1b, 2 & 3 are transgenic *AVP1* barley lines.

Figure 2 Projected shoot area of salt treated transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* and null segregants in the greenhouse. (a) High resolution visible light (RGB) side-view image of a representative null segregant (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic barley line expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-3*) 47 d after sowing in soil with 150 mM NaCl (b) Projected shoot area (pixel) derived from visible light (RGB) plant images of null (white bar) and transgenic barley lines *35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3* (grey bars) 47 d after sowing in soil with 150 mM NaCl. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3-8) with asterisks (* or **) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, P ≤ 0.05 or ≤ 0.01).

Figure 3 Leaf Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* and null segregants in saline soil. (a) Na⁺ and (b) K⁺ concentrations (mg kg⁻¹ DW) of the 4th leaf blade of null segregants (cv. Golden Promise) (white bars) and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3* (grey bars) 47 d after sowing in soil with 150 mM NaCl. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3-8).

Figure 4 Non-destructive plant imaging of salt treated transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* and null segregants. The projected shoot area (pixel) of null segregants (white squares) and 35S-AVP1-1a line

(grey squares) between (a) 9 to 19 d and (b) 28 to 47 d after sowing in soil with 150 mM NaCl. Representative RGB side view images of a null plant showing the different growth stages are shown on the graph for selected time points. (c) The projected shoot area (pixel) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) at 9 and 47 d after sowing in soil with 150 mM NaCl and the relative growth rates (d⁻¹) of null segregants and transgenic barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) derived from an exponential fitted curve of projected shoot area between 9 to 19 d and 28 to 47 d. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3-8) with asterisks (* or **) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, *P* ≤ 0.05 or ≤ 0.01).

Figure 5 Soil characterisation of a saline field trial site. An electromagnetic (EM) map showing the apparent electrical conductivity (EC_a) of a saline field trial site (83 m length × 32 m width, N = north) with red indicating low EC_a (41 mS m⁻¹) and blue high EC_a (199 mS m⁻¹). Black rectangles indicate the location of trial plots in the low and high salinity field areas with corresponding soil electrical conductivity (EC_{1:5}) (soil:water) (μ S cm⁻¹) and pH (H₂O) values. Values are the mean ± s.e.m (*n* = 12-21).

Figure 6 Shoot biomass of wild-type and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* in a saline field trial (a) Shoot biomass (g DW plant⁻¹) of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and four transgenic barley lines expressing *AVP1* (35S-*AVP1*-1a, 35S-*AVP1*-1b, 35S-*AVP1*-2 & 35S-*AVP1*-3) after 12 weeks growth in the low (white bars) and high salinity (grey bars) field. (b) Image of shoot growth of a representative wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (35S-*AVP1*-1b) at high salinity. Values are the mean ± s.e.m (*n* = 12) with asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, *P* ≤ 0.05).

Figures



Figure 1







Figure 3





(c)

Line	Projected Shoot Area (pixel) at 150 mM NaCl		Relative Growth Rate (d ⁻¹) at 150 mM NaCl	
	9 d	47 d	9 to 19 d	28 to 47 d
Null segregants	2353 ± 181	89201 ± 7008	0.1220	0.0814
35S- <i>AVP1</i> -1a	2348 ± 289	116129 ± 3880*	0.1371	0.0829
35S- <i>AVP1</i> -1b	2558 ± 359	88146 ± 13169	0.1239	0.0794
35S-AVP1-2	4282 ± 381**	138041 ± 13543**	0.1033	0.0799
35S-AVP1-3	3794 ± 139**	133524 ± 7560**	0.1268	0.0688

Figure 4





Figure 5





Wild-type

35S-*AVP1*-1b

Figure 6

Supporting Information

Table S1 Transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* in non-saline conditions show a larger projected shoot area compared to null segregants in the greenhouse with a trend towards a faster relative growth rate during the early growth stages (9 to 17 d) and similar relative growth rates to null segregants in the later growth stages (28 to 47 d). The projected shoot area (pixel) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) at 9 and 47 d after sowing in soil with 0 mM NaCl. The relative growth rates (per day) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) derived from an exponential fitted curve of projected shoot area between 9 to 19 d and 28 to 47 d after sowing in soil with 0 mM NaCl. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 6-8) with asterisks (* or **) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, *P* ≤ 0.05 or ≤ 0.01).

Line _	Projected Shoot Area	(pixel) at 0 mM NaCl	Relative Growth Rate (d ⁻¹) at 0 mM NaCl	
	9 d	47 d	9 to 19 d	28 to 47 d
Null segregants	2692 ± 127	178484 ± 12109	0.1355	0.0935
<i>35S-AVP1</i> -1a	4011 ± 197 **	294635 ± 8001 **	0.1462	0.0867
<i>35S-AVP1</i> -1b	4520 ± 351 **	278032 ± 7848 **	0.1419	0.0877
35S-AVP1-2	3006 ± 349	180439 ± 18187	0.1389	0.0918
35S-AVP1-3	3473 ± 361 *	217219 ± 19621 *	0.1352	0.0912

Table S2 Transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* have similar grain yield (g/plant) compared to wild-type in a non-saline field ($EC_{1:5} = 114 \pm 0.7 \mu S \text{ cm}^{-1}$) at O'Halloran Hill, South Australia (Longitude: 138.556277, Latitude: -35.057095) in 2010. Plants were grown to increase seed amount for a saline field trial in Kunjin, Western Australia and were sown and harvested by hand. No difference in grain yield (g plant⁻¹) was evident between the transgenic *AVP1* barley and wild-type. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 42-60).

Line	Grain yield (g plant ⁻¹)
Wild-type	5.31 ± 0.76
35S-AVP1-1a	5.56 ± 0.47
<i>35S-AVP1</i> -1b	5.11 ± 0.28
35S-AVP1-2	5.42 ± 0.45
35S-AVP1-3	4.86 ± 0.92


Figure S1 Leaf Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* and wild-type in a saline field. (a) Na⁺ and (b) K⁺ concentrations (mg kg⁻¹ DW) of youngest fully-emerged leaf blades of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) (white bars) and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3* (grey bars) at vegetative growth stage Z37 after 12 weeks in a high salinity field. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 12).

Additional Information

Subsequent field trials of the *35S:AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) were conducted in the low and high salinity field area at Kunjin, Western Australia (WA) in 2012 (Figure A1) and 2013 (Figure A2). The shoot biomass (Figures A3 and A4), leaf Na*, K* and Cl-concentrations (Figures A5 and A6) and grain yield traits (Table A1 and A2) were measured following methods outlined in Schilling et al (2014). However, in 2012, plant growth was affected by low rainfall conditions in July, August and October (Figure A7a) and, in 2013, plant growth was affected by low rainfall in June and high rainfall in July (waterlogging) (Figure A7b). Variability in salinity also influenced plant establishment between plots in the low (Figure A8a) and high salinity (Figure A8b) areas. Both factors (variability in rainfall and salinity) made interpretation of field trial results difficult due to variation in plant densities within plots. Due to the lack of growth, plants were not sampled from the high salinity field area in 2013. In addition, due to time constraints, grain yield traits in 2013 were limited to total plot grain yields, which are strongly influenced by variation in plot plant densities (i.e. higher plot grain yields occurred for plots with a higher number of plants). Nonetheless, the results of the 2012 and 2013 saline GM field trials at Kunjin, WA have been included in the following section (Figures A1-A6, Tables A1-A2).



Figure A1 The saline GM field trial design at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2012 with plots (1.2 m × 2 m) in the low salinity area (blue) and high salinity area (green). The purple plots have wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and T₅ 35S:AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) in a completely randomised design with blocking (dark purple, purple, light-purple blocks) with 3 replicate plots/line for each treatment. The orange plots contained other transgenic barley lines developed at the ACPFG and grey plots comprised wild-type barley (cv. WI4330) used to balance the plot design.



Figure A2 The saline GM field trial design at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2013 with plots $(1.2 \text{ m} \times 2 \text{ m})$ in the low salinity area (blue) and high salinity area (green). The purple plots have wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and T₅ 35S:AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) in a completely randomised design with blocking with blocking (dark purple, purple, light-purple blocks) with 4 replicate plots/line for each treatment. The orange plots contained other transgenic barley lines developed at ACPFG and grey plots comprised extra wild-type barley (cv. Golden Promise) used to balance the plot design.



Figure A3 The (a) shoot biomass (g DW plant⁻¹) of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and T₅ 35S:AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) in the low (white bars) and high salinity (grey bars) field areas at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2012 when sampled at the growth stage of Z47. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-18). Digital images of the wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley plots in (b) the low salinity and (c) high salinity field area at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2012, showing the variation in plant density between plots.



Figure A4 The (a) shoot biomass (g DW plant⁻¹) of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and T₅ 35S:AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) at the growth stage of Z47 in the low salinity field area at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2013. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 8-24). Digital images of the wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley plots in (b) the low salinity and (c) high salinity field area at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2013, showing the variation in plant density between plots.



Figure A5 (a) Sodium (Na⁺), (b) potassium (K⁺) and (c) chloride (Cl⁻) (μ mol g⁻¹ DW) concentration in the youngest fully-emerged leaf blade of wild-type and T₅ 35S:AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) in the low (white bars) and high (grey bars) salinity field area at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2012 when sampled at growth stage of Z47. Values are presented as the mean± s.e.m (*n* = 3-18).



Figure A6 The (a) sodium (Na⁺), (b) potassium (K⁺) and (c) chloride (Cl⁻) concentrations (μ mol g⁻¹ DW) in the youngest fully-emerged leaf blade of wild-type and T₅ 35S:AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) in the low salinity field area at Kunjin, Western Australia at growth stage of Z47. Values are presented as the mean ± s.e.m (n = 8-24).



Figure A7 Average rainfall (mm) at Corrigin, Western Australia (near Kunjin) for the year (a) 2012 and (b) 2013 (grey bars), mean monthly rainfall (green bars) and median monthly rainfall (blue bars). Data and graphs were obtained from the weather station 010536 (Bureau of Meteorology, Australian Government, <u>http://www.bom.gov.au</u>). In 2012, sowing of the field trial at Kunjin, Western Australia occurred on the 22nd of June with low rainfall in July and August limiting plant growth. In 2013, sowing of the field trial at Kunjin, Western Australia occurred on the 17th of June with plant growth limited by low rainfall in June and high rainfall in July, August and September.



Figure A8 The electrical conductivity (EC_{1:5}) (soil:water) (μ S cm⁻¹) of soil pooled from three sub-samples collected from different positions within individual plots (labelled as 1 to 36) in the (a) low and (b) high salinity field at Kunjin, Western Australia in September 2012 using a soil core (0-10 cm). Values are presented as the mean ± s.e.m (*n* = 3).

Table A1 The number of tillers (plant⁻¹) at Z47 and the number of grains (plant⁻¹), grain weight (mg), grain yield (g plant⁻¹) and plot grain yield (g) of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and T₅ 35S:AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) from the low and high salinity area at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2012. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 15-18 for yield traits and n = 3 for plot yields).

Treatment	Line	No of heads (plant ⁻¹)	No. of grains (plant ⁻¹)	Grain weight (mg)	Grain yield (g plant ⁻¹)	Plot Grain Yield (g)
Low salinity	Wild-type	4.9 ± 0.4	89 ± 9	31.2 ± 1.5	2.85 ± 0.33	240 ± 12
	35S-AVP1-1a	6.4 ± 0.6	94 ± 9	31.1 ± 0.7	2.91 ± 0.27	267 ± 49
	35S-AVP1-1b	5.7 ± 0.5	99 ± 9	29.2 ± 0.7	2.92 ± 0.30	295 ± 34
	35S-AVP1-2	6.0 ± 0.7	96 ± 13	31.4 ± 0.9	3.07 ± 0.45	85 ± 35
	35S-AVP1-3	6.3 ± 0.6	101 ± 11	31.0 ± 0.4	3.15 ± 0.36	266 ± 13
High salinity	Wild-type	2.8 ± 0.3	34 ± 10	30.6 ± 1.4	1.03 ± 0.2	90 ± 22
	35S-AVP1-1a	3.6 ± 0.5	29 ± 7	29.4 ±1.3	0.89 ± 0.2	57 ± 29
	35S-AVP1-1b	4.9 ± 0.5	51 ± 7	27.0 ± 1.1	1.43 ± 0.2	42 ± 23
	35S-AVP1-2	3.6 ± 0.5	43 ± 8	32.0 ± 1.4	0.93 ± 0.2	49 ± 23
	35S-AVP1-3	3.3 ± 0.8	26 ± 8	31.1 ± 0.7	0.91 ± 02	55 ± 31

Table A2 The number of tillers (plant⁻¹) at Z47 and the total plot grain yield (g) of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and T₅ 35S:*AVP1* barley (35S-*AVP1*-1a, 35S-*AVP1*-1b, 35S-*AVP1*-2 & 35S-*AVP1*-3) from the low salinity field area at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2013. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 8-24 for tiller no. and *n* = 4 for plot grain yields).

Line	Tiller No. (plant ⁻¹)	Plot Grain Yield (g)
Wild-type	8.8 ± 0.5	243.5 ± 33.8
35S-AVP1-1a	8.8 ± 1.1	172.6 ± 54.5
35S-AVP1-1b	11 ± 0.7	195.4 ± 97.7
35S-AVP1-2	9.9 ±1.3	215.0 ± 82.0
35S-AVP1-3	9.6 ± 0.7	299.0 ± 63.4

Chapter 3

Evaluating the low phosphorus tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley

Statement of Contributions

The following manuscript in this chapter is formatted for publication in BMC Plant Biology:

Title: Transgenic barley expressing the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) has increased shoot growth and rhizosphere acidification at low phosphorus supply

Schilling conducted the experiments, data analysis, interpretation of results and wrote the manuscript Marschner, Tester, Plett and Roy conceived and supervised the experiments All authors contributed to the discussion of the results

By signing this statement of contributions, each author certifies that their stated contribution to the publication is accurate and that permission is granted for the publication to be included in the candidate's thesis:

Petra Marschner	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Mark Tester	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Darren Plett	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Stuart Roy	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014

Transgenic barley expressing the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) has increased shoot growth and rhizosphere acidification at low phosphorus supply

Running title: AVP1 improves transgenic barley growth at low P supply

Rhiannon K. Schilling^{1,2}, Petra Marschner², Mark Tester³, Darren C. Plett^{1,2} & Stuart J. Roy^{1,2,§}

¹Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics, PMB 1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia.

² School of Agriculture, Food and Wine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

³ Center for Desert Agriculture, Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering, 4700 King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal 23955-6900, Saudi Arabia

§Corresponding author.

Stuart Roy, The Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics and the University of Adelaide, PMB1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia, <u>stuart.roy@acpfg.com.au</u>

Abstract

Background

The use of phosphorus (P) fertilisers to increase cereal crop productivity in soils with low P availability is costly and unsustainable. Cereal varieties with improved P uptake are needed to increase the profitability of crop production in soils with low P availability. Here, we evaluate the growth of transgenic barley with constitutive expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase (*AVP1*) in a soil with low P availability amended with poorly soluble calcium phosphate (25 mg/kg soil) and in hydroponic conditions with low P supply (10 μ M P).

Results

The transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had a larger shoot biomass compared to wild-type in both soil and hydroponic conditions at low P supply. In hydroponic conditions with a low concentration of P, the transgenic *AVP1* barley also had a higher root P concentration compared to wild-type. Furthermore, bromocresol purple staining of transgenic *AVP1* barley plants from hydroponic conditions with low P supply had enhanced rhizosphere acidification compared to wild-type. No difference in root biomass or other root morphological traits was observed in transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to wild-type in both the soil and hydroponic conditions at low P supply.

Conclusions

This study indicates that the expression of *AVP1* increases the shoot growth, P uptake and rhizosphere acidification of transgenic barley under low P supply compared to plants without this gene. It is likely that the enhanced root acidification contributed, at least in part, to the improved P uptake of transgenic *AVP1* barley. Furthermore, this study indicates that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* could be a useful option for increasing profitable crop production in soils with low P availability.

Keywords: cereal crops, plant nutrition, plant growth, AVP1, abiotic stress, rhizosphere acidification

Background

Phosphorus (P) is the second most limiting macronutrient for plant growth and development after nitrogen (Holford, 1997; Vance et al., 2003). It has been estimated that cereal crop yield on 30 to 40 % of agricultural land worldwide is limited by soils with low P availability (Batjes, 1997; Uexküll and Mutert, 1995). Globally, 20 Mt of P fertiliser is applied to soils with low P availability each year to increase cereal crop productivity (Cramer, 2010; Vance et al., 2003). However, this dependence and extensive use of P fertilisers for crop production is unsustainable. Only 10 to 30 % of applied P is taken up by plants in the year of fertiliser application (Bolland and Gilkes, 1998) and excessive fertiliser use causes environmental issues, such as the eutrophication of waterways (Smith et al., 2006). High quality non-renewable rock phosphate reserves are also depleting (Cordell et al., 2009; Dawson and Hilton, 2011). The development of cereal crop varieties with greater uptake of P or increased P utilisation efficiency are therefore needed to achieve sustainable crop production (Vance et al., 2003; Veneklaas et al., 2012).

Plants have developed several strategies for increasing P uptake under low P availability (Vance et al., 2003). Changes in root morphology, such as increased root length, the formation of cluster roots and elongation of lateral roots and root hairs, enable greater exploration of soil and a larger root surface area for P uptake (Gahoonia and Nielsen, 2004; Gamuyao et al., 2012; Lambers et al., 2006). The formation of symbiotic relationships between plants and arbuscular mycorrhiza also enable greater plant P uptake (Bolan, 1991; Smith et al., 2011). Furthermore, the secretion of organic acid anions, such as citrate and malate, and increased rhizosphere acidification can mobilise P from insoluble aluminium, iron or calcium phosphate complexes to increase P availability for plant uptake (Hinsinger, 2001; Vance et al., 2003). The development of crop varieties with one or more of these traits could help to increase P uptake, and thus crop growth, in soils with low P availability (Veneklaas et al., 2012).

Vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatases (H⁺-PPases) are membrane-bound proton pumps, which utilise energy released from the breakdown of inorganic pyrophosphate (PP_i) (Maeshima, 2000). The constitutive overexpression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-PPase gene (*AVP1*) has been shown to increase the root biomass, root length, number of lateral roots and rhizosphere acidification of transgenic *Arabidopsis* under low P supply compared to wild-type (Yang et al., 2007). Transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa*) and tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) expressing the gain-of-function *AVP1D* allele also had greater root biomass under low P supply compared to wild-type (Yang et al., 2007). The shoot biomass of transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* and transgenic *AVP1D* tomato and rice was also increased under low P supply compared to wild-type in a field with soil containing 22 µg P g⁻¹ soil (Yang et al., 2014). It has been hypothesised that AVP1 facilitates more efficient sucrose transport to roots, which increases root growth and rhizosphere acidification, and thus improves water and nutrient uptake by transgenic *AVP1* plants (Gaxiola et al., 2012).

Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) is the fourth most cultivated cereal crop in the world and is an important commodity for both the brewing and livestock industries (FAO, 2013). However, due to the presence of soils with low P availability, barley production relies extensively on costly P fertiliser applications (Bovill et al., 2013). Potentially, the expression of a vacuolar pyrophosphatase gene, such as *AVP1*, could help to improve the growth of barley in soils with low P availability and help increase the profitability of barley production worldwide (Gaxiola et al., 2011; Gaxiola et al., 2012). However, the potential for *AVP1* expression to improve the low P tolerance of transgenic barley is yet to be tested.

Transgenic barley lines with constitutive expression of *AVP1* have been previously generated (Schilling et al., 2014). The transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had an increase in shoot biomass in saline conditions within both the greenhouse and field, and importantly, had a higher grain yield in a field with high salinity

compared to wild-type (Schilling et al., 2014). Notably, the transgenic *AVP1* barley also had an increase in shoot biomass under non-stressed conditions (Schilling et al., 2014), a trait also observed in other studies involving transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). This increase in shoot growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley under non-stressed conditions (Schilling et al., 2014) and the hypothesis of larger root systems in transgenic *AVP1* plants (Gaxiola et al., 2012), suggests that the transgenic *AVP1* barley may also have improved P nutrition.

Here, we evaluate the growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley in a soil with low P availability amended with poorly soluble calcium phosphate and in hydroponics with a low concentration of P. We find that transgenic *AVP1* barley plants have a larger shoot biomass and greater P uptake compared to wild-type barley at low P supply. We also show that the transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* is better able to acidify the rhizosphere than wild-type. Our findings suggest that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* could be a useful option for increasing crop production in soils with low P availability.

Results

Characterisation of a field soil with low P availability

The soil texture of a field soil from Monarto, South Australia with low P availability comprised 75.0 % sand, 16.2 % silt and 8.8 % clay and was therefore classified as a sandy loam. The soil water holding capacity (WHC) at -10 kPa was 17.4 %, the pH (H₂O) was 7.02 \pm 0.03 and the electrical conductivity (EC_{1:5}) (soil:water) was 0.080 \pm 0.001 dS/m. The unamended soil had a resin P concentration of 4.95 \pm 0.15 mg P/kg soil and for soil amended with 25 mg and 75 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil, the resin P concentration was 11.57 \pm 0.40 and 19.71 \pm 1.66 mg P/kg soil respectively.

Transgenic AVP1 barley has increased shoot biomass in soil with low P availability

Wild-type barley (cv. Golden Promise) had lower shoot biomass (27 %) and greater root biomass (6 %) after 21 days in a soil with low P availability amended with 25 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil (low P) compared to wild-type barley in the same soil with 75 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil (sufficient P) (Figure 1a & S1). In the low P soil, two independent transgenic barley lines expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1* and *35S-AVP1-2*) including two sibling lines (*35S-AVP1-1*a and *35S-AVP1-1*b) had a significantly larger shoot biomass (10 to 24 %) compared to wild-type (Figure 1a & b). One transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-3*), however, showed no increase in shoot biomass compared to wild-type in the low P soil (Figure 1a). No significant difference in root biomass was evident between all transgenic *AVP1* barley lines and wild-type in the low P soil (Figure S1). Additionally, the transgenic *AVP1* barley and wild-type had a similar shoot and root biomass in the sufficient P soil (Figure 1a & S1).

Transgenic AVP1 barley has increased shoot biomass in hydroponics at low P supply

Wild-type had lower shoot biomass (29 %) and greater root biomass (3 %) after 14 days in hydroponic conditions with 10 μ M P (low P) compared to wild-type with 100 μ M P (sufficient P) (Figure 2a & b). Three independent transgenic barley lines expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) had a significantly larger shoot biomass (9 to 24 %) compared to wild-type in the hydroponic conditions with low P supply (Figure 2a). However, the shoot biomass of one sibling line *35S-AVP1-1b* at low P supply was not significantly different to wild type (Figure 2a). The dry matter root to shoot ratio increased for both wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines at low P supply (Figure 2c). However, the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines at low P supply (Figure 2c). However, the transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) tended to have a smaller dry matter root to shoot ratio compared to wild-type (Figure 2c). There was no significant difference in root biomass or other root morphology traits, including number of root tips, total root length and average root diameter, between the transgenic *AVP1* barley and wild-type at low P supply (Figure 2b & Table S1).

Expression of *AVP1* increases root P uptake of transgenic barley at low P supply

No significant difference in initial grain P concentrations was evident between wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley plants (Figure S2). After 21 days in the low P soil, two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-2*) had a significant increase in shoot P concentration (mg/kg DW) compared to wild-type (Figure S3). However, the transgenic *AVP1* barley and wild-type plants did not differ in shoot P concentration in hydroponic conditions with low P supply (Figure 3a.). Nonetheless, all plants in the hydroponic conditions with low P supply (Figure 3a.). Nonetheless, all plants in the hydroponic conditions with sufficient P supply, with two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-3*) having significantly higher total shoot P content compared to wild-type (Figure S4). Additionally, transgenic *AVP1* barley in the hydroponics conditions with low P supply had a significant increase (14 to 32 %) in root P concentration (mg/kg DW) compared to wild-type plants (Figure 3b).

Transgenic barley expressing AVP1 has enhanced rhizosphere acidification

The extent of rhizosphere acidification was qualitatively assessed for wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic *AVP1* barley from hydroponic conditions with low P supply using the pH indicator bromocresol purple. A colour change from purple to yellow (pH change from 6.5 to 5.2) was observed surrounding the transgenic *AVP1* barley roots and was absent from the roots of wild-type (Figure 4). This intense yellowing (acidification) of the media surrounding transgenic *AVP1* barley roots occurred predominantly near mature roots (Figure 4). Furthermore, quantitative soil pH measurements of rhizosphere soil collected from the whole root system of each plant show a decrease in rhizosphere pH of all transgenic *AVP1* barley lines in the low P soil compared to sufficient P soil, with one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-3*) having a significantly lower rhizosphere pH than wild-type in the low P soil (Figure S5).

Discussion

In both soil and hydroponic conditions at low P availability, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had an increase in shoot biomass (Figures 1 & 2) and shoot P content (Figures S3 & S4) compared to wild-type. An increase in root P concentration (mg/kg DW) was also evident in transgenic *AVP1* barley in the hydroponic conditions with low P supply (Figure 3b). This demonstrates that transgenic *AVP1* barley roots were able to take up a greater amount of P under low P supply and increase their shoot biomass accordingly compared to wild-type. This supports the previous study showing a larger shoot biomass and higher total P content (mg) in transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* and transgenic rice and tomato plants expressing *AVP1D* under low P supply (Yang et al., 2007). It also supports the concept that transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* offer the potential to achieve more sustainable crop production in soils with low P availability (Gaxiola et al., 2011; Gaxiola et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2007).

A larger root system in transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* or *AVP1D* has previously been attributed to improving P uptake, and thus increasing shoot biomass, under low P supply (Yang et al., 2007). An increase in root biomass is a known mechanism for improving plant growth at low P availability by enabling greater exploration of soil and a larger root surface area for P uptake (Gahoonia and Nielsen, 2004; Gamuyao et al., 2012; Hermans et al., 2006). The up-regulation of *AVP1* has been hypothesised to facilitate more efficient sucrose transport to roots increasing root growth and rhizosphere acidification leading to improved water and nutrient uptake (Gaxiola et al., 2012). Notably, transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* had longer roots, a greater number of lateral roots and denser root hairs under low P supply compared to wild-type plants (Yang et al., 2007). The expression of a vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene from *Thellungiella halophila* (syn. *Eutrema salsugineum*), *TsVP*, in transgenic maize (*Zea mays*) also had 37 to 40 % larger root biomass than wild-type under low P supply (Pei et al., 2012).

In this study, there was no significant difference in root biomass between the transgenic *AVP1* barley and wild-type in both soil and hydroponic conditions with low P supply (Figure S1 & 2b). There was also no significant difference in other root morphology traits, including total root length, number of root tips and average root diameter between the transgenic *AVP1* barley and wild-type in hydroponic conditions with low P supply (Table S1). As expected for P deficient plants, the root growth of all plants increased compared to shoot growth in the hydroponic conditions with low P supply (Figure 2c) (Hermans et al., 2006). However, due to their larger shoot biomass, the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a smaller dry matter root to shoot ratio compared to wild-type under low P supply (Figure 2c). The finding that root biomass in the transgenic *AVP1* barley was not increased in the hydroponic conditions at low P supply may be due to the higher availability of P in the nutrient solution compared to soil, reducing the necessity for plant roots to search for P. Although no increase in root biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley was observed in these experiments, it cannot be ruled out that such effects could occur if the plants had been treated for a longer time-frame or at a more severe low P treatment. However, no increase in root biomass in both the soil and hydroponic conditions suggests this factor may not be responsible, in this study, for the improved shoot growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley plants under low P supply.

Greater rhizosphere acidification in transgenic *AVP1* plants has also been attributed to increased P availability, and thus P uptake, under low P supply (Gaxiola et al., 2007; Gaxiola et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2007). Proton exudation from plant roots has been shown to mobilise P from insoluble calcium phosphate complexes to increase P availability for plant uptake (Vance et al., 2003). Transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* had greater rhizosphere acidification under low P supply compared to wild-type (Yang et al., 2007). This increase in rhizosphere acidification, which was inhibited by vanadate, is thought to arise from AVP1 facilitating an up-regulation of the plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase activity (Yang et al., 2007). Transgenic lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*) expressing *AVP1D* also had greater rhizosphere acidification under low nitrate supply (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). Furthermore, enhanced rhizosphere acidification

was also observed in transgenic maize expressing *TsVP*, under low P supply (Pei et al., 2012). An increase in rhizosphere acidification could therefore enhance nutrient uptake in transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Gaxiola et al., 2011; Gaxiola et al., 2012).

In this study, bromocresol purple staining showed qualitatively that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has greater rhizosphere acidification than wild-type in hydroponic conditions with low P supply. This acidification (visualised by yellowing of the media) surrounding transgenic *AVP1* barley roots was primarily localised around mature roots (Figure 4). In the low P soil treatment, the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a similar rhizosphere soil pH as wild-type, with only one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-3*) showing a significant decrease in rhizosphere soil pH (Figure S5). It is probable that a decrease in rhizosphere soil pH of all transgenic *AVP1* barley lines was not observed in this study due the use of rhizosphere soil collected from the entire root system and not solely from mature roots. Potentially, the pH of rhizosphere soil directly surrounding the mature roots of transgenic *AVP1* barley may have been more acidic than wild-type (as seen in the bromocresol staining results) or that the pH buffering capacity of the Monarto soil was a limiting factor. Nonetheless, the transgenic *AVP1* barley had enhanced root acidification at low P supply supporting previous observations in transgenic *AVP1* barley had enhanced root acidification at low P supply supporting previous observations in transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* (Yang et al., 2007).

It is therefore probable that root acidification contributed, at least in part, to the increased root P uptake, and thus greater shoot biomass of the transgenic *AVP1* barley under low P availability. However, in hydroponic conditions, given the higher availability of P, the aeration of the nutrient solution and that the pH was adjusted when the nutrient solution was regularly replenished, it seems unlikely that root acidification was responsible for improving root P uptake and increasing the shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley. Other factors, such as enhanced auxin transport (Li et al., 2005; Pei et al., 2012) or improved

seedling vigour (Ferjani et al., 2011) could also be contributing to the larger shoot biomass of the transgenic *AVP1* barley observed under low P supply.

Previously, in a non-saline soil, transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass than null segregants (Schilling et al., 2014). Other transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* also had an increase in shoot and root biomass under non-stressed conditions (Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). However, in this study, the shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley was not significantly different to wild-type in both hydroponic and soil conditions with sufficient P supply (Figure 1a & 2a). This inconsistency could be due to differences in experimental design, with the field soil in this study being amended with all basal nutrients to limit any deviations in soil nutrients levels and thus any unintended growth advantage occurring in transgenic barley expressing *AVP1*. Nonetheless, this study highlights the importance of ensuring factors, such as soil nutrient levels, are carefully controlled when phenotyping transgenic plants, particularly transgenic *AVP1* plants which appear to tolerate several different abiotic stresses.

Conclusions

In this study, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had a larger shoot biomass compared to wild-type in both soil and hydroponic conditions with low P supply. The transgenic *AVP1* barley also had enhanced rhizosphere acidification and increased root P uptake compared to wild-type at low P supply. No difference in root biomass or other root morphological traits were observed between wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley. An explanation for the increase in shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley at low P supply remains to be fully elucidated, although increased rhizosphere acidification may have partially contributed. Overall, this study demonstrates that the expression of *AVP1* increases the shoot growth, rhizosphere acidification and root P uptake of transgenic barley under low P supply. It also indicates that the

expression of *AVP1* in barley offers the potential to achieve more sustainable cereal crop production in soils with low P availability.

Methods

Characterisation of a field soil with low P availability

A soil with low P availability was collected at a depth of \leq 20 cm near Monarto, South Australia (Latitude: -35.098631, Longitude: 139.074707). The field soil was air dried and sieved to \leq 2 mm. Soil electrical conductivity (EC) and pH were measured in a 1:5 (soil:water) extract, after shaking on an orbital shaker for 1 h and settling for 30 mins, using a CyberScan PC 510 meter (Eutech Instruments, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). The soil texture (% sand, silt and clay) was determined using the hydrometer method (Day, 1965). The soil water holding capacity (WHC) was determined using a sintered glass funnel connected to a 100 cm water column (Ψ_m = -10 kPa) (Setia et al., 2011). The amount of plant available P was determined using resin strips (6 × 2 cm) (BDH # 55164 2S, BDH Laboratory Supplies, Poole, England) following the method of Kouno et al., (1995). The amount of P in resin P extracts was determined colourimetrically at 712 nm using a UV-1601 spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan) (Murphy and Riley, 1962).

Establishing sufficient and low available P soil treatments

A preliminary soil incubation experiment was conducted to determine the amount of calcium phosphate (CaHPO₂.2H₂O) required for amending a soil with low P availability to obtain relevant low and sufficient available soil P treatments. Briefly, different rates of CaHPO₂.2H₂O (0, 50, 100, 200, 300, 400, 500 and 700 mg/kg soil) were evenly mixed into 25 g of air-dry soil. The soil was incubated at 70 % of field capacity by watering to weight each day for 7 days. Following incubation, the soil was collected and resin P measurements were completed to determine plant available P levels (Table S2). The shoot biomass (g DW) of wild-type barley at five rates of CaHPO₂.2H₂O (0, 25, 50, 75 and 150 mg/kg soil) was also tested

and 25 and 75 mg of CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil was selected as relevant low and sufficient P treatments respectively (Table S3).

The field soil with low P availability was amended with basal nutrients (excluding P) to ensure all other nutrients were non-limiting. The rate and composition of supplied nutrients were (g/kg soil) 0.92 Ca(NO₃)₂, 0.17 K₂SO₄, 0.19 MgSO₄ and (mg/kg soil) 0.4 NaFeEDTA, 2.0 CuSO₄.5H₂O, 0.6 MnSO₄.H₂O, 0.4 Co(NO₃)₂.6H₂O, 0.5 H₃BO₃, 0.5 Na₂MoO₄ and 2.2 ZnSO₄.7H₂O (Mat Hassan et al., 2012). All nutrients were mixed evenly in a small proportion of field soil and gradually combined into the bulk soil. Two rates of CaHPO₂.2H₂O at 25 and 75 mg/kg soil were mixed into the bulk soil prior to being distributed into individual pots. The water content of the soil was established at 70 % of field capacity (122 mL RO water/pot).

Plant material and pot experiment using a soil with low P availability

Transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* from three independent transformation events (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) and wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) were used in this study (Schilling et al., 2014). Seeds from the T₄ generation were selected by weight (43 mg each) and surface sterilised by a 5 min exposure to ultraviolet light, then germinated at 21 °C for 4 days on moist filter paper in Petri dishes (145 mm diameter) placed in polyethylene bags to maintain humidity. Individual uniform size seedlings were transplanted to a sealed white pot (12 cm × 13 cm) filled with 1 kg of Monarto soil amended with 25 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil (low P) or 75 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil (sufficient P) treatments. All pots were watered to 70 % of field capacity using RO water and electronic scales every second day. After 21 days, shoot and root tissue from each plant was collected and dry weights recorded after drying in an oven at 70 °C for 3 days. Rhizosphere soil, defined in this study as the soil closely adhering to the plant roots after gently shaking the roots free of soil, was collected using a paintbrush and used for pH measurements as outlined above.

Plant material and hydroponics experiment with a low P concentration

Transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* and wild-type (Schilling et al., 2014) were grown in a small hydroponics system with sufficient or low P supply. Seeds from the T₄ generation were pre-germinated on moist filter paper in large Petri dishes for 3 days. Uniform size seedlings were transplanted to hydroponic containers with 10 L of nutrient solution consisting of RO water with the following (in mM): 0.2 NH₄NO₃, 5.0 KNO₃, 2.0 Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 2.0 MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.1 KH₂PO₄, 0.5 Na₂Si₃O₇, 0.05 NaFe(III)EDTA, 0.05 H₃BO₃, 0.005 MnCl₂.4H₂O, 0.01 ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 0.005 CuSO₄.5H₂O and 0.0001 Na₂MoO₄.2H₂O, except the low P treatment with 10 µM KH₂PO₄. The nutrient solutions was changed every 5 days and the pH adjusted to 6.5 using 10 % HCl to ensure all nutrients (except P) were adequately supplied. An aerator stone attached to a Precision SR 7500 aerator (Aqua One, Sydney, Australia) was used to provide continuous aeration to each hydroponic container. After 14 days, root tissue from each plant was analysed using the WinRHIZO, both the shoot and root tissue was oven dried at 70 °C for 3 days and the tissue dry weights were recorded.

Analysis of root traits using WinRHIZO Pro[®] software

The roots of each plant were detached from the shoot and immediately imaged using an A3 Epson Expression 10000 XL 3.49 scanner (Epson, Sydney, Australia) at a grey scale with 800 dpi. Briefly, the roots of each plant were placed in a tray (20 × 30 cm) containing the same growth nutrient solution (sufficient or low P) and were carefully arranged to ensure all roots were separated for imaging. Images of each plant were analysed using WinRHIZO Pro[®] 2009 software (Régent Instruments, Quebec, QC, Canada) to determine the total root length, root diameter and number of root tips.

Determination of grain, shoot and root P concentrations

Grain P concentrations in transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (35S-AVP1-1, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) and wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) seed used in this experiment were measured in individual grains selected by weight (43 mg each) sourced from plants previously grown in non-stressed conditions. The

grain was digested using 70 % nitric acid and 30 % hydrogen peroxide for Inductive Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometry (ICP-OES) analysis (Wheal et al., 2011). To determine total shoot (soil and hydroponic) and root P concentrations (hydroponic only), the whole dried shoot or root tissue of each plant was cut into ~10 cm fragments before being digested using 70 % nitric acid and 30 % hydrogen peroxide for ICP-OES analysis (Wheal et al., 2011).

Visualisation of rhizosphere acidification using bromocresol purple staining

The pH indicator bromocresol purple was used to observe root acidification in 13-day-old wild-type and 35S:AVP1 barley from hydroponic conditions with low P supply (as described above) using a method adapted from Heckman and Strick (1996). Briefly, 7.5 g of agarose (Cat. No. BIO-41026, Bioline, London, UK), 0.06 g of bromocresol purple (Lot 29F3712, Sigma-Aldrich Pty. Ltd., Sydney, Australia) and 1000 mL of distilled water were mixed together and adjusted to a pH of 6.5 using 0.5 M NaOH, prior to heating in a microwave until the solution boiled. The cooling liquid bromocresol purple agarose solution, which was stirred to ensure the solution did not settle, was gently poured over the roots of an intact plant carefully placed in a white tray (13 cm × 13 cm) to a final gel thickness of ~ 3 mm (100 mL solution/tray). The solution was allowed to solidify and the extent of acidification (yellowing) surrounding the plant roots (1 plant/gel) was visualised under natural sunlight in a greenhouse after 4 h of staining. The pH of the same bromocresol purple solution at the specific purple (pH = 6.5) and yellow (pH = 5.2) colouring was also measured.

Statistical analysis

Data was statistically analysed using a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) in Microsoft[®] Office Excel 2007 and the Least Significant Difference (LSD) was used to identify significantly different means compared to wild-type within treatments at a probability level of $P \le 0.05$.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Acknowledgements

We thank Colin Rivers (University of Adelaide) for assisting with field soil collection, Suman Verma (University of Adelaide) and Priyanka Kalambettu (ACPFG) for technical assistance and the Waite Analytical Services (Adelaide, SA) for ICP-OES analysis. ACPFG acknowledges the University of Connecticut (UConn) and Dr Roberto Gaxiola. Funding support by the Australian Research Council (ARC) and Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) is also acknowledged. RS is a recipient of a GRDC Grains Industry Research Scholarship.

References

- Batjes, N. (1997) A world dataset of derived soil properties by FAO–UNESCO soil unit for global modelling. *Soil Use Manag.* **13**, 9-16.
- Bolan, N.S. (1991) A critical review on the role of mycorrhizal fungi in the uptake of phosphorus by plants. *Plant Soil* **134**, 189-207.
- Bolland, M.D.A. and Gilkes, R.J. (1998) The chemistry and agronomic effectiveness of phosphate fertilizers. *J. Crop Prod.* **1**, 139-163.
- Bovill, W.D., Huang, C.Y. and McDonald, G.K. (2013) Genetic approaches to enhancing phosphorus-use efficiency (PUE) in crops: challenges and directions. *Crop and Pasture Science* **64**, 179-198.
- Cordell, D., Drangert, J.O. and White, S. (2009) The story of phosphorus: global food security and food for thought. *Global Environmental Change* **19**, 292-305.
- Cramer, M.D. (2010) Phosphate as a limiting resource: introduction. Plant Soil 334, 1-10.
- Dawson, C.J. and Hilton, J. (2011) Fertiliser availability in a resource-limited world: Production and recycling of nitrogen and phosphorus. *Food Policy* **36**, S14-S22.
- Day, P.R. (1965) Particle fractionation and particle-size analysis. In: Methods of soil analysis. Part 1 -Physical and mineralogical properties including statistics of measurement and sampling (C.A., B. ed) pp. 545-567. Madison: Am. Soc. of Agron.
- FAO (2013) Food and agricultural commodities production. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations <u>http://faostat.fao.org/site/339/default.aspx</u>
- Ferjani, A., Segami, S., Horiguchi, G., Muto, Y., Maeshima, M. and Tsukaya, H. (2011) Keep an eye on PP_i: The vacuolar-type H⁺-pyrophosphatase regulates postgerminative development in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* **23**, 2895-2908.
- Gahoonia, T.S. and Nielsen, N.E. (2004) Root traits as tools for creating phosphorus efficient crop varieties. *Plant Soil* **260**, 47-57.
- Gamuyao, R., Chin, J.H., Pariasca-Tanaka, J., Pesaresi, P., Catausan, S., Dalid, C., Slamet-Loedin, I., Tecson-Mendoza, E.M., Wissuwa, M. and Heuer, S. (2012) The protein kinase *Pstol1* from traditional rice confers tolerance of phosphorus deficiency. *Nature* **488**, 535-539.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Edwards, M. and Elser, J.J. (2011) A transgenic approach to enhance phosphorus use efficiency in crops as part of a comprehensive strategy for sustainable agriculture. *Chemosphere* **84**, 840-845.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Palmgren, M.G. and Schumacher, K. (2007) Plant proton pumps. *FEBS Lett.* **581**, 2204-2214.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Sanchez, C.A., Paez-Valencia, J., Ayre, B.G. and Elser, J.J. (2012) Genetic manipulation of a "vacuolar" H⁺-PPase: from salt tolerance to yield enhancement under phosphorus-deficient soils. *Plant Physiol.* **159**, 3-11.
- Heckman, J. and Strick, J. (1996) Teaching plant-soil relationships with color images of rhizosphere pH. *J. Nat. Resour. Life Sci. Educ.* **25**, 13-16.
- Hermans, C., Hammond, J.P., White, P.J. and Verbruggen, N. (2006) How do plants respond to nutrient shortage by biomass allocation? *Trends Plant Sci.* **11**, 610-617.
- Hinsinger, P. (2001) Bioavailability of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as affected by root-induced chemical changes: a review. *Plant Soil* **237**, 173-195.
- Holford, I. (1997) Soil phosphorus: its measurement, and its uptake by plants. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* **35**, 227-240.
- Kouno, K., Tuchiya, Y. and Ando, T. (1995) Measurement of soil microbial biomass phosphorus by an anion-exchange membrane method. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **27**, 1353-1357.
- Lambers, H., Shane, M.W., Cramer, M.D., Pearse, S.J. and Veneklaas, E.J. (2006) Root structure and functioning for efficient acquisition of phosphorus: matching morphological and physiological traits. Ann. Bot. 98, 693-713.

- Li, J.S., Yang, H.B., Peer, W.A., Richter, G., Blakeslee, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Titapiwantakun, B., Undurraga, S., Khodakovskaya, M., Richards, E.L., Krizek, B., Murphy, A.S., Gilroy, S. and Gaxiola, R. (2005) *Arabidopsis* H⁺-PPase *AVP1* regulates auxin-mediated organ development. *Science* **310**, 121-125.
- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 272-289.
- Maeshima, M. (2000) Vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1465, 37-51.
- Mat Hassan, H., Marschner, P., McNeill, A. and Tang, C. (2012) Growth, P uptake in grain legumes and changes in rhizosphere soil P pools. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* **48**, 151-159.
- Murphy, J. and Riley, J.P. (1962) A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **27**, 31-36.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1557-1569.
- Pei, L., Wang, J., Li, K., Li, Y., Li, B., Gao, F. and Yang, A. (2012) Overexpression of *Thellungiella* halophila H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene improves low phosphate tolerance in maize. *PLoS ONE* doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043501.
- Schilling, R.K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J. and Plett, D.C. (2014) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field. *Plant Biotech. J.* **12**, 378-386.
- Setia, R., Marschner, P., Baldock, J., Chittleborough, D. and Verma, V. (2011) Relationships between carbon dioxide emission and soil properties in salt-affected landscapes. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **43**, 667-674.
- Smith, S.E., Jakobsen, I., Grønlund, M. and Smith, F.A. (2011) Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant phosphorus nutrition: interactions between pathways of phosphorus uptake in arbuscular mycorrhizal roots have important implications for understanding and manipulating plant phosphorus acquisition. *Plant Physiol.* **156**, 1050-1057.
- Smith, V.H., Joye, S.B. and Howarth, R.W. (2006) Eutrophication of freshwater and marine ecosystems. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* **51**, 351-355.
- Uexküll, H.R. and Mutert, E. (1995) Global extent, development and economic impact of acid soils. *Plant Soil* **171**, 1-15.
- Vance, C.P., Uhde-Stone, C. and Allan, D.L. (2003) Phosphorus acquisition and use: critical adaptations by plants for securing a nonrenewable resource. *New Phytol.* **157**, 423-447.
- Veneklaas, E.J., Lambers, H., Bragg, J., Finnegan, P.M., Lovelock, C.E., Plaxton, W.C., Price, C.A., Scheible, W.R., Shane, M.W. and White, P.J. (2012) Opportunities for improving phosphorususe efficiency in crop plants. *New Phytol.* **195**, 306-320.
- Vercruyssen, L., Gonzalez, N., Werner, T., Schmulling, T. and Inze, D. (2011) Combining enhanced root and shoot growth reveals cross talk between pathways that control plant organ size in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* **155**, 1339-1352.
- Wheal, M.S., Fowles, T.O. and Palmer, L.T. (2011) A cost-effective acid digestion method using closed polypropylene tubes for inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) analysis of plant essential elements. *Anal. Methods* **3**, 2854-2863.
- Yang, H., Knapp, J., Koirala, P., Rajagopal, D., Peer, W.A., Silbart, L.K., Murphy, A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2007) Enhanced phosphorus nutrition in monocots and dicots over-expressing a phosphorusresponsive type I H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Plant Biotech. J.* **5**, 735-745.

Yang, H., Zhang, X., Gaxiola, R.A., Xu, G., Peer, W.A. and Murphy, A.S. (2014) Over-expression of the *Arabidopsis* proton-pyrophosphatase *AVP1* enhances transplant survival, root mass, and fruit development under limiting phosphorus conditions. *J. Exp. Bot.* doi:10.1093/jxb/eru149.

Figure legends

Figure 1 - Transgenic *AVP1* barley has increased shoot biomass in a soil with low P availability. (a) Shoot biomass (g DW) of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2, 35S-AVP1-3) after 21 days in a soil with low P availability amended with sufficient P (75 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil) or low P (25 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil) treatments. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-7) with asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to wild-type (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \leq 0.05$). (b) A representative image of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic 35S-AVP1-1a barley plant growth in the low P soil (25 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil) at 17 days of treatment.

Figure 2 - Transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has increased shoot biomass in hydroponics conditions at low P supply. (a) Shoot and (b) root biomass (g DW) and (c) dry matter root to shoot ratio of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2, 35S-AVP1-3) in hydroponic conditions at sufficient and low P (10 μ M P) supply for 14 days. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 4-9) with asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to wild-type (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figure 3 - Transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has greater root P concentrations in hydroponics conditions at low P supply. (a) Shoot and (b) root P concentrations (mg/kg DW) of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley in hydroponic conditions at low P (10 μ M P) supply for 14 days. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 4-9) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to wild-type (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figure 4 - Transgenic *AVP1* barley plants have greater rhizosphere acidification than wild-type in hydroponic conditions with low P supply. A representative image of 13-day-old wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic *AVP1* barley roots (*35S:AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-*

3) from hydroponic conditions with low P (10 μ M P) supply after staining for 4 h using the pH indicator bromocresol purple. A colour change from purple to yellow indicates acidification (pH change from 6.5 to 5.2 units).

Figures

(a)



(b)

25 mg CaHPO2.2H2O/kg soil



Wild-type

į

35S-AVP1-1a

Figure 1










Figure 4

Additional files

Table S1 - No difference in root morphological traits was observed between transgenic *AVP1* barley and wild-type. The number of root tips, total root length (cm) and root diameter (mm) of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) derived from digital root images using WinRHIZO Pro[®] 2009 software following growth in hydroponic conditions with a low P concentration (10 µm P) for 14 days. Values are presented as the mean ± s.e.m (n = 4-9).

Line	Number of Root Tips	Total Root Length (cm)	Root Diameter (mm)
Wild-type	226 ± 30	182 ± 4	0.874 ± 0.03
35S-AVP1-1a	193 ± 14	159 ± 19	0.938 ± 0.06
35S-AVP1-1b	208 ± 20	155 ± 9	0.967 ± 0.04
35S-AVP1-2	214 ± 22	187 ± 16	0.889 ± 0.04
35S-AVP1-3	200 ± 20	188 ± 22	0.892 ± 0.06

Table S2 - The amount of plant available P (resin P) in soil increases with CaHPO₂.2H₂O addition.

Varied levels of CaHPO₂.2H₂O (0, 50, 100, 200, 300, 400, 500 and 700 mg/kg soil) were added to a soil with low P availability from Monarto, South Australia to determine the extent to which plant available P levels are altered. The 25 and 75 mg of CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil rates were selected as suitable low and sufficient available P levels for barley growth respectively. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3).

CaHPO ₂ .2H ₂ O (mg/kg soil)	Resin P (mg P/kg soil)
0	4.95 ± 0.15
50	11.86 ± 0.47
100	28.14 ± 1.57
200	57.25 ± 6.10
300	84.85 ± 2.20
400	119.88 ± 4.21
500	137.46 ± 7.29
700	210.55 ± 8.67

Table S3 - Shoot biomass of wild-type barley in a soil with low P availability amended with calcium

phosphate. The shoot biomass of wild-type barley (g DW) in a soil with low P availability from Monarto, South Australia amended with varied levels of CaHPO₂.2H₂O (0, 25, 50, 75 and 150 mg/kg soil) after 21 days. The 25 and 75 mg of CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil rates were identified as suitable low and sufficient P levels for barley growth respectively. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 7).

CaHPO ₂ .2H ₂ O (mg/kg soil)	Shoot Biomass (g DW)
0	0.1086 ± 0.008
25	0.1355 ± 0.010
50	0.1666 ± 0.019
75	0.1862 ± 0.010
150	0.2171 ± 0.026



Figure S1 - Root biomass of transgenic *AVP1* **barley is similar to wild-type.** The root biomass (g DW) of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2, 35S-AVP1-3) after 21 days of growth in a soil with low P availability amended with sufficient ($75 \text{ mg of CaHPO}_2.2H_2O/kg$ soil) or low P ($25 \text{ mg of CaHPO}_2.2H_2O/kg$ soil). Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-7).



Figure S2 - No difference in grain P concentrations between wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley. Grain P concentrations (mg/kg) of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2, 35S-AVP1-3) determined using ICP-OES analysis of seed with similar grain weights derived from the seed source used in the soil and hydroponics experiment. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 4).





The concentration of P in shoot tissue (mg/kg DW) of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-*AVP1*-1a, 35S-*AVP1*-1b, 35S-*AVP1*-2, 35S-*AVP1*-3) after 21 days in a soil with low P availability amended with 25 mg CaHPO₂.2H₂O/kg soil. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-7) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to wild-type (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \le 0.05$).





Figure S4 - Transgenic *AVP1* barley has increased shoot P content compared to wild-type at low P supply. (a) Shoot and (b) root P content (mg) of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2*, *35S-AVP1-3*) in hydroponic conditions with sufficient and low P (10 μ M KH₂PO₄) supply for 14 days. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-9) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to wild-type (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \le 0.05$).





AVP1 barley. The pH of rhizosphere soil collected from roots of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2, 35S-AVP1-3) following 21 days of plant growth in a soil with low P availability amended with either sufficient P ($75 \text{ mg CaHPO}_2.2H_2O/kg \text{ soil}$) or low P ($25 \text{ mg CaHPO}_2.2H_2O/kg \text{ soil}$). Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-7).

Chapter 4

Evaluating the low nitrate tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley

Statement of Contributions

The following chapter is formatted as a manuscript. However, it is not intended that this manuscript will be submitted for publication.

Title: Transgenic barley expressing an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) has improved shoot biomass at low nitrate supply

Schilling conducted the experiments, data analysis, interpretation of results and wrote the manuscript Marschner, Tester, Plett and Roy supervised the experiments All authors contributed to the discussion of the results

By signing this statement of contributions, each author certifies that their stated contribution to the publication is accurate and that permission is granted for the publication to be included in the candidate's thesis:

Petra Marschner	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Mark Tester	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Stuart Roy	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Darren Plett	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014

Transgenic barley expressing an Arabidopsis vacuolar H⁺-

pyrophosphatase gene (AVP1) has improved shoot biomass at low nitrate

supply

Running title: AVP1 improves transgenic barley growth at low nitrate supply

Rhiannon K. Schilling^{1,2}, Petra Marschner², Mark Tester⁴, Stuart J. Roy^{1,2,*} & Darren C. Plett^{1,2}

¹Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics, PMB 1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia.

² School of Agriculture, Food and Wine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

³ Center for Desert Agriculture, Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering, 4700 King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal 23955-6900, Saudi Arabia

*Corresponding author:

Stuart Roy, The Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics and the University of Adelaide, PMB1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia, <u>stuart.roy@acpfg.com.au</u>

Keywords: barley, nitrate, AVP1, biomass, ¹⁵N, influx, LATS, HATS, NRT2.1

Word count:

Abstract

Nitrogen (N) fertilisers are applied to cereal crops each year to increase productivity. However, the use of N fertilisers can be inefficient with only a small proportion of applied N taken up by cereal crops. To increase the profitability of N fertiliser use, crop varieties with increased N fertiliser use efficiency, such as greater root uptake of nitrate (NO₃⁻), are needed. Here, we evaluate the growth of transgenic barley with constitutive expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase (*AVP1*) in 0.5 mM (low) and 5 mM NO₃⁻ (sufficient) treatments. Furthermore, we measure the high- and low-affinity NO₃⁻ uptake capacity of the transgenic *AVP1* barley. At low NO₃⁻ supply, two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-2*) and *35S-AVP1-3*) had a larger shoot biomass, but no significant difference in root NO₃⁻ uptake capacity compared to null segregants. Whilst at sufficient NO₃⁻ supply, one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-2*) had a significantly larger shoot and root biomass, higher shoot and root N contents and greater root NO₃⁻ uptake capacity in the low-affinity range compared to null segregants. These findings suggest that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has the potential to be a useful option for increasing the N fertiliser use efficiency of cereal crops.

Background

Nitrogen (N) is an essential macronutrient for plant growth and development (Lam et al., 1996; Marschner and Marschner, 2012). Globally, a vast amount of N fertiliser (> 100 million tons) is applied to crops each year to increase productivity (FAO, 2013). However, the use of N fertilisers is inefficient with on average only 30 to 50 % of applied N taken up by cereal crops (Raun and Johnson, 1999; Sylvester-Bradley and Kindred, 2009). This inefficiency is undesirable given that fertiliser use is a high input cost and can cause environmental issues, such as the production of greenhouse gases and the eutrophication of waterways (Good and Beatty, 2011). Cereal crop varieties with increased biomass or grain yield produced per unit of applied N, and thus improved nitrogen use efficiency (NUE), are needed to improve the efficiency of N fertiliser use (McAllister et al., 2012; Schroeder et al., 2013).

The main form of plant available N in agricultural soils is nitrate (NO₃⁻) and thus the development of crop varieties with greater uptake of NO₃⁻ is one option for improving the NUE of crops (Schroeder et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2012). In plants, there are two NO₃⁻ uptake systems: (1) the low-affinity transport system (LATS), which operates at high NO₃⁻ concentrations (>1 mM) and (2) the high-affinity transport system (HATS) (Crawford and Glass, 1998; Glass, 2003; Kronzucker et al., 1995). A proton gradient generated by the plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase is thought to facilitate NO₃/H⁺ uptake into roots by both LATS and HATS (de Angeli et al., 2007; Glass et al., 1992; McClure et al., 1990; Ullrich and Novacky, 1981). Changes in root morphology, such as greater root vigour and greater lateral root density, can also increase plant NO₃⁻ uptake (Garnett et al., 2009; Liao et al., 2004). The development of cereal crop varieties with enhanced plasma membrane NO₃/H⁺ symporter activity or a more vigorous root system could therefore help to increase N fertiliser use efficiency of crops.

The type I *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) (AVP1) is a membrane-bound H⁺-pump that establishes an electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ across the tonoplast by hydrolysing

cytosolic pyrophosphate (P_i) to actively pump H⁺ into the vacuole (Duan et al., 2007; Kim et al., 1994; Zhen et al., 1997). In many different growth conditions, transgenic plants with the constitutive expression of AVP1 or the gain-of-function AVP1D allele have a larger shoot and root biomass compared to plants without this gene (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014). At low NO₃- supply, the constitutive expression of AVP1D increased the shoot and root biomass of transgenic romaine lettuce (Lactuca sativa) compared to wildtype (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). The transgenic AVP1D lettuce also produced more marketable yields per unit of N compared to wild-type in the field (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). The improved growth of transgenic AVP1D lettuce at low NO₃ supply was attributed to greater NO₃ uptake as a result of enhanced rhizosphere acidification and larger root growth, potentially due to enhanced sucrose transport from source to sink tissues (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). In support of this, the transgenic AVP1D lettuce had a higher N content in the aboveground biomass compared to wild-type at low NO₃supply (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). Furthermore, the expression of a gene encoding a HATS root NO₃transporter (LsNRT2.1) was up-regulated in the transgenic AVP1D lettuce roots compared to wild-type (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). However, to date, no studies have compared the HATS or LATS NO₃- uptake capacity of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 or AVP1D compared to plants without this gene. It is thus not clear whether the expression of AVP1 affects NO₃ uptake in both the HATS and LATS ranges.

Transgenic barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) lines with the constitutive *CaMV* 35S expression of *AVP1* were previously generated (Schilling et al., 2014). In both non-saline and saline conditions the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass compared to null segregants (Schilling et al., 2014). Furthermore, at low phosphorus (P) supply, transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass and enhanced rhizosphere acidification compared to wild-type (Chapter 3). Given this increase in growth and the suggested role of AVP1 in improving nutrient uptake (Gaxiola et al., 2011; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013;

109

Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014), transgenic *AVP1* barley may be a useful option to help develop a cereal crop variety with improved N fertiliser use efficiency. However, to date, no studies have evaluated the potential for *AVP1* expression to improve the N fertiliser use efficiency of a monocotyledonous plant, such as barley.

Here, we evaluate the growth and high- and low-affinity NO_3^- uptake capacity of transgenic *AVP1* barley at 0.5 mM NO_3^- (low) and 5 mM NO_3^- (sufficient). We show that two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) have a significantly larger shoot biomass at low NO_3^- supply with no difference in root NO_3^- uptake capacity compared to null segregants. Furthermore, we show that at sufficient $NO_3^$ supply one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-2*) had a significantly larger shoot and root biomass, higher shoot and root N contents and increased LATS NO_3^- uptake capacity compared to null segregants. These findings suggest that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has the potential to be a useful option for increasing the N fertiliser use efficiency of cereal crops.

Experimental Design

Plant material and growth conditions

Seeds of wild-type barley (cv. Golden Promise) and three independent T₄ transgenic barley lines with constitutive *CaMV 35S* expression of *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) (Schilling et al., 2014) and two sibling lines from one transformation event (*35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-1b*) were surface sterilised by a 5 min exposure to ultra-violet (UV) light and germinated for 4 d on moist filter paper in 145 mm Petri dishes. Seedlings were transplanted to a fully-supported hydroponics set-up (Genc et al., 2007). Briefly, each hydroponic trolley had 42 PVC tubes (4 cm diameter × 28 cm depth) with a mesh collar (3 cm × 0.5 cm) in each tube to support an individual seedling. The PVC tubes were positioned in two individual trays connected to an 80 L tank containing nutrient solution, which cycled every 30 min between nutrient solution and free drainage within the trays (Figure S1a).

The nutrient solution consisted of reverse osmosis (RO) water with the following nutrients (in mM): 2.0 MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.1 KH₂PO₄, 0.5 Na₂Si₃O₇, 0.05 NaFe(III)EDTA, 0.05 H₃BO₃, 0.005 MnCl₂.4H₂O, 0.01 ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 0.0005 CuSO₄.5H₂O and 0.0001 Na₂MoO₄.2H₂O with 2 KNO₃ and 1.5 Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O in the sufficient NO₃⁻ treatment (5 mM NO₃⁻) and 0.25 KNO₃ and 0.125 Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O in the low NO₃⁻ treatment (0.5 mM NO₃⁻). To maintain similar K⁺ and Ca²⁺ levels to the sufficient NO₃⁻ treatment, the low NO₃⁻ treatment also comprised (in mM): 0.875 K₂SO₄ and 1.375 CaCl₂.2H₂O. The treatments were established from the start of the experiment and nutrient solution was replaced every 10 d to ensure nutrients were not depleted. Following 21 d of treatment, undirectional NO₃⁻ root influx capacity measurements were conducted (as described below), SPAD meter readings were taken at the centre of the youngest fully-emerged leaf using a hand-held SPAD 502 meter (Minolta, Osaka, Japan) and the 2nd leaf blade was collected for DNA and RNA extractions to genotype the presence or absence of *AVP1* (data not shown) and determine *AVP1* expression levels (Figure S2a,b). The remaining shoot and root tissue was oven dried at 70 °C for 3 d and the shoot and root dry weights were recorded.

Unidirectional ¹⁵N-labelled root NO₃⁻ influx capacity measurements

After 21 d, unidirectional root influx capacity measurements were completed (Garnett et al., 2009). Briefly, between 11:00 and 15:00 h plants were transferred from the hydroponics tanks to a 3 L container containing the same nutrient solution (0.5 mM or 5 mM NO₃⁻) with continuous aeration provided by a Precision SR 7500 aerator (Aqua One, Sydney, Australia) (Figure S1b). Roots were then given a 5 min rinse in the same nutrient solution, but with either 0.1 or 1 mM NO₃⁻ (supplied as KNO₃⁻) then a 10 min exposure to the same solution, but containing ¹⁵N-labelled KNO₃⁻ (¹⁵N 10%) (Cambridge Isotope Laboratories Inc. Andover, MA, USA). The flux timing was selected to minimise possible efflux of ¹⁵N-labelled NO₃⁻ from the roots and to minimise transport of ¹⁵N-labelled NO₃⁻ to the shoots (Kronzucker et al., 1995). Roots were then rinsed for 2 min in the same nutrient solution without ¹⁵N-labelled KNO₃⁻ to remove any adhering ¹⁵N-labelled solution on the root surface. Roots were blotted using paper towel and

the roots and shoot separated, weighed and oven dried at 65 °C for 3 d. The root and shoot tissue of null segregants and the two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) showing the largest improvement in shoot biomass in the low NO₃⁻ treatment were analysed for ¹⁵N atm% and total N using a continuous flow system consisting of a SERCON 20-22 mass spectrometer connected to an automated nitrogen carbon analyser (Sercon, Crewe, Cheshire, United Kingdom) at the West Australian Biogeochemistry Centre (WABC) (Paul et al., 2007). The root NO₃⁻ influx value (µmoles g⁻¹ DW h⁻¹) was calculated using this measured root ¹⁵N content.

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of AVP1 expression

Leaf tissue was ground to a fine powder and total RNA was extracted following an established protocol using Trizol (Chomczynski, 1993). Extracted RNA was treated with DNase-free (Ambion, Madison, WI, USA) to remove DNA contamination. DNase-treated RNA (1 µL) was used to synthesize cDNA with a Superscript III RT kit (Invitrogen). Semi-quantitative AVP1 expression in a subset of plants (n = 3-4) was determined using reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR) amplification of 1 µL of cDNA template with AVP1specific forward primer: 5' - GCA GCT CTT AAG ATG GTT GAA - 3' and reverse primer 5' - AGA GGT GTG AGC ATG ACA AGG – 3'. The PCR conditions used to amplify a fragment of the AVP1 transcript (expected band size of 164 bp) were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 53 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. The HvGAP gene (GenBank EF409629) was used as a control gene and amplified using HvGAP specific forward primer 5' - GTG AGG CTG GTG CTG ATT ACG - 3' and reverse primer 5' - TGG TGC AGC TAG CAT TTG ACA C – 3'. The PCR conditions used to amplify a fragment of HvGAP (expected band size of 189 bp) were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 58 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. All PCR reactions contained 1× Platinum® Tag PCR buffer, 2 mM MgCl₂, 200 µM of each dNTPs, 0.5 U of Platinum[®] Tag DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) and 10 µM of each primer. Gel electrophoresis with a 2 % agarose gel containing 5 µL/100 mL SYBR safe[®] stain (Invitrogen) and a ChemiScope 2850 imaging system (Clinx Science Instruments, Shanghai, China) was used to visualise PCR products and record gel images. To account for differences in initial concentrations of cDNA, the amount of gene expression was determined by normalising the level of PCR product as gel band intensity (minus background intensity) obtained using *HvGAP* relative to that of *AVP1* using GIMP 2.6.11 GNU Image Manipulation Program (www.gimp.org).

Statistical analysis

Data was statistically analysed using a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) in Microsoft[®] Office Excel 2007 and the Least Significant Difference (LSD) was used to identify significantly different means within treatments compared to null segregants at a probability level of $P \le 0.05$, except the root NO₃⁻ influx data which was statistically analysed using a mixed model in GenStat (16th edition, VSN International Ltd., UK) and the LSD was used to identify significantly different means at a probability level of $P \le 0.05$. No significant difference was observed between wild-type and null segregants in this study, and as such, the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines were compared to null segregants only.

Results

Transgenic AVP1 barley has increased shoot biomass at low NO₃ supply

In the sufficient NO₃- treatment (5 mM NO₃-), there was no difference in the shoot and root biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1*-1a, *35S-AVP1*-1b and *35S-AVP1*-3) compared to null segregants (Figure 1a,c,d). However, one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1*-2) had a significantly greater shoot (14 %) and root (18 %) biomass than null segregants in the sufficient NO₃- treatment (Figure 1c,d). In the low NO₃- treatment (0.5 mM NO₃-), two independent transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1*-3) had significantly greater shoot biomass (9 to 18 %) than null segregants (Figure 1b,c). The shoot biomass of two sibling lines (*35S-AVP1*-1a and *35S-AVP1*-1b) from a third transgenic event, however, was not different to null segregants in the 0.5 mM NO₃- treatment (Figure 1c). There was

also no significant difference in root biomass between the transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants in the 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment (Figure 1d). The dry weight root to shoot ratio of all plants increased in the 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment compared to the 5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment (Figure 2). The SPAD value (indicator of leaf greenness) of the youngest fully-emerged leaf blade did not differ between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley in the 5 mM and 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatments, except for *35S-AVP1*-1a which had a significantly greater SPAD value in the 5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment than null segregants (Figure 3).

35S-AVP1-2 barley has increased shoot and root N content at sufficient NO₃ supply

In both 5 mM and 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatments, the total shoot and root N concentration (g kg⁻¹ DW) did not differ between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-*AVP1*-2 and 35S-*AVP1*-3) (Table 1). While both transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (35S-*AVP1*-2 and 35S-*AVP1*-3) had higher total shoot and root N content (mg plant⁻¹) compared to null segregants in both 5 mM and 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatments (Table 2), only the total shoot and root N content of 35S-*AVP1*-2 barley in the 5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment was significantly greater than null segregants (Table 2).

35S-AVP1-2 barley has enhanced root LATS NO₃ influx capacity at sufficient NO₃ supply

In both 5 mM and 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatments, the HATS (0.1 mM NO₃⁻) NO₃⁻ influx capacity (µmoles g⁻¹ DW h⁻¹) of all plants was less than that in the LATS range (1 mM NO₃⁻) (Figure 4). The LATS and HATS root NO₃⁻ influx capacity was higher in plants from the 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment than those in the 5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment (Figure 4). There was no significant difference in the HATS NO₃⁻ influx capacity of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) for both 5 mM and 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatments (Figure 4). In the 5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment, the *35S-AVP1-2* barley had significantly higher LATS NO₃⁻ influx capacity than null segregants (Figure 4). However, there was no significant difference in the LATS NO₃- influx capacity of *35S-AVP1-3* and null segregants in the 5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment (Figure 4). In

the 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment, the LATS NO₃⁻ influx capacity of 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3 barley was greater than null segregants, however, this difference was not statistically significant (Figure 4).

Discussion

In this study, two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) had a larger shoot biomass in the low NO₃⁻ treatment (Figure 1b,c) with a corresponding (but not significant) increase in root NO₃⁻ uptake capacity compared to null segregants (Figure 4, Table 2). This finding demonstrates that the expression of *AVP1* can increase the shoot growth of barley at low NO₃⁻ supply. One transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-2*) also had significantly larger shoot and root biomass (Figure 1 a,c,d), significantly greater LATS NO₃⁻ uptake capacity (Figure 4) and a significantly higher shoot and root N content (Table 2) compared to null segregants in the sufficient NO₃⁻ treatment. Overall, this suggests that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has the potential to be a useful option for increasing the N fertiliser use efficiency of cereal crops.

35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3 barley has increased shoot biomass at low NO₃ supply

Previously, in many different growth conditions, the constitutive expression of *AVP1* or *AVP1D* increased the shoot and root biomass of transgenic plants compared to those without this gene (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014). At low NO₃⁻ supply, transgenic lettuce expressing *AVP1D* had 2-fold more shoot biomass compared to wild-type (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). In this study, two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (35S-*AVP1-2* and 35S-*AVP1-3*) also had a larger shoot biomass compared to null segregants in the low NO₃⁻ treatment (Figure 1b,c). However, one transgenic line (35S-*AVP1-1*) did not have a significantly larger shoot biomass in the low NO₃⁻ treatment compared to null segregants (Figure 1c). Nevertheless, these findings are in agreement with the previous study (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013) and show for the first time

that the expression of *AVP1* can increase the shoot growth of barley, a monocotyledonous plant, in low NO₃- conditions (Figure 1b,c).

The larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce at low NO₃⁻ supply compared to wild-type was attributed to an increase in root biomass and greater rhizosphere acidification facilitating improved NO₃⁻ uptake (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). Furthermore, compared to wild-type at low NO₃⁻ supply, the transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce had a higher total shoot N and up-regulated expression of *LtNRT2.1* in root tissue (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). However, in this study, the root biomass (Figure 1d), shoot and root N concentration and content (Table 1 & 2) of the transgenic *AVP1* barley was not significantly different to null segregants in the low NO₃⁻ treatment. Furthermore, unidirectional root influx measurements using ¹⁵N-labelled NO₃⁻ showed no significant difference in HATS and LATS NO₃⁻ influx capacities between transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants in the low NO₃⁻ uptake was not contributing to the larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants in the low NO₃⁻ treatment to null segregants and null segregants in the low NO₃⁻ uptake was not contributing to the larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-2*) compared to null segregants at low NO₃⁻ supply.

35S-AVP1-2 barley has increased shoot and root biomass at sufficient NO₃ supply

Previously, transgenic lettuce expressing *AVP1D* had a larger shoot and root biomass and increased root acidification at sufficient NO₃⁻ supply (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). It has been hypothesised that AVP1 may act as a PP_i-synthase helping to facilitate phloem loading of sucrose leading to enhanced sucrose transport from source (leaf) to sink (root) tissues increasing root growth and proton exudation, which as a consequence, improves plant water and nutrient uptake (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2011). In support of this concept, the shoot and root biomass of one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-2*) was significantly larger than null segregants in the sufficient NO₃⁻ treatment (Figure 1c,d). It is not known why the shoot and root growth of the two other transgenic lines (*35S-AVP1-1* and *35S-AVP1-3*) was inconsistent with the *35S-AVP1-2* line (Figure 1c,d, Table 2). However, differences between transgenic

lines, such as *AVP1* copy number or the chromosomal location of the inserted *AVP1* gene (Matzke and Matzke, 1998), may be contributing factors. Nonetheless, the findings suggest that 35S-AVP1-2 barley has increased shoot and root biomass at sufficient NO₃⁻ supply compared to null segregants.

35S-AVP1-2 barley has increased root influx of NO₃ in the LATS range at sufficient NO₃ supply

To date, no studies have compared the NO₃- uptake capacity of transgenic AVP1 or AVP1D plants within the HATS or LATS ranges to plants without this gene. In this study, significantly higher root NO₃ influx was observed in plants in the LATS range (1 mM NO₃-) compared to HATS (0.1 mM NO₃-) and in the low NO_3 treatment (0.5 mM NO₃) compared to the sufficient NO₃ treatment (5 mM NO₃) (Figure 4), which are typical plant responses (Garnett et al., 2013). Furthermore, this study showed for the first time that the transgenic AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-2) had increased root NO₃ influx capacity compared to null segregants in the sufficient NO₃- treatment (Figure 4). The concentration of N in the shoot and roots of this transgenic AVP1 barley line did not differ to null segregants (Table 1). However, the total shoot and root N contents were significant higher in 35S-AVP1-2 plants than null segregants (Table 2) suggesting this transgenic AVP1 barley line utilised the greater root NO₃⁻ uptake to increase shoot and root biomass. Given that the uptake of NO₃ by roots is thought to occur via plasma membrane NO₃/H⁺ symporters (de Angeli et al., 2007; Glass et al., 1992; McClure et al., 1990; Ullrich and Novacky, 1981) and that transgenic plants expressing AVP1 had increased rhizosphere acidification compared to plants without this gene (Chapter 3; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2007) is possible that enhanced root acidification facilitated the higher root NO₃ influx of the transgenic AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-2) compared to null segregants.

Previously, 7-fold higher expression of *LsNRT2.1* was observed in transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce roots compared to wild-type (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). However, the HATS NO₃- uptake capacity of this transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce was not tested (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). In the present study, the HATS

117

NO₃[•] uptake capacity of 35S-AVP1-2 did not differ from null segregants (Figure 4). This suggests that, in this case, the expression of *AVP1* in transgenic barley does not influence root NO₃[•] uptake in the HATS range. It is possible that the up-regulated expression of *LsNRT2.1* in the transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce was a pleiotropic effect or that other factors, such as differences between plant species, plant age, the level and extent of the low NO₃[•] treatment or the alleles *AVP1* or *AVP1D* are contributing to this inconsistency. It is also possible that there may be transcriptional regulation and post-translational control over NRT2.1 activity, considering that the expression of NO₃[•] responsive genes does not necessarily match the NO₃[•] uptake capacity of plants (Garnett et al., 2013). In addition, given that the HATS NO₃[•] uptake capacity of transgenic *AVP1D* lettuce and the expression of NRT genes in the transgenic *AVP1* barley across the lifecycle is needed to investigate this further. Nonetheless, the findings of *35S-AVP1-2* barley support the concept that the expression of *AVP1* can improve the NO₃[•] uptake of transgenic plants (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013) and show that at sufficient NO₃[•] supply the expression of *AVP1* increases LATS NO₃[•] uptake capacity.

Conclusions

In this study, it was shown that expression of *AVP1* can lead to increased shoot biomass of barley, a monocotyledonous plant, at low NO₃⁻ supply compared to null segregants. It was also shown that one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-2*) had significantly larger shoot and root biomass, higher shoot and root N contents and higher root LATS NO₃⁻ influx capacity than null segregants at sufficient NO₃⁻ supply. To our knowledge, this is the first time that increased root NO₃⁻ influx capacity has been shown in a transgenic plant expressing *AVP1* or *AVP1D*. Overall, the findings of this study support those suggesting that the expression of *AVP1* can improve the growth of transgenic plants at low NO₃⁻ supply (Gaxiola et

al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013) and indicates that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has the potential to be a useful option for increasing the N fertiliser use efficiency of cereal crops.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the West Australian Biogeochemistry Centre (WABC) at The University of Western Australia, particularly Dr. Grzegorz Skrzypek and Mr. Douglas Ford, for providing mass spectrometry analysis. We also wish to thank Ms. Jessey George, Dr. Damien Lightfoot and Ms. Melissa Pickering for technical support during flux measurements and Dr. Trevor Garnett for assistance in root NO₃- flux data analysis. Funding from the Australian Research Council (ARC) and the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) is also acknowledged. RS is a recipient of a GRDC Grains Industry Research Scholarship.

References

- Bao, A.K., Wang, S.M., Wu, G.Q., Xi, J.J., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, C.M. (2009) Overexpression of the Arabidopsis H⁺-PPase enhanced resistance to salt and drought stress in transgenic alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.). Plant Sci. **176**, 232-240.
- Chomczynski, P. (1993) A reagent for the single step simultaneous isolation of RNA, DNA and proteins from cell and tissue samples. *BioTechniques* **15**, 532-537.
- Crawford, N.M. and Glass, A.D.M. (1998) Molecular and physiological aspects of nitrate uptake in plants. *Trends Plant Sci.* **3**, 389-395.
- de Angeli, A., Thomine, S., Frachisse, J.-M., Ephritikhine, G., Gambale, F. and Barbier-Brygoo, H. (2007) Anion channels and transporters in plant cell membranes. *FEBS Lett.* **581**, 2367-2374.
- Duan, X.G., Yang, A.F., Gao, F., Zhang, S.L. and Zhang, J.R. (2007) Heterologous expression of vacuolar H⁺-PPase enhances the electrochemical gradient across the vacuolar membrane and improves tobacco cell salt tolerance. *Protoplasma* **232**, 87-95.
- FAO (2013) World fertilizer consumption (nutrients) 2002-2009. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations <u>http://faostat3.fao.org/faostat-gateway/go/to/browse/R/*/E</u>
- Garnett, T., Conn, V. and Kaiser, B.N. (2009) Root based approaches to improving nitrogen use efficiency in plants. *Plant Cell Environ.* **32**, 1272-1283.
- Garnett, T., Conn, V., Plett, D., Conn, S., Zanghellini, J., Mackenzie, N., Enju, A., Francis, K., Holtham, L., Roessner, U., Boughton, B., Bacic, A., Shirley, N., Rafalski, A., Dhugga, K., Tester, M. and Kaiser, B.N. (2013) The response of the maize nitrate transport system to nitrogen demand and supply across the lifecycle. *New Phytol.* **198**, 82-94.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Edwards, M. and Elser, J.J. (2011) A transgenic approach to enhance phosphorus use efficiency in crops as part of a comprehensive strategy for sustainable agriculture. *Chemosphere* **84**, 840-845.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J.S., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (2001) Droughtand salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the *AVP1* H⁺-pump. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 11444-11449.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Sanchez, C.A., Paez-Valencia, J., Ayre, B.G. and Elser, J.J. (2012) Genetic manipulation of a "vacuolar" H⁺-PPase: from salt tolerance to yield enhancement under phosphorus-deficient soils. *Plant Physiol.* **159**, 3-11.
- Genc, Y., McDonald, G.K. and Tester, M. (2007) Reassessment of tissue Na⁺ concentration as a criterion for salinity tolerance in bread wheat. *Plant Cell Environ.* **30**, 1486-1498.
- Glass, A.D. (2003) Nitrogen use efficiency of crop plants: physiological constraints upon nitrogen absorption. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* 22, 453-470.
- Glass, A.D., Shaff, J.E. and Kochian, L.V. (1992) Studies of the uptake of nitrate in barley IV. Electrophysiology. *Plant Physiol.* **99**, 456-463.
- Good, A.G. and Beatty, P.H. (2011) Fertilizing nature: a tragedy of excess in the commons. *PLoS Biol.* doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001124.
- Kim, E.J., Zhen, R.G. and Rea, P.A. (1994) Heterologous expression of plant vacuolar pyrophosphatase in yeast demonstrates sufficiency of the substrate biding subunit for proton transport. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 91, 6128-6132.
- Kronzucker, H.J., Siddiqi, M.Y. and Glass, A. (1995) Kinetics of NO₃- influx in spruce. *Plant Physiol.* **109**, 319-326.
- Lam, H.-M., Coschigano, K.T., Oliveira, I.C., Melo-Oliveira, R. and Coruzzi, G.M. (1996) The molecular genetics of nitrogen assimilation into amino acids in higher plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* 47, 569-593.
- Li, J.S., Yang, H.B., Peer, W.A., Richter, G., Blakeslee, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Titapiwantakun, B., Undurraga, S., Khodakovskaya, M., Richards, E.L., Krizek, B., Murphy, A.S., Gilroy, S. and

Gaxiola, R. (2005) *Arabidopsis* H⁺-PPase *AVP1* regulates auxin-mediated organ development. *Science* **310**, 121-125.

- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 272-289.
- Liao, M., Fillery, I.R.P. and Palta, J.A. (2004) Early vigorous growth is a major factor influencing nitrogen uptake in wheat. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **31**, 121-129.
- Marschner, H. and Marschner, P. (2012) Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants: Academic press.
- Matzke, A.J.M. and Matzke, M.A. (1998) Position effects and epigenetic silencing of plant transgenes. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **1**, 142-148.
- McAllister, C.H., Beatty, P.H. and Good, A.G. (2012) Engineering nitrogen use efficient crop plants: the current status. *Plant Biotech. J.* **10**, 1011-1025.
- McClure, P.R., Kochian, L.V., Spanswick, R.M. and Shaff, J.E. (1990) Evidence for cotransport of nitrate and potons in maize roots: II. Measurement of NO₃⁻ and H⁺ fluxes with ion-selective microelectrodes. *Plant Physiol.* **93**, 290-294.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Patron-Soberano, A., Rodriguez-Leviz, A., Sanchez-Lares, J., Sanchez-Gomez, C., Valencia-Mayoral, P., Diaz-Rosas, G. and Gaxiola, R. (2011) Plasma membrane localization of the type I H⁺-PPase AVP1 in sieve element–companion cell complexes from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Sci.* 181, 23-30.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1557-1569.
- Park, S., Li, J.S., Pittman, J.K., Berkowitz, G.A., Yang, H.B., Undurraga, S., Morris, J., Hirschi, K.D. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2005) Up-regulation of a H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) as a strategy to engineer drought-resistant crop plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 18830-18835.
- Pasapula, V., Shen, G., Kuppu, S., Paez-Valencia, J., Mendoza, M., Hou, P., Chen, J., Qiu, X., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Auld, D., Blumwald, E., Zhang, H., Gaxiola, R. and Payton, P. (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 88-99.
- Paul, D., Skrzypek, G. and Fórizs, I. (2007) Normalization of measured stable isotopic compositions to isotope reference scales a review. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* **21**, 3006-3014.
- Qin, H., Gu, Q., Kuppu, S., Sun, L., Zhu, X., Mishra, N., Hu, R., Shen, G., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Burow, M., Payton, P. and Zhang, H. (2013) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene *AVP1* in peanut to improve drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Biotech. Rep.* **7**, 345-355.
- Raun, W.R. and Johnson, G.V. (1999) Improving nitrogen use efficiency for cereal production. *Agron. J.* **91**, 357-363.
- Schilling, R.K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J. and Plett, D.C. (2014) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field. *Plant Biotech. J.* **12**, 378-386.
- Schroeder, J.I., Delhaize, E., Frommer, W.B., Guerinot, M.L., Harrison, M.J., Herrera-Estrella, L., Horie, T., Kochian, L.V., Munns, R., Nishizawa, N.K., Tsay, Y.-F. and Sanders, D. (2013) Using membrane transporters to improve crops for sustainable food production. *Nature* **497**, 60-66.
- Sylvester-Bradley, R. and Kindred, D.R. (2009) Analysing nitrogen responses of cereals to prioritize routes to the improvement of nitrogen use efficiency. *J. Exp. Bot.* **60**, 1939-1951.
- Ullrich, W.R. and Novacky, A. (1981) Nitrate-dependent membrane potential changes and their induction in *Lemna Gibba* G 1. *Plant Sci. Lett.* **22**, 211-217.

- Vercruyssen, L., Gonzalez, N., Werner, T., Schmulling, T. and Inze, D. (2011) Combining enhanced root and shoot growth reveals cross talk between pathways that control plant organ size in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* **155**, 1339-1352.
- Wang, Y.-Y., Hsu, P.-K. and Tsay, Y.-F. (2012) Uptake, allocation and signaling of nitrate. *Trends Plant Sci.* **17**, 458-467.
- Yang, H., Knapp, J., Koirala, P., Rajagopal, D., Peer, W.A., Silbart, L.K., Murphy, A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2007) Enhanced phosphorus nutrition in monocots and dicots over-expressing a phosphorusresponsive type I H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Plant Biotech. J.* **5**, 735-745.
- Yang, H., Zhang, X., Gaxiola, R.A., Xu, G., Peer, W.A. and Murphy, A.S. (2014) Over-expression of the *Arabidopsis* proton-pyrophosphatase *AVP1* enhances transplant survival, root mass, and fruit development under limiting phosphorus conditions. *J. Exp. Bot.* doi:10.1093/jxb/eru149.
- Zhen, R.G., Kim, E.J. and Rea, P.A. (1997) The molecular and biochemical basis of pyrophosphateenergized proton translocation at the vacuolar membrane. *Adv. Bot. Res. Inc. Adv. Plant Path.* 25, 297-337.

Tables

Table 1 The total shoot and root N concentration (g kg⁻¹ DW) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) in 5 mM NO₃⁻ (sufficient) or 0.5 mM NO₃⁻) (low) treatments for 21 d. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 4-15).

Line	Total Shoot N Concentration (g kg ⁻¹ DW)		Total Root N Concentration (g kg ⁻¹ DW)	
	5 mM NO₃⁻	0.5 mM NO₃⁻	5 mM NO₃⁻	0.5 mM NO₃⁻
Null segregants	56.6 ± 1.8	51.2 ± 1.2	50.5 ± 1.8	51.7 ± 1.5
35S-AVP1-2	61.4 ± 2.4	53.1 ± 3.2	54.9 ± 9.9	48.8 ± 2.0
35S-AVP1-3	55.9 ± 1.3	50.9 ± 1.4	51.0 ± 1.6	50.4 ± 1.4

Table 2 The total shoot and root N content (mg plant-1) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) in 5 mM NO₃- (sufficient) or 0.5 mM NO₃- (low) treatments for 21 d. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 4-15) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to null segregants (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Line	Total Shoot N Content (mg plant ⁻¹)		Total Root N Content (mg plant ⁻¹)	
	5 mM NO₃⁻	0.5 mM NO₃⁻	5 mM NO₃⁻	0.5 mM NO₃ ⁻
Null segregants	4.26 ± 0.17	2.92 ± 0.15	1.35 ± 0.10	1.73 ± 0.12
35S-AVP1-2	$5.65 \pm 0.23^{*}$	3.80 ± 0.66	1.88 ± 0.12*	1.83 ± 0.24
35S-AVP1-3	4.53 ± 0.48	3.34 ± 0.30	1.60 ± 0.13	1.76 ± 0.09

Figure Legends

Figure 1 A representative image of 25-day-old wild-type and 35S-AVP1-3 after 21 d in (a) 5 mM NO₃⁻ and (b) 0.5 mM NO₃- treatments. The (c) shoot and (d) root biomass (g DW) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) at 5 mM and 0.5 mM NO₃⁻. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m, (*n*= 7-16) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to null segregants (one-way ANOVA, LSD, *P* ≤ 0.05).

Figure 2 The average dry matter root to shoot ratio of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) at 5 mM NO_{3⁻} (sufficient) (dark-grey) or 0.5 mM NO_{3⁻} (low) (light-grey) treatments at 21 d.

Figure 3 SPAD values of the youngest fully-emerged leaf blade of 25-day-old null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-*AVP1*-1a, 35S-*AVP1*-1b, 35S-*AVP1*-2 & 35S-*AVP1*-3) after 21 d of 5 mM NO₃⁻ (sufficient) (dark-grey) or 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ (low) (light-grey) treatments. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 7-16) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to null segregants (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \leq 0.05$).

Figure 4 Unidirectional ¹⁵N-labelled NO₃⁻ influx (µmoles g DW⁻¹ h⁻¹) into the roots of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) at 5 mM NO₃⁻ (sufficient) or 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ (low) treatments for 21 d. Root NO₃⁻ influx was measured over a 10 min influx period with either 0.1 or 1 mM NO₃⁻. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 4-8), except line 35S-AVP1-2 at 5 mM NO₃⁻ in 0.1 mM flux treatment where n = 2. A different letter indicates a significant difference between means (LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figures














Figure 4

Supplementary Figures



Figure S1 (a) An image of the 80 L hydroponics set-up used in this experiment to evaluate wild-type, null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley in 5 mM NO₃⁻ (sufficient) and 0.5 mM NO₃⁻ (low) treatments for 21 d and (b) an image of the ¹⁵N-labelled NO₃⁻ flux pots with aerators used for measuring the unidirectional ¹⁵N-labelled NO₃⁻ influx into barley roots.



Figure S2 (a) Individual gel images showing reverse-transcription PCR (RT-PCR) band intensity of wildtype (WT), null segregants (Nulls), and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-*2 & *35S-AVP1-3*) leaf tissue in the 5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment using *AVP1* and *HvGAP* specific primers (internal control) with (-) a negative water control (b) Relative *AVP1* expression levels (compared to *HvGAP*) in leaf tissue of wild-type null segregants (nulls) and transgenic *AVP1* barley in the 5 mM NO₃⁻ treatment showing no significant difference in expression levels between the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3-4).

Chapter 5

Evaluating the tolerance of transgenic AVP1 barley to combined stresses

Statement of Contributions

The following manuscript in this chapter is formatted for future submission:

Title: Evaluating the effect of soil matric and osmotic potentials on the growth of wild-type barley and transgenic barley expressing an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase (*AVP1*)

Schilling conducted the experiments, data analysis, interpretation of results and wrote the manuscript

Marschner, Tester, Plett and Roy supervised the experiments

All authors contributed to the discussion of the results

By signing this statement of contributions, each author certifies that their stated contribution to the publication is accurate and that permission is granted for the publication to be included in the candidate's thesis:

Darren Plett Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Mark Tester Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Stuart Roy Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Petra Marschner Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014

Evaluating the effect of soil matric and osmotic potentials on the growth of wild-type barley and transgenic barley expressing an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase (*AVP1*)

Running title: Growth of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley at varied soil matric and osmotic potentials

Rhiannon K. Schilling^{1,2}, Darren C. Plett^{1,2}, Mark Tester³, Stuart J. Roy^{1,2,§} & Petra Marschner²

¹Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics, PMB 1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia.

² School of Agriculture, Food and Wine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

³ Center for Desert Agriculture, Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering, 4700 King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal 23955-6900, Saudi Arabia

§Corresponding author:

Stuart Roy, The Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics and the University of Adelaide, PMB1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia, <u>stuart.roy@acpfg.com.au</u>

Keywords: H*-PPase, drought, salinity, abiotic stress, combined stresses, phenotyping

Abstract

Multiple concurrent abiotic stresses, such as salinity and low water availability, can reduce the growth of cereal crops in field conditions. However, most studies focus on improving the tolerance of cereal crops to a single abiotic stress. To date, little is known about the effects of combined salinity and low water availability on crop growth, particularly the effects from varied osmotic and matric potentials established at an equivalent soil water potential. The development of transgenic plants expressing an Arabidopsis vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase (AVP1) gene, also offers an opportunity to engineer crops with improved growth under multiple concurrent abiotic stress conditions. In this study, a pot experiment was conducted to evaluate the growth of wild-type barley (cv. WI4330 and Golden Promise) and transgenic barley (cv. Golden Promise) expressing AVP1 at a soil water potential of -0.5 MPa imposed as either matric potential only (low water availability), osmotic potential only (salinity) or combined matric and osmotic potential (low water availability and salinity). The osmotic only treatment reduced the shoot and root biomass of WI4330 to a greater extent than the equivalent matric only or combined treatment. In contrast, all treatments reduced the shoot and root biomass of Golden Promise to a similar extent. This suggests that the combined matric and osmotic treatment does not have an additive effect on barley growth and that the effect of the different potentials on plant growth is dependent on the barley variety. Furthermore, this study confirms that transgenic AVP1 barley has a greater shoot biomass in the osmotic only treatment compared to null segregants. It also shows in the matric only treatment that the shoot biomass of some transgenic AVP1 barley lines are larger than null segregants. However, it suggests that a more severe matric only treatment may be needed to further elucidate this growth advantage. Nevertheless, the shoot and root biomass of two transgenic AVP1 barley lines were larger than null segregants in the combined matric and osmotic treatment. This suggests that transgenic AVP1 barley is a promising option to improve crop growth under multiple concurrent stresses.

Introduction

Abiotic stresses, such as salinity and drought, are major constraints to crop productivity (Boyer, 1982; Munns and Tester, 2008). Globally, salinity affects more than 77 million hectares of arable land and low water availability frequently reduces crop yields in both arid and semi-arid regions (Boyer, 1982; Munns, 2002). Furthermore, the area of land affected by salinity is increasing and the duration of low rainfall events is predicted to rise in the future (Burke et al., 2006; Munns, 2002). With the human population also expected to reach 9 billion people by 2050 (http://faostat.fao.org), it has been estimated that global food production will need to increase by a further 44 million metric tons each year above current increases (Tester and Langridge, 2010). The development of cereal crop varieties with improved abiotic stress tolerance is therefore needed (Schroeder et al., 2013; Tester and Langridge, 2010).

To date, most studies have focused on improving the tolerance of cereal crops to a single abiotic stress, such as salinity or drought (Cushman and Bohnert, 2000). However, in field conditions, crops often encounter multiple abiotic stresses concurrently throughout the growing season (Mittler, 2006; Mittler and Blumwald, 2010; Schmidhalter and Oertli, 1991; Suzuki et al., 2014). Transcriptomic analysis of *Arabidopsis thaliana* ecotypes also show that 61 % of transcriptome changes in response to two combined stresses are not predicted from the response to either individual stress (Rasmussen et al., 2013). Furthermore, the combined effects of salinity and heat on the growth of tomato (*Solanum lycopersicon*) reduced plant growth to a lesser extent than salinity alone (Rivero et al., 2013) and a combination of drought and heat stress in *Arabidopsis* (Rizhsky et al., 2004) and tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) (Rizhsky et al., 2002) induced the expression of specific transcripts that were not altered under either stress alone. To develop a cereal crop with improved abiotic stress tolerance for field conditions, further research is needed to evaluate plant growth responses under multiple concurrent stresses (Hirayama and Shinozaki, 2010; McCree, 1986; Mittler, 2006; Mittler and Blumwald, 2010; Suzuki et al., 2014).

136

Very few studies have evaluated the growth of cereal crops, such as barley, with combined salinity and low water availability (Ahmed et al., 2013a; Ahmed et al., 2013b; Hackl et al., 2014; Jensen, 1982). A plant in a saline soil can experience the effects of both salinity and low soil water content simultaneously (Rengasamy, 2010; Shani and Dudley, 2001). However, as a saline soil dries through evaporation and transpiration, the intensity of salinity and low water content stresses also increases (Rengasamy, 2010). The soil water potential (i.e. predominantly the sum of the soil matric and osmotic potentials) is thus an important component influencing plant growth (Campbell, 1988; Wadleigh and Ayers, 1945). In the studies to date, a combined salinity (KCI or NaCI) and low water availability treatment appears to have an additive effect on barley growth, reducing barley shoot and root growth to a greater extent than either stress individually (Ahmed et al., 2013a; Ahmed et al., 2013b; Jensen, 1982). However, the overall soil water potential of the combined salinity and low water availability treatment in these previous studies was not equivalent to that occurring in either individual stress treatments, and, as such, comparisons between the treatments is not possible. It thus remains unknown what effect the overall soil water potential and, importantly, the relative contributions of the soil osmotic and matric potentials, have on barley growth.

Given the complexity of plant abiotic stress tolerance, the use of genetic modification to engineer crop varieties with improved growth under multiple concurrent stresses may be useful (Mittler, 2006; Mittler and Blumwald, 2010). The constitutive expression of the type I *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H*-pyrophosphatase (*AVP1*) gene has been shown to improve the tolerance of transgenic plants to various abiotic stresses, including salinity, drought and low nutrient availability (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2007). This improved tolerance to various individual stresses suggests that this vacuolar H*-PPase may also improve transgenic plant growth under multiple concurrent abiotic stresses. Promisingly, dryland field trials of transgenic *AVP1* cotton (Pasapula et al., 2011) and a saline field trial of transgenic *AVP1* barley (Schilling et al., 2014) show transgenic *AVP1* plants have a larger shoot

137

biomass and increased yield compared to those plants without the *AVP1* transgene. However, the growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* under two or more combined stresses, such as salinity and low water availability, is yet to be evaluated in controlled conditions.

This study tested for the first time the growth of two barley varieties (cv. WI4330 and Golden Promise) in salinity, low water availability and combined salinity and low water availability treatments using varied osmotic and matric potentials at an equivalent soil water potential. Furthermore, it evaluated the growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants in salinity, low water availability and combined salinity and low water availability treatments to determine whether this transgene has the potential to improve transgenic barley growth under multiple concurrent stresses.

Materials and Methods

Establishing soil water potential treatments with varied osmotic and matric levels

A non-saline sandy loam (sand 75.0 %, silt 16.2 %, clay 8.8 %, pH 7.02, electrical conductivity (EC)_{1:5} (soil:water) 0.05 dS cm⁻¹ and water-holding capacity 140 g kg⁻¹) collected from Monarto, South Australia (35°05'S and 139°06'E) was air dried and sieved to ≤ 2 mm. The soil water retention curve was obtained using suction (-10 kPa) and pressure plate analysis (-30 kPa, -100, -500 and -1500 kPa) (Klute, 1986) (Figure S1). The matric potential (Ψ_m) was estimated from the water retention curve following the equation by Hillel (1998), $\Psi_m = \alpha \theta^{-b}$, where α and b are empirical constants and θ is the gravimetric water content (g g⁻¹). Briefly, an exponential curve was fitted to the measured water retention curve and the derived equation (y = 0.1738x^{-0.131}) was used to determine the soil matric potential at specific water contents. The osmotic potential (O_s) of the soil solution at specific water contents was estimated using the equation 0_s = -0.036 EC_{meas}($\theta_{ret}/\theta_{act}$), where the EC_{meas} = the measured EC of the 1:5 (soil:water) extract (dS m⁻¹), θ_{ref} = the reference water content of the 1:5 (soil:water) extract (g g⁻¹) and θ_{act} = the actual water content of the soil (g g⁻¹) (Richards, 1954). To determine the amount of NaCl needed to adjust the Monarto soil to a

desired EC_{1:5} different amounts of NaCl (0, 1.5, 2.9, 5.9, 8.8, 14.6, 29.3 g kg⁻¹ soil) were mixed into the soil and incubated at 70 % water holding capacity (11.86 mL RO water pot⁻¹) for 7 d (Figure S2). An overall soil water potential of -0.5 MPa using varied levels of matric and osmotic potentials was selected to establish three treatments: matric only, matric and osmotic (combined) and osmotic only (Table 1) as this level was when the maximum matric potential of the soil was achieved (Figure S1). A control treatment with optimal water content and no added NaCl for an overall soil water potential of -0.01 MPa was also included.

Basal nutrients were mixed into the field soil to ensure all nutrients were non-limiting. The rate and composition of supplied nutrients were (g kg⁻¹) 0.92 Ca(NO₃)₂, 0.17 K₂SO₄, 0.19 MgSO₄, 75 CaHPO₂.2H₂O and (mg kg⁻¹ soil), 0.4 NaFeEDTA, 2.0 CuSO₄.5H₂O, 0.6 MnSO₄.H₂O, 0.4 Co(NO₃)₂.6H₂O, 0.5 Na₂MoO₄ and 2.2 ZnSO₄.7H₂O (Mat Hassan et al., 2012). All nutrients and water were mixed evenly into a small proportion of field soil and gradually combined into the bulk soil. Salinity treatments were established by mixing NaCl into the bulk soil for control (0 g NaCl kg⁻¹ soil), matric only (0 g NaCl kg⁻¹ soil), combined (0.3 NaCl kg⁻¹ soil) and osmotic only (1.2 NaCl kg⁻¹ soil) treatments (Table 1).

Plant material and growth conditions at varied soil water potentials

Seeds of two barley wild-types (cv. WI4330 kindly supplied by Jason Eglinton (University of Adelaide), and Golden Promise) and three independent T₄ transgenic barley lines (cv. Golden Promise) with constitutive *CaMV* 35S expression of *AVP1* (35S-AVP1-1, 35S-AVP1-2, 35S-AVP1-3) and two sibling lines (35S-AVP1-1a and 35S-AVP1-1b) were surface sterilised by a 5 min exposure to ultra-violet (UV) light and germinated in Petri dishes on moist filter paper for 5 d. Individual seedlings were transplanted to a sealed 1 kg pot containing 1 kg of amended field soil (7 replicates treatment⁻¹). All pots were watered to field capacity (147 g water kg⁻¹ soil) every second day for 8 d to allow seedling establishment. After 8 d, watering of control and osmotic only pots was maintained every second day and watering withheld from

matric only and combined pots until each pot reached the desired matric potential for control (147 g water kg⁻¹ soil), matric only (73 g water kg⁻¹ soil), combined (80 g water kg⁻¹ soil) and osmotic only (147 g water kg⁻¹ soil) treatments around 6 d later (Table 1). Each pot was then maintained for a further 13 d by watering to weight before shoots and roots were harvested for biomass and tissue ion measurements (27 d after transplanting).

The cumulative plant water use was determined for each plant using the change in weight of each pot recorded every second day from the desired target pot weight for each treatment. A hand-held SPAD 502 meter was used to measure the greenness of the 4th leaf blade of each plant as an indicator of chlorophyll content (Minolta, Osaka, Japan). All plants were genotyped to confirm the presence or absence of the *AVP1* transgene (data not shown). The expression of *AVP1* was also confirmed in a subset of plants using RNA extracted from leaf tissue (Figure S3a,b).

Determination of leaf Na⁺, K⁺ & Cl⁻ concentrations

The fully-expanded 4th leaf of each plant was dried in an oven for 3 d at 70 °C and digested in 1 % nitric acid (v/v) at 95 °C for 5 h in a 54-well HotBlock (Environmental Express, Mount Pleasant, SC, USA). The Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations of digested leaf tissue were determined using a flame photometer (Model 420, Sherwood Scientific, Cambridge, UK) (Shavrukov et al., 2010). The concentration of Cl⁻ in digested leaf tissue was determined using a chloride analyser (Model 926, Sherwood Scientific, Cambridge, UK).

Statistical analysis

Data was statistically analysed using a mixed model in GenStat (16th edition, VSN International Ltd., UK) and the Least Significant Difference (LSD) was used to identify significantly different means at a probability level of $P \le 0.05$ or 0.001. No statistical difference was evident between wild-type Golden

Promise and null segregants and, as such, the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines were compared to null segregants only.

Results

Shoot and root biomass of WI4330 and Golden Promise

The shoot biomass of Golden Promise was significantly smaller (25 %) than WI4330 in control conditions (Figure 1a & b). Both barley varieties had significantly reduced shoot biomass in matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments compared to control conditions (Figure 1b). The osmotic only treatment decreased the shoot biomass of WI4330 to a greater extent (55 %) than the matric only and combined treatments (36 % and 46 % respectively) when compared to control conditions (Figure 1b). However, all three stress treatments reduced the shoot biomass of Golden Promise to a similar extent (33-44 %) compared to control conditions (Figure 1b).

The root biomass of Golden Promise was significantly smaller than WI4330 in control (53 %), matric only (45 %) and combined (34 %) treatments (Figure 1c). There was no significant difference in root biomass between the control, matric only and combined treatments of both barley varieties (Figure 1c). In the osmotic only treatment, the root biomass of Golden Promise was smaller but not significantly different to control conditions (Figure 1c) but the root biomass of WI4330 was significantly lower (49 %) than control conditions (Figure 1c). The dry matter root to shoot ratio of WI4330 was greater than Golden Promise in control conditions (Figure S4). Both barley varieties also had increased dry matter root to shoot ratios in the matric only and combined treatments compared to the control (Figure S4).

Leaf Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ concentrations of WI4330 and Golden Promise barley

Leaf Na⁺ concentrations (mM) did not differ between the control and matric only treatments (Figure 2a). As expected, the leaf Na⁺ concentration of WI4330 and Golden Promise increased in the combined (5460 %) and osmotic only (93 %) treatments compared to control conditions (Figure 2a). In the combined treatment, both barley varieties had a similar leaf Na⁺ concentration (Figure 2a). However, in the osmotic only treatment Golden Promise had a significantly less (18 %) 4th leaf blade Na⁺ concentration compared to WI4330 (Figure 2a). No significant difference in SPAD values (or leaf greenness) of the 4th leaf blade was evident between WI4330 and Golden Promise in all treatments (Figure S5).

Compared to control conditions, WI4330 had a significantly higher leaf K⁺ concentration (mM) in the matric only treatment and the combined treatment (Figure 2b). However, there was no difference in leaf K⁺ concentration of Golden Promise between control and matric only treatments (Figure2b). In contrast, the leaf K⁺ concentration of Golden Promise was less than the WI4330 and reduced by 24 % in the combined treatment compared to control conditions (Figure 2b). The concentration of K⁺ in the leaf tissue of both WI4330 and Golden Promise was significantly reduced (26 % and 36 % respectively) by the osmotic only treatment compared to control conditions (Figure 2b).

The concentration of CI- in the leaf tissue of both WI4330 and Golden Promise was higher in the combined and osmotic only treatments compared to the control and matric only treatments (Figure 2c). Furthermore, leaf CI- concentrations of both WI4330 and Golden Promise barley were similar to Na⁺ concentrations in the combined treatment (around 100 mM) but less than leaf Na⁺ concentrations in the osmotic only treatment (Figure 2a,c). WI4330 had a higher leaf CI- concentration in the osmotic only treatment compared to the combined treatment. In contrast, the leaf CI- concentration of Golden Promise was not significantly different between the combined and osmotic only treatments (Figure 2c). However, Golden Promise had a significantly higher leaf CI- concentration than WI4330 in the combined treatment (Figure 2c).

Cumulative water use of WI4330 and Golden Promise barley

Cumulative water use (g pot⁻¹) of WI4330 and Golden Promise was greatest in the control and matric only treatments (Figure 3). Both varieties had a significant decrease in cumulative water use in the combined and osmotic only treatments compared to control conditions (Figure 3). There was no significant difference in cumulative water use between the two varieties in all treatments (Figure 3).

Shoot and root biomass of transgenic AVP1 barley

The matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments reduced the shoot biomass of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2*, *35S-AVP1-3*) compared to control conditions (Figure 4a, b). There was no significant difference in shoot biomass between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines under control conditions (Figure 4b). All the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had greater shoot biomass in the matric only treatment compared to null segregants, however, only two sibling *AVP1* barley lines from one transformation event (*35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-1b*) had a significantly greater shoot biomass (12 to 26 %) (Figure. 4b). In the combined treatment, the transgenic *AVP1* barley tended to have a larger shoot biomass than null segregants, with *35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-2* having a significantly greater (18 to 27 %) shoot biomass (Figure 4b). Likewise, with the exception of *35S-AVP1-1b*, the transgenic *AVP1* barley tended to have a greater shoot biomass than null segregants, with two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-3*) having a significantly greater shoot biomass than null segregants.

The root biomass of null segregants and the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines did not differ between the control, matric only and combined treatments (Figure 4c). Notably, the osmotic only treatment significantly reduced the root biomass of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to all other treatments (Figure 4c). Two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-2*) had a significantly greater root biomass than null segregants in the combined treatment (Figure 4c). No significant differences in root

biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants were evident in all other treatments (Figure 4c).

Leaf Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ concentrations in transgenic AVP1 barley

For all lines, the leaf Na⁺ concentration (mM) in the combined and osmotic only treatments was greater than those in control and matric only treatments (Figure 5a) and the highest leaf Na⁺ concentrations occurred in the osmotic only treatment (Figure 5a). However, there was no significant difference in the leaf Na⁺ concentration between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley in all treatments (Figure 5a). There was also no significant difference in 4th leaf SPAD meter values (indicator of greenness) between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* lines in all treatments (Figure S6).

The leaf K⁺ concentration (mM) did not differ between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines in control and matric only treatments (Figure 5b). Compared to control and matric only treatments, the leaf K⁺ concentration was significantly lower in the combined and osmotic only treatments for all lines (Figure 5b).The leaf K⁺ concentration was also lowest in the osmotic only treatment for all lines (Figure 5b). However, the K⁺ concentration of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley did not differ in the combined and osmotic only treatments (Figure 5b).

Compared to control and matric only treatments, the leaf Cl⁻ concentration (mM) of null segregants and the transgenic *AVP1* barley was significantly higher in the combined and osmotic only treatments (Figure 5c). The leaf Cl⁻ concentrations in the combined treatment were higher than those in the osmotic only treatment for all lines (Figure 5c). Compared to null segregants, two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1*-1a and *35S-AVP1*-2) had significantly greater leaf Cl⁻ concentrations in the combined treatment (Figure 5c). However, the leaf Cl⁻ concentrations of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines did not differ in the osmotic only treatment (Figure 5c).

Cumulative plant water use of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley

Cumulative water use for all lines was highest in the control treatment (Figure 6). There was no significant difference in cumulative water use between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley in the control and matric only treatments, although the transgenic *AVP1* barley tended to have lower cumulative water use compared to null segregants (Figure 6). There was also no significant difference in cumulative water use between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley in the control for a segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley in the combined and osmotic only treatments (Figure 6).

Discussion

In this study, the growth of two barley varieties (cv. WI4330 and Golden Promise) were tested for the first time in salinity, low water availability and combined salinity and low water availability treatments using varied osmotic and matric potentials at an equivalent soil water potential. The results showed that a combined salinity and low water availability treatment does not have an additive effect on barley growth if the soil water potential is equivalent to that in the individual salinity and low water availability treatments. Furthermore, the response of barley growth to both individual and concurrent salinity and low water availability treatments was found to be dependent on the barley variety. In addition, this study showed that transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass compared to null segregants in saline conditions, supporting the results of a previous study (Schilling et al., 2014). It also showed that two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had significantly larger shoot and root biomass compared to null segregants in soil with low water availability. Furthermore, two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had significantly larger shoot and root biomass compared to null segregants in soil with low water availability. Furthermore, two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had significantly larger shoot and root biomass than null segregants in a combined salinity and low water availability treatment suggesting that the expression of *AVP1* has the potential to improve transgenic barley growth under multiple concurrent stresses.

Effects of the osmotic only treatment on wild-type WI4330 and Golden Promise

Although a relatively salt tolerant cereal, the shoot and root growth of barley is reduced by saline conditions due to a combination of shoot salt accumulation independent effects, ion toxicities and ion deficiencies (Maas and Hoffman, 1977; Munns and Tester, 2008; Roy et al., 2014). High salinity can increase Na⁺ uptake, which can cause leaf chlorosis and reduce root K⁺ uptake in barley plants (Lynch and Läuchli, 1984; Rains and Epstein, 1967; Tavakkoli et al., 2011). In support of these findings, this study also shows that both WI4330 and Golden Promise barley varieties have a significant reduction in shoot biomass, greater leaf Na⁺ and Cl⁻ concentrations, lower leaf K⁺ concentrations and lower cumulative water use in the osmotic only treatment compared to control conditions (Figure 1,2,3). The lower leaf Clconcentration compared to Na⁺ concentration in the osmotic only treatment, also suggests that both WI4330 and Golden Promise barley exclude more CI- than Na+ from the shoot (Figure 2a,c). Furthermore, this study suggests that WI4330 barley is more sensitive to salinity than Golden Promise, with WI4330 having a greater reduction in shoot and root biomass in the osmotic only treatment compared to control conditions (Figure 1b). Golden Promise barley is known to have low shoot Na⁺ accumulation in saline conditions (Forster et al., 1994; Wei et al., 2003) and, in agreement, the Golden Promise in this study had a significantly lower leaf Na⁺ concentration than WI4330 in the osmotic only treatment (Figure 2a). This suggests that greater shoot Na+ exclusion is contributing to the improved salt tolerance of Golden Promise compared to WI4330.

Effects of the matric only treatment on wild-type WI4330 and Golden Promise

Low water availability is known to reduce barley growth and grain yield by promoting stomata closure, increasing wilting and reducing nutrient uptake (Day et al., 1978; Hu and Schmidhalter, 2005; Legg et al., 1979; Rajala et al., 2011). In this study, both WI4330 and Golden Promise barley had a smaller shoot biomass in the matric only treatment compared to control conditions (Figure 1b). Notably, the WI4330 barley had a significantly larger shoot and root biomass than Golden Promise in the matric only treatment

(Figure 1a,b). Considering a larger and more vigorous growing root system can increase plant uptake of water (Palta et al., 2011; Passioura, 1983), the larger root biomass of WI4330 barley could be contributing to the larger shoot biomass compared to Golden Promise in the matric only treatment (Figure 1). Additionally, the accumulation of K⁺ in water stressed plants can improve cellular osmotic adjustment, and thus help to maintain plant turgor and transpiration rates (Hu and Schmidhalter, 2005; Jensen, 1981). In this study, the WI4330 barley had an increase in leaf K⁺ concentration in the matric only treatment (Figure 2b).

A combined matric and osmotic treatment does not have an additive effect on barley growth

In the combined salinity and low water availability treatment, both WI4330 and Golden Promise had reduced shoot growth (Figure 2a,b), greater leaf Na⁺ and Cl⁻ concentrations (Figure 3a,c) and lower cumulative water use (Figure 4) compared to control conditions. However, compared to control conditions, the combined salinity and low water availability treatment reduced the shoot biomass of Golden Promise to a similar extent as the equivalent matric only and osmotic only treatment and did not affect the root biomass (Figure 1a,b). While in contrast, the osmotic only treatment reduced the shoot and root biomass of WI4330 to a greater extent than the equivalent matric only and combined treatments compared to control conditions (Figure 1b). These findings suggest that a combined salinity and low water availability treatments (Figure 1). It further shows that the response of barley plants to individual and concurrent salinity and low water availability stresses is dependent on the barley variety (Figure 1).

In this study, the osmotic only treatment was more detrimental to WI4330 growth, particularly reducing root biomass, compared to the equivalent matric only or combined salinity and low water availability treatments (Figure 1). However, the osmotic potential does not include the ionic effects of salinity on plant

growth (Hackl et al., 2014; Richards, 1954). It is thus likely that both shoot salt accumulation independent effects, such as reduced water uptake (Figure 6), and ionic effects, such as leaf Na⁺ or CI⁻ toxicity, are also reducing WI4330 growth in the osmotic only treatment. Considering the leaf CI- concentrations of WI4330 was similar between the combined and osmotic only treatments plants (Figure 2c) it is unlikely that CI- toxicity is responsible for the reduction in root biomass in the osmotic only treatment. However, given the high concentrations of leaf Na⁺ observed in the WI4330 in the osmotic only treatment (Figure 2a), it is probable that Na⁺ toxicity is contributing to the reduction in shoot and root growth in that treatment. In support of this, the shoot biomass of Golden Promise, which had a lower leaf Na⁺ concentration than WI4330 in the osmotic only treatment, was similar between the osmotic only and combined treatments and combined and matric only treatments (Figure 1) suggesting this barley variety was more affected by the overall soil water potential than the ionic effects of NaCl. Overall, the differences observed between WI4330 and Golden Promise in the equivalent matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments suggests there is genetic variation in barley tolerance to combined matric and osmotic stresses. The findings of this study also reiterate the need for more research towards evaluating the response(s) of plants to combined abiotic stresses (Mittler, 2006) and the need to consider the total soil water potential for salinity and low water availability treatments (Hackl et al., 2014; Rengasamy, 2010).

Transgenic AVP1 barley has improved shoot growth in the osmotic only treatment

Previously, transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* have been shown to have increased plant growth in saline conditions (Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014). Transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) had a larger shoot biomass and no significant difference in leaf Na⁺ concentrations compared to null segregants in greenhouse-based saline conditions (Schilling et al., 2014). This study supports these findings with the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) having a larger shoot biomass (Figure 4a,b) and no significant difference in leaf Na⁺, K⁺ or Cl⁻ concentrations compared to null

segregants in the osmotic only treatment (Figure 5). In addition, a sibling line (*35S-AVP1-1b*) had no increase in shoot biomass compared to null segregants in this study (Figure 4b), which supports previous findings for this line in greenhouse-based saline conditions (Schilling et al., 2014).

A larger root biomass, which can increase plant uptake of water and nutrients, has been observed in transgenic cotton and bentgrass expressing *AVP1* in saline conditions (Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011). In this study, all plants had a significantly lower root biomass in the osmotic only treatment compared to control conditions (Figure 4c). However, the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had no significant difference in root biomass compared to null segregants in the osmotic only treatment (Figure 4c). This lack of a larger root biomass in the transgenic *AVP1* barley could be due to differences between plant species or the level and extent of salinity treatments. It also suggests that the larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) in the osmotic only treatment, in this case, is not due to a larger root system facilitating improved nutrient or water uptake (Figure 4b,c).

Transgenic AVP1 barley has improved shoot growth in the matric only treatment

Transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* have previously been shown to have a greater shoot and root biomass at low water availability compared to plants without this gene (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013). This improved growth in transgenic *AVP1* plants was attributed to increased solute accumulation and a larger root biomass enabling enhanced water uptake (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Park et al., 2005). However, to our knowledge, there are no previous studies evaluating the growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley at low water availability. In this study, the shoot biomass of all plants was reduced in the matric only treatment compared to control conditions (Figure 4a,b). Two siblings of one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-*1a & *35S-AVP1-*1b) had a significantly larger shoot biomass than null segregants in the matric only treatment (Figure

4a,b). However, two other transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) were larger but had no significant increase in shoot biomass in the matric only treatment compared to null segregants (Figure 4b). There was also no significant difference in root biomass or leaf Na⁺, K⁺ or Cl⁻ concentration of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants in the matric only treatment (Figure 4c,5).

Previous studies evaluating the drought tolerance of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* merely withheld water until severe drought symptoms, such as wilting and leaf chlorosis were observed (Bao et al., 2009; Park et al., 2005). However, in this study, the matric only treatment was established at a matric potential of -0.5 MPa for 13 d. Although this matric only treatment reduced shoot biomass compared to control conditions (Figure 4a,b), it did not cause plant wilting (Figure 4a) or leaf chlorosis (Figure S6). This suggests that either a more severe matric only treatment or a matric treatment of a longer duration, which would further reduce plant growth, may be needed. This might enable any effects of *AVP1* expression in transgenic barley, such as potentially larger root growth enhancing plant water uptake (Bao et al., 2009; Park et al., 2005), to become more apparent. Nevertheless, the results of *35S-AVP1*-1a and *35S-AVP1*-1b suggest the expression of *AVP1* has the potential to improve transgenic barley growth in conditions with low water availability (Figure 4a,b).

Transgenic *AVP1* barley has improved shoot and root growth in combined salinity and low water availability treatment

This study also shows that the constitutive expression of *AVP1* can increase the shoot biomass of transgenic barley (*35S-AVP1-1a* & *35S-AVP1-2*) compared to null segregants in a combined salinity and low water availability treatment (Figure 4a,b). To our knowledge, this is the first time that a transgenic plant expressing *AVP1* has been shown to tolerate multiple concurrent stresses in controlled conditions. The majority of transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) had no significant differences in leaf Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ concentrations compared to null segregants in the combined

treatment (Figure 5a,b,c), except one line (*35S-AVP1-1a*) which had significantly higher leaf Clconcentration compared to null segregants (Figure 5a,c). This suggests that differences in leaf ion accumulation were not contributing to the improved shoot growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley in the combined treatment. Interestingly, the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a* & *35S-AVP1-2*) with the largest shoot biomass in the combined treatment also had the largest root biomass of all lines in the combined treatment (Figure 4b,c). This suggests that a larger root system may have contributed to the improved shoot growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley in the combined stress treatment by potentially facilitating improved water or nutrient uptake (Gaxiola et al., 2011; Park et al., 2005). Although two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines did not have a significant increase in shoot or root growth compared to null segregants (Figure 4b) in the combined treatment, the results indicate that the expression of *AVP1* has the potential to improve the growth of transgenic barley under multiple concurrent stresses.

Conclusions

This study evaluated the effect of the soil water potential and, importantly, the effects of the soil osmotic and matric potentials, on barley growth. It showed that a combined salinity and low water availability treatment does not have an additive effect on barley growth when the combined treatment has the same overall soil water potential as the individual salinity and low water availability treatments. It also showed that the effect of combined salinity and low water availability on barley shoot and root growth, ion concentrations and water use is dependent on the barley variety. Furthermore, this study tested for the first time the growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley under multiple concurrent stresses in controlled conditions. It confirmed that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has a larger shoot biomass in saline conditions without altering leaf Na⁺ concentrations compared to null segregants (Schilling et al., 2014). It also showed that in conditions with low water availability, the shoot biomass of two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines is larger than null segregants. However, it suggests that a more severe drought treatment may be needed to further elucidate this growth advantage. Nevertheless, the shoot biomass of two transgenic *AVP1*

barley lines was larger than null segregants in conditions with combined salinity and low water availability. Overall, the findings of this study support those suggesting it is imperative that future research considers the effect of combined stresses on plant growth (Mittler, 2006; Mittler and Blumwald, 2010) and suggest that transgenic *AVP1* barley is a promising option to help improve crop growth under multiple concurrent stresses.

Acknowledgements

We thank Mr. Gauzul Azam (University of Adelaide) for soil pressure plate technical assistance; The Plant Accelerator[®] of The Australian Plant Phenomics Facility (APPF) for PC2 greenhouse facilities; ACPFG acknowledges the University of Connecticut (UConn) and Dr. Roberto Gaxiola. Funding support by the Australian Research Council (ARC) and Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) is also acknowledged. RS is a recipient of a GRDC Grains Industry Research Scholarship.

References

- Ahmed, I.M., Cao, F., Zhang, M., Chen, X., Zhang, G. and Wu, F. (2013a) Difference in yield and physiological features in response to drought and salinity combined stress during anthesis in Tibetan wild and cultivated barleys. *PLoS ONE* 8, e77869.
- Ahmed, I.M., Dai, H., Zheng, W., Cao, F., Zhang, G., Sun, D. and Wu, F. (2013b) Genotypic differences in physiological characteristics in the tolerance to drought and salinity combined stress between Tibetan wild and cultivated barley. *Plant Physiol. Bioch.* 63, 49-60.
- Bao, A.K., Wang, S.M., Wu, G.Q., Xi, J.J., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, C.M. (2009) Overexpression of the Arabidopsis H⁺-PPase enhanced resistance to salt and drought stress in transgenic alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.). Plant Sci. **176**, 232-240.
- Boyer, J.S. (1982) Plant productivity and environment. Science 218, 443-448.
- Burke, E.J., Brown, S.J. and Christidis, N. (2006) Modeling the recent evolution of global drought and projections for the twenty-first century with the hadley centre climate model. *J. Hydrometeorol.* **7**, 1113-1125.
- Campbell, G.S. (1988) Soil water potential measurement An overview. Irrig. Sci. 9, 265-273.
- Cushman, J.C. and Bohnert, H.J. (2000) Genomic approaches to plant stress tolerance. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **3**, 117-124.
- Day, W., Legg, B., French, B., Johnston, A., Lawlor, D. and Jeffers, W.d.C. (1978) A drought experiment using mobile shelters: the effect of drought on barley yield, water use and nutrient uptake. J. Agr. Sci. 91, 599-623.
- Forster, B.P., Pakniyat, H., Macaulay, M., Matheson, W., Phillips, M.S., Thomas, W.T.B. and Powell, W. (1994) Variation in the leaf sodium content of the *Hordeum vulgare* (barley) cultivar Maythorpe and its derived mutant cv. Golden Promise. *Heredity* **73**, 249-253.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Edwards, M. and Elser, J.J. (2011) A transgenic approach to enhance phosphorus use efficiency in crops as part of a comprehensive strategy for sustainable agriculture. *Chemosphere* **84**, 840-845.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J.S., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (2001) Droughtand salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the *AVP1* H⁺-pump. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 11444-11449.
- Hackl, H., Hu, Y. and Schmidhalter, U. (2014) Evaluating growth platforms and stress scenarios to assess the salt tolerance of wheat plants. *Funct. Plant Biol.* <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/FP13233</u>, -.
- Hillel, D. (1998) Environmental soil physics: fundamentals, applications, and environmental considerations. United Kingdom:Academic press.
- Hirayama, T. and Shinozaki, K. (2010) Research on plant abiotic stress responses in the post-genome era: past, present and future. *The Plant Journal* **61**, 1041-1052.
- Hu, Y. and Schmidhalter, U. (2005) Drought and salinity: A comparison of their effects on mineral nutrition of plants. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* **168**, 541-549.
- Jensen, C. (1981) Influence of soil water stress on wilting and water relations of differently osmotically adjusted wheat plants. *New Phytol.* **89**, 15-24.
- Jensen, C. (1982) Effect of soil water osmotic potential on growth and water relationships in barley during soil water depletion. *Irrig. Sci.* **3**, 111-121.
- Klute, A. (1986) Water Retention: Laboratory Methods. In: *Methods of soil analysis: part 1 physical and mineralogical methods* (Klute, A. ed) pp. 635-662. Soil Sci. Soc. Am., Am. Soc. Agron.
- Legg, B.J., Day, W., Lawlor, D.W. and Parkinson, K.J. (1979) The effects of drought on barley growth: models and measurements showing the relative importance of leaf area and photosynthetic rate. *J. Agri. Sci.* **92**, 703-716.
- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 272-289.

Lynch, J. and Läuchli, A. (1984) Potassium-transport in salt-stressed barley roots. *Planta* 161, 295-301.

- Maas, E.V. and Hoffman, G.J. (1977) Crop salt tolerance current assessment. J. Irrig. Drain. Div., Am. Soc. Civ. Eng. 103, 115-134.
- Mat Hassan, H., Marschner, P., McNeill, A. and Tang, C. (2012) Growth, P uptake in grain legumes and changes in rhizosphere soil P pools. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* **48**, 151-159.
- McCree, K. (1986) Whole plant carbon balance during osmotic adjustment to drought and salinity stress. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **13**, 33-43.
- Mittler, R. (2006) Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. *Trends Plant Sci.* **11**, 15-19.
- Mittler, R. and Blumwald, E. (2010) Genetic engineering for modern agriculture: challenges and perspectives. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* **61**, 443-462.
- Munns, R. (2002) Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. Plant Cell Environ. 25, 239-250.
- Munns, R. and Tester, M. (2008) Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 651-681.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1557-1569.
- Palta, J.A., Chen, X., Milroy, S.P., Rebetzke, G.J., Dreccer, M.F. and Watt, M. (2011) Large root systems: are they useful in adapting wheat to dry environments? *Funct. Plant Biol.* **38**, 347-354.
- Park, S., Li, J.S., Pittman, J.K., Berkowitz, G.A., Yang, H.B., Undurraga, S., Morris, J., Hirschi, K.D. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2005) Up-regulation of a H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) as a strategy to engineer drought-resistant crop plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 18830-18835.
- Pasapula, V., Shen, G., Kuppu, S., Paez-Valencia, J., Mendoza, M., Hou, P., Chen, J., Qiu, X., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Auld, D., Blumwald, E., Zhang, H., Gaxiola, R. and Payton, P. (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 88-99.
- Passioura, J.B. (1983) Roots and drought resistance. Agric. Water Manag. 7, 265-280.
- Qin, H., Gu, Q., Kuppu, S., Sun, L., Zhu, X., Mishra, N., Hu, R., Shen, G., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Burow, M., Payton, P. and Zhang, H. (2013) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene *AVP1* in peanut to improve drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Biotech. Rep.* **7**, 345-355.
- Rains, D.W. and Epstein, E. (1967) Sodium absorption by barley roots role of dual mechanisms of alkali cation transport. *Plant Physiol.* **42**, 314-318.
- Rajala, A., Hakala, K., Mäkelä, P. and Peltonen-Sainio, P. (2011) Drought effect on grain number and grain weight at spike and spikelet level in six-row spring barley. *J. Agron. Crop Sci.* **197**, 103-112.
- Rasmussen, S., Barah, P., Suarez-Rodriguez, M.C., Bressendorff, S., Friis, P., Costantino, P., Bones, A.M., Nielsen, H.B. and Mundy, J. (2013) Transcriptome responses to combinations of stresses in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1783-1794.
- Rengasamy, P. (2010) Soil processes affecting crop production in salt-affected soils. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **37**, 613-620.
- Richards, L. (ed) (1954) *Diagnosis and improvement of saline and alkali soils*. Washington, DC, USA: US Department of Agriculture.
- Rivero, R.M., Mestre, T.C., Mittler, R.O.N., Rubio, F., Garcia-Sanchez, F. and Martinez, V. (2013) The combined effect of salinity and heat reveals a specific physiological, biochemical and molecular response in tomato plants. *Plant, Cell & Environ.* **37**, 1059-1073.
- Rizhsky, L., Liang, H. and Mittler, R. (2002) The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on gene expression in tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* **130**, 1143-1151.
- Rizhsky, L., Liang, H., Shuman, J., Shulaev, V., Davletova, S. and Mittler, R. (2004) When defense pathways collide. The response of *Arabidopsis* to a combination of drought and heat stress. *Plant Physiol.* **134**, 1683-1696.

- Roy, S.J., Negrão, S. and Tester, M. (2014) Salt resistant crop plants. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **26**, 115-124.
- Schilling, R.K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J. and Plett, D.C. (2014) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field. *Plant Biotech. J.* **12**, 378-386.
- Schmidhalter, U. and Oertli, J.J. (1991) Germination and seedling growth of carrots under salinity and moisture stress. *Plant Soil* **132**, 243-251.
- Schroeder, J.I., Delhaize, E., Frommer, W.B., Guerinot, M.L., Harrison, M.J., Herrera-Estrella, L., Horie, T., Kochian, L.V., Munns, R., Nishizawa, N.K., Tsay, Y.-F. and Sanders, D. (2013) Using membrane transporters to improve crops for sustainable food production. *Nature* **497**, 60-66.
- Shani, U. and Dudley, L.M. (2001) Field studies of crop response to water and salt stress. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **65**, 1522-1528.
- Shavrukov, Y., Gupta, N.K., Miyazaki, J., Baho, M.N., Chalmers, K.J., Tester, M., Langridge, P. and Collins, N.C. (2010) *HvNax3* a locus controlling shoot sodium exclusion derived from wild barley (*Hordeum vulgare ssp. spontaneum*). *Funct. Integr. Genomics* **10**, 277-291.
- Suzuki, N., Rivero, R.M., Shulaev, V., Blumwald, E. and Mittler, R. (2014) Abiotic and biotic stress combinations. *New Phytol.* doi:10.1111/nph.12797.
- Tavakkoli, E., Fatehi, F., Coventry, S., Rengasamy, P. and McDonald, G.K. (2011) Additive effects of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ions on barley growth under salinity stress. *J. Exp. Bot.* doi:10.1093/jxb/erq422.
- Tester, M. and Langridge, P. (2010) Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. *Science* **327**, 818-822.
- Wadleigh, C.H. and Ayers, A.D. (1945) Growth and biochemical composition of bean plants as conditioned by soil moisture tension and salt concentration. *Plant Physiol.* **20**, 106-132.
- Wei, W., Bilsborrow, P., Hooley, P., Fincham, D., Lombi, E. and Forster, B. (2003) Salinity induced differences in growth, ion distribution and partitioning in barley between the cultivar Maythorpe and its derived mutant Golden Promise. *Plant Soil* 250, 183-191.
- Yang, H., Knapp, J., Koirala, P., Rajagopal, D., Peer, W.A., Silbart, L.K., Murphy, A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2007) Enhanced phosphorus nutrition in monocots and dicots over-expressing a phosphorusresponsive type I H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Plant Biotech. J.* **5**, 735-745.

Tables

Table 1 The matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments used with the corresponding amount of NaCl (g kg⁻¹ soil) and reverse osmosis (RO) water (g kg⁻¹ soil) added to each pot and the calculated matric potential (MPa), osmotic potential (MPa) and soil water potential (SWP) (MPa) with the percentage contribution of matric potential (%) and osmotic potential (%) to the overall soil water potential.

Treatment	Amount of NaCl (g kg ⁻¹ soil)	Amount of Water (g kg ⁻¹ soil)	Matric Potential (MPa)	Osmotic Potential (MPa)	Soil Water Potential (MPa)	% of SWP Matric	% of SWP Osmotic
Osmotic Only	1.2	147	-0.01	-0.490	-0.500	2	98
Combined	0.3	80	-0.30	-0.225	-0.525	57	43
Matric Only	0	73	-0.50	-0.000	-0.500	100	0

Figure Legends

Figure 1 (a) Images of wild-type WI4330 (WI) and Golden Promise (GP) barley at 27 d after transplanting in control, matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments (b) Shoot and (c) root biomass of WI4330 (light grey) and Golden Promise (dark grey) in control (-0.01MPa) and matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments (-0.5MPa) at 27 d after transplanting. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 6-7) with a different letter indicating a significant difference between means (LSD, *P* < 0.001).

Figure 2 (a) Na⁺, (b) K⁺ and (c) Cl⁻ concentration (mM) of the fully-expanded 4th leaf blade of WI4330 (light grey) and Golden Promise (dark grey) barley after 27 d in soil with control (-0.01MPa), matric only, combined and osmotic only (-0.5 MPa) treatments. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 6-7) with a different letter indicating a significant difference between means (LSD, *P* ≤ 0.05).

Figure 3 Cumulative plant water use (g pot⁻¹) for WI4330 (light grey) and Golden Promise (dark grey) barley after 27 d in soil with control (-0.01 MPa), matric only, combined and osmotic only (-0.5MPa) treatments. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 6-7) with a different letter indicating a significant difference between means (LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figure 4 (a) An image of representative wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (35S:*AVP1*-1a) at 27 d after transplanting in a soil with (1) control, (2) osmotic only, (3) matric only and (4) combined treatments. (b) Shoot and (c) root biomass (g DW) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) in control (-0.01 MPa), matric only, combined and osmotic only (-0.5 MPa) treatments at 27 d after transplanting. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3-7) with a different letter indicating a significant difference (LSD, *P* \leq 0.05).

Figure 5 (a) Na⁺, (b) K⁺ and (c) Cl⁻ concentration (mM) of the fully-expanded 4th leaf blade of null segregants, and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) after 27 d in soil with control (-0.01MPa), matric only, combined and osmotic only (-0.5MPa) treatments. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-7) with a different letter indicating a significant difference between means (LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figure 6 Cumulative plant water use (g pot⁻¹) for of null segregants, and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1*-1a, *35S-AVP1*-1b, *35S-AVP1*-2 and *35S-AVP1*-3) after 27 d in soil with control (-0.01 MPa), matric only, combined and osmotic only (-0.5MPa) treatments. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3-7) with a different letter indicating a significant difference between means (LSD, *P* ≤ 0.05).

Figures











Figure 3













Figure 6
Supplementary Figures



Figure S1 A soil water retention curve of a sandy loam from Monarto, South Australia ($35^{\circ}05$ 'S and $139^{\circ}06$ 'E), with the soil water suction (-kPa) versus the gravimetric water content (g g⁻¹) at 0, -10, -30, - 100, -500 and -1500 kPa fitted with an exponential curve. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3).



Figure S2 The electrical conductivity (μ S cm⁻¹) of a 1:5 (soil:water) extract (EC_{1:5}) of soil incubated for 7 d with different rates of sodium chloride (0.0, 1.5, 2.9, 5.9, 8.8, 14.6 and 29.3 g NaCl kg⁻¹ soil). Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3).



Figure S3 Semi-quantitative expression analysis of *AVP1* relative to *HvGAP* in transgenic *AVP1* barley plants (a) Gel images showing the intensity of PCR products for wild-type (WT), null segregants (Nulls) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) using *AVP1*-specific primers and *HvGAP*-specific primers (internal control) (b) Semi-quantitative relative expression analysis of *AVP1* using reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR) with *AVP1*-specific and *HvGAP*-specific primers (internal control) for wild-type (cv. Golden Promise), null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3).



Figure S4 The dry matter root to shoot ratio of wild-type WI4330 (light grey) and Golden Promise (dark grey) barley in control, matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments. Values are presented as the mean ratio for each variety (n = 6-7).



Figure S5 The SPAD value of the 4th leaf blade of WI4330 (light grey) and Golden Promise (dark grey) after 27 d in control, matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 6-7).



Figure S6 SPAD values of the 4th leaf blade of null segregants (white) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (cv. Golden Promise) lines (*35S-AVP1-1a*, *35S-AVP1-1b*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) (grey bars) plants after 27 d in control, matric only, combined and osmotic only treatments. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3-7).

Chapter 6

Evaluating the seedling vigour of transgenic AVP1 barley

Statement of Contributions

The following manuscript in this chapter is formatted future submission:

Title: Transgenic barley expressing AVP1 has improved seedling vigour and increased ascorbic acid synthesis

Schilling conducted the experiments, data analysis, interpretation of results and wrote the manuscript

Marschner, Tester, Plett and Roy supervised the experiments

All authors contributed to the discussion of the results

By signing this statement of contributions, each author certifies that their stated contribution to the publication is accurate and that permission is granted for the publication to be included in the candidate's thesis:

Petra Marschner	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Mark Tester	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Darren Plett	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Stuart Roy	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014

Transgenic barley expressing AVP1 has improved seedling vigour and

increased ascorbic acid synthesis

Running title: Expression of AVP1 improves the seedling vigour of transgenic barley

Rhiannon K. Schilling^{1,2}, Petra Marschner², Mark Tester³, Darren C. Plett^{1,2} & Stuart J. Roy^{1,2,*}

¹Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics, PMB 1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia.

² School of Agriculture, Food and Wine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

³ Center for Desert Agriculture, Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering, 4700 King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal 23955-6900, Saudi Arabia

*Corresponding author:

Stuart Roy, The Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics and the University of Adelaide, PMB1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia, <u>stuart.roy@acpfg.com.au</u>

Keywords: germination, pyrophosphate, gluconeogenesis, sucrose, vitamin C, metabolomics, cell size

Abstract

Transgenic barley expressing the type I *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H*-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) have a larger shoot biomass in both non-saline and saline conditions compared to null segregants. However, an explanation for this larger shoot biomass in transgenic *AVP1* barley is yet to be fully elucidated. In this study, the seedling vigour of null segregants and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* was evaluated at 0 and 100 mM NaCl from 0 to 11 d after seed imbibition using non-destructive plant biomass and WinRHIZO® measurements. Furthermore, GC-MS analysis of leaf and root tissue at 11 d after seed imbibition was conducted to investigate the effects of *AVP1* expression on barley metabolism. Transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger plant biomass, including an increase in both shoot and root biomass, at 11 d after seed imbibition in 0 mM NaCl compared to null segregants. The larger plant biomass was first detected 6 d after seed imbibition compared to null segregants. Furthermore, metabolomic analysis revealed that transgenic *AVP1* barley had significantly lower galactose and significantly higher ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in leaf tissue compared to null segregants. Overall, the findings suggest that both improved seedling vigour and enhanced ascorbic acid synthesis are contributing to the larger plant biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley in non-saline conditions.

Introduction

Vacuolar proton-pumping pyrophosphatases (H*-PPases, EC 3.6.1.1) have a number of key roles in the physiology of plant cells (Barkla and Pantoja, 1996; Maeshima, 2000; Martinoia et al., 2007). By hydrolysing inorganic pyrophosphate (PP_i) to orthophosphate (P_i), these membrane-bound proteins, along with vacuolar H*-ATPases (Sze et al., 1992), actively pump protons (H*) from the cytoplasm into vacuoles which establishes an electrochemical potential difference for H* across the tonoplast (Duan et al., 2007; Kim et al., 1994; Zhen et al., 1997). Vacuolar membrane transporters, such as sodium/proton (Na*/H*) antiporters, use this electrochemical potential difference to actively translocate ions into vacuoles (Apse et al., 1999; Wang et al., 1986). Thus, vacuolar H*-PPases indirectly facilitate the sequestration of ions into vacuoles, which can enhance cell turgor and reduce the accumulation of toxic ions, such as Na*, in the cytoplasm (Blumwald, 2000). For this reason vacuolar H*-PPases have been studied for their role in plant abiotic stress tolerance, particularly salinity tolerance (Colombo and Cerana, 1993; Fukuda et al., 2004; Parks et al., 2002; Queiros et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2009).

Much research has focused on characterising transgenic plants expressing the type I *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-PPase gene (*AVP1*). Transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* or the gain-of-function *AVP1D* allele have a larger shoot and root biomass compared to plants without this gene under various abiotic stresses including drought, salinity and low nutrient availability (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014). The improved growth of transgenic *AVP1* or *AVP1D* plants in stress conditions has been attributed to increased vacuolar Na⁺ sequestration reducing the toxicity of Na⁺ ions and increased root growth and rhizosphere acidification enhancing water and nutrient uptake (Gaxiola et al., 2001; Park et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007).

Transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* also have an increase in shoot and root biomass in non-stressed conditions compared to plants without this gene (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). An increase in auxin may be contributing to the larger growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Li et al., 2005). It has been hypothesised that AVP1 alters the amount and distribution of plasma membrane Pinformed 1 (*PIN1*) auxin efflux facilitators, and thus, regulates auxin dependent organogenesis (Li et al., 2005). In support of this, an *Arabidopsis* mutant defective in AVP1 (*avp1*) due to the insertion of transfer-DNA in the fifth exon had poor shoot and root development compared to wild-type (Li et al., 2005). *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* and transgenic bentgrass expressing *AVP1* also had higher leaf and root auxin contents respectively than wild-type (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010). However, *Arabidopsis fugu5* mutants, which are defective in the *AVP1* gene due to point mutations, did not have an auxin phenotype, suggesting that the auxin phenotype of *avp1* plants may be allele specific and that AVP1 may not alter auxin abundance or distribution (Ferjani et al., 2011). It is thus yet to be fully elucidated what is contributing to the larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* plants compared to null segregants in non-stressed conditions.

One possible factor contributing to the larger shoot growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* is improved seedling vigour (Ferjani et al., 2011). It was recently suggested that, rather than vacuolar acidification, the major role of AVP1 is the hydrolysis of cytosolic PP_i (Ferjani et al., 2011). In support of this, *Arabidopsis fugu5* mutants had 2.5-fold higher PP_i levels than wild-type and lacked heterotrophic growth (Ferjani et al., 2011). The enhanced removal of cytosolic PP_i, which is a by-product of metabolism and an inhibitor of gluconeogenesis at high concentrations, may therefore improve the heterotrophic growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Ferjani et al., 2011). However, to date, no studies have evaluated the seedling growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in non-stressed conditions from seed imbibition.

Another possible factor contributing to the larger growth of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 is that AVP1 facilitates sucrose phloem-loading, and thus more efficient sucrose transport from source to sink tissue (Gaxiola et al., 2012). In phloem companion cells, it has been hypothesised that AVP1 is localised to the plasma membrane and functions as a PP_i-synthase (Gaxiola et al., 2012). An increase in PP_i synthesis, which increases sucrose respiration and thus ATP supply, would increase the activity of the plasma membrane H*-ATPase helping to maintain an electrochemical potential difference for H* across the plasma membrane meditating sucrose phloem-loading (Gaxiola et al., 2012). In support of this hypothesis, there is evidence that AVP1 is localised to the PM of sieve-element companion cells in Arabidopsis (Paez-Valencia et al., 2011) and that is thermodynamically possible for AVP1 to synthesis PP_i rather than hydrolyse PP_i (Baltscheffsky H et al., 1966; Davies et al., 1997; Rocha Façanha and de Meis, 1998; Seufferheld et al., 2004). Furthermore, genes involved with sucrose transport and metabolism, including the sucrose proton symporter SUC1, are up-regulated in Arabidopsis overexpressing AVP1 (Gonzalez et al., 2010). Enhanced sucrose transport from leaves (source) to roots (sink) may increase root growth leading to improved nutrient and water uptake in transgenic plants expressing AVP1 compared to plants without this gene (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2011). However, to date, information regarding the effects of AVP1 expression on plant metabolism is limited to one study (Gonzalez et al., 2010) and it is yet to be determined whether transgenic plants expressing AVP1 have altered carbohydrate metabolism.

Previously, we generated transgenic barley lines with the constitutive expression of *AVP1* (Schilling et al., 2014). In saline conditions, transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass and increased grain yield per plant compared to plants without this gene (Schilling et al., 2014). No significant increase in leaf Na⁺ accumulation was evident in the transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants (Schilling et al., 2014). Additionally, the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass in non-saline conditions compared to null segregants (Schilling et al., 2014). Non-destructive plant imaging through time revealed

that transgenic *AVP1* barley were larger at 14 d after seed imbibition and had a faster relative growth rate in the early growth stages (14 to 24 d after seed imbibition) compared to null segregants (Schilling et al., 2014). However, it is not known whether this large shoot biomass of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* arises from a larger seed weight, improved seedling vigour or altered carbohydrate metabolism (Schilling et al., 2014).

Here, we evaluate the seedling vigour of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* and null segregants from 0 to 11 d after seed imbibition in non-saline and saline conditions using non-destructive plant biomass measurements and WinRHIZO® imaging of plants. Furthermore, we compare the leaf and root metabolic profiles of transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants to investigate the effects of *AVP1* expression on barley metabolism. Our findings suggest that transgenic *AVP1* barley has improved seedling vigour and altered leaf ascorbic acid synthesis, both of which appear to be contributing to the larger shoot and root biomass of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* compared to null segregants.

Experimental Design

Plant material and seed source

Transgenic barley with constitutive expression of AVP1, driven by the *CaMV* 35S promoter, from three independent transformation events (35S-AVP1-1, 35S-AVP1-2, 35S-AVP1-3) and null segregants were used in this study (Schilling et al., 2014). All plants were genotyped to confirm the presence or absence of AVP1 (data not shown). Individual T₄ seeds were sourced from plants previously grown in non-stressed greenhouse conditions and were each selected by weight (~ 43 mg).

Non-destructive growth measurement of barley seedlings

A paper roll method was optimised to non-destructively measure the shoot and root growth of barley seedlings through time (Figure S1). Briefly, white Scott[®] brand paper towels (27 × 24 cm) (FSC C103572,

Kimberly-Clark Professional, Australia) were cut to 18 cm in length. An individual seed was aligned in the centre of the paper towel (1 cm from the edge) with the seed ventral surface facing upwards and embryo positioned towards the base. The paper towel was carefully rolled into a column and soaked for 30 sec in nutrient solution consisting of RO water with the following nutrients (in mM): 0.2 NH₄NO₃, 5.0 KNO₃, 2.0 Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 2.0 MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.1 KH₂PO₄, 0.5 Na₂Si₃O₇, 0.05 NaFe(III)EDTA, 0.05 H₃BO₃, 0.005 MnCl₂.4H₂O, 0.01 ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 0.005 CuSO₄.5H₂O and 0.0001 Na₂MoO₄.2H₂O without (0 mM NaCl) or with the addition of 100 mM NaCl (29.2 g of NaCl in 5 L) and supplementary CaCl₂.H₂O (0.95 g of NaCl in 5 L). Each roll was then placed vertically into a glass jar (20 cm length, 8 cm diameter) (10 paper rolls/jar) wrapped in aluminium foil to prevent root being exposed to light and containing 400 mL of nutrient solution which by capillary action kept the paper rolls moist. A total of 14 replicates for each line were used with 2 replicates per line in each jar and a total of 7 jars per salinity treatment. An aerator stone attached to a Precision SR 7500 aerator was used to provide continuous aeration to each jar and nutrient solutions were changed every 5 d to ensure all nutrients were adequately supplied. The experiment was conducted in a controlled growth chamber (The Plant Accelerator[®], Adelaide, Australia) with the following settings: 12 h day length, temperature between 20 to 23°C, lighting at 800 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹, carbon dioxide (CO_2) at 300 ppm and relative humidity of 52 %.

Imaging of root and cotyledon tissue using a WinRHIZO Pro®

From 2 d after imbibition, the root and shoot tissue of all intact seedlings were imaged every day for 11 d using an A3 Epson Expression 10000 XL 3.49 (Epson, Sydney, Australia) scanner at a grey scale with resolution of 600 dpi. Briefly, each plant was carefully unwrapped from the paper roll and the total plant biomass (g FW) recorded using electronic scales. Each plant was placed in a clear tray (20 × 30 cm) containing the same growth nutrient solution (supplemented with 0 or 100 mM NaCl as appropriate) with all roots carefully arranged to ensure separation. Images were analysed using WinRHIZO Pro[®] 2009 software (Régent Instruments, Canada) to determine the projected shoot and root area, total root length

and average root diameter of each plant. The final shoot and root biomass was recorded 11 d after imbibition and the 2nd leaf was collected for genotyping the presence or absence of the *AVP1* transgene (Schilling et al., 2014).

Metabolomics analysis of transgenic AVP1 barley leaf and root tissue

Eleven days after imbibition, the 1st leaf and total roots of 0 mM NaCl treated plants were excised, immediately weighed using electronic scales and placed into 10 mL tubes frozen in liquid nitrogen. Frozen leaf and root samples of transgenic *AVP1* barley were ground to a fine powder, extracted and analysed by Metabolomics Australia (Melbourne, Australia) using a GC-MS system comprising a AS 3000 autosampler, a Trace Gas Chromatography Ultra and a DSQ quadrupole mass spectrometer (ThermoElectron Cooperation, Austin, USA) with either splitless or split-injection following established protocols (Jacobs et al., 2007; Roessner et al., 2006). The amounts of each metabolite were normalised to the fresh tissue weight used for extraction and final metabolite values are presented as a fold-change compared to null segregants with those in bold having a significant t-test value below $P \le 0.05$.

Visualisation of embryo size and measurement of intact embryo weight

To visual the embryo size of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley, individual seeds (*n* = 6) were cut longitudinally using a scalpel and both seed halves were stained using Lugol's solution (5 % w/v iodine and 10 % w/v potassium iodine) for 30. Seeds were blotted dry and embryos were visualised using a Leica MZ FLIII stereo-microscope, equipped with a Leica DC 300F camera and Leica IM50 image manager software (Leica Microsystems Ltd, Heerbrugg, Switzerland).

Intact embryos of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley were dissected and weighed following a protocol adapted from Richards & Lukacs (2002). Briefly, seeds weighing 43 mg each were imbibed in a Petri dish containing RO water at 4 °C overnight in the dark. The embryo of each seed was dissected using forceps

under a Leica MZ FLIII stereo-microscope. The intact embryos were oven dried at 30 °C for 48 h and dry weights recorded using AX105 DeltaRange electronic scales (Mettler Toledo Ltd., Port Melbourne, Australia).

Cyanoacrylate adhesive adaxial leaf impressions and cell size measurements

A second paper roll experiment was conducted as described above with only a non-saline treatment. Following 11 d after imbibition, the length and width of the 1st leaf of each plant was recorded using a ruler. Cyanoacrylate adhesive leaf impressions using a method adapted from Dhingra and Sinclair (1995) was conducted to measure adaxial leaf cell size. Briefly, the 1st leaf was cut in half and a thin layer of cyanoacrylate adhesive (Selleys Fix 'n' Go Supa Glue, New South Wales, Australia) was uniformly applied to the middle of the adaxial leaf surface. The glued leaf surface was placed against a microscope slide previously cleaned with 100 % ethanol. A second cleaned microscope slide was placed on top of the nonglued leaf side and moderate pressure was applied using a large bulldog clip. After 3 mins, the two microscope slides were separated and the leaf was carefully peeled off the slide using forceps. The adaxial leaf imprint left on the glue was visualised using a Leica AS-LMD Laser Micro-dissection microscope equipped with a video camera and IM1000 software at 4x objective (Leica Microsystems Ltd.). The number and length of adaxial epidermal between vein (bv) cells in the second cell file from the midvein were measured in each plant (Figure S2) (Wenzel et al., 1997).

Statistical analysis

Data was statistically analysed using a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) in Microsoft[®] Office Excel 2007 and the Least Significant Difference (LSD) was used to identify significantly different means at a probability level of $P \le 0.05$.

Results

Transgenic AVP1 barley has improved seedling vigour in non-saline conditions

The shoot and root biomass (g FW) of transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-*3) at 11 d after imbibition was significantly larger (22 to 26% and 21 to 23% respectively) than null segregants (Figure 1a,b,c). The seed weight (day 0) and total plant biomass between 2 to 5 d after imbibition of transgenic *AVP1* barley did not differ to null segregants (Figure 2a). However, from 6 d after imbibition, the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a significantly greater total plant biomass (g FW) compared to null segregants (Figure 2a). The growth rate (g FW d⁻¹) of all transgenic *AVP1* barley lines was also greater than null segregants between 0 to 5 d after imbibition (Figure 2b). There was no significant difference in total plant biomass from seed imbibition to 11 d after seed imbibition between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley at 100 mM NaCI (Figure S3). Additionally, there was no difference in shoot or root biomass between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley at 100 mM NaCI (Figure S4a,b).

Non-destructive images of individual plants through time were recorded and analysed using WinRHIZO® software (Figure 3a). The projected shoot area (cm²) of all plants increased from 0 to 11 d after seed imbibition for the 0 mM NaCl treated plants (Figure 3b). Compared to null segregants, the projected shoot area of transgenic *AVP1* barley was larger, particularly for *35S-AVP1-1* and *35S-AVP1-2* between 4 to 6 d and 5 to 6 d after imbibition respectively where the difference was significant (Figure 3b). The projected root area (cm²) of all three transgenic *AVP1* barley lines was significantly greater (13 to 19%) than null segregants 8 to 11 d after imbibition. However, the projected root area of the transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants was not significantly different between 3 to 7 d after imbibition (Figure 3c). The total root length (cm) of all plants increased from 3 to 11 d after imbibition with the transgenic *AVP1* barley tending to have longer roots than null segregants from 8 d after seed imbibition (Figure 4a). However, differences in root lengths were not significant, except at 5 d after imbibition when *35S-AVP1-3* had a significant decrease in total root length compared to null segregants (Figure 4a). The root diameter of all plants

decreased from 3 to 11 d after imbibition with no significant differences between null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (Figure 4b).

35S-AVP1-3 barley had a larger embryo than wild-type

The embryo size of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley seeds of a similar weight were qualitatively assessed using longitudinal seed cross-sections stained with Lugol's solution (Figure 5a & S5). The embryo size of transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-3*) appeared consistently larger than wild-type (Figure 5a). Furthermore, the individual embryo dry weight (mg DW) of the transgenic *AVP1* barley lines was larger than wild-type, but only significantly larger in *35S-AVP1-3* (Figure 5b).

Metabolites involved in an ascorbic acid pathway are altered in transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants

Differences in the leaf and root metabolite profiles of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley plants were observed 11 d after seed imbibition at 0 mM NaCl (Table 1 and 2). All three transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) had significantly lower leaf galactose (0.19 to 0.43-fold) compared to null segregants (Table 1 & Figure 6). An increase in leaf ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid was also observed in all three transgenic *AVP1* barley lines compared to null segregants, with *35S-AVP1-1* and *35S-AVP1-2* having significantly higher ascorbic acid (1.9-fold and 3.8-fold respectively) and dehydroascorbic acid dimer (15.0-fold and 13.1-fold respectively) (Table 1 & Figure 6). A significant increase in cellobiose (1.7-fold) and inositol (1.5-fold) was also evident in the *35S-AVP1-1* 1 barley compared to null segregants (Table 1).

In the roots, 35S-AVP1-1 had a significant reduction in 2-keto-L-gluconic acid (0.62-fold) and ribonate (0.8-fold) and phosphate (0.5-fold) and 35S-AVP1-2 had a significant decrease in melibose (0.8-fold), N-acetyl-glucosamine (0.72-fold) and phosphate (0.62-fold) compared to null segregants (Table 2). There

was no significant difference in the metabolite profile of *35S-AVP1-3* root tissue compared to null segregants (Table 2). The leaf and root sucrose fold-changes of transgenic *AVP1* barley also did not differ to null segregants (Table 1 & 2).

The size and number of by adaxial epidermal cells are unaltered in transgenic AVP1 barley

The average length (cm) of the 1st leaf blade of transgenic *AVP1* barley 11 d after seed imbibition was not significantly different to null segregants (Figure 7a). The 1st leaf blade of *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3* was significantly wider (cm) than null segregants (Figure 7b). However, the 1st leaf blade width of *35S-AVP1-1* barley did not differ to null segregants (Figure 7b). The average length and number of bv adaxial epidermal cells of transgenic *AVP1* barley lines also did not differ to null segregants (Figure 7c,d).

Discussion

In this study, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had a larger plant biomass, including an increase in both shoot and root biomass, in non-stressed conditions compared to null segregants at 11 d after seed imbibition (Figure 1). Using non-destructive plant biomass measurements from seed imbibition, the larger plant biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants was first detectable 6 d after seed imbibition (Figure 2a). The transgenic *AVP1* barley also had a faster relative plant growth rate between 0 to 5 d after seed imbibition, and thus improved seedling vigour, compared to null segregants in non-stressed conditions (Figure 2b). Furthermore, metabolomic analysis revealed that transgenic *AVP1* barley had significantly lower galactose and significantly higher ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in leaf tissue compared to null segregants at 11 d after seed imbibition (Table 1, Figure 6). It is thus possible that both improved seedling vigour and enhanced ascorbic acid synthesis are contributing to the larger shoot and root biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants in non-stressed conditions (Figure 3c).

Transgenic *AVP1* barley has a larger shoot and root biomass in non-stressed conditions

Previously, 14-day-old transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had a greater projected shoot area, and therefore shoot biomass, than null segregants in both non-saline and saline conditions (Schilling et al., 2014). Additionally, other studies have shown an increase in shoot and root biomass of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007) or a gene encoding a H⁺-PPase from another plant species (Gouiaa et al., 2012; Li et al., 2014; Lv et al., 2008) in non-stressed conditions. In agreement with these previous studies, the transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) in this study also had a larger shoot and root biomass at 11 d after seed imbibition compared to null segregants in non-stressed conditions (Figure 1a,b,c).

Transgenic AVP1 barley has improved seedling vigour in non-stressed conditions

A paper roll assay using plant biomass measurements and WinRHIZO® analysis was developed in this study to non-destructively evaluate the growth of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley through time from seed imbibition (Figure S1). Using this assay, this study showed that the larger plant biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants, was first detectable from 6 d after seed imbibition (Figure 2a). It also showed that the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a faster relative growth compared to null segregants between 0 to 5 d after seed imbibition (Figure 2b). To our knowledge, this is the first time that improved seedling vigour has been demonstrated in a transgenic plant expressing *AVP1*. There were discrepancies between total plant biomass measurements and the derived projected shoot and root areas in this study and higher than expected root diameter values, which both may be due, in part, to known limitations of WinRHIZO® software (Genc et al., 2007; Wang and Zhang, 2009). Nevertheless, an increase in shoot growth in the early stages after seed imbibition, as seen by an increase in projected shoot area between 4 to 6 d after seed imbibition, and then an increase in root growth, as seen by an increase in projected root area from 8 d after seed imbibition, are both contributing to the larger plant biomass of

transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants (Figure 3b,c). Given that a larger embryo can improve seedling vigour (Richards and Lukacs, 2002), the larger embryo of *35S-AVP1-3* barley may explain the improved seedling growth of this line (Figure 5a,b). However, the absence of a larger embryo in the other transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1* and *35S-AVP1-2*) suggests other factors are also contributing to the improved seedling growth.

It is well known that during the heterotrophic stage of germination, seedling growth is entirely dependent on seed reserves (Aoki et al., 2006; Edelman et al., 1959; Zhang et al., 2007). Previously, loss-of-function AVP1 mutants (fugu5) had 2.5-fold higher PP_i levels and lacked heterotrophic growth without the addition of either sucrose or glucose to their growth media (Ferjani et al., 2011). The heterologous expression of IPP1, a gene encoding a cytosolic soluble inorganic H*-PPase from yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) also restored the wild-type phenotype of fugu5 mutants (Ferjani et al., 2011). This suggests that the hydrolysis of cytoplasmic PP_i by AVP1 may enhance gluconeogenesis and thus improve plant heterotrophic growth (Ferjani et al., 2011). In this study, the increase in plant biomass of transgenic AVP1barley compared to null segregants was detected from 6 d after imbibition, suggesting the improved growth of transgenic AVP1 barley occurs close to the transition from heterotrophic to autotrophic growth. Greater gluconeogenesis could therefore be contributing to the faster growth rate between 0 to 5 d after imbibition, and thus improved seedling vigour, of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 compared to null segregants (Figure 2b).

In phloem companion cells, it has been suggested that AVP1 is localised to the plasma membrane and functions as a PP_i-synthase (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2011). An increase in PP_i synthesis, which increases sucrose respiration and thus ATP supply, would increase the activity of the plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase helping to increase the electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ across the plasma membrane (Gaxiola et al., 2012). This enhanced electrochemical potential across the

companion cell plasma membrane would help to meditate sucrose phloem-loading and thus, sucrose transport from leaves (source) to roots (sink) enabling larger root growth (Gaxiola et al., 2012). In support of this hypothesis, the transgenic *AVP1* barley in this study had a larger root biomass compared to null segregants at 11 d after seed imbibition (Figure 1a,c). However, null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley had no significant difference in leaf or root sucrose (Table 1 & 2). Nonetheless, these sucrose measurements are only an indication of the sucrose level at one time-point and do not consider differences in sucrose amounts within different cell-types. It thus possible that the amount of sucrose may vary in specific cell types or at specific stages of the lifecycle in the transgenic *AVP1* barley. Considering the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a large plant biomass compared to null segregants (Figure 1, 2), it is also possible that the transgenic *AVP1* barley utilised any additional sucrose as a carbon source to increase plant biomass.

To support developing shoot and roots during the heterotrophic stage of germination, seedlings depend on seed reserves mobilised from the endosperm and transported in vasculature tissue to the embryo (Aoki et al., 2006). It has been proposed that in germinating wheat seeds, starch is converted to maltose and glucose in the endosperm and this maltose and glucose is then transferred to the scutellum where sucrose is re-synthesised in the epidermis before it is symplastically transported to the scutellum vascular parenchyma and loaded into phloem sieve-element cells by apo- or sym-plastic transport, such as via sucrose/H⁺ symporters (SUT), for transport to the embryo (Aoki et al., 2006; Edelman et al., 1959). Given the proposed role of AVP1 in facilitating sucrose phloem-loading from source to sink tissue (Gaxiola et al., 2012), it is possible that AVP1 may have a similar role as a H⁺-synthase helping to facilitate sucrose loading from the scutellum vascular parenchyma (source) to phloem sieve-element cells, and thus greater sucrose transport to the embryo (sink). The concentration of sucrose is known to be highest in barley seedlings between 3 to 6 d after germination (James, 1940), which corresponds to the timing (6 d after seed imbibition) in this study when the larger plant biomass was detected in the transgenic *AVP1* barley

compared to null segregants (Figure 2a). An increase in starch, which is converted to sucrose during the night (Geiger and Servaites, 1994; Geiger et al., 2000), was also qualitatively observed in the solution surrounding the roots of transgenic *AVP1* barley seedlings compared to wild-type after starch leaked into the solution from the cotyledon after it was excised from the seed (Figure S6). It is thus plausible that the enhanced seedling vigour of transgenic *AVP1* barley at 6 d after seed imbibition reflects the time-point when greater sucrose transport from the scutellum (source) to the embryo (sink) began to enhance shoot and root growth, and thus improve the seedling vigour, of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to the null segregants.

Transgenic *AVP1* barley does not have improved growth compared to null segregants when salinity occurs from seed imbibition

Unlike other studies showing an increase in shoot or root biomass of transgenic *AVP1* plants in saline conditions (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011; Schilling et al., 2014), in this study there was no significant difference in the total plant biomass, or shoot or root biomass, of transgenic *AVP1* barley at 100 mM NaCl compared to null segregants between 0 to 11 d after seed imbibition (Figure S3,S4). This unexpected result suggests that the improved growth of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in saline conditions may be dependent on the timing of salinity stress. To date, all previous studies showing an increase in the shoot or root biomass of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* in saline conditions may be dependent on the timing of salinity stress. To date, all previous studies showing an increase in the shoot or root biomass of transgenic plants to grow in non-saline conditions have either pre-germinated seeds for at least 5 d or allowed plants to grow in non-saline conditions for 2 to 10 weeks before imposing a salinity treatment during vegetative growth stages (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014). In contrast, in this study the 100 mM NaCl treatment was initiated from the very start of seed imbibition (0 d). Given that at 0 mM NaCl, transgenic *AVP1* barley had a faster growth rate between 0 to 5 d after imbibition and a larger plant biomass from 6 d after imbibition compared to null segregants (Figure 2), it is possible that the 100 mM NaCl treatment from seed imbibition prevented any increase in

seedling vigour of the transgenic *AVP1* barley by inhibiting any enhanced gluconeogenesis or sucrosephloem loading. It is thus possible that the larger plant biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants in saline conditions may only occur if the onset of salinity occurs following 6 d after seed imbibition. Alternatively, it is possible that the salinity treatment from the start of seed imbibition did not prevent but rather delayed the seedling vigour of transgenic *AVP1* barley and that more time may be necessary for the transgenic *AVP1* barley to first adjust to the effects of salinity on metabolism prior to any improvement of plant growth.

Transgenic barley expressing AVP1 has enhanced ascorbic acid synthesis compared to null segregants

This study shows for the first time that transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* has lower glucose-6-P, significantly lower galactose and significantly higher ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in nonstressed conditions compared to null segregants at 11 d after seed imbibition (Table 1). Interestingly, all four metabolites are involved in the Smirnoff-Wheeler pathway (Wheeler et al., 1998), one of four known metabolic pathways proposed for the synthesis of ascorbic acid in plants (Agius et al., 2003; Jain and Nessler, 2000; Lorence et al., 2004) (Figure 6). During the synthesis of ascorbic acid via the Smirnoff-Wheeler pathway, PP_i is produced during the conversion of D-mannose-1 phosphate to GDP-D-mannose via GDP-mannose pyrophosphorylase (Conklin et al., 1999; Keller et al., 1999; Wheeler et al., 1998) (Figure 6). Given the important role of AVP1 in the hydrolysis of cytosolic PP_i to P_i (Ferjani et al., 2011), it is possible the increased ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in the transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants is a result of decreased cytosolic PP_i levels favouring the conversion of D-mannose-1 phosphate to GDP-D-mannose, and thus, the synthesis of ascorbic acid (Osorio et al., 2013). In support of this concept, the ripe fruit of transgenic tomato with fruit-specific expression of *ppa*, a soluble pyrophosphatase gene from *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), had lower PP_i, lower galactose and higher ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid.

transgenic potato expressing the same *E. coli* soluble pyrophosphatase gene (*ppa*) had a higher ascorbate concentration compared to parental lines (Farré et al., 2006). Collectively, this suggests that the transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* in this study may have had decreased cytosolic PP_i levels, which increased ascorbic acid synthesis compared to null segregants. Although, is also cannot be ruled out that the increased ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in the transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants is due to the transgenic *AVP1* barley being larger (Figure 1) and healthier, and thus having less metabolic demand for these two metabolites.

Increased ascorbic acid could be contributing to the larger shoot and root growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants

In plants, ascorbic acid (or vitamin C) has a number of roles including cell protection against oxidation damage, as a co-factor of key enzymes, and in the regulation of cell division and cell expansion, flowering time and the onset of leaf senescence (Gallie, 2013; Horemans et al., 2000; Smirnoff, 1996). Accordingly, plants with more ascorbic acid have a larger shoot and root biomass (Lisko et al., 2013) and improved tolerance to various abiotic stresses including salinity, drought, cold, heat and aluminium toxicity (Eltayeb et al., 2011; Hemavathi et al., 2010; Lisko et al., 2013; Shalata and Neumann, 2001; Yin et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2011). Plants with a high level of ascorbic acid, which increases plant cell division by shortening the G1 phase and thus the cell cycle duration, also have a greater number of cells and, occasionally, smaller cell size (Liso et al., 1988; Pignocchi and Foyer, 2003). Furthermore, a high level of ascorbic acid induces fruit ripening (Agius et al., 2003; Clutter and Miller, 1961; Mellidou et al., 2012) and monozygotic twinning (Chen and Gallie, 2012).

Interestingly, the phenotype of plants with high ascorbic acid closely resemble those apparent in transgenic plants expressing *AVP1*. Transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* or the gain-of-function *AVP1D* allele had a larger shoot and root biomass and increased tolerance to various abiotic stresses including

drought, salinity and low nutrient availability compared to plants without this gene (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014). Transgenic *Arabidopsis* overexpressing *AVP1* also had a greater number of epidermal cells with no change in cell size compared to wild-type (Gonzalez et al., 2010). The *Arabidopsis fugu5* mutants without AVP1 also had fewer but larger palisade mesophyll cells compared to wild-type (Ferjani et al., 2011) and other *Arabidopsis* mutants without AVP1 had less mesophyll cells with no change in cell size compared to wild-type (Li et al., 2005). Furthermore, compared to wild-type, transgenic tomato plants expressing AVP1D had more ripe fruit (Yang et al., 2014).

In this study, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had a larger shoot and root biomass and higher leaf ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid content compared to null segregants in non-stressed conditions. On one occasion, twinning was also observed in the transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-2*) (Figure S7). These findings suggests there is a link between ascorbic acid and the larger shoot and root biomass of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Table 1, Figure 1a,b,c). The number and size of adaxial by epidermal cells in transgenic *AVP1* barley was not statistically different to null segregants, although two lines had approximately 10 % more cells (Figure 7c,d). Nonetheless, it cannot be ruled out that the number and/or size of other cell types, such as mesophyll cells, are unaltered in the transgenic *AVP1* barley, particularly given that two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had an increase in leaf width (Figure 7b) and a larger shoot and root biomass compared to null segregants (Figure 1b,c). It is thus possible that by increasing cell number the higher ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid content is contributing to the larger shoot and root biomass of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* in non-stressed conditions compared to null segregants. However, it also cannot be ruled out that a decrease in galactose, which at high levels influences carbon input into barley roots and inhibits cell expansion (Farrar et al., 1994), may also be contributing to the larger shoot and root growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley (Table 1).

Conclusions

In this study, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had a larger shoot and root biomass compared to null segregants at 11 d after seed imbibition in non-stressed conditions. The transgenic *AVP1* barley also had a faster relative plant growth rate from 0 to 5 d after seed imbibition and a larger total plant biomass compared to null segregants detectable from 6 d after seed imbibition. Metabolomics analysis revealed significant changes in leaf metabolites involved with ascorbic acid synthesis in transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants. To our knowledge this is the first time a link between vacuolar H⁺-PPases and ascorbic acid metabolism has been identified. Overall, the findings of this study suggest that both improved seedling vigour and enhanced ascorbic acid synthesis are contributing to the larger plant biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley in non-saline conditions.

Acknowledgements

We thank Metabolomics Australia, particularly A/Prof. Ute Roessner, Dr. Daniel Dias and Ms. Nirupama Jayasinghe, for sample extraction and GC-MS analysis. We also acknowledge Waite Microscopy of The University of Adelaide for microscope access and Dr. Gwenda Mayo for the leaf impression protocol used in this study. Funding from the Australian Research Council (ARC) and the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) is also acknowledged. RS is a recipient of a GRDC Grains Industry Research Scholarship.

References

- Agius, F., Gonzalez-Lamothe, R., Caballero, J.L., Munoz-Blanco, J., Botella, M.A. and Valpuesta, V. (2003) Engineering increased vitamin C levels in plants by overexpression of a D-galacturonic acid reductase. *Nat Biotech* **21**, 177-181.
- Aoki, N., Scofield, G.N., Wang, X.-D., Offler, C.E., Patrick, J.W. and Furbank, R.T. (2006) Pathway of sugar transport in germinating wheat seeds. *Plant Physiol.* **141**, 1255-1263.
- Apse, M.P., Aharon, G.S., Snedden, W.A. and Blumwald, E. (1999) Salt tolerance conferred by overexpression of a vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter in *Arabidopsis*. *Science* **285**, 1256-1258.
- Bao, A.K., Wang, S.M., Wu, G.Q., Xi, J.J., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, C.M. (2009) Overexpression of the Arabidopsis H⁺-PPase enhanced resistance to salt and drought stress in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). *Plant Sci.* **176**, 232-240.
- Barkla, B.J. and Pantoja, O. (1996) Physiology of ion transport across the tonoplast of higher plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* **47**, 159-184.
- Blumwald, E. (2000) Sodium transport and salt tolerance in plants. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 12, 431-434.
- Chen, Z. and Gallie, D.R. (2012) Induction of monozygotic twinning by ascorbic acid in tobacco. *PloS one* doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039147.
- Clutter, M. and Miller, E. (1961) Ascorbic acid content and time of ripening of tomatoes. *Econ. Bot.* **15**, 218-222.
- Colombo, R. and Cerana, R. (1993) Enhanced activity of tonoplast pyrophosphatase in NaCl-grown cells of *Daucus carota. J. Plant Physiol.* **142**, 226-229.
- Conklin, P.L., Norris, S.R., Wheeler, G.L., Williams, E.H., Smirnoff, N. and Last, R.L. (1999) Genetic evidence for the role of GDP-mannose in plant ascorbic acid (vitamin C) biosynthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **96**, 4198-4203.
- Dhingra, O.D. and Sinclair, J.B. (1995) *Basic plant pathology methods*. Boca Raton, Florida:CRC Press Inc.
- Duan, X.G., Yang, A.F., Gao, F., Zhang, S.L. and Zhang, J.R. (2007) Heterologous expression of vacuolar H⁺-PPase enhances the electrochemical gradient across the vacuolar membrane and improves tobacco cell salt tolerance. *Protoplasma* 232, 87-95.
- Edelman, J., Shibko, S.I. and Keys, A.J. (1959) The role of the scutellum of cereal seedlings in the synthesis and transport of sucrose. *J. Exp. Bot.* **10**, 178-189.
- Eltayeb, A.E., Yamamoto, S., Habora, M.E.E., Yin, L., Tsujimoto, H. and Tanaka, K. (2011) Transgenic potato overexpressing *Arabidopsis* cytosolic *AtDHAR1* showed higher tolerance to herbicide, drought and salt stresses. *Breed. Sci.* **61**, 3-10.
- Farrar, J.F., Minchin, P.E.H. and Thorpe, M.R. (1994) Carbon import into barley roots: stimulation by galactose. *J. Exp. Bot.* **45**, 17-22.
- Farré, E., Tech, S., Trethewey, R., Fernie, A. and Willmitzer, L. (2006) Subcellular pyrophosphate metabolism in developing tubers of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*). *Plant Mol. Biol.* **62**, 165-179.
- Ferjani, A., Segami, S., Horiguchi, G., Muto, Y., Maeshima, M. and Tsukaya, H. (2011) Keep an eye on PP_i: The vacuolar-type H⁺-pyrophosphatase regulates postgerminative development in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* **23**, 2895-2908.
- Fukuda, A., Chiba, K., Maeda, M., Nakamura, A., Maeshima, M. and Tanaka, Y. (2004) Effect of salt and osmotic stresses on the expression of genes for the vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase, H⁺-ATPase subunit A, and Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from barley. *J. Exp. Bot.* **55**, 585-594.
- Gallie, D.R. (2013) L-ascorbic acid: a multifunctional molecule supporting plant growth and development. *Scientifica* **2013**, 24.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J.S., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (2001) Droughtand salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the *AVP1* H⁺-pump. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 11444-11449.

- Gaxiola, R.A., Sanchez, C.A., Paez-Valencia, J., Ayre, B.G. and Elser, J.J. (2012) Genetic manipulation of a "vacuolar" H⁺-PPase: from salt tolerance to yield enhancement under phosphorus-deficient soils. *Plant Physiol.* **159**, 3-11.
- Geiger, D.R. and Servaites, J.C. (1994) Diurnal regulation of photosyntheticcarbon metabolism in C3 plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* **45**, 235-256.
- Geiger, D.R., Servaites, J.C. and Fuchs, M.A. (2000) Role of starch in carbon translocation and partitioning at the plant level. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **27**, 571-582.
- Genc, Y., Huang, C.Y. and Langridge, P. (2007) A study of the role of root morphological traits in growth of barley in zinc-deficient soil. *J. Exp. Bot.* **58**, 2775-2784.
- Gonzalez, N., De Bodt, S., Sulpice, R., Jikumaru, Y., Chae, E., Dhondt, S., Van Daele, T., De Milde, L., Weigel, D., Kamiya, Y., Stitt, M., Beemster, G.T.S. and Inze, D. (2010) Increased leaf size: different means to an end. *Plant Physiol.* **153**, 1261-1279.
- Gouiaa, S., Khoudi, H., Leidi, E., Pardo, J. and Masmoudi, K. (2012) Expression of wheat Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter *TNHXS1* and H⁺- pyrophosphatase *TVP1* genes in tobacco from a bicistronic transcriptional unit improves salt tolerance. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **79**, 137-155.
- Hemavathi, Upadhyaya, C., Akula, N., Young, K., Chun, S., Kim, D. and Park, S. (2010) Enhanced ascorbic acid accumulation in transgenic potato confers tolerance to various abiotic stresses. *Biotechnol. Lett.* **32**, 321-330.
- Horemans, N., Foyer, C.H. and Asard, H. (2000) Transport and action of ascorbate at the plant plasma membrane. *Trends Plant Sci.* **5**, 263-267.
- Jacobs, A., Lunde, C., Bacic, A., Tester, M. and Roessner, U. (2007) The impact of constitutive heterologous expression of a moss Na⁺ transporter on the metabolomes of rice and barley. *Metabolomics* **3**, 307-317.
- Jain, A. and Nessler, C. (2000) Metabolic engineering of an alternative pathway for ascorbic acid biosynthesis in plants. *Mol. Breed.* **6**, 73-78.
- James, A.L. (1940) The carbohydrate metabolism of germinating barley. New Phytol. 39, 133-144.
- Keller, R., Renz, F.S.a. and Kossmann, J. (1999) Antisense inhibition of the GDP-mannose pyrophosphorylase reduces the ascorbate content in transgenic plants leading to developmental changes during senescence. *Plant J.* **19**, 131-141.
- Kim, E.J., Zhen, R.G. and Rea, P.A. (1994) Heterologous expression of plant vacuolar pyrophosphatase in yeast demonstrates sufficiency of the substrate biding subunit for proton transport. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 91, 6128-6132.
- Li, J.S., Yang, H.B., Peer, W.A., Richter, G., Blakeslee, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Titapiwantakun, B., Undurraga, S., Khodakovskaya, M., Richards, E.L., Krizek, B., Murphy, A.S., Gilroy, S. and Gaxiola, R. (2005) *Arabidopsis* H⁺-PPase *AVP1* regulates auxin-mediated organ development. *Science* **310**, 121-125.
- Li, X., Guo, C., Gu, J., Duan, W., Zhao, M., Ma, C., Du, X., Lu, W. and Xiao, K. (2014) Overexpression of *VP*, a vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), improves tobacco plant growth under P_i and N deprivation, high salinity, and drought. *J. Exp. Bot.* **65**, 683-696.
- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 272-289.
- Lisko, K., Torres, R., Harris, R., Belisle, M., Vaughan, M., Jullian, B., Chevone, B., Mendes, P., Nessler, C. and Lorence, A. (2013) Elevating vitamin C content via overexpression of myo-inositol oxygenase and I-gulono-1,4-lactone oxidase in *Arabidopsis* leads to enhanced biomass and tolerance to abiotic stresses. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. - Plant* **49**, 643-655.
- Liso, R., Innocenti, A., Bitonti, M. and Arrigoni, O. (1988) Ascorbic acid-induced progression of quiescent centre cells from G1 to S phase. *New Phytol.* **110**, 469-471.
- Lorence, A., Chevone, B.I., Mendes, P. and Nessler, C.L. (2004) myo-inositol oxygenase offers a possible entry point into plant ascorbate biosynthesis. *Plant Physiol.* **134**, 1200-1205.

- Lv, S., Zhang, K.W., Gao, Q., Lian, L.J., Song, Y.J. and Zhang, J.R. (2008) Overexpression of an H⁺-PPase gene from *Thellungiella halophila* in cotton enhances salt tolerance and improves growth and photosynthetic performance. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **49**, 1150-1164.
- Maeshima, M. (2000) Vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1465**, 37-51.
- Martinoia, E., Maeshima, M. and Neuhaus, H.E. (2007) Vacuolar transporters and their essential role in plant metabolism. *J. Exp. Bot.* **58**, 83-102.
- Mellidou, I., Keulemans, J., Kanellis, A. and Davey, M. (2012) Regulation of fruit ascorbic acid concentrations during ripening in high and low vitamin C tomato cultivars. *BMC Plant Biol.* **12**, 239.
- Osorio, S., Nunes-Nesi, A., Stratmann, M. and Fernie, A. (2013) Pyrophosphate levels strongly influence ascorbate and starch content in tomato fruit. *Frontiers in Plant Science* doi:10.3389/fpls.2013.00308.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Patron-Soberano, A., Rodriguez-Leviz, A., Sanchez-Lares, J., Sanchez-Gomez, C., Valencia-Mayoral, P., Diaz-Rosas, G. and Gaxiola, R. (2011) Plasma membrane localization of the type I H⁺-PPase AVP1 in sieve element–companion cell complexes from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Sci.* 181, 23-30.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1557-1569.
- Park, S., Li, J.S., Pittman, J.K., Berkowitz, G.A., Yang, H.B., Undurraga, S., Morris, J., Hirschi, K.D. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2005) Up-regulation of a H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) as a strategy to engineer drought-resistant crop plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 18830-18835.
- Parks, G.E., Dietrich, M.A. and Schumaker, K.S. (2002) Increased vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ exchange activity in *Salicornia bigelovii* Torr. in response to NaCl. J. Exp. Bot. **53**, 1055-1065.
- Pasapula, V., Shen, G., Kuppu, S., Paez-Valencia, J., Mendoza, M., Hou, P., Chen, J., Qiu, X., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Auld, D., Blumwald, E., Zhang, H., Gaxiola, R. and Payton, P. (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 88-99.
- Pignocchi, C. and Foyer, C.H. (2003) Apoplastic ascorbate metabolism and its role in the regulation of cell signalling. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **6**, 379-389.
- Qin, H., Gu, Q., Kuppu, S., Sun, L., Zhu, X., Mishra, N., Hu, R., Shen, G., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Burow, M., Payton, P. and Zhang, H. (2013) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene *AVP1* in peanut to improve drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Biotech. Rep.* **7**, 345-355.
- Queiros, F., Fontes, N., Silva, P., Almeida, D., Maeshima, M., Geros, H. and Fidalgo, F. (2009) Activity of tonoplast proton pumps and Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in potato cell cultures is modulated by salt. *J. Exp. Bot.* **60**, 1363-1374.
- Richards, R.A. and Lukacs, Z. (2002) Seedling vigour in wheat sources of variation for genetic and agronomic improvement. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* **53**, 41-50.
- Roessner, U., Patterson, J.H., Forbes, M.G., Fincher, G.B., Langridge, P. and Bacic, A. (2006) An investigation of boron toxicity in barley using metabolomics. *Plant Physiology* **142**, 1087-1101.
- Schilling, R.K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J. and Plett, D.C. (2014) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field. *Plant Biotech. J.* **12**, 378-386.
- Shalata, A. and Neumann, P.M. (2001) Exogenous ascorbic acid (vitamin C) increases resistance to salt stress and reduces lipid peroxidation. *J. Exp. Bot.* **52**, 2207-2211.
- Smirnoff, N. (1996) Botanical briefing: The function and metabolism of ascorbic acid in plants. *Annals of Botany* **78**, 661-669.

- Sze, H., Ward, J.M. and Lai, S.P. (1992) Vacuolar H⁺-translocating ATPases from plants structure, function and isoforms. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **24**, 371-381.
- Vercruyssen, L., Gonzalez, N., Werner, T., Schmulling, T. and Inze, D. (2011) Combining enhanced root and shoot growth reveals cross talk between pathways that control plant organ size in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* **155**, 1339-1352.
- Wang, B.S., Ratajczak, R. and Zhang, J.H. (2000) Activity, amount and subunit composition of vacuolartype H⁺-ATPase and H⁺-PPase in wheat roots under severe NaCl stress. *J. Plant Physiol.* **157**, 109-116.
- Wang, M.-B. and Zhang, Q. (2009) Issues in using the WinRHIZO system to determine physical characteristics of plant fine roots. *Acta Ecologica Sinica* **29**, 136-138.
- Wang, Y.Z., Leigh, R.A., Kaestner, K.H. and Sze, H. (1986) Electrogenic H+-pumping pyrophosphatase in tonoplast vesicles of oat roots. *Plant Physiology* **81**, 497-502.
- Wenzel, C.L., Chandler, P.M., Cunningham, R.B. and Passioura, J.B. (1997) Characterization of the leaf epidermis of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L. 'Himalaya'). *Annals of Botany* **79**, 41-46.
- Wheeler, G.L., Jones, M.A. and Smirnoff, N. (1998) The biosynthetic pathway of vitamin C in higher plants. *Nature* **393**, 365-369.
- Yang, H., Knapp, J., Koirala, P., Rajagopal, D., Peer, W.A., Silbart, L.K., Murphy, A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2007) Enhanced phosphorus nutrition in monocots and dicots over-expressing a phosphorusresponsive type I H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Plant Biotech. J.* **5**, 735-745.
- Yang, H., Zhang, X., Gaxiola, R.A., Xu, G., Peer, W.A. and Murphy, A.S. (2014) Over-expression of the *Arabidopsis* proton-pyrophosphatase *AVP1* enhances transplant survival, root mass, and fruit development under limiting phosphorus conditions. *J. Exp. Bot.* doi:10.1093/jxb/eru149.
- Yin, L., Wang, S., Eltayeb, A., Uddin, M.I., Yamamoto, Y., Tsuji, W., Takeuchi, Y. and Tanaka, K. (2010) Overexpression of dehydroascorbate reductase, but not monodehydroascorbate reductase, confers tolerance to aluminum stress in transgenic tobacco. *Planta* 231, 609-621.
- Zhang, C., Liu, J., Zhang, Y., Cai, X., Gong, P., Zhang, J., Wang, T., Li, H. and Ye, Z. (2011) Overexpression of *SIGMEs* leads to ascorbate accumulation with enhanced oxidative stress, cold, and salt tolerance in tomato. *Plant Cell Rep.* **30**, 389-398.
- Zhang, W.-H., Zhou, Y., Dibley, K.E., Tyerman, S.D., Furbank, R.T. and Patrick, J.W. (2007) Nutrient loading of developing seeds. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **34**, 314-331.
- Zhen, R.G., Kim, E.J. and Rea, P.A. (1997) The molecular and biochemical basis of pyrophosphateenergized proton translocation at the vacuolar membrane. *Adv. Bot. Res. Inc. Adv. Plant Path.* 25, 297-337.

Table Legends

Table 1 Metabolite levels of amino acids and amines, sugars, organic acids and other compounds measured in the 1st leaf of null segregants (nulls) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-*AVP1*-1, 35S-*AVP1*-2, 35S-*AVP1*-3) at 0 mM NaCl. Values are presented as a fold-change \pm s.e.m compared to null segregants (set at 1) and those metabolite values shown in bold have a significant t-test value below *P* \leq 0.05. Blue shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a significant t-test value below *P* \leq 0.05. Blue shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a split-injection, with all other metabolites were measured using a splitless injection.

Table 2 Metabolite levels of amino acids and amines, sugars, organic acids and other compounds measured in the root tissue of null segregants (nulls) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2*, *35S-AVP1-3*) at 0 mM NaCI. Values are presented as a fold-change \pm s.e.m compared to null segregants (set at 1) and those metabolite values shown in bold have a significant t-test value below *P* ≤ 0.05. Blue shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a significant t-test value below *P* ≤ 0.05. Blue shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a significant t-test value below *P* ≤ 0.05. Blue shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a significant t-test value below *P* ≤ 0.05. Blue shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change lower than null segregants and red shaded cells indicate a fold-change higher than null segregants. Green-shaded cells indicate a metabolite measured using a split-injection, all other metabolites were measured using a splitless injection.

Tables

Table 1

	2001	lissue		
Amino Acids & Amines	Nulls	35S-AVP1-1	35S-AVP1-2	35S-AVP1-3
Aspartate	1.000 ± 0.231	0.928 + 0.102	0.913 + 0.102	0.848 ± 0.108
Ethanolomino	1000 ± 0.202	0.082 ± 0.104	0.963 ± 0.205	0.005 ± 0.212
	1.000 ± 0.002	0.002 ± 0.104	0.303 ± 0.203	0.335 ± 0.212
Homoserine	1.000 ± 0.249	0.831 ± 0.222	0.868 ± 0.092	0.775 ± 0.167
Phenylalanine	1.000 ± 0.304	0.623 ± 0.108	0.644 ± 0.053	0.619 ± 0.101
Putrescine	1.000 ± 0.212	0.884 ± 0.074	0.901 ± 0.158	0.888 ± 0.167
Glutamic acid	1.000 ± 0.227	1.157 ± 0.090	1.299 ± 0.103	1.161 ± 0.092
Glutamine	1000 + 0271	1109 + 0111	1.051 + 0.127	1.021 + 0.123
Chusing	1.000 ± 0.271	2,291 + 0,250	1.607 ± 0.121	2.270 + 0.227
Glycine	1.000 ± 0.192	2.381 ± 0.359	1.602 ± 0.204	2.370 ± 0.227
Threonine	1.000 ± 0.242	1.133 ± 0.197	1.105 ± 0.154	1.019 ± 0.182
Tyrosine	1.000 ± 0.223	1.570 ± 0.154	1.695 ± 0.164	1.498 ± 0.190
β-Alanine	1.000 ± 0.213	1.364 ± 0.147	1.467 ± 0.162	1.110 ± 0.149
Alanine	1000 ± 0.321	1.007 ± 0.185	0.991 ± 0.172	1.055 ± 0.194
Alarinie	1.000 ± 0.321		0.531 ± 0.172	1.000 ± 0.104
Asparagine	1.000 ± 0.255	2.208 ± 0.412	0.576 ± 0.180	2.066 ± 0.309
GABA	1.000 ± 0.152	0.983 ± 0.130	1.019 ± 0.101	0.951 ± 0.124
Isoleucine	1.000 ± 0.291	1.263 ± 0.274	0.728 ± 0.254	0.847 ± 0.213
Leucine	1.000 ± 0.364	1.212 ± 0.293	0.693 ± 0.315	0.749 ± 0.235
Pyroglutamate	1000 + 0.064	1.071 + 0.050	1027 + 0082	0.979 ± 0.058
Sorino	1000 ± 0.001	1112 ± 0.129	0.830 ± 0.007	1.000 ± 0.122
Senne	1.000 ± 0.138	1.113 ± 0.138	0.839 ± 0.097	1.009 ± 0.122
I yramine	1.000 ± 0.090	1.157 ± 0.053	0.937 ± 0.082	1.060 ± 0.110
Valine	1.000 ± 0.211	1.189 ± 0.178	1.040 ± 0.187	0.925 ± 0.137
Sugars	Nulls	35S-AVP1-1	35S-AVP1-2	35S-AVP1-3
Galactose	1.000 ± 0.145	0.191 ± 0.432	0.279 ± 0.281	0.431 ± 0.198
Glucose	1000 ± 0.326	0.375 ± 0.237	0.463 ± 0.174	0.605 ± 0.191
Clacose	1.000 ± 0.320	0.373 ± 0.237	0.403 ± 0.174	0.003 ± 0.131
Giucose-6-P	1.000 ± 0.192	0.770 ± 0.079	0.777 ± 0.152	0.964 ± 0.144
Glycerol-3-phosphate	1.000 ± 0.349	0.594 ± 0.110	0.573 ± 0.115	0.674 ± 0.101
Inositol-1-P	1.000 ± 0.198	0.716 ± 0.043	0.708 ± 0.057	0.794 ± 0.054
Melibiose	1.000 ± 0.127	0.919 ± 0.047	0.973 ± 0.079	0.873 ± 0.083
Cellobiose	1000 + 0169	1.700 + 0.094	1.547 + 0.170	1292 + 0.000
	1.000 + 0.100	1 465 . 0.054	1.017 1 0.170	1 212 . 0.039
inositoi	1.000 ± 0.182	1.405 ± 0.053	1.405 ± 0.096	1.212 ± 0.080
Maltose	1.000 ± 0.136	1.254 ± 0.065	1.269 ± 0.143	1.169 ± 0.093
6-Kestose	1.000 ± 0.255	1.195 ± 0.066	1.277 ± 0.150	0.984 ± 0.162
Fructose	1.000 ± 0.319	0.767 ± 0.169	1.039 + 0.116	0.711 ± 0.099
Galactinol	1000 ± 0102	1173 ± 0.075	1174 ± 0.052	0.995 ± 0.055
Daffinana	1.000 ± 0.102	1.175 ± 0.075	1.174 ± 0.002	0.333 ± 0.033
Ramnose	1.000 ± 0.169	1.268 ± 0.124	1.284 ± 0.198	0.954 ± 0.216
Sucrose	1.000 ± 0.205	0.979 ± 0.151	1.195 ± 0.109	0.947 ± 0.116
Xylitol	1.000 ± 0.057	1.028 ± 0.027	1.074 ± 0.071	0.975 ± 0.066
Xylose	1.000 ± 0.094	0.960 ± 0.074	1.233 ± 0.184	0.979 ± 0.104
Organic Acids	Nulls	35S-AVP1-1	35S-AVP1-2	35S-AVP1-3
Glycolic acid	1.000 + 0.096	0.979 ± 0.057	0.965 ± 0.059	0.986 ± 0.050
Malic acid	1.000 ± 0.000	0.834 ± 0.063	0.966 ± 0.076	0.957 ± 0.050
Malazia azid	1.000 ± 0.034	0.004 ± 0.005	0.300 ± 0.070	0.337 ± 0.030
Iviaionic acid	1.000 ± 0.131	0.738 ± 0.084	0.809 ± 0.081	0.919 ± 0.005
Quinate	1.000 ± 0.242	0.504 ± 0.169	0.610 ± 0.154	0.730 ± 0.073
Shikimate	1.000 ± 0.272	0.697 ± 0.199	0.781 ± 0.127	0.741 ± 0.067
Aconitate	1.000 ± 0.109	1.002 ± 0.044	1.052 ± 0.030	1.017 ± 0.059
Ascorbic acid	1.000 ± 0.172	1.904 ± 0.159	3.761 ± 0.278	2.930 ± 0.295
Citrate		1 272 1 0 076	1208 + 0.084	1195 ± 0.082
	1000 + 0159	$1 2 2 3 \pm 11 11 2 5$		1.100 ± 0.002
Debudreeseerbie seid dimer	1.000 ± 0.159	1.273 ± 0.070		7 400 . 0.000
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer	1.000 ± 0.159 1.000 ± 0.189	1.273 ± 0.078 14.964 ± 0.218	13.080 ± 0.259	7.422 ± 0.269
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1.273 ± 0.076 14.964 ± 0.218 1.121 ± 0.045	13.080 ± 0.259 1.228 ± 0.051	7.422 ± 0.269 2.882 ± 0.455
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1.273 ± 0.076 14.964 ± 0.218 1.121 ± 0.045 1.023 ± 0.028	1.200 1 0.001 13.080 ± 0.259 1.228 ± 0.051 1.038 ± 0.043	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1.273 ± 0.076 14.964 ± 0.218 1.121 ± 0.045 1.023 ± 0.028 1.130 ± 0.066	1.200 ± 0.004 13.080 ± 0.259 1.228 ± 0.051 1.038 ± 0.043 1.300 ± 0.135	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	7.422 ± 0.269 2.882 ± 0.455 1.004 ± 0.043 1.055 ± 0.088 1.013 ± 0.050 1.124 ± 0.079
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	13.080 \pm 0.259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.43 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074	7.422 ± 0.269 2.882 ± 0.455 1.004 ± 0.043 1.055 ± 0.088 1.013 ± 0.050 1.124 ± 0.079
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.060 \pm 0.32591.228 \pm 0.0511.038 \pm 0.0431.300 \pm 0.1351.084 \pm 0.0431.189 \pm 0.0741.233 \pm 0.072	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1.273 ± 0.078 14.964 ± 0.218 1.121 ± 0.045 1.023 ± 0.028 1.130 ± 0.029 1.057 ± 0.048 0.077 ± 0.048	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.060 \pm 0.259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.43 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.076 1.123 \pm 0.136	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.3050 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.43 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.072 1.123 \pm 0.036 1.001 \pm 0.093 0.995 \pm 0.106 0.899 \pm 0.060	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	13.060 \pm 0.259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.43 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.0600 1.157 \pm 0.087	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Caluonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-xoxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.3050 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.072 1.123 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.944 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.106 0.899 \pm 0.067 1.157 \pm 0.0666	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.3050 1.228 \pm 0.043 1.038 \pm 0.43 1.030 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.072 1.123 \pm 0.072 1.123 \pm 0.033 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.106 0.899 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.087 1.015 \pm 0.066	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 & \pm & 0.159 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.159 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.158 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.155 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.108 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.148 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.179 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.179 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.136 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.136 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.136 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.090 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.094 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.094 \\ \hline \textbf{Nulls} \\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.149 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.149 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.190 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.0349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.068 \\ 1.0$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.3050 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.072 1.123 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 0.899 \pm 0.066 3SS-AVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.877 \pm 0.245	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate	$\begin{array}{rrrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.158 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.149 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.136 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.136 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ \hline \mbox{Nulls} \\ 1.000 \pm 0.063 \\ 1.$	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.026 1.031 \pm 0.029 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.081 0.831 \pm 0.082 0.783 \pm 0.056 1.024 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.060 0.961 \pm 0.079 0.944 \pm 0.070 355-X/VP1-1 0.700 \pm 0.893 \pm 0.042 0.891 \pm 0.042	13.060 \pm 0.259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.123 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.030 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.087 1.015 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.060 1.015 \pm 0.060 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.3050 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.305 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.043 1.010 \pm 0.994 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.087 1.015 \pm 0.066 35S-AVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.588	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Caluonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.3054 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.072 1.123 \pm 0.136 0.0917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.106 0.899 \pm 0.060 35S-AVP1-2 0.087 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.071	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 & \pm & 0.159 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.189 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.158 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.108 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.108 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.109 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.156 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.156 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.094 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.094 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.094 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.034 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.063 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.063 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.064 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.35 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	13.060 \pm 0.3259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.106 1.157 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.245 0.899 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.071 0.837 \pm 0.071 0.528 \pm 0.071	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un 156 10.08	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.149 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.149 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.064 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.164 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.00$	$\begin{array}{ccccccc} 1.2.3 & \pm & 0.076 \\ 14.964 & \pm & 0.218 \\ 1.121 & \pm & 0.045 \\ 1.023 & \pm & 0.028 \\ 1.130 & \pm & 0.028 \\ 1.031 & \pm & 0.029 \\ 1.057 & \pm & 0.081 \\ 1.077 & \pm & 0.048 \\ 0.818 & \pm & 0.082 \\ 0.831 & \pm & 0.096 \\ 1.024 & \pm & 0.048 \\ 1.027 & \pm & 0.048 \\ 1.027 & \pm & 0.060 \\ 0.961 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.944 & \pm & 0.070 \\ 355 - VF1 - 1 \\ 0.700 & \pm & 0.234 \\ 0.911 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.841 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.580 & \pm & 0.075 \\ 0.931 & \pm & 0.056 \\ \end{array}$	13.080 \pm 0.307 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.300 \pm 0.143 1.300 \pm 0.143 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.043 1.123 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 0.899 \pm 0.066 3SS-AVP1-2 0.057 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.071 0.528 \pm 0.043	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un 204 33.73	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.158 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.0163 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.063 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.063 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.053 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.0$	$\begin{array}{cccccccc} 1.2.3 & \pm & 0.076 \\ 14.964 & \pm & 0.218 \\ 1.121 & \pm & 0.045 \\ 1.023 & \pm & 0.028 \\ 1.130 & \pm & 0.028 \\ 1.031 & \pm & 0.029 \\ 1.057 & \pm & 0.081 \\ 1.077 & \pm & 0.048 \\ 0.818 & \pm & 0.082 \\ 0.831 & \pm & 0.056 \\ 1.024 & \pm & 0.048 \\ 1.027 & \pm & 0.060 \\ 0.961 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.944 & \pm & 0.070 \\ 0.944 & \pm & 0.070 \\ 0.944 & \pm & 0.042 \\ 0.833 & \pm & 0.047 \\ 0.841 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.841 & \pm & 0.075 \\ 0.931 & \pm & 0.055 \\ 0.931 & \pm & 0.056 \\ 0.951 & \pm & 0.056 \\ 0.513 & \pm & 0.067 \\ \end{array}$	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.0135 1.011 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.106 0.899 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.066 35S-AVP1-2 0.057 0.874 \pm 0.043 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.071 0.528 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.127	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Glucarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_26_28.70	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.156 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ \hline 0.000 \pm 0.004 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.041 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.353 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.3215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.2424 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.2424 \\ \hline 0.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.2215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.0215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.021$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.3050 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.366 1.123 \pm 0.366 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.333 0.995 \pm 0.106 1.157 \pm 0.606 355-AVP1-2 0.060 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.58 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.064 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.164 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.424 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.083 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.008 \\ 1.00$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.307 13.080 \pm 0.3259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.072 1.123 \pm 0.136 0.0917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 0.899 \pm 0.066 35S-AVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.823 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.823 \pm 0.042 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.905 \pm 0.061	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Buccinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_264_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83	$\begin{array}{rrrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.158 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.083 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.225 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.225 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.222 \\ 1.0$	$\begin{array}{ccccccc} 1.2.3 & \pm & 0.076 \\ 14.964 & \pm & 0.218 \\ 1.121 & \pm & 0.045 \\ 1.023 & \pm & 0.028 \\ 1.130 & \pm & 0.028 \\ 1.031 & \pm & 0.026 \\ 1.031 & \pm & 0.081 \\ 1.077 & \pm & 0.048 \\ 0.818 & \pm & 0.082 \\ 0.831 & \pm & 0.098 \\ 1.027 & \pm & 0.060 \\ 0.961 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.964 & \pm & 0.070 \\ 0.964 & \pm & 0.070 \\ 0.944 & \pm & 0.070 \\ 0.944 & \pm & 0.070 \\ 0.944 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.941 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.841 & \pm & 0.079 \\ 0.580 & \pm & 0.047 \\ 0.955 & \pm & 0.063 \\ 0.955 & \pm & 0.063 \\ 0.955 & \pm & 0.063 \\ 0.873 & \pm & 0.064 \\ 0.956 & \pm & 0.078 \\ 0.873 & \pm & 0.064 \\ 0.956 & \pm & 0.064 \\ 0.957 & \pm & $	13.060 \pm 0.259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.943 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.106 1.157 \pm 0.687 1.015 \pm 0.660 1.157 \pm 0.887 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.071 0.528 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.127 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.910 \pm 0.046	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 & \pm & 0.159 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.159 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.158 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.155 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.108 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.148 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.183 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.179 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.161 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.090 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.094 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.048 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.048 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.063 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.215 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.083 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.021 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.177 \\ \end{array}$	1.213 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.031 \pm 0.029 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.831 \pm 0.056 1.024 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.024 \pm 0.070 355-X-VP1-1 0.700 \pm 0.914 \pm 0.071 358-S \pm 0.47 0.931 \pm 0.47 0.833 \pm 0.47 0.833 \pm 0.075 0.580 \pm 0.075 0.513 \pm 0.066 0.873 \pm 0.663 0.873 \pm 0.663 0.873	13.080 \pm 0.3051 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.234 \pm 0.033 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.060 35S-AVVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.583 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.046 0.905 \pm 0.046	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Alaleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.307 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.072 1.123 \pm 0.136 0.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 0.899 \pm 0.060 3SS-AVF1-2 0.087 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.071 0.528 \pm 0.071 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.905 \pm 0.046 1.319 \pm 0.137	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_14.86_191	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.158 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.136 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.156 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.156 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.194 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.343 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.104 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.104 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.104 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.202 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.202 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.202 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.203 \\ 1.00$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.080 \pm 0.307 13.080 \pm 0.259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.35 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.333 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.897 1.015 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.057 0.823 \pm 0.1040 0.846 \pm 0.035 0.823 \pm 0.123 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.046 1.319 \pm 0.137	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Glucarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_14.86_191 Un_21 35.61	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.031 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.164 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.033 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.0215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.033 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.0215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.0215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.002 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.091 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.0215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.002 \\ $	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.031 \pm 0.028 1.037 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.814 \pm 0.096 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.024 \pm 0.070 35S-XVP1-1 0.040 0.914 \pm 0.070 35S-XVP1-1 0.042 0.893 \pm 0.047 0.883 \pm 0.075 0.931 \pm 0.066 0.955 \pm 0.063 0.873 \pm 0.069 1.367 \pm 0.085 1.499 \pm 0.044	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.308 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.305 \pm 0.043 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.043 1.123 \pm 0.136 1.011 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 0.899 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.087 1.015 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.588 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.045 0.905 \pm 0.046 1.319 \pm 0.137 1.501 \pm 0.123	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_14.86_191 Un_221_35.61	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.031 \pm 0.028 1.037 \pm 0.048 0.81 \pm 0.042 0.831 \pm 0.056 1.024 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.060 0.961 \pm 0.070 355-XVP1-1 0.062 0.833 0.911 \pm 0.042 0.931 \pm 0.079 0.543 \pm 0.079 0.580 \pm 0.075 0.931 \pm 0.066 0.955 \pm 0.063 0.873 \pm 0.069 1.367 \pm 0.069 1.499 \bullet 0.083	13.060 \pm 0.3259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.897 1.0597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.043 0.837 \pm 0.041 0.846 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.127 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.910 \pm 0.441 1.009 \pm 0.1411 1.009 \pm 0.123	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Alaeate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Glucarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_211_35.61 Un_231_18.06	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.198 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.198 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.156 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.190 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.091 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.095 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.00$	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.029 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.831 \pm 0.056 1.027 \pm 0.048 0.024 \pm 0.079 0.961 \pm 0.079 0.964 \pm 0.070 355 $-VP1-1$ 0.700 0.700 \pm 0.234 0.911 \pm 0.047 0.833 \pm 0.047 0.841 \pm 0.079 0.580 \pm 0.075 0.531 \pm 0.066 0.955 \pm 0.063 0.873 \pm 0.069 0.867 \pm 0.069 0.873 \pm 0.069 0.863	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.366 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.106 1.157 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.060 355-AVP1-2 0.060 0.837 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.046 1.319 \pm 0.141 1.005 \pm 0.046 1.205 \pm 0.042 1.005 \pm </td <td>$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$</td>	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_14.86_191 Un_24_31_18.06 Un_242_18.38	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.034 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.044 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.0215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.212 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.102 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.102 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.200 \\ 1.0$	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.026 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.037 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.831 \pm 0.056 1.024 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.024 \pm 0.070 355 $-VF1$ 1 0.700 \pm 0.234 0.911 \pm 0.042 0.893 \pm 0.070 0.580 \pm 0.075 0.581 \pm 0.061 0.555 \pm 0.063 0.873 \pm 0.063 0.8673 \pm 0.063 1.367 \pm 0.063 1.367 \pm 0.044 1.039	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.3259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.223 \pm 0.060 1.011 \pm 0.934 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 0.899 \pm 0.066 35S-AVP1-2 0.057 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.823 \pm 0.071 0.528 \pm 0.040 0.823 \pm 0.127 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.905 \pm 0.061 0.910 \pm 0.041 0.910 \pm 0.042 0.823 \pm 0.137 1.501 \pm 0.137 1.501 \pm 0.132 1.005 \pm 0.082 1.005 \pm <	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_21_35.61 Un_231_18.06 Un_231_18.06	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.025 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.095 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.200 \\ 1.00$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	13.060 \pm 0.3259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.889 0.899 \pm 0.660 1.157 \pm 0.877 1.015 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.877 1.0597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.127 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.905 \pm 0.611 0.910 \pm 0.123 1.601 \pm 0.123 1.005 \pm 0.898 1.208	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Glucarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_14.86_191 Un_221_35.61 Un_231_18.06 Un_231_18.06 Un_230_21.50	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.156 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.164 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.125 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.128 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.128 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.128 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.128 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.200 \\ 1.00$	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.028 1.121 \pm 0.028 1.120 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.031 \pm 0.029 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.814 \pm 0.096 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.044 0.911 \pm 0.047 0.893 \pm 0.079 0.580 \pm 0.075 0.581 \pm 0.056 0.581 \pm 0.056 0.583	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.033 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.087 1.015 \pm 0.060 35S-AVV=1-2 0.597 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.588 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.046 1.319 \pm 0.143 1.090 \pm 0.141 1.009 \pm 0.123 1.020 \pm 0.178 1.020 \pm 0.107	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Maleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Gluconate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_14.86_191 Un_221_35.61 Un_231_18.06 Un_315_11.67 Un_380_21.50 Un_394_22.16	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.149 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.004 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.004 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.004 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.202 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.205 \\ 1.00$	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.026 1.031 \pm 0.028 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.831 \pm 0.056 1.024 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.044 0.911 \pm 0.047 0.833 \pm 0.079 0.580 \pm 0.075 0.931 \pm 0.066 0.955 \pm 0.063 0.8673 \pm 0.085 1.367 \pm 0.085 1.499	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.303 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.305 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.043 1.123 \pm 0.135 1.011 \pm 0.94 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 0.899 \pm 0.066 35S-AVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.055 0.823 \pm 0.127 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.905 \pm 0.061 0.910 \pm 0.441 1.091 \pm 0.137 1.501 \pm 0.137 1.501 \pm 0.082 \pm 0.178 1.005 \pm 0.	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_21_35.61 Un_242_18.38 Un_315_11.67 Un_380_21.50 Un_34_22.16	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.136 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.136 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.136 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.090 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.349 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.343 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.348 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.121 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.348 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.202 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.121 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.208 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.260 \\ 1.00$	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.026 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.026 1.031 \pm 0.029 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.056 1.027 \pm 0.060 0.961 \pm 0.079 0.961 \pm 0.070 355-XPF1-1 0.700 0.234 0.911 \pm 0.047 0.833 \pm 0.047 0.841 \pm 0.075 0.931 \pm 0.056 0.955 \pm 0.063 0.931 \pm 0.095 0.580 \pm 0.075 0.931 \pm 0.095 0.581 \pm 0.063 0.955 \pm 0.663 0.955 \pm 0.663 1.161 \pm 0.0441 1.039	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.3259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.33 1.84 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.136 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.87 1.015 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.87 1.015 \pm 0.060 355-AVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.823 \pm 0.127 0.554 \pm 0.041 0.910 \pm 0.123 1.005 \pm 0.689 1.208 \pm 0.178 1.071 \pm 0.115 1.020	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Alaeate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Glucarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_21_35.61 Un_231_18.06 Un_242_18.38 Un_315_11.67 Un_394_22.16 Linoleic_acid	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.156 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.004 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.205 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.205 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.205 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.206 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.236 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.026 \\ 1.00$	1.213 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.028 1.120 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.031 \pm 0.028 1.037 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.814 \pm 0.096 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.066 0.961 \pm 0.070 3580 \pm 0.071 0.580 \pm 0.072 0.581 \pm 0.072 0.581 \pm 0.073 0.580 \pm 0.073 0.581 \pm 0.053 1.367	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.308 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.305 \pm 0.074 1.333 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.035 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.087 1.015 \pm 0.060 35S-AVVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.135 0.905 \pm 0.046 1.319 \pm 0.141 1.009 \pm 0.123 1.020 \pm 0.178 1.208 \pm 0.178 1.020<	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Isocitrate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Other Compounds Un_156_10.08 Un_262_8.70 Un_28_28.70 Un_286_28.70 Un_286_28.70 Un_286_28.70 Un_221_35.61 Un_221_35.61 Un_221_35.61 Un_231_18.06 Un_242_18.38 Un_315_11.67 Un_384_22.16 Linoleic_acid	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.202 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.205 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.205 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.236 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.092 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.000 \\ 1.00$	1.213 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.026 1.031 \pm 0.028 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.831 \pm 0.056 1.024 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 0.961 \pm 0.070 355 $-VF1$ -1 0.047 0.893 \pm 0.075 0.931 \pm 0.066 0.955 \pm 0.063 0.867 \pm 0.062 0.873 \pm 0.062 1.367	13.060 \pm 0.3259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.084 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.036 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.033 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.897 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.874 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.043 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.127 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.910 \pm 0.044 0.910 \pm 0.041 0.910 \pm 0.046 1.319 \pm 0.132 1.005 \pm 0.089 1.208 \pm 0.178 1.020 \pm 0.177 1.511	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Gluconate Glycerate Calacinate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_214_18.38 Un_231_167 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_38_21.50 Un_394_22.16 Linoleic_acid	$\begin{array}{cccccccc} 1.000 & \pm & 0.159 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.158 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.158 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.155 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.108 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.108 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.156 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.137 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.090 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.091 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.021 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.021 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.215 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.221 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.202 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.202 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.203 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.205 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.205 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.205 \\ 1.000 & \pm & 0.227 \\ 1.000 & \pm & $	1.273 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.028 1.121 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.037 \pm 0.028 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.814 \pm 0.081 1.027 \pm 0.060 0.961 \pm 0.070 355-WPI-1 0.700 \pm 0.700 \pm 0.234 0.911 \pm 0.047 0.833 \pm 0.047 0.841 \pm 0.075 0.931 \pm 0.047 0.580 \pm 0.075 0.931 \pm 0.085 1.61 \pm 0.061 1.61	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.3259 1.228 \pm 0.051 1.038 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.33 1.84 \pm 0.043 1.189 \pm 0.074 1.233 \pm 0.366 1.001 \pm 0.094 0.917 \pm 0.333 0.995 \pm 0.106 1.157 \pm 0.87 1.015 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.87 1.015 \pm 0.060 355-AVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.837 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.058 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.137 1.501 \pm 0.043 0.910 \pm 0.123 1.005 \pm 0.089 1.208 \pm 0.178 1.071	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Alaeate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_308_21.83 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Un_21_35.61 Un_24_18.38 Un_24_18.38 Un_24_2.16.1 Un_394_22.16 Linoleic_acid Monomethylphosphate N-AcetyL glucosamine Octadecarienoic acid	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.155 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.004 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.164 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.127 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.226 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.227 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.226 \\ 1.00$	1.213 \pm 0.076 14.964 \bullet 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.028 1.120 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.037 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.082 0.814 \pm 0.081 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 0.911 \pm 0.070 0.580 \pm 0.071 0.580 \pm 0.072 0.581 \pm 0.073 0.583 \pm 0.063 0.573 \pm 0.063 0.573 \pm 0.053 1.499	13.080 \pm 0.303 13.080 \pm 0.043 1.308 \pm 0.043 1.300 \pm 0.135 1.304 \pm 0.043 1.305 \pm 0.074 1.303 \pm 0.074 1.303 \pm 0.074 1.23 \pm 0.135 1.011 \pm 0.940 0.917 \pm 0.333 0.995 \pm 0.060 1.157 \pm 0.867 1.015 \pm 0.060 35S-AVP1-2 0.597 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.245 0.837 \pm 0.040 0.846 \pm 0.58 0.837 \pm 0.043 0.823 \pm 0.137 0.554 \pm 0.035 0.905 \pm 0.046 1.319 \pm 0.141 1.009 \pm 0.123 1.208 \pm 0.173 1.208 <td>$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$</td>	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
Dehydroascorbic acid dimer Galactonate Gluconate Glycerate Gulonic acid Alaleate Ribonic acid 2-keto-L-gluconic acid 2-oxo-Glutarate Fumarate Glucarate Buccinate Succinate Threonate Other Compounds Campesterol Hexadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Octadecanoate Oleic_acid Phosphate Un_156_10.08 Un_204_33.73 Un_286_28.70 Un_204_33.73 Digalactosylglycerol Galactosylglycerol Glactosylglycerol Un_14.86_191 Un_221_35.61 Un_242_18.38 Un_315_11.67 Un_308_21.50 Un_394_22.16 Linoleic_acid Monomethylphosphate N-Acetyl_glucosamine Octadecanie	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 1.000 \pm 0.159 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.189 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.108 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.148 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.179 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.137 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.191 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.094 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.215 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.216 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.202 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.209 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.205 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.205 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.226 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.227 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.226 \\ 1.000 \pm 0.227 \\ 1.00$	1.213 \pm 0.076 14.964 \pm 0.218 1.121 \pm 0.045 1.023 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.130 \pm 0.028 1.031 \pm 0.028 1.057 \pm 0.081 1.077 \pm 0.048 0.818 \pm 0.029 0.831 \pm 0.026 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.027 \pm 0.048 1.024 \pm 0.070 355 $-VF1$ -1 0.700 0.934 \pm 0.071 0.833 \pm 0.047 0.841 \pm 0.062 0.931 \pm 0.052 0.863 \pm 0.075 0.873 \pm 0.063 0.873 \pm 0.063 1.367 \pm 0.063 1.499	13.060 \pm 0.30713.060 \pm 0.2591.228 \pm 0.0511.038 \pm 0.0431.300 \pm 0.1351.084 \pm 0.0741.233 \pm 0.0741.233 \pm 0.0741.233 \pm 0.0741.233 \pm 0.0361.001 \pm 0.0940.917 \pm 0.0330.995 \pm 0.1061.157 \pm 0.0601.157 \pm 0.0601.157 \pm 0.0601.157 \pm 0.06135S-AVP1-20.597 \pm 0.597 \pm 0.2450.874 \pm 0.0400.846 \pm 0.0580.837 \pm 0.0710.554 \pm 0.0350.905 \pm 0.6110.910 \pm 0.1371.501 \pm 0.1411.009 \pm 0.1781.020 \pm 0.1781.020 \pm 0.1701.113 \pm 0.1601.517 \pm 0.1301.602 \pm 0.2760.990 \pm 0.2740.889 \pm 0.3141.213 \pm 0.314	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$

Table 2

Root Tissue					
Amino Acids & Amines	Nulls	35S-AVP1-1	35S-AVP1-2	35S-AVP1-3	
Aspartate	1.000 ± 0.058	0.892 ± 0.077	0.961 ± 0.044	0.951 ± 0.051	
Glutamate	1.000 ± 0.238	0.920 ± 0.089	0.920 ± 0.135	0.993 ± 0.108	
Byroglutamato	1.000 ± 0.193	0.871 ± 0.140	0.573 ± 0.246	0.717 ± 0.160	
Alanine	1.000 ± 0.113	0.042 ± 0.030	1.201 ± 0.061	0.900 ± 0.092	
Glycine	1.000 ± 0.094	1.010 ± 0.045	1.013 ± 0.032	1.017 ± 0.023	
Serine	1.000 ± 0.117	1.133 ± 0.060	1.036 ± 0.074	1.072 ± 0.054	
Threonine	1.000 ± 0.119	1.211 ± 0.074	1.131 ± 0.062	1.092 ± 0.068	
Tyramine	1.000 ± 0.222	1.107 ± 0.150	1.200 ± 0.157	1.062 ± 0.054	
Valine	1.000 ± 0.216	1.039 ± 0.148	1.012 ± 0.095	1.151 ± 0.064	
Ethanolamine	1.000 ± 0.134	0.979 ± 0.051	0.979 ± 0.061	1.079 ± 0.040	
Isoleucine	1.000 ± 0.201	1.014 ± 0.163	0.533 ± 0.300	0.751 ± 0.226	
<u>Leucine</u> Phonylalanino	1.000 ± 0.158 1.000 ± 0.207	1.057 ± 0.093	0.908 ± 0.075	1.001 ± 0.113	
Putrescine	1.000 ± 0.297 1 000 + 0 157	0.927 ± 0.100	0.986 ± 0.197	1.035 ± 0.130	
Sugars & Sugar Phosphates	Nulls	35S-AVP1-1	35S-AVP1-2	35S-AVP1-3	
Galactinol	1.000 ± 0.172	0.874 ± 0.072	0.691 ± 0.109	0.947 ± 0.148	
Melibiose	1.000 ± 0.055	0.950 ± 0.055	0.814 ± 0.054	0.954 ± 0.043	
Ribonate	1.000 ± 0.056	0.800 ± 0.069	0.970 ± 0.107	0.858 ± 0.080	
Sucrose	1.000 ± 0.067	0.883 ± 0.050	0.828 ± 0.055	0.954 ± 0.062	
Fructose	1.000 ± 0.182	1.359 ± 0.174	1.107 ± 0.070	1.353 ± 0.145	
Fructose-6-p	1.000 ± 0.150	1.209 ± 0.084	1.115 ± 0.076	1.218 ± 0.070	
Galactonate	1.000 ± 0.207	1.033 ± 0.136	1.032 ± 0.174	1.069 ± 0.168	
Galactosylglycerol	1.000 ± 0.142	1.193 ± 0.074	1.061 ± 0.065	1.207 ± 0.067	
	1.000 ± 0.148	1.201 ± 0.047	0.931 ± 0.070	1.150 ± 0.084	
Glucose-6-P	1.000 ± 0.191 1.000 + 0.170	0.868 ± 0.167	1.027 ± 0.033	0.870 ± 0.130	
Inositol	1.000 ± 0.181	1.067 ± 0.066	0.944 ± 0.077	1.040 ± 0.040	
Inositol-1-P	1.000 ± 0.101	0.999 ± 0.070	1.018 ± 0.067	0.907 ± 0.075	
Maltose	1.000 ± 0.106	0.892 ± 0.064	0.873 ± 0.131	1.136 ± 0.085	
Raffinose	1.000 ± 0.140	1.015 ± 0.081	0.892 ± 0.071	1.220 ± 0.113	
Trehalose	1.000 ± 0.285	0.699 ± 0.090	0.874 ± 0.089	1.234 ± 0.219	
Xylose	1.000 ± 0.163	0.950 ± 0.080	1.002 ± 0.080	0.991 ± 0.086	
Organic Acids	Nulls	35S-AVP1-1	35S-AVP1-2	35S-AVP1-3	
2-keto-L-gluconic acid	1.000 ± 0.120	0.624 ± 0.087	0.822 ± 0.155	0.822 ± 0.156	
2-oxo-Glutarate	1.000 ± 0.125	0.846 ± 0.091	0.815 ± 0.084	0.866 ± 0.110	
Ouipate	1.000 ± 0.094	0.990 ± 0.073	0.934 ± 0.044	0.997 ± 0.055	
Shikimate	1.000 ± 0.004 1.000 ± 0.084	0.094 ± 0.001	0.918 ± 0.003	0.927 ± 0.057	
Fumarate	1.000 ± 0.150	1.068 ± 0.088	1.018 ± 0.068	1.090 ± 0.079	
Aconitate	1.000 ± 0.085	0.951 ± 0.083	1.092 ± 0.068	0.946 ± 0.069	
Azelaic acid	1.000 ± 0.043	1.050 ± 0.062	0.972 ± 0.044	1.061 ± 0.057	
Citrate	1.000 ± 0.101	1.068 ± 0.046	0.880 ± 0.057	0.996 ± 0.073	
Glucarate	1.000 ± 0.043	1.050 ± 0.062	0.972 ± 0.044	1.061 ± 0.057	
Gluconate	1.000 ± 0.033	0.979 ± 0.043	0.984 ± 0.052	1.009 ± 0.050	
Glycolic acid	1.000 ± 0.071	0.981 ± 0.106	1.002 ± 0.088	0.934 ± 0.085	
Guionic acid Maleate	1.000 ± 0.049	0.901 ± 0.036	1.010 ± 0.041	0.993 ± 0.040	
Pyruvic acid	1.000 ± 0.094	1.093 ± 0.072	0.929 ± 0.073	0.907 ± 0.082	
Succinate	1.000 ± 0.129	1.193 ± 0.080	0.909 ± 0.036	1.215 ± 0.000	
Threonate	1.000 ± 0.094	1.020 ± 0.116	0.969 ± 0.126	1.248 ± 0.084	
Other Compounds	Nulls	35S-AVP1-1	35S-AVP1-2	35S-AVP1-3	
Monomethylphosphate	1.000 ± 0.223	0.774 ± 0.083	0.688 ± 0.077	0.874 ± 0.123	
N-Acetyl_glucosamine	1.000 ± 0.109	0.791 ± 0.066	0.719 ± 0.067	0.757 ± 0.088	
Phosphate	1.000 ± 0.186	0.540 ± 0.094	0.617 ± 0.061	0.731 ± 0.147	
Un_14.86_191	1.000 ± 0.162	0.892 ± 0.114	0.957 ± 0.042	0.946 ± 0.055	
Un_242_18.38	1.000 ± 0.136	0.849 ± 0.103	0.974 ± 0.043	0.953 ± 0.071	
Un_380_21.50	1.000 ± 0.142	0.732 ± 0.062	0.712 ± 0.078	0.858 ± 0.72	
	1.000 ± 0.319	1 198 + 0.060	1.096 ± 0.080	1203 ± 0.062	
Octadecatrienoic acid	1.000 ± 0.002	1.215 ± 0.063	1.060 ± 0.087	1.194 ± 0.068	
Oleic_acid	1.000 ± 0.046	1.139 ± 0.070	1.198 ± 0.089	1.084 ± 0.092	
Un_204_33.73	1.000 ± 0.164	1.058 ± 0.097	1.013 ± 0.102	1.092 ± 0.107	
Campesterol	1.000 ± 0.137	0.957 ± 0.098	0.764 ± 0.125	1.256 ± 0.151	
Hexadecanoate	1.000 ± 0.078	1.045 ± 0.050	1.104 ± 0.026	0.987 ± 0.042	
Octadecanoate	1.000 ± 0.087	0.966 ± 0.047	1.050 ± 0.033	1.009 ± 0.042	
Un_221_35.61	1.000 ± 0.097	2.715 ± 0.415	0.719 ± 0.102	2.432 ± 0.427	
Un_231_18.06	1.000 ± 0.069	0.919 ± 0.113	1.079 ± 0.085	0.955 ± 0.093	
UII_241_10.15	1.000 ± 0.120	1.101 ± 0.096	0.007 ± 0.174	0.849 ± 0.066	
Un 357 19.07	1.000 ± 0.000 1.000 + 0.173	1.005 ± 0.049	1.158 + 0.132	0.942 + 0.118	
Uracil	1.000 ± 0.131	1.072 ± 0.143	1.139 ± 0.118	0.926 ± 0.137	

Figure Legends

Figure 1 (a) A representative image of two null segregants and two transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-*AVP1*-3) seedlings 11 d after imbibition at 0 mM NaCl and the (b) shoot and (c) root biomass (g DW) of null segregants (nulls) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-*AVP1*-1, 35S-*AVP1*-2 and 35S-*AVP1*-3) 11 d after seed imbibition at 0 mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 6-14) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to wild-type (LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figure 2 (a) The total plant biomass (g FW) of null segregants (\diamond) and transgenic *AVP1* barley 35S-*AVP1*-1 (\bullet), 35S-*AVP1*-2 (\blacksquare) and 35S-*AVP1*-3 (\blacktriangle) in 0 mM NaCl at 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 d after imbibition. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 6-14) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to wild-type (LSD, $P \le 0.05$). (b) the plant growth rates (g FW d⁻¹) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (35S-*AVP1*-1, 35S-*AVP1*-2 and 35S-*AVP1*-3) between 0 to 5 d after seed imbibition.

Figure 3 (a) WinRHIZO[®] derived digital images showing the non-destructive imaging of intact wild-type barley (cv. Golden Promise) seedlings through time from 3 to 9 d after imbibition at 0 mM NaCl (b) the projected shoot area (cm²) and (c) the projected root area (cm²) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) at 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 d after imbibition at 0 mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 6-14) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to wild-type (LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figure 4 (a) The total root length (cm) and (b) average root diameter of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) at 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 d after imbibition at 0 mM NaCl derived from WinRHIZO[®] software analysis. Values are presented as the mean
\pm s.e.m (*n* = 6-14) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to wild-type (LSD, *P* \leq 0.05).

Figure 5 (a) Representative images of two longitudinal cross-sections of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and 35S-AVP1-3 seeds stained with Lugol's solution with the seed coat, endosperm (dark black) and embryo (yellow) labelled. (b) The average dry weight of individual intact embryos of wild-type (white bar) and transgenic AVP1 barley (35S-AVP1-1, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) (grey bars) from seeds weighing 43 mg. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 6) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to wild-type (LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figure 6 The fold-changes of glucose-6-P, galactose, ascorbic acid and dehydroascrobic acid measured in the 1st leaf of 11-day-old transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (35S-AVP1-1, 35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) relative to null segregants (set at 1, indicated as a line) at 0 mM NaCl in the ascorbic acid pathway proposed by Wheeler et al. (1998). Enzymes involved in the pathway are labelled 1 to 11 including 1. Hexose phosphate isomerase (EC 5.3.1.9); 2, phosphomannose isomerase (EC 5.1.3.1.8); 3, phosphomannose mutase (EC 5.4.2.8); 4, GDP-D-mannose pyrophosphorylase (EC 5.1.3.18); 5, GDP-D-mannose-3',5'-epimerase (EC 5.1.3.18); 6, GDP-galactose phosphorylase (EC 2.7.7.B2); 7, Lgalactose-1-phosphate phosphatase; 8, L-galactose dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.48); 9, L-galactono-1,4lactone dehydrogenase (EC 1.3.2.3); 10, monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR) (EC 1.6.5.4); 10, dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR) (EC 1.8.5.1). Values are presented as the mean ± s.e.m (*n* = 6-14) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to null segregants (t-test, *P* ≤ 0.05).

Figure 7 The (a) length and (b) width (cm) of the 1st leaf and the adaxial epidermal (c) between veins (bv) cell length (μ M) and (d) number of bv cells of null segregants (white bar) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) (grey bars) seedlings at 11 d after imbibition at 0 mM NaCl.

Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 3-6) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference

compared to null segregants (LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figures





Figure 1



(b)

Lines	Relative growth rate (g FW d ⁻¹) 0 to 5 d
Null segregants	0.3465
35S-AVP1-1	0.3614
35S-AVP1-2	0.3594
35S-AVP1-3	0.3598

Figure 2







205

Total Root Length (0 mM NaCl)



(b)













207







Figure 7

Supplementary Figures



Figure S1 An image of 11-day-old null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-* 2 and *35S-AVP1-3*) in a non-destructive paper roll germination assay at 0 mM NaCl (non-saline) and 100 mM NaCl (saline) treatments.



Figure S2 A microscope image of an adaxial leaf imprint of wild-type barley (cv. Golden Promise). The cell files (labelled 1 to 5) are positioned from the mid-vein towards the leaf edge. Stomata row (sr), lateral cells (lc), between veins (bv) cells and over vein (ov) cells were classified according to Wenzel et al. (1997).



Figure S3 The total plant biomass (g FW) of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (35S-*AVP1*-1, 35S-*AVP1*-2 & 35S-*AVP1*-3) from 0 d (seed weight) and 2 to 11 d after imbibition in 100 mM NaCl solution. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 8-14).



Figure S4 The (a) shoot and (b) root biomass (g FW) of null segregants (nulls) and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (35S-AVP1-1, 35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) at 11 d after imbibition in 100 mM NaCl solution. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 8-14).



Figure S5 Visual assessment of the transgenic *AVP1* barley embryo size. Images of longitudinal sections of wild-type and transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (35S-AVP1-1, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) seeds (n = 6) of similar weight (~ 43 mg) stained in Lugol's solution to show the endosperm (dark black) and embryo (yellow). Seeds in the bottom row of each rectangle are the corresponding half of the seed directly above in the top row.

(a)



35S-AVP1-3





Wild-type

35S-AVP1-2

35S-AVP1-3

Figure S6 (a) Microscope images showing starch granules in the solution surrounding the root hairs of 8day-old transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-3*) after the cotyledon was excised from the seed and the roots and cotyledon stained together in Lugol's solution for 10 mins (b) Close-up microscope images of 8-day-old wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-2* & *35S-AVP1-3*) roots after 10 mins of staining in Lugol's solution showing starch granules in the solution.



Figure S7 A digital image of a transgenic *AVP1* barley plant (35S-*AVP1*-2) recorded using an Epson scanner 8 d after seed imbibition at 0 mM NaCl showing an observed 'twinning' phenotype.

Chapter 7

Fine-tuning AVP1 expression in transgenic barley

Statement of Contributions

The following chapter is formatted as a manuscript. However, it is not intended that this manuscript will be submitted for publication.

Title: Evaluating a commercially relevant transgenic barley cultivar (cv. WI4330) with salt stress-inducible (*ZmRab17*) or constitutive (*ZmUbi1*) expression of *AVP1* in saline conditions

Schilling conducted the experiments, data analysis, interpretation of results and wrote the manuscript

Marschner, Tester, Plett and Roy supervised the experiments

All authors contributed to the discussion of the results

By signing this statement of contributions, each author certifies that their stated contribution to the publication is accurate and that permission is granted for the publication to be included in the candidate's thesis:

Petra Marschner	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Mark Tester	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Darren Plett	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014
Stuart Roy	
Signature:	Date: 25/06/2014

Evaluating a commercially relevant transgenic barley cultivar (cv. WI4330) with salt stress-inducible (*ZmRab17*) or constitutive (*ZmUbi1*) expression of *AVP1* in saline conditions

Running title: the type of promoter controlling AVP1 expression is important

Rhiannon K. Schilling^{1,2}, Petra Marschner², , Mark Tester³, Darren C. Plett^{1,2} & Stuart J. Roy^{1,2,§}

¹Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics, PMB 1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia.

² School of Agriculture, Food and Wine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

³ Center for Desert Agriculture, Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering, 4700 King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal 23955-6900, Saudi Arabia

§Corresponding author:

Stuart Roy, The Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics and the University of Adelaide, PMB1, Glen Osmond, SA 5064, Australia, <u>stuart.roy@acpfg.com.au</u>

Keywords: H+-PPase, GUS activity, promoters, salinity, CaMV 35S, stress-inducibility

Abstract

Transgenic barley with constitutive CaMV 35S expression of AVP1, a gene encoding an Arabidopsis vacuolar H+-pyrophosphatase, had improved shoot growth and grain yield in saline conditions. A commercially relevant transgenic barley cultivar with well-regulated expression of AVP1 and without a promoter of viral origin is needed for this transgenic technology to be applicable for grain growers. In this study, we investigate whether the expression of AVP1 in a commercially relevant Australian barley breeding line (cv. WI4330) using a stress-inducible promoter (ZmRab17) or a constitutive promoter with a plant-based origin (ZmUbi1) is beneficial. We show that the ZmRab17 promoter is salt stress-inducible in barley root stelar cells at 200 mM NaCl, with basal transgene expression in non-saline conditions. Furthermore, we find that transgenic T₂ ZmRab17:AVP1 and ZmUbi1:AVP1 barley (cv. WI4330) had no difference in shoot or root biomass compared to null segregants in hydroponic conditions at 0 and 200 mM NaCl. However, the shoot and root biomass of two independent T₁ 35S:AVP1 barley (cv. WI4330) lines was greater than null segregants and ZmRab17:AVP1 barley (cv. WI4430) in hydroponic conditions at 200 mM NaCI. This indicates that the type of promoter driving transgene expression is an important factor influencing the phenotype of transgenic plants and that the constitutive CaMV 35S promoter is likely to be contributing, atleast in part, to the improved plant growth of transgenic AVP1 barley in saline conditions. Overall, this study has identified promising 35S:AVP1 barley (cv. WI4330) lines that could benefit Australian grain growers with saline soils in the future.

Introduction

The constitutive cauliflower mosaic virus (*CaMV*) 35S driven expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺⁻ pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in barley appears to be a promising option to increase grain yield in a saline field (Schilling et al., 2014). However, for this technology to be applicable to Australian grain producers with saline soils, a commercially relevant transgenic *AVP1* barley cultivar is needed. Ideally, this transgenic *AVP1* barley cultivar would be well-adapted to Australian growing conditions and high yielding in non-saline and saline conditions. It would also satisfy Australian government transgenic crop deregulation requirements (FSANZ, 2007) and, to increase the likelihood of consumer acceptance, should comprise minimal perceived adverse aspects of transgenic technology, such as uncontrolled transgene expression or a promoter of viral origin (Ho et al., 1999; Potenza et al., 2004). The development of a high yielding commercially relevant *AVP1* barley cultivar with well-regulated control of *AVP1* expression and without a promoter of viral origin is therefore needed.

Stress-inducible promoters help to refine transgene expression in transgenic plants (Potenza et al., 2004). A stress-inducible promoter allows temporal control of transgene expression by initiating transcription of a transgene only when a particular stress, such as drought or salinity, is present (Potenza et al., 2004). Fine-tuning transgene expression can conserve cellular energy (Potenza et al., 2004) and reduce the chance of detrimental growth phenotypes if the transgene to be expressed is important in developmental processes (Morran et al., 2011). Accordingly, the stress-inducible expression of a transgene improved transgenic plant growth in both non-stressed and stressed conditions compared to constitutive transgene expression (Kasuga et al., 1999; Kovalchuk et al., 2013; Morran et al., 2011; Su and Wu, 2004; Waterer et al., 2010). A salt stress-inducible promoter, which activates a transgene only when salinity is present, could therefore be advantageous in developing a commercially relevant high yielding transgenic salt tolerant crop (Roy et al., 2014; Tester and Bacic, 2005).

The stress-inducible maize (*Zea mays*) *ZmRab17* promoter may be useful for developing transgenic barley with salt stress-inducible *AVP1* expression. The *ZmRab17* promoter was inducible in the shoot and root tissue of maize by drought stress and applied abscisic acid (ABA) (Busk et al., 1997; Vilardell et al., 1991). Furthermore, in transgenic wheat and barley, the expression of a transcription factor (*TaDREB2* and *TaDREB3*) driven by the *ZmRab17* promoter was drought stress-inducible (Morran et al., 2011). As salinity causes an osmotic stress similar to drought stress, it is possible that the *ZmRab17* promoter may also be salt stress-inducible. Under high NaCl (> 250 mM), mRNA levels of the *ZmRab17* gene increased in leaf and root tissue of maize (Busk et al., 1997). Preliminary testing of the salt stress inducibility of the *ZmRab17* promoter after a saline solution (200 mM NaCl) was applied to T₁ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley seedlings on Petri dishes has been conducted (Schilling, 2010). However, further work is needed to test the salt stress inducibility of T₂ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley in more controlled growth conditions, such as hydroponics, where it can be ensured plants have sufficient nutrients and water at all times (Schilling, 2010). Thus, characterisation of the *ZmRab17* promoter in barley under non-saline and saline conditions is required to test if this promoter is salt stress-inducible and to identify in what tissue(s) and cell type(s) this stress-inducible promoter drives transgene expression.

To date, the constitutive *CaMV* 35S (Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2006) or maize *Ubiquitin* (*ZmUbi1*) (Kim et al., 2013) promoters have been solely used to drive the expression of *AVP1* in transgenic plants to improve salinity tolerance. However, in dryland agriculture, fluctuating levels of soil electrical conductivity often occur within a field causing variable crop growth (Richards, 1983; Richards et al., 1987). Given that AVP1 is a H⁺-pumping pyrophosphatase which utilises a high-energy phosphoanhydride bond from the hydrolysis of cytosolic pyrophosphate (PP_i) to orthophosphate (P_i) (Maeshima, 2000), the salt stress-inducible expression of *AVP1* may help to conserve cellular energy in transgenic *AVP1* barley, particularly in areas of a field where no salinity is present. A transgenic barley variety with well-regulated

salt stress-inducible expression of *AVP1* may also be better perceived by consumers compared to constitutive driven *AVP1* expression (Potenza et al., 2004). Conversely, it is probable that the stress-inducible expression of *AVP1* may not be advantageous, as the expression of this transgene can improve plant growth in non-saline conditions (Schilling et al., 2014) and may be required from an early growth stage and prior to the onset of salinity stress to enable increased seedling vigour, and thus improved plant growth under saline conditions (Chapter 6). It is therefore important to evaluate the growth of transgenic barley with salt stress-inducible expression of *AVP1* to determine whether this provides any advantage or disadvantage over constitutive *CaMV 35S* driven expression of *AVP1*. Preliminary testing of T₁ *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) in soil with a 75 mM NaCl treatment was previously completed (Schilling, 2010). However, results for shoot biomass and leaf ion contents were inconclusive, due to the low NaCl treatment and the detection of *AVP1* expression in non-stressed conditions (Schilling, 2010). Thus, further testing of the T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley at higher concentrations of salinity and in a more controlled set-up, such as hydroponic conditions, is needed

Alternatively, the maize *ZmUbi1* promoter could be a useful plant-derived constitutive promoter to control *AVP1* expression in transgenic barley. There is concern that the use of viral DNA in transgenic plants, such as the *CaMV 35S* promoter, may cause non-specific host recombination issues, such as viruses arising from the incorporation of the *CaMV 35S* promoter into dormant, endogenous viruses in transgenic plants (Ho et al., 1999). Although there is limited scientific evidence to support this perceived concern (Hull, 2000), it has been suggested that the expression of a transgene using a promoter sourced from a plant origin rather than a viral origin could help to reduce these safety concerns (Potenza et al., 2004). The *ZmUbi1* promoter is thought to drive constitutive and high transgene expression in most plant tissues (Christensen and Quail, 1996). This plant derived promoter could therefore be a useful alternative to the viral derived *CaMV 35S* promoter, particularly for transgene expression in monocotyledonous plants (Christensen and Quail, 1996). Transgenic rice with *ZmUbi1* driven expression of *AVP1* had improved

plant growth in greenhouse conditions under salinity compared to wild-type (Kim et al., 2013). Preliminary testing of T₁ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley in soil with a 75 mM NaCl treatment was previously completed (Schilling, 2010). However, due to the low NaCl treatment, biomass and leaf ion contents results were inconclusive and thus further testing of the T₂ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley at higher concentrations of salinity is needed to determine whether the constitutive *ZmUbi1* driven expression of *AVP1* alters the growth or ion contents of transgenic barley.

Additionally, for this AVP1 technology to be applicable to Australian grain growers with saline soils, the development of a high yielding commercially relevant transgenic *AVP1* barley cultivar adapted to Australian growing conditions is required. Previously, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* were generated using the barley cultivar Golden Promise (Schilling et al., 2014). Golden Promise, a gamma-ray induced mutant barley cultivar developed from the cultivar Maythorpe (Forster et al., 1994), was selected due to an established *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation protocol for this cultivar (ACPFG Transformation Group, Adelaide, Australia). However, Golden Promise is not well-adapted to Australian conditions and is not suitable for commercial use by Australian grain growers. Recent advances in cereal transformation efficiency have facilitated the transformation of a commercially relevant barley breeding line, WI4330, with the *AVP1* transgene (ACPFG Transformation Group, Adelaide, Australia). This advanced Waite Institute barley breeding line, WI4330, is a high yielding barley cultivar adapted to South Australian growing conditions and suitable for Australian grain growers (Jason Eglinton, personal communication, University of Adelaide). However, it is yet to be established if the expression of *AVP1* can improve the growth of this commercially relevant WI4330 barley cultivar in saline conditions.

The aim of this study was to characterise the stress-inducible *ZmRab17* promoter under salinity stress in barley and to evaluate the growth of a commercially relevant transgenic barley (cv. WI4330) with

constitutive (*ZmUbi1*) and stress-inducible (*ZmRab17*) expression of *AVP1* in non-saline and saline conditions.

Experimental Design

Evaluation of stress-inducible ZmRab17 promoter in barley in saline conditions

Seeds of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and two independent transformation events of T₂ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley (cv. Golden Promise) (provided by Nataliya Kovalchuk, ACPFG, Australia) were germinated for 5 d on moist filter paper in 145 mm diameter Petri dishes. Seedlings were transplanted to a small hydroponics set-up on individual sections of 8 mm mesh held inside a container filled with 2 L of nutrient solution. The nutrient solution consisted of reverse osmosis (RO) water with the following nutrients (in mM): 0.2 NH₄NO₃, 5.0 KNO₃, 2.0 Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 2.0 MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.1 KH₂PO₄, 0.5 Na₂Si₃O₇, 0.05 NaFe(III)EDTA, 0.05 H₃BO₃, 0.005 MnCl₂.4H₂O, 0.01 ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 0.005 CuSO₄.5H₂O and 0.0001 Na₂MoO₄.2H₂O. An aerator stone attached to a Precision SR 7500 aerator (Aqua One, Sydney, Australia) was used to provide continuous aeration to each hydroponic container. The nutrient solution was changed every 5 d to ensure all nutrients were adequately supplied. Following 10 d after seed imbibition, salinity treatments of 0 and 200 mM NaCl with supplementary CaCl₂ were supplied to the nutrient solution. Following 24 h of salinity treatment, a section of root and 1st leaf of each plant were sampled for ß-glucuronidase (GUS) staining and a section of root tissue was collected for genotyping each plant for the presence of the *ZmRab17* promoter and *uidA* gene using specific primers and a control gene *HvVRT* (data not shown).

Histochemical GUS analysis of salt treated ZmRab17:uidA barley tissue

Collected root and leaf samples of wild-type and T₂ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley (control and salt treated) were vacuum infiltrated for 20 min at -20 kPa in small Petri dishes (5 cm diameter × 2 cm depth) containing 15 mL of GUS solution (50 mM sodium phosphate at pH 7, 10 mM EDTA, 0.1 % Triton X-100, 2 mM

potassium ferrocyanide, 2 mM potassium ferricyanide, 0.5 mg/mL X-Gluconide (5-bromo-4-chloro-3indoxyl-beta-D-glucuronic acid, cyclohexlammonium salt) (Cat# G1281C1, Gold Biotechnology, St Louis, MO, USA) and 25 mg/mL chloramphenicol). Samples were incubated in the dark (Petri dishes wrapped in aluminium foil) in an oven (Contherm Scientific Ltd, Wellington, New Zealand) at 37 °C for 8 h. After incubation, the root and shoot tissue was rinsed in a series of 2 h ethanol dilutions of 20 %, 35 %, 50 % and 70 % to remove leaf chlorophyll colouring. The extent of GUS staining was visualised and digital images recorded using a Leica MZ FLIII stereo microscope, equipped with a Leica DC 300F camera and Leica IM50 image manager software (Leica Microsystems Ltd, Heerbrugg, Switzerland).

Evaluation of ZmRab17:AVP1 and ZmUbi1:AVP1 barley (cv. WI4330) lines in salinity

Seeds of wild-type (cv.WI4330) and four independent transformation lines of T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* selected for a low *AVP1* copy number (1-2 copies, ACPFG Transformation Group) were germinated for 4 d in Petri dishes on moist filter paper. Uniform size seedlings were transplanted to a fully-supported hydroponics set-up (Genc et al., 2007). Briefly, each hydroponic trolley contained 42 PVC tubes (4 cm diameter × 28 cm depth) containing black polyethylene pellets (~2 mm diameter) and positioned into two individual trays connected to an 80 L tank containing nutrient solution. A uniform size seedling was randomly transplanted to each tube. Hydroponic plants were supplied with nutrient solution in a volume of 80 L with cycling every 30 mins between nutrient solution and free drainage within the tanks. The nutrient solution consisted of reverse osmosis (RO) water with the following nutrients (in mM): 0.2 NH₄NO₃, 5.0 KNO₃, 2.0 Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 2.0 MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.1 KH₂PO₄, 0.5 Na₂Si₃O₇, 0.05 NaFe(III)EDTA, 0.05 H₃BO₃, 0.005 MnCl₂.4H₂O, 0.01 ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 0.005 CuSO₄.5H₂O and 0.0001 Na₂MoO₄.2H₂O. The nutrient solution was replaced every 10 d to ensure all nutrients were maintained at a sufficient level for the duration of experiments. Following 10 d after transplanting, as the 3rd leaf blade began to emerge, salinity treatments were imposed in the nutrient solution with increments of 25 mM NaCl (116.88 g NaCl with 3.8 g CaCl₂) twice a day until 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCl treatments were established.

Following 21 d of salinity treatment, the 3rd leaf blade was sampled for ion analysis and the youngest fullyemerged leaf blade was collected for genotyping and gene expression analysis. Roots were rinsed in 10 mM CaCl₂ and blotted dry prior to oven drying. SPAD meter readings were measured at the centre of the 3rd leaf blade using a hand-held SPAD 502 meter (Minolta, Osaka, Japan) and a ruler was used to measure the length of the longest root for each plant.

Determination of leaf and root Na⁺, K⁺ & Cl⁻ concentrations

The 3rd leaf blade and roots were oven dried for 3 d at 70 °C and digested in 1 % nitric acid (v/v) at 95 °C for 5 h in a 54-well HotBlock (Environmental Express, Mount Pleasant, SC, USA). The Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations of digested leaf and roots were determined using a flame photometer (Model 420, Sherwood Scientific, Cambridge, UK) following the protocol of Shavrukov et al., (2010). The concentration of Cl⁻ in digested leaf and roots was determined using a chloride analyser (Model 926, Sherwood Scientific, Cambridge, UK). Briefly, 1 mL of the same 1% nitric acid (v/v) digest solution (described above) was added to a solution containing combined acid buffer (0.006 % nitric acid (v/v), 90 % water and 10 % acetic acid) with gelatine (1:4 ratio) and titrated using a conditioned chloride analyser with a silver anode.

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of AVP1 expression

Root tissue was ground to a fine powder and total RNA was extracted (Chomczynski, 1993). Extracted RNA was treated with DNase-free (Ambion, Madison, WI, USA) to remove DNA contamination. DNase-treated RNA (1 µL) was used to synthesize cDNA with a Superscript III RT kit (Invitrogen). Semi-quantitative *AVP1* expression in each plant was determined using reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR) amplification of 1 µL of cDNA template with *AVP1*-specific forward primer: 5' – GCA GCT CTT AAG ATG GTT GAA – 3' and reverse primer 5' – AGA GGT GTG AGC ATG ACA AGG – 3'. The PCR conditions used to amplify a fragment of the *AVP1* transcript (expected band size of 164 bp) were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 53 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. The *HvGAP* gene (GenBank EF409629) was used as a

control gene and amplified using *HvGAP* specific forward primer 5' – GTG AGG CTG GTG CTG ATT ACG – 3' and reverse primer 5' – TGG TGC AGC TAG CAT TTG ACA C – 3'. The PCR conditions used to amplify a fragment of *HvGAP* (expected band size of 189 bp) were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 58 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. All PCR reactions contained 1× Platinum[®] *Taq* PCR buffer, 2 mM MgCl₂, 200 μ M of each dNTPs, 0.5 U of Platinum[®] Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) and 10 μ M of each primer. Gel electrophoresis with a 2 % agarose gel containing 5 μ L/100 mL SYBR safe[®] stain (Invitrogen) and a ChemiScope 2850 imaging system (Clinx Science Instruments, Shanghai, China) was used to check PCR products and record gel images. To account for differences in initial concentrations of cDNA, the amount of gene expression was determined by normalising the level of PCR product as gel band intensity (minus background intensity) obtained using *HvGAP* relative to that of *AVP1* using GIMP 2.6.11 GNU Image Manipulation Program (www.gimp.org).

Statistical analysis

Data was statistically analysed using a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) in Microsoft[®] Office Excel 2007 and the Least Significant Difference (LSD) was used to identify significantly different means within lines compared to null segregants at a probability level of $P \le 0.05$.

Results

The activity and localisation of the *ZmRab17* promoter at 0 and 200 mM NaCl was evaluated using histochemical *uidA* (GUS) analysis of two independent transgenic T₂ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley (cv. Golden Promise) lines (*ZmRab17:uidA*-1 and *ZmRab17:uidA*-2). No blue colour (indicative of GUS activity) was detected in leaf and root tissue of both *ZmRab17:uidA* barley lines at 0 mM NaCl (Figure 1a, b & S1). Additionally, no GUS activity was present in the leaf tissue of *ZmRab17:uidA* barley lines following 24 h at 200 mM NaCl (Figure 1c & S1 c). However, GUS activity was present in root tissue following 24 h at

200 mM NaCl (Figure 1d & S1 d). Specifically, GUS activity in salt-treated transgenic barley containing the *uidA* gene was only visualised in mature roots regions within stelar cells, with predominant staining occurring at lateral root tip junctions (Figure S1).

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of root tissue from *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) plants at 0 and 200 mM NaCl indicates that the transgenic barley is expressing *AVP1* (Figure 2a & b). Notably, the *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley requires a higher number of PCR cycles (30 to 32 cycles) for *AVP1* expression to be detected compared to the *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley, which shows *AVP1* expression from a lower number of PCR cycles (28 cycles) (Figure 2a). However, the relative *AVP1* expression in the roots of *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley at 0 mM NaCl at 32 cycles is similar to that observed in roots of *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley at 0 mM NaCl at 32 cycles is similar to that observed in roots of *ZmRab17:AVP1* than *ZmRab17:AVP1* at both 0 and 200 mM NaCl (Figure 2b).

The shoot biomass of wild-type (cv. WI4330), null segregants and four independent lines of *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* transgenic barley were reduced at 200 mM (37 to 58 %) and 300 mM NaCl (63 to 74 %) compared to 0 mM NaCl (Figure 3a & b). Additionally, the root biomass of all plants was reduced at 200 mM (16 to 42%) and 300 mM NaCl (54 to 71%) (Figure 3c). However, all transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had no difference in shoot and root biomass compared to wild-type and null segregants at 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCl with one exception, transgenic line *ZmUbi1-AVP1-4*, which had a consistently smaller shoot and root biomass compared to null segregants (*Nulls ZmUbi1*) within treatments (Figure 3b & c). Additionally, root length of all plants was reduced at 200 mM (28 to 44 %) and 300 mM NaCl (33 to 44%) compared to 0 mM NaCl (Figure 4). All plants had a higher 3rd leaf blade SPAD reading at 200 mM NaCl (4 to 17%) and similar SPAD values at 300 mM NaCl compared to 0 mM NaCl (Figure 5).

As expected, the sodium (Na⁺) concentration (μ M) in the leaf and roots of all plants increased at 200 and 300 mM NaCl stress compared to plants at 0 mM NaCl (Figure 6). Several transgenic *AVP1* barley lines had a significantly greater root Na⁺ concentration at 200 mM NaCl (*ZmRab17-AVP1-2*, *ZmRab17-AVP1-3*, *ZmUbi1:AVP1-1*, *ZmUbi1:AVP1-2* & *ZmUbi:AVP1-4*) and 300 mM NaCl (*ZmUbi1:AVP1-2*, *ZmUbi1:AVP1-3* & *ZmUbi:AVP1-4*) compared to respective null segregants (Figure 6b). Additionally, the potassium (K⁺) concentration (μ M) of all plants was lower in leaf tissue at 200 mM (12 to 30%) and 300 mM (46 to 59%) NaCl and in root tissue at 200 mM (62 to 74%) and 300 mM (69 to 83%) NaCl compared to plants at 0 mM NaCl (Figure 7). There was no difference in leaf or root K⁺ concentration between lines at 200 mM or 300 mM NaCl, except one line, *ZmRab17-AVP1-4*, which a lower leaf K⁺ concentration compared to null segregants (Figure 7a). However, at 0 mM NaCl, several *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley lines had greater K⁺ concentrations in leaf (*ZmRab17-AVP1-2* & *ZmRab17-AVP1-3*) and roots (*ZmRab17-AVP1-1*, *ZmRab17-AVP1-2* & *ZmRab17-AVP1-2* & *ZmRab17-AVP1-3*) and roots (*ZmRab17-AVP1-1*, *ZmRab17-AVP1-2* & *ZmRab17-AVP1-4*) compared to *ZmRab17-AVP1-3*).

Discussion

Previously, the maize *ZmRab17* promoter was inducible by abscisic acid (ABA) in mature maize embryos (Vilardell et al., 1990), drought and ABA stress in the shoot and roots of maize (Busk et al., 1997) and by drought in leaf tissue of transgenic wheat and barley (Morran et al., 2011). Maize seedlings at high NaCl stress (> 250 mM) also had greater *ZmRab17* mRNA levels with a larger response in leaves compared to roots (Busk et al., 1997). However, in non-stressed conditions basal expression of a transgene controlled by the *ZmRab17* promoter in transgenic wheat and barley leaf tissue was detected (Morran et al., 2011). In this study, an increase in *AVP1* expression was detected in the roots of transgenic *ZmRab17*:*AVP1* barley at 200 mM NaCl compared to 0 mM NaCl (Figure 1 & 2b) and high basal expression of *AVP1* in at 0 mM NaCl was also detected in the *ZmRab17*:*AVP1* barley roots and leaf tissue (Figure 2b & S3). Nonetheless, it is possible that there are transcription factors in maize which alter the inducibility of the *ZmRab17* promoter compared to wheat or barley.

In this study, GUS activity only in root tissue, particularly in root stelar cells within mature roots and at lateral root tip junctions, was detected in ZmRab17:uidA barley seedlings after 24 h at 200 mM NaCI (Figure 1d & S1e). This suggests ZmRab17 driven transgene expression may be specific to the root stele. This could potentially explain why Busk et al. (1997) needed to over-expose a northern blot to measure maize root ZmRab17 mRNA levels under high salinity and why in this study a high PCR cycle number was needed to detect AVP1 expression in the roots of ZmRab17:AVP1 barley (Figure 2a). It is probable that sampling the whole root diluted the overall level of ZmRab17 mRNA and that a higher level of expression and/or inducible expression may be present if root stelar cells are specifically tested. In contrast to the semi-quantitative PCR expression analysis of ZmRab17:AVP1 barley, no GUS activity was detected in leaf tissue of salt stressed ZmRab17:uidA barley (Figure 1c) and no basal expression of GUS was detected in ZmRab17:uidA barley roots at 0 mM NaCI (Figure 1b). This absence of GUS could be due to the shorter duration of salinity stress or younger plant age. It is also probable that the GUS staining was insufficient to visualise GUS present in leaf tissue, with GUS staining tending to be more effective where there is a greater number of small cells per unit area, such as in the phloem, or that the sensitivity of the semi-quantitative PCR was greater than GUS staining (Jefferson et al., 1987; Terada and Shimamoto, 1990). Nonetheless, an increase in GUS activity by the ZmRab17 promoter at 200 mM NaCl compared to 0 mM NaCl suggests this promoter is salt stress-inducible in barley roots with basal expression in non-saline conditions (Figure 1d). This promoter could therefore be useful for developing transgenic cereal crops with salt stress-inducible expression of salinity tolerance genes.

In this study, a commercially relevant barley cultivar (cv. WI4330) expressing *AVP1* via a stress-inducible (*ZmRab17*) or plant-derived constitutive (*ZmUbi1*) promoter had a similar shoot and root biomass compared to wild-type and null segregants at 0 mM, 200 and 300 mM NaCl (Figure 3). There was also no difference in root length or leaf SPAD values between the transgenic *ZmRab17*:*AVP1* and *ZmUbi1*:*AVP1* barley, wild-type and null segregants (Figures 4, 5, 6 & 7). However, several of the

transgenic *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley lines did have greater root Na⁺ concentrations at 200 mM and 300 mM NaCl compared to null segregants, suggesting AVP1 may be facilitating increased sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles. These findings support previous preliminary results testing the same transgenic *AVP1* barley lines in a pot experiment with non-saline and saline conditions (Schilling, 2010). However, the lack of a larger shoot biomass in the *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) is in contrary to the larger shoot biomass of T₄ *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. Golden Promise) compared to wild-type previously observed under salinity (Schilling et al., 2014).

Differences between promoters (*ZmRab17*, *ZmUbi1* and *35S*) may explain the absence of a larger shoot biomass phenotype in the transgenic *ZmRab17*:*AVP1* and *ZmUbi1*:*AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) compared to the *35S*:*AVP1* barley (cv. Golden Promise). A preliminary screen of T₁ *35S*:*AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) barley showed that two independent lines (*35S*-*AVP1*-1 and *35S*-*AVP1*-5) had significantly greater shoot and root biomass compared to null segregants at 200 mM NaCl (Figure S2). Although not all the *35S*:*AVP1* (cv. WI4330) lines had a significant increase in shoot and root growth (Figure S2), these findings for the T₁ plants suggest that the benefits of *AVP1* expression is not exclusive to a set of experimental conditions or to the barley variety Golden Promise. It also suggests that the *35S*:*AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) can outperform *ZmRab17*:*AVP1*-2 barley (cv. WI4330) in saline conditions (Figure S2). This suggests that the *CaMV 35S* driven expression of *AVP1* in barley may be more beneficial than the expression of *AVP1* using either the *ZmRab17* or *ZmUbi1* promoters. With the exception of one study (Kim et al., 2013), all other previous studies showing improved growth of transgenic *AVP1* plants in saline conditions have involved the constitutive expression of *AVP1* using the *CaMV 35S* promoter (Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2006).

Potentially, the *CaMV* 35S promoter has a more suitable level of *AVP1* expression or cell specificity compared to the *ZmRab17* or *ZmUbi1* promoters. The *CaMV* 35S promoter reportedly expresses a

transgene at high levels and in most cell types throughout the lifecycle of a transgenic plant (Battraw and Hall, 1990; Odell et al., 1985; Terada and Shimamoto, 1990). Histochemical GUS analysis of *CaMV 35S* driven expression in rice shows a high level of GUS activity in the embryo of imbibed seeds (Terada and Shimamoto, 1990). The presence of *CaMV 35S* expression in a germinating embryo could be important, with analysis of *35S:AVP1* barley seedlings (cv. Golden Promise) (refer to Chapter 6) suggesting AVP1 is required before the onset of salinity stress and during barley germination to increase seedling vigour. The location or high level of *CaMV 35S* driven *AVP1* expression could be contributing to the improved shoot growth of transgenic *35S:AVP1* barley in saline conditions.

In contrast, the ZmRab17 and ZmUbi1 promoters may have an insufficient level of expression or cell specificity for AVP1 expression in barley. For example, the ZmRab17 promoter is salt stress-inducible, appears to be specific to mature root stelar cells and has a lower level of AVP1 expression compared to the CaMV 35S promoter (Figure 1d & S3). In transgenic Arabidopsis, ZmRab17 promoter activity was also low after 8 to 10 d of germination (Vilardell et al., 1994). This promoter could therefore be reducing AVP1 expression in the transgenic barley during a critical time-point for regulating seedling vigour. Additionally, the maize ZmUbi1 promoter is thought to express a transgene constitutively, yet the level of ZmUbi1 driven gene expression has been shown to decline across the development of a rice plant (Cornejo et al., 1993). There is one report of increased growth of transgenic rice with ZmUbi1 driven expression of AVP1 under saline conditions (Kim et al., 2013). However, a separate study reports that transgenic rice (Oryza sativa) expressing AVP1 via the ZmUbi1 promoter have a larger shoot biomass under drought stress but no increase in growth under salinity (Lee et al., 2012). A similar lack of a larger shoot biomass phenotype in a transgenic Indonesian rice variety expressing AVP1 via the ZmUbi1 promoter in saline conditions has also been observed (A. Hairmansis ACPFG, unpublished). Potentially, AVP1 expression driven by either the ZmRab17 or ZmUbi1 promoters is either activated too late prior to the onset of stress, at an insufficient level, in the incorrect cell-type or developmental stage or a

combination of these factors, and thus, in this study does not facilitate improved shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley.

Although a precise explanation for the lack of a larger shoot biomass phenotype in barley with *ZmRab17* or *ZmUbi1* driven *AVP1* expression is unknown, it does indicate that the type of promoter controlling *AVP1* expression is important. It also highlights the need for well characterised promoters to control transgenes of interest and that stress-inducible expression of a transgene may only be beneficial for certain transgenes. Further research using well characterised promoters to activate *AVP1* expression at specific expression levels or at specific developmental stages, such as within a germinating barley embryo or seedling, could provide further insight into the role of AVP1. This study also suggests that the *CaMV 35S* promoter is likely to be contributing to the larger shoot biomass phenotype of transgenic *AVP1* barley in saline conditions. Furthermore, this study supports the concept that *35S:AVP1* can improve the shoot biomass of barley (Schilling et al., 2014).

A mechanism for the improved shoot growth of transgenic *35S:AVP1* barley in saline conditions is yet to be fully elucidated (Schilling et al., 2014). No increase in Na⁺ or K⁺ concentrations were measured in the 4th leaf tissue of *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. Golden Promise) in saline conditions compared to null segregants (Schilling et al., 2014). However, root tissue was not analysed due to plant growth in pot and field conditions involving root growth in soil (Schilling et al., 2014). In this study, the T₁ *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) also had no increase in 4th leaf or root Na⁺ or K⁺ concentrations at 0 and 200 mM NaCl Figure S4 & S5). However, the *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) lines (*35S-AVP1-1*, *35S-AVP1-3*, *35S-AVP1-4* & *35S-AVP1-6*) had significantly higher root CI⁻ concentrations than null segregants in hydroponic conditions at 200 mM NaCl (Figure S4). This suggests that AVP1 may be altering CI⁻ transport in transgenic barley under salinity stress, which is consistent with increased root CI⁻ concentrations measured in transgenic barley

facilitating anion transport (Dale Sanders, personal communication). Furthermore, in this study, the transgenic *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) lines (*35S-AVP1-1* & *35S-AVP1-5*) had a greater root biomass compared to null segregants at 200 mM NaCl (Figure S2c). This is also consistent with a larger root biomass potentially improving water uptake of transgenic *AVP1* plants under salinity (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2012; Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011).

Conclusions

This study showed that the *ZmRab17* promoter is salt stress-inducible in barley root stelar cells at 200 mM NaCl, with basal gene expression in non-saline conditions. It also showed that stress-inducible (*ZmRab17*) and constitutive (*ZmUbi1*) expression of *AVP1* does not alter the shoot or root biomass of commercially relevant WI4330 barley at 0, 200 or 300 mM NaCl. A precise explanation for why transgenic *ZmRab17*:*AVP1* and *ZmUbi1*:*AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) had no increase in plant growth under salinity stress is unknown. However, two independent T₁ *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) lines had a larger shoot and root biomass than null segregants and *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) at 200 mM NaCl. This suggests that the constitutive *CaMV 35S* promoter is likely to be contributing, at least in part, to the improved plant growth of transgenic *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) lines with improved growth in saline conditions with either stress-inducible or constitutive expression of *AVP1* using plant-derived promoters. Nonetheless, promising *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) lines with larger shoot and root biomass in saline conditions have been identified in this study, which could be a valuable resource for Australian grain growers in the future.

Acknowledgements

We thank the ACPFG transformation group for barley transformations; The Plant Accelerator[®] of The Australian Plant Phenomics Facility (APPF) for PC2 greenhouse facilities; Mrs. Jessica Bovill for technical assistance; Dr. Nataliya Kovalchuk for providing T₁ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley seeds and Dr. Julie Hayes for assistance in characterising the *ZmRab17:uidA* barley. ACPFG acknowledges the University of Connecticut (UConn) and Dr. Roberto Gaxiola. Funding support by the Australian Research Council (ARC) and Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) is also acknowledged. RS is a recipient of a GRDC Grains Industry Research Scholarship.
References

- Bao, A.K., Wang, S.M., Wu, G.Q., Xi, J.J., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, C.M. (2009) Overexpression of the Arabidopsis H⁺-PPase enhanced resistance to salt and drought stress in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). *Plant Sci.* **176**, 232-240.
- Battraw, M.J. and Hall, T.C. (1990) Histochemical analysis of *CaMV35S* promoter-β-glucuronidase geneexpression in transgenic rice plants. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **15**, 527-538.
- Busk, P.K., Jensen, A.B. and Pages, M. (1997) Regulatory elements *in vivo* in the promoter of the abscisic acid responsive gene *rab17* from maize. *Plant J.* **11**, 1285-1295.
- Chomczynski, P. (1993) A reagent for the single step simultaneous isolation of RNA, DNA and proteins from cell and tissue samples. *BioTechniques* **15**, 532-537.
- Christensen, A. and Quail, P. (1996) Ubiquitin promoter-based vectors for high-level expression of selectable and/or screenable marker genes in monocotyledonous plants. *Transgenic Res.* **5**, 213-218.
- Cornejo, M.J., Luth, D., Blankenship, K.M., Anderson, O.D. and Blechl, A.E. (1993) Activity of a maize ubiquitin promoter in transgenic rice. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **23**, 567-581.
- Forster, B.P., Pakniyat, H., Macaulay, M., Matheson, W., Phillips, M.S., Thomas, W.T.B. and Powell, W. (1994) Variation in the leaf sodium content of the *Hordeum vulgare* (barley) cultivar Maythorpe and its derived mutant cv. Golden Promise. *Heredity* **73**, 249-253.
- FSANZ (2007) Safety assessment of genetically modified foods. Food Standards Australia New Zealand.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J.S., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (2001) Droughtand salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the *AVP1* H⁺-pump. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 11444-11449.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Sanchez, C.A., Paez-Valencia, J., Ayre, B.G. and Elser, J.J. (2012) Genetic manipulation of a "vacuolar" H⁺-PPase: from salt tolerance to yield enhancement under phosphorus-deficient soils. *Plant Physiol.* **159**, 3-11.
- Genc, Y., McDonald, G.K. and Tester, M. (2007) Reassessment of tissue Na⁺ concentration as a criterion for salinity tolerance in bread wheat. *Plant Cell Environ.* **30**, 1486-1498.
- Ho, M.-W., Ryan, A. and Cummins, J. (1999) Cauliflower mosaic viral promoter A recipe for disaster? *Microb. Ecol. Health Dis.* **11**, 194-197.
- Hull, R., Covey, S.N., Dale, P. (2000) Genetically modified plants and the 35S promoter: assessing the risks and enhancing the debate. *Microb. Ecol. Health Dis.* **12**, 1-5.
- Jefferson, R.A., Kavanagh, T.A. and Bevan, M.W. (1987) *GUS* Fusions: β-glucuronidase as a sensitive and versatile gene fusion marker in higher plants. *Embo Journal* **6**, 3901-3907.
- Kasuga, M., Liu, Q., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. (1999) Improving plant drought, salt, and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. *Nat Biotech* **17**, 287-291.
- Kim, Y.S., Kim, I.S., Choe, Y.H., Bae, M.J., Shin, S.Y., Park, S.K., Kang, H.G., Kim, Y.H. and Yoon, H.S. (2013) Overexpression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase AVP1 gene in rice plants improves grain yield under paddy field conditions. J. Agri. Sci. doi:10.1017/S0021859613000671.
- Kovalchuk, N., Jia, W., Eini, O., Morran, S., Pyvovarenko, T., Fletcher, S., Bazanova, N., Harris, J., Beck-Oldach, K., Shavrukov, Y., Langridge, P. and Lopato, S. (2013) Optimization of *TaDREB3* gene expression in transgenic barley using cold-inducible promoters. *Plant Biotech. J.* **11**, 659-670.
- Lee, S.Y., Gaxiola, R., Yang, G., Robertson, D. and Qu, R. (2012) Overexpressing *CBP* and *AVP1* confers drought tolerance in rice (*Oryza sativa*). *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Animal* **48**, 42-43.
- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 272-289.
- Maeshima, M. (2000) Vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1465**, 37-51.

- Morran, S., Eini, O., Pyvovarenko, T., Parent, B., Singh, R., Ismagul, A., Eliby, S., Shirley, N., Langridge, P. and Lopato, S. (2011) Improvement of stress tolerance of wheat and barley by modulation of expression of *DREB/CBF* factors. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 230-249.
- Odell, J.T., Nagy, F. and Chua, N.H. (1985) Identification of DNA sequences required for activity of the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter. *Nature* **313**, 810-812.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1557-1569.
- Pasapula, V., Shen, G., Kuppu, S., Paez-Valencia, J., Mendoza, M., Hou, P., Chen, J., Qiu, X., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Auld, D., Blumwald, E., Zhang, H., Gaxiola, R. and Payton, P. (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 88-99.
- Potenza, C., Aleman, L. and Sengupta-Gopalan, C. (2004) Targeting transgene expression in research, agricultural, and environmental applications: Promoters used in plant transformation. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant* **40**, 1-22.
- Qin, H., Gu, Q., Kuppu, S., Sun, L., Zhu, X., Mishra, N., Hu, R., Shen, G., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Burow, M., Payton, P. and Zhang, H. (2013) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene *AVP1* in peanut to improve drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Biotech. Rep.* **7**, 345-355.
- Richards, R.A. (1983) Should selection for yield in saline regions be made on saline or non-saline soils? *Euphytica* **32**, 431-438.
- Richards, R.A., Dennett, C.W., Qualset, C.O., Epstein, E., Norlyn, J.D. and Winslow, M.D. (1987) Variation in yield of grain and biomass in wheat, barley, and triticale in a salt-affected field. *Field Crops Res.* **15**, 277-287.
- Roy, S.J., Negrão, S. and Tester, M. (2014) Salt resistant crop plants. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **26**, 115-124.
- Schilling, R.K. (2010) *Evaluating the salt tolerance of barley expressing the Arabidopsis vacuolar H*⁺-*PPase (AtAVP1)*. Honours thesis, School of Agriculture, Food and Wine:University of Adelaide.
- Schilling, R.K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J. and Plett, D.C. (2014) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H*-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field. *Plant Biotech. J.* **12**, 378-386.
- Shavrukov, Y., Gupta, N.K., Miyazaki, J., Baho, M.N., Chalmers, K.J., Tester, M., Langridge, P. and Collins, N.C. (2010) *HvNax3* a locus controlling shoot sodium exclusion derived from wild barley (*Hordeum vulgare ssp. spontaneum*). *Funct. Integr. Genomics* **10**, 277-291.
- Su, J. and Wu, R. (2004) Stress-inducible synthesis of proline in transgenic rice confers faster growth under stress conditions than that with constitutive synthesis. *Plant Sci.* **166**, 941-948.
- Terada, R. and Shimamoto, K. (1990) Expression of *CaMV35S-GUS* gene in transgenic rice plants. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* **220**, 389-392.
- Tester, M. and Bacic, A. (2005) Abiotic stress tolerance in grasses. From model plants to crop plants. *Plant Physiol.* **137**, 791-793.
- Vilardell, J., Goday, A., Freire, M., Torrent, M., Martínez, M.C., Torne, J. and Pagès, M. (1990) Gene sequence, developmental expression, and protein phosphorylation of *RAB-17* in maize. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **14**, 423-432.
- Vilardell, J., Martínez-Zapater, J., Goday, A., Arenas, C. and Pagès, M. (1994) Regulation of the *rab17* gene promoter in transgenic *Arabidopsis* wild-type, ABA-deficient and ABA-insensitive mutants. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **24**, 561-569.
- Vilardell, J., Mundy, J., Stilling, B., Leroux, B., Pla, M., Freyssinet, G. and Pages, M. (1991) Regulation of the maize *rab17* gene promoter in transgenic heterologous systems. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **17**, 985-993.

- Waterer, D., Benning, N.T., Wu, G.H., Luo, X.M., Liu, X.J., Gusta, M., McHughen, A. and Gusta, L.V. (2010) Evaluation of abiotic stress tolerance of genetically modified potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* cv. Desiree). *Mol. Breed.* **25**, 527-540.
- Zhao, F.Y., Zhang, X.J., Li, P.H., Zhao, Y.X. and Zhang, H. (2006) Co-expression of the Suaeda salsa SsNHX1 and Arabidopsis AVP1 confer greater salt tolerance to transgenic rice than the single SsNHX1. Mol. Breed. 17, 341-353.

Figure Legends

Figure 1 Representative images of T₂ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley (cv. Golden Promise) showing histochemical GUS staining of leaf and root tissue after 24 h at (a & b) 0 mM or (c & d) 200 mM NaCl. Blue colouring indicates the presence of GUS activity. Digital images were recorded using a Leica MZ FLIII stereo microscope equipped with a Leica DC 300F camera and Leica IM50 image manager software.

Figure 2 (a) Individual gel images of showing reverse-transcription PCR (RT-PCR) band intensity for three replicates of T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) root tissues at 0 and 200 mM NaCl for 28, 30 and 32 PCR cycles using *AVP1* and *HvGAP* specific primers (internal control) (b) Relative *AVP1* expression levels at 32 PCR cycles (compared to *HvGAP* at 28 PCR cycles) in root tissue of three independent *ZmRab17:AVP1* (1, 2 & 3) and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* (1, 2 & 3) barley (cv WI4330) plants at 0 mM (light grey) and 200 mM (dark grey) NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 4).

Figure 3 (a) An image of the fully-supported 80 L hydroponics set-up showing the growth of wild-type (cv. WI4330) and T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley at 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCl from left to right. (b) Shoot and (c) root biomass (g DW plant⁻¹) of wild-type, null segregants from *ZmRab17:AVP1* transformations, four independently transformed T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* lines (1, 2, 3 & 4), null segregants from *ZmUbi1:AVP1* transformations and four independently transformed T₂ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley lines (1, 2, 3 & 4) at 0 (light grey), 200 (grey) and 300 (dark grey) mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m with 0 mM (n = 5-7), 200 mM (n = 3-7) and 300 mM (n = 5-7) and an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to respective Nulls (*ZmRab17*) or Nulls (*ZmUbi1*) within treatments (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \leq 0.05$).

Figure 4 Average root length (cm plant⁻¹) of wild-type, null segregants from *ZmRab17:AVP1* transformations, four independently transformed T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* lines (1, 2, 3 & 4), null segregants

from *ZmUbi1:AVP1* transformations and four independently transformed T₂ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley lines (1, 2, 3 & 4) at 0 (light grey), 200 (grey) and 300 (dark grey) mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m with 0 mM (*n* = 5-7), 200 mM (*n* = 3-7) and 300 mM (*n* = 5-7).

Figure 5 Average SPAD reading (unit) at middle of 3^{rd} leaf blade for wild-type (cv. WI4330), null segregants from *ZmRab17:AVP1* transformation, four independently transformed T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* lines (1, 2, 3 & 4), null segregants from *ZmUbi1:AVP1* transformations and four independently transformed T₂ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley lines (1, 2, 3 & 4) at 0 (light grey), 200 (grey) and 300 (dark grey) mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean ± s.e.m with 0 mM (n = 5-7), 200 mM (n = 3-7) and 300 mM (n = 5-7).

Figure 6 (a) Leaf and (b) root Na⁺ concentrations (mM) of wild-type, null segregants from *ZmRab17:AVP1* transformations, T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* (1, 2, 3 & 4), null segregants from *ZmUbi1:AVP1* transformations and T₂ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* (1, 2, 3 & 4) barley (cv. WI4330) at 0 (light grey), 200 (grey) and 300 (dark grey) mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m with 0 mM (n = 5-7), 200 mM (n = 3-7) and 300 mM (n = 5-7) NaCl and an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to respective Nulls (*ZmRab17*) or Nulls (*ZmUbi1*) within treatments (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \leq 0.05$).

Figure 7 (a) Leaf and (b) root K⁺ concentrations (mM) of wild-type (cv. WI4330), null segregants from *ZmRab17:AVP1* transformation, four independently transformed T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1* lines (1, 2, 3 & 4), null segregants from *ZmUbi1:AVP1* transformation and four independently transformed T₂ *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley lines (1, 2, 3 & 4) at 0 (light grey), 200 (grey) and 300 (dark grey) mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m with 0 mM (n = 5-7), 200 mM (n = 3-7) and 300 mM (n = 5-7) NaCl with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference compared to respective Nulls (*ZmRab17*) or Nulls (*ZmUbi1*) within treatments (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \le 0.05$).

Figures



Figure 1



Figure 2



(b)

(a)

□0 mM NaCl □200 mM NaCl ■300 mM NaCl











□0 mM NaCl □200 mM NaCl □300 mM NaCl



Figure 5







Figure 7

Supplementary Figures



Figure S1 Representative images of second independent T₂ *ZmRab17:uidA* barley (cv. Golden Promise) event showing histochemical GUS staining (blue colouring) after 24 h at (a & b) 0 mM or (c & d) 200 mM NaCl in leaf and root tissue respectively (e) GUS activity at the lateral root tip junction at 200 mM NaCl. Digital images were recorded using a Leica MZ FLIII stereo microscope equipped with a Leica DC 300F camera and Leica IM50 image manager software.

(a)





Figure S2 (a) An image of null segregants, T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1-2* and six independent transformation events of T₁ 35*S:AVP1* (1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6) barley (cv. WI4330) in hydroponics after 21 d at 200 and 0 mM NaCl treatments (left to right) (b) Shoot and (c) root biomass (g DW plant⁻¹) of null segregants (white), T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1-2* (dark grey) and T₁ 35*S:AVP1* lines (1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6) (light grey) at 200 mM NaCl treatment. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 4-9) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to null segregants (one-way ANOVA, LSD, $P \le 0.05$).



Figure S3 Relative *AVP1* expression (compared to *HvGAP*) in leaf tissue of null segregants (Nulls), T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1-2* and T₁ 35S:*AVP1* lines (1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6) barley (cv. WI4330) in non-saline conditions (0 mM NaCl) using semi-quantitative RT-PCR with *AVP1* and *HvGAP* specific primers (internal control). Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3). This confirms expression of *AVP1* in T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1-2* and all six transgenic T₁ 35S:*AVP1* barley lines and the absence of *AVP1* expression in null segregants.



Chapter 7: Fine-tuning AVP1 expression in transgenic barley

Figure S4 (a & b) Na⁺, (c & d) K⁺ and (e & f) Cl⁻ concentrations (µmol g DW⁻¹) in 3rd leaf and roots respectively of null segregants (white), T₂ ZmRab17:AVP1-2 (dark grey) and T₁ 35S:AVP1 barley lines (1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6) (grey) (cv. WI4330) after 21 d at 200 mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m. (*n* = 4-9) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to nulls (one-way ANOVA, LSD, *P* \leq 0.05).



Figure S5 (a) Na⁺, (b) K⁺ and (c) Cl⁻ concentrations (µmol g DW⁻¹) in the 3rd leaf blade of null segregants (white), T₂ *ZmRab17:AVP1-2* (dark grey) and T₁ 35*S:AVP1* barley lines (1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6) (light grey) at 0 mM NaCl. Values are presented as the mean \pm s.e.m (*n* = 4-9) with an asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference to null segregants (one-way ANOVA, LSD, *P* ≤ 0.05).

Additional Information

To increase the quantity of seed for future large scale field trials, the *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* (cv. WI4330) barley was hand sown and harvested at a non-saline field site near O'Halloran Hill, South Australia (Glenthorne farm, The University of Adelaide) in 2011 (Figure A1). However, due to the lack of improved salinity tolerance in these lines compared to null segregants in the greenhouse they were not tested at the saline field site in Kunjin, Western Australia.



Figure A1 Images of plots with mixed rows of wild-type and T₃ *ZmRab17:AVP1 and ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) hand sown at a non-saline GM field site near O'Halloran Hill, Adelaide, South Australia (Glenthorne Farm, The University of Adelaide) in June 2011. Images taken in (a) July, (b) August and (c) September 2011.

Chapter 8

General discussion

Review of thesis aims

Previous work established that transgenic barley (cv. Golden Promise) with the constitutive *CaMV* 35S expression of *AVP1*, a gene encoding the type I *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase), had significantly larger projected shoot area in non-saline and saline soil compared to null segregants in a greenhouse-based experiment (Schilling, 2010). However, the growth and grain yield of the transgenic *AVP1* barley was yet to be evaluated in a saline field. It was also yet to be explored whether the larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley in both non-saline and saline conditions arose from changes in tissue solute accumulation, plant water use, plant nutrition, carbohydrate metabolism, heterotrophic growth or a combination of these traits. In addition, for this *AVP1* technology to be applicable for barley grain growers, a commercially relevant transgenic *AVP1* barley cultivar with well-regulated control of *AVP1* expression was needed.

The aims of this PhD project were:

- To evaluate the shoot biomass and grain yield of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in a field with low and high salinity (Chapter 2)
- 2. To investigate the abiotic stress tolerance and potential factors contributing to the larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley by evaluating:
 - a. the growth, rhizosphere acidification and P uptake of transgenic AVP1 barley at low and sufficient P supply (Chapter 3)
 - b. the growth and nitrate (NO₃-) uptake capacity of transgenic AVP1 barley at low and sufficient
 NO₃- supply (Chapter 4)
 - c. the growth, tissue ion contents and water use of transgenic *AVP1* barley under salinity, low water availability and a combination of the two stresses (Chapter 5)
 - d. the seedling vigour and carbohydrate metabolism of transgenic AVP1 barley (Chapter 6)

To characterise the salt stress inducibility of the *ZmRab17* promoter and to evaluate the growth of commercially relevant barley (cv. WI4330) with *AVP1* expression via the stress-inducible promoter (*ZmRab17*) or the plant-derived constitutive promoter (*ZmUbi1*) in non-saline and saline conditions (Chapter 7)

Summary of the main findings

In Chapter 2, the shoot biomass and grain yield traits of transgenic AVP1 barley was evaluated in a field with low and high salinity near Kunjin, Western Australia. The transgenic AVP1 barley had a larger shoot biomass with no change in leaf Na⁺ accumulation compared to wild-type in both the low and high salinity field (Schilling et al., 2014). In addition, the transgenic AVP1 barley had increased grain yield per plant in the high salinity field. An increase in the number of grains per plant appeared likely to be contributing to this increased grain yield. To our knowledge this is the first time that such effects of AVP1 expression in transgenic plants have been measured in a field with salinity. These findings suggests that transgenic AVP1 barley is a promising option to help increase the grain yield of cereal crops in a saline field.

In both Chapter 3 and 4, the growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley was evaluated at low and sufficient P or NO₃⁻ supply to determine whether the transgenic *AVP1* barley had altered nutrient use. At low P supply, the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass, greater root P uptake and increased rhizosphere acidification compared to wild-type. No significant difference in shoot or root biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants was observed at sufficient P supply. In the low NO₃⁻ treatment, transgenic *AVP1* barley (*35S-AVP1-2* and *35S-AVP1-3*) had a larger shoot biomass but no significant difference in root biomass or NO₃⁻ uptake compared to null segregants. In the sufficient NO₃⁻ treatment, one transgenic *AVP1* barley line (*35S-AVP1-2*) had a larger shoot and root biomass, higher shoot and root N contents and greater low-affinity NO₃⁻ uptake capacity compared to null segregants. These findings suggest that transgenic *AVP1* barley has improved shoot growth at low P and low NO₃⁻ supply and that

enhanced nutrient uptake, potentially through increased rhizosphere acidification, could be contributing to the improved growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants.

In Chapter 5, the effect of salinity (osmotic only), low water availability (matric only) and a combination of the two stresses (osmotic and matric) on growth and ion uptake of transgenic *AVP1* barley was assessed. Confirming previous findings, with salinity only the transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot biomass with no difference in leaf Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ concentrations compared to null segregants. Two sibling transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a* & *35S-AVP1-1b*) also had a larger shoot biomass under low water availability compared to null segregants. Cumulative plant water use was similar in the transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants. Furthermore, two transgenic *AVP1* barley lines (*35S-AVP1-1a* and *35S-AVP1-2*) had a larger shoot and root biomass compared to null segregants in the treatment with combined salinity and low water availability. These findings suggest that transgenic *AVP1* barley is a promising option to improve crop growth under concurrent stresses.

In Chapter 6, a paper roll method was optimised to evaluate the seedling vigour of transgenic *AVP1* barley at 0 and 100 mM NaCl in a non-destructive manner. Eleven days after seed imbibition at 0 mM NaCl, transgenic *AVP1* barley had a larger shoot and root biomass and total plant biomass compared to null segregants. This larger plant biomass was detectable from 6 days after seed imbibition with the transgenic *AVP1* barley having a faster growth rate between 0 to 5 days after seed imbibition compared to null segregants. However, at 150 mM NaCl, the total plant biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley at 11 d after seed imbibition was similar to null segregants. At 0 mM NaCl, transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants did not differ in metabolites involved with sucrose metabolism. However, compared to wild-type, the leaf metabolomic analysis indicates that transgenic *AVP1* barley had significantly lower galactose and significantly higher ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid concentrations. Overall, these findings suggests that transgenic *AVP1* barley had improved seedling vigour and enhanced ascorbic acid

synthesis compared to null segregants. It is also suggests that both these traits could be contributing to the larger plant biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants. However, further work is needed to investigate this hypothesis.

In Chapter 7, the salt stress inducibility of the *ZmRab17* promoter was characterised and the growth of a commercially relevant cultivar (cv. WI4430) expressing *AVP1* using via the *ZmRab17* or constitutive *ZmUbi1* promoter was evaluated in hydroponics conditions with 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCI. The findings suggest that the *ZmRab17* promoter is salt-stress inducible in barley root stelar cells but that there is also basal transgene expression at 0 mM NaCI. Both shoot and root biomass of *ZmRab17*:*AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) did not differ from wild-type and null segregants at 0, 200 and 300 mM NaCI. However, results of T₁ *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) showed that two transgenic barley lines had a larger shoot and root biomass and higher root chloride (Cl⁻) concentrations compared to null segregants at 200 mM NaCI. This suggests that the larger shoot biomass phenotype of transgenic *AVP1* barley is not limited to the Golden Promise cultivar and that the *CaMV 35S* promoter could be important for increasing the shoot biomass of transgenic plants.

Implications of thesis findings

This project showed that transgenic barley with the constitutive *CaMV* 35S expression of *AVP1* had a larger shoot biomass than plants without this gene under various abiotic stresses, including salinity, drought, low P supply, low NO₃⁻ supply and combined salinity and low water availability. Furthermore, it showed that transgenic *AVP1* barley had increased grain yield per plant compared to wild-type in a field with high salinity. It has previously been suggested that altering the expression of one specific gene would be unlikely to increase crop abiotic stress tolerance, due to the multiple tolerance mechanisms involved (Roy et al., 2011; Shabala, 2013). However, in this case, *AVP1* appears to be one such gene that can improve the growth of transgenic plants under various individual abiotic stresses and even concurrent

abiotic stresses. The use of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* thus appears to be a promising option to increase growth and grain yield of cereal crops exposed to abiotic stress.

A common phenotype of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* or the gain of function allele *AVP1D* is a larger shoot biomass, and occasionally a larger root biomass, compared to plants without this gene under abiotic stress (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2011; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014). Transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* or *AVP1D* also have a larger shoot biomass in non-stress conditions (Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Schilling et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). The larger shoot and root biomass of transgenic *AVP1* plants under salinity stress was attributed to increased vacuolar Na⁺ sequestration (Gaxiola et al., 2011; Li et al., 2010; Pasapula et al., 2011) and at low water availability was attributed to a larger root biomass enabling increased water uptake (Bao et al., 2009; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011). Whilst the larger shoot biomass of transgenic *AVP1* plants at low P and NO₃⁻ supply was ascribed to a larger root biomass and greater rhizosphere acidification increasing nutrient uptake (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014).

However, the findings of this project (Chapters 2 to 6) with those from previous studies (Bao et al., 2009; Ferjani et al., 2011; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Gaxiola et al., 2012; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Park et al., 2005; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2014; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2014) suggest that a combination of traits is contributing to the larger biomass of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* compared to null segregants under abiotic stress. It is likely that both enhanced vacuolar acidification (Gaxiola et al., 2001) and reduced cytoplasmic PP_i levels (Ferjani et al., 2011) are responsible for various traits, such as increased nutrient and water uptake, increased ascorbic acid synthesis, enhanced carbohydrate

metabolism and increased seedling vigour, and thus the larger growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley (summarised in Figure 1). Some traits, such as increased auxin fluxes, increased sucrose phloem loading, enhanced gluconeogenesis and increased ascorbic acid synthesis (Chapter 6), increase the shoot and/or root growth of transgenic *AVP1* plants compared to plants without this gene (Chapter 2, 3, 4 and 5) (Figure 1). Thus, compared to plants without this gene transgenic *AVP1* plants appear to tolerate abiotic stress conditions because they are larger in size. Whilst other traits, such as increased vacuolar ion sequestration, increased nutrient uptake (Chapter 3 and 4), increased water uptake (Chapter 5), increased photosynthesis and enhanced seedling vigour (Chapter 6), would be advantageous to transgenic *AVP1* plants under abiotic stress enabling increased shoot (Chapter 2, 3, 4 and 5) and root biomass and increased grain or fruit yield (Chapter 2) compared to plants without this gene (Figure 1). Overall, it is difficult to distinguish between cause and effect of these traits; some or all of these traits are likely to be contributing to the increased growth of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* at different stages throughout their lifecycle (Figure 1).



Figure 1 A flowchart outlining various traits observed (black number) or hypothesised (grey number) to be contributing to the larger growth of transgenic plants expressing the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-PPase gene (*AVP1*) under abiotic stress based on previous studies 1. Bao et al., 2009; 2. Ferjani et al., 2011; 3. Gaxiola et al., 2001; 4. Gaxiola et al., 2012; 5; Gonzalez et al., 2010; 6. Li et al., 2005; 7. Li et al., 2010; 8. Paez-Valenica et al., 2013; 9. Park et al., 2005; 10. Pasapula et al., 2011; 11. Qin et al., 2013; 12. Schilling et al., 2014; 13. Vercruyssen et al., (2011); 14. Yang et al., 2007; 15. Yang et al., 2014 and (•) the results in this project (Chapters 2 to 6). AVP1 has two main mechanisms (1) vacuolar acidification (light-grey box) and (2) regulation of cytoplasmic inorganic pyrophosphate (PP_i) concentrations within specific cell types (non-phloem vs phloem) (grey box). Both mechanisms underpin various traits (dark-grey box) that contribute to the greater shoot and root biomass of transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* throughout the plant lifecycle. Abbreviations: Ca²⁺: calcium, Ca-P: calcium phosphates, H⁺: proton, K⁺: potassium, Na⁺: sodium, PIN1: Pinformed 1 auxin efflux facilitator, PP_i: inorganic pyrophosphate. Solid lines with arrows indicate a putative link between traits and the respective direction of flow.

Previously, transgenic AVP1 barley also had a greater shoot biomass than null segregants in non-saline conditions (Schilling, 2010) and other studies have reported a larger shoot biomass of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 in non-saline conditions compared to plants without this gene (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Li et al., 2005; Li et al., 2010; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). However, in this project, this was not always the case in non-stressed conditions. Compared to null segregants, transgenic AVP1 barley had a greater shoot biomass in non-stressed conditions in the nitrate (Chapter 4) and seedling vigour (Chapter 6) experiments. However, the shoot biomass of transgenic AVP1 barley did not differ to null segregants or wild-type in non-stressed conditions in the phosphorus (Chapter 3) or soil water potential (Chapter 5) experiments. Given that transgenic AVP1 barley has improved seedling vigour (Chapter 6), unintentional variations in nutrient or water availability in nonstressed conditions between experiments in these chapters may explain this inconsistency. Seedling vigour may or may not increase growth of transgenic AVP1 barley in non-stressed conditions depending on whether the non-stressed conditions are indeed non-limiting in all aspects. If nutrients or water are limiting, transgenic AVP1 barley could be larger due to enhanced seedling vigour allowing better uptake of nutrients or water. Whilst, if the conditions were non-limiting, the seedling vigour should to an extent still increase the growth of transgenic AVP1 barley compared to null segregants in non-stressed conditions (as seen at the seedling stage, Chapter 6). However, it is possible that this growth advantage in transgenic AVP1 barley may plateau, if there are no limitations enabling the enhanced seedling vigour to be an advantage to the transgenic AVP1 barley, which would allow the null segregants to reach a similar size by the biomass sampling time-point (generally 3 weeks after treatment). Overall, this project highlights the importance of ensuring all experimental conditions, such as nutrient and water availability. are well controlled in non-stressed conditions especially when phenotyping transgenic plants which can tolerate multiple abiotic stresses.

In this project, the shoot and root biomass of *ZmRab17:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) did not differ from wildtype or null segregants in saline conditions. Whilst *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) had a greater shoot and root biomass compared to null segregants at 200 mM NaCl (Chapter 7). In addition, plant biomass of *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. Golden Promise) did not differ from null segregants at 100 mM NaCl applied from seed imbibition (Chapter 6). Given the proposed role of AVP1 in facilitating seedling vigour (Chapter 6) (Ferjani et al., 2011), these finding collectively suggest that an initial non-stress period just after seed imbibition may be needed for transgenic *AVP1* barley growth to be enhanced via increased seedling vigour, increased photosynthesis, increased nutrient and water uptake and enhanced sucrose transport to sink tissues. If AVP1 is activated too late, such as when activated by the salt-stress inducible promoter *ZmRab17* (Chapter 7) or if salt stress occurs from the start of seed imbibition (Chapter 6), it is likely that the larger growth of transgenic *AVP1* barley may not occur due to insufficient time for these beneficial traits to be established. Thus, it may be necessary for transgenic *AVP1* plants to be larger prior to the onset of the stress (i.e. to have the traits within the light-grey and grey shaded boxes of Figure 1 prior to the onset of a stress) for these transgenic plants to have increased shoot growth under abiotic stress.

In addition, the lack of a larger shoot biomass phenotype in the *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley compared to the *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) (Chapter 7), the GUS activity in *ZmRab17:uidA* barley root stelar cells only and the low level of *AVP1* expression in the *ZmRab17:AVP1* and *ZmUbi1:AVP1* barley suggest that not only the timing but also potentially the level and cell specificity of *AVP1* expression may influence the phenotype of transgenic *AVP1* plants. Considering this finding and that the transgene is only half the story with the promoter also contributing to the phenotype of transgenic plants (Roy et al., 2014), it is evident that the choice of promoter used to control the expression of a transgene, such as *AVP1*, is important. This project suggests that when phenotyping transgenic plants, a transgene should be tested under the control of several different promoters with various tissue specificity, stress inducibility

and expression levels to determine the extent of effects and the optimal promoter to use for controlling transgene expression.

Future research

GM field trials of transgenic AVP1 barley in Australia

This project established some of the first saline GM field trials of transgenic barley in Australia (OGTR, 2014) (Chapter 2). However, there were several factors that limited the results of these field trials, particularly for the field trials in 2012 and 2013. Salinity was extremely variable across the field site with EC_{1.5} (soil:water) values within plots (1.2 m × 2 m) varying by > 1000 μ S cm⁻¹ and likewise between individual plots within the high salinity area with EC_{1.5} values ranging from 79 \pm 7 µS cm⁻¹ to 1592 \pm 18 µS cm⁻¹ (Figure 2). The amount and timing of rainfall was also variable with both low and high rainfall periods causing drought and waterlogging throughout the growing season which limited plant establishment and growth (Figure 3). For example, the total average rainfall in Corrigin, WA (near the field site at Kunjin, WA) for the months of June and July is usually about 50 mm. However, after sowing in June 2013 only 0.3 mm of rainfall occurred (low water availability) until July when a total of 71 mm of rainfall occurred in 4 days (waterlogging) (BOM, 2014). Thus, although a sowing density of 160 plants m⁻² was desired, variation in planting density occurred, particularly in the high salinity field area where sections of plots had no plant growth (Figure 2). Given that the final grain yield measurements from each plot is dependent on the number of plants in each plot (i.e. a higher plot grain yield due to a greater number of plants rather than an increase in grain yield per plant), this variation in plant density made interpretation of plot grain yield results difficult. For this reason, only plant biomass and yield measurements from individual plants randomly sampled from plots were used. To help minimise the variability in plot plant densities, replicates were blocked in the field trial design based on an EM map of the field site and soil EC_{1.5} values were measured for each plot. However, future work will need to further address the variation in plant density between field trial plots. The number of field trial plot replicates for each line should be

increased and the field site could be cultivated to help increase the uniformity of salinity. Furthermore, raised beds to help reduce the occurrence of waterlogging (Bakker et al., 2010; Bakker et al., 2005; Holland et al., 2007) and irrigation to help reduce the impact of dry conditions could be used in future trials.



Figure 2 Large variation in salinity influences plant density in field trial plots. An image of a field trial plot (2 m length x 1.2 m wide) in the high salinity area at Kunjin, Western Australia in 2012 with the electrical conductivity (EC) of a 1:5 (soil:water) extract (μ S cm⁻¹) of soil sampled to <10 cm deep from areas of plots with plant and without plant establishment.



Figure 3 An image of the saline GM field trial plots at Kunjin, Western Australia in July (2013) showing the occurrence of waterlogging after a rainfall event of 71 mm in 4 days (BOM, 2014).

In this project, all field grown plants were sampled by hand for plant biomass measurements and thus biomass results were limited to the number of plants that were sampled per plot (*n* = 6) and to one time-point in the growing season at Z37 (Zadoks et al., 1974). High-throughput field phenomics tools, such as the Phenomobile® developed at the High Resolution Plant Phenomics Centre (HRPPC) of the Australian Plant Phenomics Facility (<u>http://www.plantphenomics.org.au/services/phenomobile/</u>) or aerial drones fitted with high resolution cameras (Huang et al., 2013), could be used in the future to assist with large scale phenotyping of transgenic plants in the field through time. Digital images of each plot would allow plant growth to be monitored from seedling establishment to plant maturity and infrared thermal-imaging could also be used to monitor leaf canopy temperatures (Prashar et al., 2013). The extent of plant establishment in each plot could also be quantified, allowing differences in plant density between plots to be incorporated into the statistical analysis of individual plot grain yields.

In the greenhouse, transgenic *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. Golden Promise) had increased shoot biomass at low P supply (Chapter 3), low NO₃⁻ supply (Chapter 4), low water availability and combined salinity and low water availability (Chapter 5). Given that field trials of transgenic plants are needed to validate greenhouse-based findings of improved abiotic stress tolerance (Nelissen et al., 2014; Roy et al., 2014), future work should investigate whether transgenic *AVP1* barley has improved grain yield compared to null segregants in the field at different rates of P and N fertilisers and at low water availability (i.e. with and without a rainout shelter). Furthermore, this project identified promising lines of commercially relevant *35S:AVP1* barley (cv. WI4330) with improved shoot and root growth in hydroponic conditions at 200 mM NaCI (Chapter 7). Seed of these lines (T₃ generation) should also be tested in future saline GM field trials to investigate whether these commercially relevant lines have improved shoot growth and grain yield in a field with salinity. In addition, future work should measure grain quality traits, such as grain screening levels and protein contents, to investigate effects of AVP1 on barley grain quality under non-stress and abiotic stress conditions.

Ideally, testing of transgenic AVP1 barley lines across multiple growing seasons and at multiple field sites is needed in the future to characterise this transgenic barley to a greater extent. Alternate field sites with less severe salinity and waterlogging would also be more desirable for testing the transgenic plants expressing AVP1 in the future. However, current Australian government regulations for GM plant material limit the extent to which transgenic plants can be tested in field trials with the Office of the Gene Technology Regulator (OGTR) licence conditions restricting the location of GM field trial sites, the size of GM field trials and the transport and storage of transgenic plant material (http://www.ogtr.gov.au/internet/ogtr/publishing.nsf/Content/DIR102). The inspection of a 250 m buffer zone surrounding a GM field trial site for volunteer species (closely related plant species to barley) required every 2 weeks when transgenic plants are flowering is also a time-consuming process. In addition, one of the main limitations to conducting extensive GM field trials is the high cost involved, including the need to monitor GM field sites for up to 2 years postharvest. Nonetheless, considering the importance of testing transgenic plants in the field, effort should be made to ensure that this translational research continues in the future (Nelissen et al., 2014). The recent establishment of the New Genes for New Environments (NGNE) facilities at Merredin and Katanning in Western Australia (https://agric.wa.gov.au/n/1423) for testing transgenic plants in the field is ideal and, in the long term, the establishment of such facilities across different soil types and climatic conditions across Australia would be advantageous.

Use of AVP1 technology to improve the abiotic stress tolerance of cereal crops

In this project, transgenic *AVP1* barley (cv. Golden Promise) had a larger shoot biomass and increased grain yield in saline conditions (Chapter 2). This suggests that the AVP1 technology is useful for grain growers and can improve the abiotic stress tolerance of cereal crops. Future work should backcross *AVP1* into commercially relevant Australian barley cultivars, such as Fathom[™], Compass[™], Commander[™], Fleet[™], Hindmarsh[™] or Schooner[™], to improve the abiotic stress tolerance of these cultivars. In the long

term, attempts should also be made to deregulate and commercialise the transgenic *35S:AVP1* barley seed for grain growers. Future work should aim to establish a commercialisation process for the delivery of GM barley seed to Australian grain growers to help ensure growers benefit from this material. Furthermore, the findings of this project suggest that it could be worthwhile transferring the AVP1 technology into wheat, one of the most important cereal crops in the world (FAO, 2013), to help improve the grain yield of this crop in abiotic stress conditions. Transgenic wheat expressing *AVP1* has recently been generated at the ACPFG and characterisation of this transgenic *AVP1* wheat under various abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity and low nutrient availability, should be conducted in the future.

Use of HVP1 or HVP10 to improve the abiotic stress tolerance of barley

This project also suggests that further research on the barley homologues of *AVP1*, including *HVP1* and *HVP10* (Fukuda et al., 2004; Shavrukov et al., 2010), could be beneficial. It is likely that public acceptance of transgenic barley over-expressing *HVP1* or *HVP10* (cisgenics) would be greater than transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* given this involves the over-expression of a barley gene in barley rather than an *Arabidopsis* gene in barley. Transgenic barley over-expressing either *HVP1* (M. Krishnan unpublished) or *HVP10* (J. Bovill unpublished) have been generated at the Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics (ACPFG). Future work should continue to investigate the abiotic stress tolerance of these transgenic barley lines in both greenhouse and field experiments.

Future work should also aim to develop a non-GM barley variety with increased H⁺-PPase activity. An attempt should be made to identify allelic diversity in *HVP1* or *HVP10*, for an allele that leads to greater protein activity. Marker assisted selection (MAS), using molecular markers designed to superior alleles of *HVP1* and *HVP10*, could also be used to generate a non-GM barley variety with increased H⁺-PPase activity. Furthermore, other non-GM approaches, such as Transcription Activator-Like Effector Nucleases (TALEN) (Li et al., 2012) or Clustered Regularly Interspersed Short Palindromic Repeats

(CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated (Cas) (Feng et al., 2014) could be used to either (a) modify the native promoter of *HVP1* and/or *HVP10* to increase protein abundance in barley or to (b) modify the genes themselves to enhance protein activity.

The vacuole, apoplastic and rhizosphere acidification of transgenic AVP1 barley

It has been proposed that AVP1 helps to establish an electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ across the tonoplast, which facilitates vacuolar Na*/H* antiporter activity and thereby increases Na* sequestration into vacuoles (Duan et al., 2007; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Kim et al., 1994; Zhen et al., 1997). Previously, transgenic plants expressing AVP1 had increased shoot Na+ accumulation compared to plants without this gene (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010). However, in this study, leaf Na+ concentrations did not differ between transgenic AVP1 barley and plants without this gene (Chapters 2). It is possible that the same Na⁺ concentration is present in the transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants, but that the transgenic AVP1 barley has a higher amount of Na+ in vacuoles rather than the cytoplasm. However, future work is needed to determine whether the transgenic AVP1 barley has increased vacuolar acidification and vacuolar Na⁺ sequestration compared to null segregants. The activity of vacuolar Na+/H+ antiporters, such as HvNHX1, HvNHX2, HvNHX3 or HvNHX4 (Ershov et al., 2007; Fukuda et al., 2004; Roslyakova et al., 2009; Vasekina et al., 2005), and vacuolar H+-PPase activity could be measured in the transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants. Furthermore, the Na⁺ concentration in the cytoplasm, which is smaller than the vacuole and thus more likely to show a greater proportional change than the vacuole, should be measured in transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants. However, reliable methodology for such cytoplasmic Na⁺ measurements are currently not available and, thus alternatively, methods to determine vacuolar Na⁺ concentrations using a fluorescent Na⁺ indicator, such as Sodium Green (Amorino and Fox, 1995; Duan et al., 2007) or cryo-scanning electron microscopy (SEM) X-Ray microanalysis (James et al., 2006) may be more useful. In addition, measurements of vacuolar pH using a pH-sensitive dye (Duan et al., 2007) or pH measurements of plant sap exuded from

the roots (Yu et al., 1999) of transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants is needed to evaluate the level of vacuolar acidification.

A previous study suggests that transgenic *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* has lower apoplastic pH levels than wild-type (Li et al., 2005), which could be important for the movement of ions and compounds, such as Na⁺, NO₃⁻, PO₄³⁻ or dehydroascorbic acid across the plasma membrane (Rautenkranz et al., 1994). Future work should measure apoplastic pH in transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants using a method such as a confocal laser scanning microscopy with pH sensitive and pH in-sensitive fluorescent dyes (Fan and Neumann, 2004; Yu et al., 2001).

In this project, bromocresol purple staining showed that transgenic *AVP1* barley had increased rhizosphere acidification compared to wild-type (Chapter 3). Attempts were made to quantify this pH change by measuring the pH of rhizosphere soil collected from the transgenic *AVP1* barley roots (Chapter 3). However, future work could use micro-electrode ion flux (MIFE[™]) measurements to quantify H⁺ release in specific root zones (Shabala et al., 2013). In addition, it has been previously suggested that greater rhizosphere acidification in transgenic *AVP1* plants is due to the up-regulation of the plasma membrane (PM) H⁺-ATPase (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2007). However, it is yet to be tested whether the rhizosphere acidification observed in the transgenic *AVP1* barley in this project is due to the up-regulation of the PM H⁺-ATPase or the presence of AVP1 in the PM as observed in *Arabidopsis* over-expressing *AVP1* (Li et al., 2005). Future work should measure the expression and activity of PM H⁺-ATPase in transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants and determine the localisation of the AVP1 protein in the transgenic *AVP1* barley using either immunogold labelling or immunohistocehmical labelling with an antibody raised against the AVP1 protein (Paez-Valencia et al., 2011; Pasapula et al., 2011; Sarafian et al., 1992). Furthermore, the enhanced rhizosphere acidification observed in transgenic *AVP1* barley (Chapter 3) suggests that this transgenic barley may be advantageous for crop growth in alkaline soils
and, likewise, potentially disadvantageous in acidic soils. Future work should evaluate the growth and grain yield of transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants in both alkaline and acidic soils.

How does AVP1 influence cytosolic PP_i levels in transgenic AVP1 barley?

It was recently suggested that the main function of AVP1 is the hydrolysis of cytosolic pyrophosphate (PP_i), which at high concentrations is an inhibitor of gluconeogenesis (Ferjani et al., 2011). In plants, PP_i is a by-product of various metabolic reactions including the synthesis of amino acids, DNA and RNA, sucrose, starch and fatty acids (Maeshima, 2000). A decrease in cytoplasmic PP_i levels could therefore potentially increase many of these processes in transgenic plants expressing *AVP1*. More research is needed to determine to what extent, if any, each of these processes are altered in the transgenic *AVP1* plants. Future work should also measure H⁺-PPase activity and the level of PP_i in the transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants. Given that AVP1 mediates PP_i hydrolysis on the cytoplasmic side of the tonoplast, measurements of cytosolic PP_i are needed. However, currently this is not feasible due to a lack of accurate methodology to specifically measure cytosolic PP_i concentrations. Until a reliable method is established, PP_i measurements in the whole leaf and root could be used (Edwards et al., 1984; Smyth and Black, 1984) and should be measured in transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants through time to help distinguish between the effects of PP_i synthesis versus hydrolysis.

Does transgenic AVP1 barley have altered sucrose phloem-loading or starch mobilisation?

It was also recently hypothesised that in phloem sieve element companion cells AVP1 may be localised on the PM helping to regulate sucrose phloem-loading (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2011). It was suggested that AVP1 increases PP_i synthesis in phloem companion cells, and thus sucrose respiration and ATP supply, enabling the PM H⁺-ATPase to mediate sucrose phloem-loading (Gaxiola et al., 2012). There is evidence that AVP1 is localised on the PM of sieve element companion cells (Paez-Valencia et al., 2011) and that it is thermodynamically feasible *in vitro* for H⁺-PPases to synthesise PP_i

(Baltscheffsky H et al., 1966; Davies et al., 1997; Rocha Façanha and de Meis, 1998; Seufferheld et al., 2004). However, to determine whether transgenic AVP1 barley has increased sucrose phloem transport, the concentration of sucrose in the phloem sap of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 and null segregants should be measured. Leaf isotope feeding experiments using labelled ¹⁴CO₂ or ¹³CO₂ and mass spectrometry (Kölling et al., 2013) could also be used to measure carbon export from leaf (source) to root (sink) tissue, as well as the extent of carbon partitioning into these tissues, in transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants. The findings of this project also suggest that transgenic AVP1 barley seedlings may have increased sucrose loading from the scutellum vascular parenchyma (source) into phloem sieve-element cells, and thus increased sucrose transport to the embryo and subsequently the developing cotyledon and roots (sinks) (Chapter 6). To investigate this concept further, future work should measure sucrose concentrations in the scutellum, embryo and developing cotyledon and roots of transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants through time following seed imbibition. Furthermore, considering plants mobilise starch to sucrose during the night (Geiger and Servaites, 1994; Geiger et al., 2000) and that an increase in density of starch granules was gualitatively observed from transgenic AVP1 barley seedlings compared to wild-type (Chapter 6), it is possible that increased starch levels could benefit the growth of transgenic AVP1 barley during extended dark periods. The amount of starch in transgenic AVP1 barley should be quantified and the growth of transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants should be tested under varied day lengths to further investigate this observation.

Does AVP1 have a role in ascorbic acid synthesis in transgenic AVP1 barley?

In this project, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* had significantly lower galactose and significantly higher ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid compared to null segregants at 11 d after seed imbibition (Chapter 5). This suggests that ascorbic acid synthesis is increased in transgenic *AVP1* barley compared to null segregants, which may be contributing the larger biomass of transgenic *AVP1* barley. Potentially, given that PP_i is produced as a by-product of ascorbic acid synthesis and is an inhibitor of metabolic

274

processes at high concentrations, the hydrolysis of PP_i in transgenic AVP1 barley could facilitate ascorbic acid synthesis. However, the metabolomics findings in this project were based on fold-change values and future work should measure the concentration of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in the leaf tissue (Hewitt and Dickes, 1961) of transgenic AVP1 barley compared to null segregants. In addition, the ascorbic acid concentration should be measured in mutant Arabidopsis plants defective in the AVP1 gene, such as the fugu5 mutants (Ferjani et al., 2011) or the avp1 mutants (Li et al., 2005). Potentially, ascorbic acid concentrations could be lower in *fugu5* or *avp1* mutants compared to wild-type and the supply of ascorbic acid to these mutants may recover their growth. Future work could evaluate the expression of genes such as L-galactose dehydrogenase (GalDH) (GenBank DQ456874), or the activity of enzymes, such as GDP-D-mannose pyrophosphorylase (EC 2.7.7.13), which are involved in the Smirnoff-Wheeler ascorbic acid synthesis pathway (Lisko et al., 2013; Wheeler et al., 1998), to confirm if this pathway is upregulated in transgenic AVP1 barley compared to nulls segregants (Chapter 6). Given that ascorbic acid is known to influence cell division (Liso et al., 1988; Pignocchi and Foyer, 2003), an attempt was made in this project to measure the number and size of between vein (bv) adaxial epidermal cells in transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants (Chapter 6). However, no significant difference in number or size of by adaxial epidermal cells was observed. Future work should measure the number and size of other cell types, such as mesophyll cells, in transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants. Cell division in the transgenic AVP1 barley could also be evaluated by measuring the number of cells in the metaphase using colchicine solution to determine cell doubling time (CDT) (Evans et al., 1957; Harrison et al., 1998).

Use of a systems biology approach to investigate the larger biomass of transgenic AVP1 barley

In this study, metabolomics analysis was used to evaluate differences in leaf and root metabolites between transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants at 11 d after seed imbibition. However, this metabolomics analysis only provides a snapshot of metabolites at one time-point. Future work should evaluate the metabolic profile of transgenic *AVP1* barley and null segregants across their lifecycle,

275

particularly prior to and following 6 d after seed imbibition when changes in seedling vigour were observed (Chapter 6). A more targeted metabolomics approach could also be used by evaluating metabolite changes in specific regions of shoots and roots of transgenic *AVP1* barley. In addition, AVP1 appears to regulate a number of different and complex traits involving plant growth (Figure 1), therefore future research should use a systems biology approach (Cramer et al., 2011; Kitano, 2002) to further investigate the effects of AVP1 in transgenic *AVP1* barley, other transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* and mutant plants defective in the *AVP1* gene. The use of omics technologies, such as metabolomics, transcriptomics and proteomics, would help to provide a more comprehensive insight into the many apparent functions arising from this one gene.

Concluding remarks

In this project, transgenic barley with constitutive *CaMV* 35S expression of *AVP1* had a larger shoot biomass and, importantly, higher grain yield per plant compared to wild-type in a field with high salinity. The 35S:*AVP1* barley also had increased shoot growth under various other abiotic stresses including low P supply, low NO₃⁻ supply, low water availability and combined salinity and low water availability. It is likely that a combination of traits, such as increased nutrient use, enhanced water use, altered carbohydrate metabolism, improved seedling vigour and increased ascorbic acid synthesis, are contributing to the larger shoot biomass of 35S:*AVP1* barley compared to plants without this gene. The findings of this project also suggest that the *ZmRab17* promoter is salt stress inducible in root stelar cells with some basal transgene expression and that the type of promoter used to control the expression of *AVP1* in transgenic barley is important. Overall, this project suggests that 35S:*AVP1* barley is a promising option for increasing cereal crop productivity under abiotic stress.

References

- Amorino, G.P. and Fox, M.H. (1995) Intracellular Na⁺ measurements using sodium green tetraacetate with flow cytometry. *Cytometry* **21**, 248-256.
- Bakker, D.M., Hamilton, G.J., Hetherington, R. and Spann, C. (2010) Salinity dynamics and the potential for improvement of waterlogged and saline land in a Mediterranean climate using permanent raised beds. *Soil Tillage Res.* **110**, 8-24.
- Bakker, D.M., Hamilton, G.J., Houlbrooke, D.J. and Spann, C. (2005) The effect of raised beds on soil structure, waterlogging, and productivity on duplex soils in Western Australia. *Soil Res.* **43**, 575-585.
- Baltscheffsky H, L.V., v.S., H.W., H. and M, K. (1966) Inorganic pyrophosphate formation in bacterial photophosphorylation. *Science* **153**, 1120-&.
- Bao, A.K., Wang, S.M., Wu, G.Q., Xi, J.J., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, C.M. (2009) Overexpression of the Arabidopsis H⁺-PPase enhanced resistance to salt and drought stress in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). *Plant Sci.* **176**, 232-240.
- BOM (2014) Climate and past weather. Bureau of Meteorology, Australian Government <u>http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/</u>
- Cramer, G., Urano, K., Delrot, S., Pezzotti, M. and Shinozaki, K. (2011) Effects of abiotic stress on plants: a systems biology perspective. *BMC Plant Biol.* **11**, 163.
- Davies, J.M., Darley, C.P. and Sanders, D. (1997) Energetics of the plasma membrane pyrophosphatase. *Trends Plant Sci.* **2**, 9-10.
- Duan, X.G., Yang, A.F., Gao, F., Zhang, S.L. and Zhang, J.R. (2007) Heterologous expression of vacuolar H⁺-PPase enhances the electrochemical gradient across the vacuolar membrane and improves tobacco cell salt tolerance. *Protoplasma* 232, 87-95.
- Edwards, J., Rees, T., Wilson, P. and Morrell, S. (1984) Measurement of the inorganic pyrophosphate in tissues of *Pisum sativum* L. *Planta* **162**, 188-191.
- Ershov, P.V., Vasekina, A.V., Voblikova, V.D., Taranov, V.V., Roslyakova, T.V. and Babakov, A.V. (2007) Identification of K⁺/H⁺ antiporter homolog in barley: expression in cultivars with different tolerance to NaCl. *Russ. J. Plant Physiol.* **54**, 16-24.
- Evans, H.J., Keary, G.J. and Tonkinson, S.M. (1957) The use of colchicine as an indicator of mitotic rate in broad bean root meristems. *J. Genet.* **55**, 487-502.
- Fan, L. and Neumann, P.M. (2004) The spatially variable inhibition by water deficit of maize root growth correlates with altered profiles of proton flux and cell wall pH. *Plant Physiology* **135**, 2291-2300.
- FAO (2013) Food and agricultural cmmodities production. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations <u>http://faostat.fao.org/site/339/default.aspx</u>
- Feng, Z., Mao, Y., Xu, N., Zhang, B., Wei, P., Yang, D.-L., Wang, Z., Zhang, Z., Zheng, R., Yang, L., Zeng, L., Liu, X. and Zhu, J.-K. (2014) Multigeneration analysis reveals the inheritance, specificity, and patterns of CRISPR/Cas-induced gene modifications in Arabidopsis. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* doi:10.1073/pnas.1400822111.
- Ferjani, A., Segami, S., Horiguchi, G., Muto, Y., Maeshima, M. and Tsukaya, H. (2011) Keep an eye on PP_i: The vacuolar-type H⁺-pyrophosphatase regulates postgerminative development in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* **23**, 2895-2908.
- Fukuda, A., Chiba, K., Maeda, M., Nakamura, A., Maeshima, M. and Tanaka, Y. (2004) Effect of salt and osmotic stresses on the expression of genes for the vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase, H⁺-ATPase subunit A, and Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from barley. *J. Exp. Bot.* **55**, 585-594.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J.S., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (2001) Droughtand salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the *AVP1* H⁺-pump. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 11444-11449.

- Gaxiola, R.A., Sanchez, C.A., Paez-Valencia, J., Ayre, B.G. and Elser, J.J. (2012) Genetic manipulation of a "vacuolar" H⁺-PPase: from salt tolerance to yield enhancement under phosphorus-deficient soils. *Plant Physiol.* **159**, 3-11.
- Geiger, D.R. and Servaites, J.C. (1994) Diurnal regulation of photosyntheticcarbon metabolism in C3 plants. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* **45**, 235-256.
- Geiger, D.R., Servaites, J.C. and Fuchs, M.A. (2000) Role of starch in carbon translocation and partitioning at the plant level. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **27**, 571-582.
- Gonzalez, N., De Bodt, S., Sulpice, R., Jikumaru, Y., Chae, E., Dhondt, S., Van Daele, T., De Milde, L., Weigel, D., Kamiya, Y., Stitt, M., Beemster, G.T.S. and Inze, D. (2010) Increased leaf size: different means to an end. *Plant Physiol.* **153**, 1261-1279.
- Harrison, J., Nicot, C. and Ougham, H. (1998) The effect of low temperature on patterns of cell division in developing second leaves of wild-type and slender mutant barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* 21, 79-86.
- Hewitt, E. and Dickes, G. (1961) Spectrophotometric measurements on ascorbic acid and their use for the estimation of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in plant tissues. *Biochem. J.* **78**, 384.
- Holland, J.E., White, R.E. and Edis, R. (2007) The relation between soil structure and solute transport under raised bed cropping and conventional cultivation in south-western Victoria. *Soil Res.* **45**, 577-585.
- Huang, Y., Thomson, S.J., Hoffmann, W.C., Yubin, L. and Fritz, B.K. (2013) Development and prospect of unmanned aerial vehicle technologies for agricultural production management. *Int. J. Agri. Biol. Eng.* **6**, 1-10.
- James, R.A., Munns, R., Von Caemmerer, S., Trejo, C., Miller, C. and Condon, T. (2006) Photosynthetic capacity is related to the cellular and subcellular partitioning of Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ in salt-affected barley and durum wheat. *Plant Cell Environ.* **29**, 2185-2197.
- Kim, E.J., Zhen, R.G. and Rea, P.A. (1994) Heterologous expression of plant vacuolar pyrophosphatase in yeast demonstrates sufficiency of the substrate biding subunit for proton transport. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 91, 6128-6132.
- Kitano, H. (2002) Systems biology: a brief overview. Science 295, 1662-1664.
- Kölling, K., Muller, A., Flutsch, P. and Zeeman, S. (2013) A device for single leaf labelling with CO₂ isotopes to study carbon allocation and partitioning in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Methods* **9**, 45.
- Li, J.S., Yang, H.B., Peer, W.A., Richter, G., Blakeslee, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Titapiwantakun, B., Undurraga, S., Khodakovskaya, M., Richards, E.L., Krizek, B., Murphy, A.S., Gilroy, S. and Gaxiola, R. (2005) *Arabidopsis* H⁺-PPase *AVP1* regulates auxin-mediated organ development. *Science* **310**, 121-125.
- Li, T., Liu, B., Spalding, M.H., Weeks, D.P. and Yang, B. (2012) High-efficiency TALEN-based gene editing produces disease-resistant rice. *Nat Biotech* **30**, 390-392.
- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant Cell Environ.* **33**, 272-289.
- Lisko, K., Torres, R., Harris, R., Belisle, M., Vaughan, M., Jullian, B., Chevone, B., Mendes, P., Nessler, C. and Lorence, A. (2013) Elevating vitamin C content via overexpression of myo-inositol oxygenase and I-gulono-1,4-lactone oxidase in *Arabidopsis* leads to enhanced biomass and tolerance to abiotic stresses. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. - Plant* **49**, 643-655.
- Liso, R., Innocenti, A., Bitonti, M. and Arrigoni, O. (1988) Ascorbic acid-induced progression of quiescent centre cells from G1 to S phase. *New Phytol.* **110**, 469-471.
- Maeshima, M. (2000) Vacuolar H+-pyrophosphatase. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1465, 37-51.
- Nelissen, H., Moloney, M. and Inzé, D. (2014) Translational research: from pot to plot. *Plant Biotech. J.* **12**, 277-285.
- OGTR (2014) Genetically Modified Organisms Field Trial Sites. http://www.ogtr.gov.au/internet/ogtr/publishing.nsf/Content/map

- Paez-Valencia, J., Patron-Soberano, A., Rodriguez-Leviz, A., Sanchez-Lares, J., Sanchez-Gomez, C., Valencia-Mayoral, P., Diaz-Rosas, G. and Gaxiola, R. (2011) Plasma membrane localization of the type I H⁺-PPase AVP1 in sieve element–companion cell complexes from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Sci.* **181**, 23-30.
- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* **161**, 1557-1569.
- Park, S., Li, J.S., Pittman, J.K., Berkowitz, G.A., Yang, H.B., Undurraga, S., Morris, J., Hirschi, K.D. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2005) Up-regulation of a H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) as a strategy to engineer drought-resistant crop plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 18830-18835.
- Pasapula, V., Shen, G.X., Kuppu, S., Paez-Valencia, J., Mendoza, M., Hou, P., Chen, J.A., Qiu, X.Y., Zhu, L.F., Zhang, X.L., Auld, D., Blumwald, E., Zhang, H., Gaxiola, R. and Payton, P. (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 88-99.
- Pignocchi, C. and Foyer, C.H. (2003) Apoplastic ascorbate metabolism and its role in the regulation of cell signalling. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **6**, 379-389.
- Prashar, A., Yildiz, J., McNicol, J.W., Bryan, G.J. and Jones, H.G. (2013) Infra-red thermography for high throughput field phenotyping in *Solanum tuberosum*. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e65816.
- Qin, H., Gu, Q., Kuppu, S., Sun, L., Zhu, X., Mishra, N., Hu, R., Shen, G., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Burow, M., Payton, P. and Zhang, H. (2013) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene *AVP1* in peanut to improve drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Biotech. Rep.* **7**, 345-355.
- Rautenkranz, A., Li, L., Machler, F., Martinoia, E. and Oertli, J.J. (1994) Transport of ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids across protoplast and vacuole membranes isolated from barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L. cv Gerbel) leaves. *Plant Physiol.* **106**, 187-193.
- Rocha Façanha, A. and de Meis, L. (1998) Reversibility of H⁺-ATPase and H⁺-pyrophosphatase in tonoplast vesicles from maize coleoptiles and seeds. *Plant Physiol.* **116**, 1487-1495.
- Roslyakova, T.V., Lazareva, E.M., Kononenko, N.V. and Babakov, A.V. (2009) New isoform *HvNHX3* of vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺-antiporter in barley: Expression and immunolocalization. *Biochemistry* **74**, 549-556.
- Roy, S.J., Negrão, S. and Tester, M. (2014) Salt resistant crop plants. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **26**, 115-124.
- Roy, S.J., Tucker, E.J. and Tester, M. (2011) Genetic analysis of abiotic stress tolerance in crops. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **14**, 232-239.
- Sarafian, V., Kim, Y., Poole, R.J. and Rea, P.A. (1992) Molecular cloning and sequence of cDNA encoding the pyrophosphate-energized vacuolar membrane proton pump of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **89**, 1775-1779.
- Schilling, R.K. (2010) *Evaluating the salt tolerance of barley expressing the Arabidopsis vacuolar H*⁺-*PPase (AtAVP1)*. Honours thesis, School of Agriculture, Food and Wine:University of Adelaide.
- Schilling, R.K., Marschner, P., Shavrukov, Y., Berger, B., Tester, M., Roy, S.J. and Plett, D.C. (2014) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field. *Plant Biotech. J.* **12**, 378-386.
- Seufferheld, M., Lea, C.R., Vieira, M., Oldfield, E. and Docampo, R. (2004) The H⁺-pyrophosphatase of *Rhodospirillum rubrum* is predominantly located in polyphosphate-rich acidocalcisomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 51193-51202.
- Shabala, S. (2013) Learning from halophytes: physiological basis and strategies to improve abiotic stress tolerance in crops. *Ann. Bot.* **112**, 1209-1221.

- Shabala, S., Shabala, L., Bose, J., Cuin, T. and Newman, I. (2013) Ion flux measurements using the MIFE technique. In: *Plant Mineral Nutrients* (Maathuis, F.J.M. ed) pp. 171-183. Humana Press.
- Shavrukov, Y., Gupta, N.K., Miyazaki, J., Baho, M.N., Chalmers, K.J., Tester, M., Langridge, P. and Collins, N.C. (2010) *HvNax3* a locus controlling shoot sodium exclusion derived from wild barley (*Hordeum vulgare ssp. spontaneum*). *Funct. Integr. Genomics* **10**, 277-291.
- Smyth, D.A. and Black, C.C. (1984) Measurement of the pyrophosphate content of plant tissues. *Plant Physiol.* **75**, 862-864.
- Vasekina, A.V., Yershov, P.V., Reshetova, O.S., Tikhonova, T.V., Lunin, V.G., Trofimova, M.S. and Babakov, A.V. (2005) Vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from barley: identification and response to salt stress. *Biochemistry* **70**, 100-107.
- Vercruyssen, L., Gonzalez, N., Werner, T., Schmulling, T. and Inze, D. (2011) Combining enhanced root and shoot growth reveals cross talk between pathways that control plant organ size in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* **155**, 1339-1352.
- Wheeler, G.L., Jones, M.A. and Smirnoff, N. (1998) The biosynthetic pathway of vitamin C in higher plants. *Nature* **393**, 365-369.
- Yang, H., Knapp, J., Koirala, P., Rajagopal, D., Peer, W.A., Silbart, L.K., Murphy, A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2007) Enhanced phosphorus nutrition in monocots and dicots over-expressing a phosphorusresponsive type I H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Plant Biotech. J.* **5**, 735-745.
- Yang, H., Zhang, X., Gaxiola, R.A., Xu, G., Peer, W.A. and Murphy, A.S. (2014) Over-expression of the *Arabidopsis* proton-pyrophosphatase *AVP1* enhances transplant survival, root mass, and fruit development under limiting phosphorus conditions. *J. Exp. Bot.* doi:10.1093/jxb/eru149.
- Yu, Q., Kuo, J. and Tang, C. (2001) Using confocal laser scanning microscopy to measure apoplastic pH change in roots of *Lupinus angustifolius* L. in response to high pH. *Ann. Bot.* **87**, 47-52.
- Yu, Q., Tang, C., Chen, Z. and Kuo, J. (1999) Extraction of apoplastic sap from plant roots by centrifugation. *New Phytol.* **143**, 299-304.
- Zadoks, J.C., Chang, T.T. and Konzak, C.F. (1974) A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed Res.* **14**, 415-421.
- Zhen, R.G., Kim, E.J. and Rea, P.A. (1997) The molecular and biochemical basis of pyrophosphateenergized proton translocation at the vacuolar membrane. *Adv. Bot. Res. Inc. Adv. Plant Path.* 25, 297-337.

Chapter 9

Appendix

Plant Biotechnology Journal

Plant Biotechnology Journal (2014) 12, pp. 378-386

Cabb SEB Society for Experimental Biolog

doi: 10.1111/pbi.12145

Expression of the Arabidopsis vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (AVP1) improves the shoot biomass of transgenic barley and increases grain yield in a saline field

Rhiannon K. Schilling^{1,2}, Petra Marschner², Yuri Shavrukov^{1,2}, Bettina Berger^{2,3}, Mark Tester^{1,2,3,†}, Stuart J. Roy^{1,2,*} and Darren C. Plett^{1,2}

¹Australian Centre for Plant Functional Genomics, Adelaide, SA, Australia

²School of Agriculture, Food and Wine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia ³The Plant Accelerator, Australian Plant Phenomics Facility, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Received 12 August 2013; revised 20 September 2013; accepted 14 October 2013. *Correspondence (Tel +61 8 8313 7159; fax +61 8 8313 7102; email stuart.roy@acpfg.com.au) *Present address: Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering, Center for Desert Agriculture, 4700 King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal 23955-6900, Saudi Arabia.

Summary

Cereal varieties with improved salinity tolerance are needed to achieve profitable grain yields in saline soils. The expression of AVP1, an Arabidopsis gene encoding a vacuolar proton pumping pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase), has been shown to improve the salinity tolerance of transgenic plants in greenhouse conditions. However, the potential for this gene to improve the grain yield of cereal crops in a saline field has yet to be evaluated. Recent advances in highthroughput nondestructive phenotyping technologies also offer an opportunity to quantitatively evaluate the growth of transgenic plants under abiotic stress through time. In this study, the growth of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 was evaluated under saline conditions in a pot experiment using nondestructive plant imaging and in a saline field trial. Greenhousegrown transgenic barley expressing AVP1 produced a larger shoot biomass compared to null segregants, as determined by an increase in projected shoot area, when grown in soil with 150 mm NaCl. This increase in shoot biomass of transgenic AVP1 barley occurred from an early growth stage and also in nonsaline conditions. In a saline field, the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 also showed an increase in shoot biomass and, importantly, produced a greater grain yield per plant compared to wild-type plants. Interestingly, the expression of AVP1 did not alter barley leaf sodium concentrations in either greenhouse- or field-grown plants. This study validates our greenhouse-based experiments and indicates that transgenic barley expressing AVP1 is a promising option for increasing cereal crop productivity in saline fields

nondestructive imaging, grain yield, GM field trials.

Keywords: barley, salinity, AVP1,

Introduction

Salinity reduces the grain yield of cereal crops worldwide. Globally, at least 77 million ha of agricultural land is currently affected by salinity (Munns, 2002; Munns and Tester, 2008). The presence of high salt concentrations, particularly sodium chloride (NaCl), causes osmotic stress, ion toxicity and ion deficiencies in cereal crops (Colmer *et al.*, 2005; Munns and Tester, 2008). Consequently, salt stress reduces water uptake and increases leaf senescence, resulting in stunted growth and an overall reduction in tiller number and grain yield (Munns, 2002). Cereal crop varieties with improved salinity tolerance are needed to increase crop productivity in saline soils.

One way to improve plant salinity tolerance is to increase the sequestration of sodium (Na⁺) ions into vacuoles by enhancing the activity of vacuolar sodium/proton (Na⁺/H⁺) antiporters (Apse *et al.*, 1999). This enhanced vacuolar sequestration of Na⁺ can reduce Na⁺ toxicity in the cytoplasm and facilitate water uptake into plant cells (Blumwald, 2000). The Na⁺ pumping activity of vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters is driven by an electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ established across the tonoplast by

two proton pumps, the vacuolar H⁺-pumping ATPase and the vacuolar H⁺-pumping pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) (Maeshima, 2000; Sze *et al.*, 1992).

The constitutive expression of AVP1, an Arabidopsis gene encoding a type I vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase, has been shown to improve the salinity tolerance of transgenic Arabidopsis (Gaxiola et al., 2001), alfalfa (Medicago sativa) (Bao et al., 2009), creeping bentgrass (Agrostis stolonifera) (Li et al., 2010), cotton (Gossypium hirsutum) (Pasapula et al., 2011), peanut (Arachis hypogaea) (Qin et al., 2013) and rice (Oryza sativa) (Zhao et al., 2006). This improved salinity tolerance of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 was attributed to an enhanced electrochemical potential difference for H⁺ across the tonoplast facilitating Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter activity and thus increasing the sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles (Duan et al., 2007; Gaxiola et al., 2001). In support of this hypothesis, the co-expression of the Suaeda salsa Na+/H+ antiporter (SsNHX1) and AVP1 resulted in greater salinity tolerance in rice than the expression of SsNHX1 alone (Zhao et al., 2006). Thus, previous studies have shown that the expression of AVP1 can improve shoot biomass under saline conditions in the greenhouse and that the expression of this gene could potentially

© 2013 Society for Experimental Biology, Association of Applied Biologists and John Wiley & Sons Ltd

increase the salinity tolerance of other agriculturally important cereal crops, such as barley (*Hordeum vulgare*).

Previous studies phenotyping transgenic plants expressing AVP1 in saline conditions have been limited to shoot biomass measurements at one time point (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Lv et al., 2008; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2006). Recent advances in high-throughput phenotyping technologies offer the opportunity to nondestructively evaluate plant growth through time, providing accurate measures of relative plant growth rates (Berger et al., 2010; Furbank and Tester, 2011; Rajendran et al., 2009). The use of nondestructive plant imaging has been shown to reveal novel aspects of plant responses to abiotic stresses, such as drought and salinity (Berger et al., 2010; Rajendran et al., 2009; Sirault et al., 2009). By allowing more detailed growth analysis of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 under salt stress through time, the use of nondestructive imaging technology could provide further insight into the timing and extent of effects from AVP1 expression on plant growth, including the separation of possible effects on early vigour (Ferjani et al., 2011) from those on later growth stages.

Previous testing of transgenic *AVP1* plants in saline conditions has also been solely greenhouse-based (Bao *et al.*, 2009; Gaxiola *et al.*, 2001; Li *et al.*, 2010; Lv *et al.*, 2008; Pasapula *et al.*, 2011; Qin *et al.*, 2013; Zhao *et al.*, 2006) with a limited focus on evaluating yield traits (Pasapula *et al.*, 2011; Qin *et al.*, 2013). An important component of a salt-tolerant cereal crop is not only the ability to grow in a saline soil but also to produce high grain yields (Flowers, 2004). Saline field trials of transgenic plants are required to measure yield traits and validate greenhouse-based findings of improved salinity tolerance (Flowers, 2004; Plett and Møller, 2010; Roy *et al.*, 2011).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the growth of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 in saline conditions in the greenhouse using nondestructive plant imaging technology and to test whether these plants have improved grain yield in a saline field.

Results

Generation of transgenic barley expressing AVP1

Transgenic barley (cv. Golden Promise) expressing AVP1 using the CaMV 355 promoter was successfully generated via Agrobacterium-mediated transformation (Jacobs et al., 2007; Singh et al., 1997). The results for three independent barley transformation events (355-AVP1-1, 355-AVP1-2 and 355-AVP1-3) with two sibling lines from one transformation event (355-AVP1-1a) and 355-AVP1-1b) were used in this study. PCR analysis of genomic DNA confirmed the presence of AVP1 in the transgenic barley (355-AVP1-1a, 1b, 2 or 3) and the absence of AVP1 in wild-type and null segregants (Nulls 1, 2 & 3) (Figure 1a). Additionally, reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR) on cDNA confirmed the expression of AVP1 in the transgenic barley lines and the lack of AVP1 expression in wild-type and null segregants (Figure 1b).

Transgenic AVP1 barley has increased shoot biomass in a pot experiment

Nondestructive plant imaging of greenhouse-grown plants showed that three independent transgenic barley lines expressing *AVP1* (355-AVP1-1a, 355-AVP1-2 and 355-AVP1-3) produced significantly larger (11–33%) projected shoot areas (pixels) compared to null segregants when grown for 47 days in soil with 150 mM NaCl (Figure 2a,b). The sibling 355-AVP1-1b, however, showed no significant difference in projected shoot



Figure 1 Molecular characterization of wild-type, null segregants and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1*. (a) Genotyping for the presence or absence of *AVP1* using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) with *AVP1*-specific primers and *HvVRT2*-specific primers (internal control) (b) Expression analysis of *AVP1* using reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR) with *AVP1*-specific and *HvCR2*-specific primers (internal control) for wild-type (cv. Golden Promise), null segregants and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1*. Lane (–) is a negative control (water). Lane WT is wild-type. Lanes Nulls 1, 2 & 3 are null segregants. Lanes *35S-AVP1* 1a, 1b, 2 & 3 are transgenic *AVP1* barley lines.

area (pixel) under salinity treatment compared to null segregants (Figure 2b). Additionally, no significant difference in the 4th leaf blade Na⁺ and potassium (K⁺) concentrations was detected between the transgenic AVP1 barley and null segregants grown under saline conditions (Figure 3a,b).

Relative growth rates derived for 35S-AVP1-1a plants show that this line had a faster relative growth rate than null segregants during early growth stages between 9-19 days after sowing in soil with 150 mm NaCl (Figure 4a,c). However, this line had relative growth rates similar to null segregants in the later growth stages from 28-47 days after sowing under saline conditions (Figure 4b,c). Notably, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3 showed a similar relative growth rate as null segregants under saline conditions between 9-19 days and between 28-47 days after sowing (Figure 4c). However, both lines already had a significantly larger projected shoot area than null segregants at 9 days after sowing under saline conditions (Figure 4c). As expected, the relative growth rates of all plants decreased over time (Figure 4c). In nonsaline conditions, transgenic barley expressing AVP1 also had a larger projected shoot area than null segregants with a trend towards a faster relative growth rate during the early growth stages (9-17 days) and similar relative growth rates to null segregants in the later growth stages (28-47 days) (Table S1).

Characterization of soil properties at a saline field trial site

The soil of the saline field trial site near Kunjin in the central wheatbelt of Western Australia comprised 90% sand, 5% silt and 5% clay and was therefore classified as a sandy soil. An electromagnetic (EM) map of the field site showed a gradient in the apparent soil electrical conductivity (EC_a) from south to north, ranging from areas of low EC_a (41 mS/m) to areas of higher EC_a (199 mS/m) (Figure 5). Soil electrical conductivity (EC_{1:5}) measurements (0–10 cm depth) were used to identify suitable low-salinity (EC_{1:5} = 161 ± 11 μ S/cm) and high-salinity (EC_{1:5} = 1231 ± 155 μ S/cm) areas for the field trial plots (Figure 5). The low-salinity field area is considered nonsaline for cereal crop production in the wheatbelt of Western Australia. The grain yield (g/plant) results from this low-salinity *AVP* barley and wild-type

380 Rhiannon K. Schilling et al.



Figure 2 Projected shoot area of salt-treated transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* and null segregants in the greenhouse. (a) Highresolution visible light (RGB) side-view image of a representative null segregant (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic barley line expressing *AVP1* (*355-AVP1-3*) 47 days after sowing in soil with 150 mM NaCl (b) Projected shoot area (pixel) derived from visible light (RGB) plant images of null (white bar) and transgenic barley lines *355-AVP1-1*, *355-AVP1-1*b, *355-AVP1-2* and *355-AVP1-3* (grey bars) 47 days after sowing in soil with 150 mM NaCl. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3–8) with asterisks (* or **) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, P < 0.05 or <0.01).

plants grown at a separate nonsaline field area (Table S2). The soil pH differed slightly between the low-salinity (pH = 6.18 ± 0.03) and high-salinity (pH 7.10 ± 0.04) areas (Figure 5).

Transgenic AVP1 barley has increased shoot biomass and grain yield in a saline field

Transgenic barley plants expressing AVP1 (lines identified as 355-AVP1-1a, 355-AVP1-1b, 355-AVP1-2 and 355-AVP1-3) and wildtype barley (cv. Golden Promise) plants were grown in a saline field trial. In the low-salinity area, the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 had a significantly greater (17–33%) shoot biomass compared to wild-type plants (Figure 6a). The average grain weight, number of grain heads and grains per plant of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 were similar to those of wild-type barley in the low-salinity area (Table 1). Nevertheless, two transgenic lines (355-AVP1-1a and 355-AVP1-2) had significantly higher (23–34%) grain yield per plant than wild-type plants (Table 1).

In the high-salinity area, the growth of all plants was greatly reduced (Figure 6a,b). However, the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 produced a significantly greater (30–42%) shoot biomass and had greater survival in the high-salinity area than the wild-type plants (Figure 6a,b). As with greenhouse-grown plants, there were no significant differences in Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations of youngest fully emerged leaf blades between the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 and wild-type plants (Figure S1). Due to the large growth reduction of wild-type plants in the high-salinity area, the grain yield was only measured on repre-



Figure 3 Leaf Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations of transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* and null segregants in saline soil. (a) Na⁺ and (b) K⁺ concentrations (mg/kg DW) of the 4th leaf blade of null segregants (cv. Golden Promise) (white bars) and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (*355-AVP1-1a*, *355-AVP1-1b*, *355-AVP1-2* and *355-AVP1-3*) (grey bars) 47 days after sowing in soil with 150 mm NaCl. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-8).

sentative plants surviving in each plot. As such, these provide an overestimate of average grains per plant across the whole plot. Nevertheless, the number of heads and grains per plant from transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* was significantly greater (16–58% and 76–85%, respectively) than from wild-type plants in the high-salinity area (Table 1). The average grain weight of transgenic *AVP1* barley plants was also significantly greater (29–43%) than that of wild-type plants (Table 1). Furthermore, the grain yield per plant of the transgenic *AVP1* barley was significantly higher (79–87%) than that of wild-type plants in the high-salinity area (Table 1).

Discussion

Transgenic AVP1 barley has increased shoot biomass and grain yield under saline conditions

The expression of *AVP1* has previously been shown to improve transgenic plant growth in saline greenhouse conditions (Bao et al., 2009; Gaxiola et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010; Lv et al., 2008; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2006). In this study, transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* produced a greater projected shoot area, and therefore shoot biomass, in soil with 150 mm NaCl compared to null segregants (Figures 2 and 4). This result supports previous studies suggesting that *AVP1* contributes to improving shoot biomass under saline conditions.

To further understand the role of AVP1 in improving plant salinity tolerance, it is important to evaluate the yield of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 in saline conditions and to validate greenhouse-based findings of improved salinity tolerance in the field. Cotton plants expressing AVP1 were previously

Figure 4 Nondestructive plant imaging of salttreated transgenic barley expressing AVP1 and null segregants. The projected shoot area (pixel) of null segregants (white squares) and 35S-AVP1-1a line (grey squares) between (a) 9-19 days and (b) 28-47 days after sowing in soil with 150 mм NaCl. Representative RGB side-view images of a null plant showing the different growth stages are shown on the graph for selected time points. (c) The projected shoot area (pixel) of null segregants and transgenic AVP1 barley lines (35S-AVP1-1a, 355-AVP1-1b, 355-AVP1-2 and 355-AVP1-3) at 9 and 47 days after sowing in soil with 150 mm NaCl and the relative growth rates (per day) of null segregants and transgenic barley lines (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) derived from an exponential fitted curve of projected shoot area between 9-19 days and 28–47 days. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 3-8) with asterisks (* or **) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, P < 0.05 or <0.01).



Figure 5 Soil characterization of a saline field trial site. An electromagnetic (EM) map showing the apparent electrical conductivity (EC_a) of a saline field trial site (83 m length \times 32 m width, N = north) with red indicating low EC_a (41 mS/m) and blue high EC_a (199 mS/m). Black rectangles indicate the location of trial plots in the low- and highsalinity field areas with corresponding soil electrical conductivity (EC1:5) (soil : water) (µS/cm) and pH (H_20) values. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 12 - 21)



11	13	15	17	19

Line	Projected shoot a	rea (pixel) at 150 mm NaCl	Relative growth rate (per day) at 150 mm NaC		
	9 days	47 days	9–19 days	28–47 days	
Null segregants	2353 ± 181	89 201 ± 7008	0.1220	0.0814	
35S-AVP1-1a	2348 ± 289	11 6129 ± 3880*	0.1371	0.0829	
35S-AVP1-1b	2558 ± 359	88 146 ± 13 169	0.1239	0.0794	
35S-AVP1-2	4282 ± 381**	13 8041 ± 13543**	0.1033	0.0799	
35S-AVP1-3	3794 ± 139**	13 3524 ± 7560**	0.1268	0.0688	

shown to have higher fibre yield compared to wild-type plants at 200 mm NaCl treatment in a greenhouse experiment and at a nonsaline dryland field site (Pasapula et al., 2011). Additionally, transgenic peanuts expressing AVP1 grown in the field under low and high irrigation treatments had a higher yield than the wildtype (Oin et al., 2013). However, to our knowledge, there are no previous reports on a saline field trial evaluating the growth and yield of a transgenic plant expressing AVP1. In this study, the results of a saline field trial show that transgenic barley expressing AVP1 have a significantly larger shoot biomass when grown in both low- and high-salinity areas compared to the wild-type (Table 1, Figure 6). This increase in shoot biomass supports the pot experiment results presented in this study. Additionally, one transgenic AVP1 barley line (35S-AVP1-1b) had an increase in shoot biomass under field conditions that was not observed in the more controlled greenhouse conditions (Figure 2b and Figure 4c). This highlights the need to phenotype transgenic plants in both greenhouse and field conditions. Importantly, the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 also produced a higher grain yield per plant in the high-salinity field plots compared to wild-type plants, which comprised more infertile heads and less grains per plant (Table 1). An increase in grain number and grain weight are both contributing towards this increase in grain yield per plant of the transgenic AVP1 barley lines (Table 1).

Expression of AVP1 in transgenic barley does not alter leaf Na⁺ concentrations

The improved growth of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 in saline conditions has been previously attributed to AVP1, facilitating an increase in the activity of vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters

AVP1 improves barley growth in saline conditions 381

382 Rhiannon K. Schilling et al.



Figure 6 Shoot biomass of wild-type and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* in a saline field trial (a) Shoot biomass (g DW/plant) of wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and four transgenic barley lines expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3*) after 12 weeks growth in the low- (white bars) and high-salinity (grey bars) field. (b) Image of shoot growth of a representative wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) and transgenic barley expressing *AVP1* (*35S-AVP1-1b*) at high salinity. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 12) with asterisks (*) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, P < 0.05).

Table 1 The number of heads, number of grains, grain weight and grain yield per plant of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) and wild-type (∞ . Golden Promise) in a low- and high-salinity field area. Values are the mean \pm s.e.m (n = 6-2) with asterisks (* or **) indicating a significant difference (one-way ANOVA, LSD, P < 0.05 or <0.01)

Treatment	Line	No. of heads (per plant)	No. of grains (per plant)	Grain weight (mg)	Grain yield (g/plant)
Low salinity	Wild-type	6.0 ± 0.4	107 ± 13	33.2 ± 1.0	3.57 ± 0.49
	35S-AVP1-1a	7.5 ± 0.6	150 ± 16*	36.6 ± 0.8	5.45 ± 0.57*
	35S-AVP1-1b	5.8 ± 0.3	98 ± 6	40.1 ± 3.8	3.77 ± 0.23
	35S-AVP1-2	6.6 ± 0.6	116 ± 12	40.3 ± 1.0	4.66 ± 0.49*
	35S-AVP1-3	6.4 ± 0.5	122 ± 13	36.2 ± 1.5	4.40 ± 0.45
High salinity	Wild-type	2.7 ± 0.3	10 ± 3	24.6 ± 5.7	0.28 ± 0.07
	35S-AVP1-1a	$5.4 \pm 0.9^{*}$	60 ± 13**	32.6 ± 1.8	2.02 ± 0.50**
	35S-AVP1-1b	3.3 ± 0.2	56 ± 4.0**	34.9 ± 2.0*	1.97 ± 0.21**
	35S-AVP1-2	$6.4 \pm 0.7*$	67 ± 11**	41.3 ± 6.6*	2.20 ± 0.34**
	35S-AVP1-3	3.2 ± 0.5	41 ± 14**	42.9 ± 5.5*	1.34 ± 0.38**

and thus greater sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles (Bao *et al.*, 2009; Gaxiola *et al.*, 2001; Li *et al.*, 2010). This sequestration of Na⁺ into vacuoles presumably lessens the toxic effects of Na⁺ on cytosolic enzymes and could also facilitate the retention of water in the plant tissues (Gaxiola *et al.*, 2001). In support of this hypothesis, transgenic *Arabidopsis* overexpressing *AVP1* retain more Na⁺ in their rosette leaves and have enhanced leaf water content after the treatment with 100 mm NaCl compared to wild-type plants (Gaxiola *et al.*, 2001). An increase in Na⁺, and other ions, has also been reported in shoot and root tissue of several other transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Bao *et al.*, 2009; Gaxiola *et al.*, 2001; Li *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, under saline

conditions, a decrease in vacuole membrane leakage and an increase in net photosynthesis have been measured in transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* (Bao *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2010; Pasapula *et al.*, 2011; Qin *et al.*, 2013). This suggests that transgenic plants expressing *AVP1* have improved tolerance to both the ionic and osmotic effects of NaCl, which may help improve plant growth under saline conditions.

In this study, there were no significant differences in Na⁺ or K⁺ concentrations in the leaf tissue of barley lines expressing *AVP1* in the pot and field experiments under saline conditions compared to plants without this gene (Figures 3 and S1). This contrasting result to previous studies (Bao *et al.*, 2009; Gaxiola *et al.*, 2001; Li

et al., 2010) could be due to several factors, such as the plant species, plant age, the level and extent of salt treatment, and the type of plant tissue sampled for ion analysis. However, it cannot be ruled out that, although the same amount of Na⁺ is present per unit leaf area compared to wild-type (Figures 3 and S1), the subcellular location of Na⁺ within the transgenic barley leaf expressing AVP1 could be different, being potentially higher in the vacuole and lower in the cytoplasm. Nevertheless, the lack of increased Na⁺ accumulation in the leaves of the transgenic barley expressing AVP1 suggests that there may also be other factors, in addition to the accumulation of Na⁺ within the vacuole, which contribute to the increased shoot growth.

Transgenic AVP1 barley has improved shoot growth in nonsaline conditions

The transgenic barley expressing AVP1 (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b and 35S-AVP1-3) also had improved shoot growth in nonsaline conditions compared to null segregants (Table S1). This is in agreement with previous studies, where transgenic plants expressing AVP1 developed larger shoot and root biomass in nonsaline conditions compared to plants without this gene (Li et al., 2005, 2010; Vercruyssen et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2007). Additionally, studies on transgenic plants expressing a H⁺-PPase from other plant species, including Thellungiella halophila (syn. Eutrema salsugineum) (TsVP) and Triticum aestivum (TVP1), have reported an increase in shoot biomass under nonsaline conditions (Gouiaa et al., 2012; Lv et al., 2008). Although there are exceptions where no growth differences between nontransgenic and transgenic AVP1 plants in nonsaline conditions are seen (Bao et al., 2009; Pasapula et al., 2011; Qin et al., 2013), the increase in biomass of transgenic plants expressing AVP1 in both nonsaline and saline conditions is yet to be fully elucidated.

There are several factors potentially contributing to the improved growth of transgenic barley expressing AVP1. A recent study with AVP1 loss-of-function mutants suggests that the major role of AVP1 is the hydrolysis of inorganic pyrophosphate (PPi) in the cell cytoplasm rather than vacuolar acidification (Ferjani et al., 2011). This removal of cytosolic PP_i, which at high levels is an inhibitor of gluconeogenesis, may result in improved plant heterotrophic growth (Ferjani et al., 2011). The nondestructive plant imaging in our study shows that transgenic barley expressing AVP1 had already produced a significantly larger projected shoot area 9 days after sowing in both saline (35S-AVP1-2 & 35S-AVP1-3) and nonsaline soils (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b and 35S-AVP1-3) compared to null segregants (Figure 4c and Table S1). It is possible that the transgenic AVP1 barley plants are larger at 9 days due to a larger seed weight or a faster relative growth rate prior to imaging at 9 days after sowing. In support of the latter, the relative growth rates of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 were higher compared to null segregants in the early growth stages (9–19 days after sowing), whilst they were similar to null segregants in the later growth stages (28-47 days after sowing) (Figure 4c and Table S1). The larger shoot biomass of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 in nonsaline and saline conditions could be due to the enhanced removal of cytosolic PP_i improving seedling vigour.

The improved growth of transgenic barley expressing AVP1 may also be a result of more efficient sucrose transportenhancing plant water use or nutrition. Previous studies have demonstrated that transgenic plants expressing AVP1 or AVP1D (the *E229D* gain-of-function mutant) have improved tolerance to low water (Gaxiola *et al.*, 2001; Park *et al.*, 2005; Pasapula *et al.*,

AVP1 improves barley growth in saline conditions 383

2011), phosphorus (Yang et al., 2007) and nitrate provisions (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). This has been attributed to an increase in root biomass and rhizosphere acidification, allowing greater exploration of soil and consequently improved water, phosphorus and nitrate uptake (Paez-Valencia et al., 2013; Park et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007). AVP1 has also been shown to affect auxin-dependent organogenesis and root morphological traits (Li et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007). Recently, it has been hypothesized that transgenic plants expressing AVP1 may have more efficient sucrose transport to sink organs enabling improved root growth (Gaxiola et al., 2012; Paez-Valencia et al., 2013). Subtle alterations in nutrient or water availability could therefore allow transgenic AVP1 plants an advantage over plants without expression of this gene. In this current work, attempts were made to ensure that all factors other than the desired treatment were nonlimiting throughout the experiment duration. However, an increase in nutrient-use efficiency or improved water uptake may explain the observed increase in shoot biomass of transgenic AVP1 barley plants in nonsaline and saline conditions.

Conclusions

In this study, it is shown that the expression of AVP1 increases the shoot biomass of barley in saline and nonsaline conditions. Additionally, it is shown that the expression of AVP1 in transgenic barley improves the grain yield per plant of this cereal crop when grown in a high-salinity field. To our knowledge, this is the first time that such effects of AVP1 expression in transgenic plants have been validated in a saline field trial. The mechanism for this yield increase is unknown, although detailed nondestructive growth analysis of greenhouse-grown transgenic AVP1 barley plants is consistent with an effect of AVP1 expression on early vigour. This study supports the concept that AVP1 may have additional benefits beyond facilitating increased sequestration of Na⁺ ions into vacuoles (Ferjani et al., 2011; Gaxiola et al., 2012). Furthermore, the results of this study indicate that the expression of AVP1 in transgenic barley could provide a useful option for increasing cereal crop productivity in saline fields.

Experimental procedures

Generation of transgenic barley expressing AVP1

The coding sequence of AVP1 (At1g15690) was amplified from the Arabidopsis thaliana ecotype Col-0 cDNA and ligated into a pENTR-D-TOPO (Invitrogen) entry vector, before AVP1 was recombined into the pMDC32 destination vector using the Gateway® LR recombination reaction (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) (Curtis and Grossniklaus, 2003; Jacobs et al., 2007). Transformation of barley (Hordeum vulgare cv. Golden Promise) with the AVP1 pMDC32 vector was conducted using Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation, followed by the regeneration of barley plantlets in soil (Jacobs et al., 2007; Singh et al., 1997). A total of seven independent transgenic AVP1 barley lines were generated. The five T1 AVP1 barley lines that produced the most seed were grown for 14 days in nutrient solution containing 50 mm NaCl in a hydroponic system. Four lines showed a significant increase in leaf fresh weight compared to the wild-type (data not shown). Three of these four lines (35S-AVP1-1, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3), which had the largest growth improvement under saline conditions, are described in this study. In addition, two sibling lines from one transformation event (35S-AVP1-1a and 35S-AVP1-1b) were used.

384 Rhiannon K. Schilling et al.

Plant material and greenhouse growth conditions

Seeds of T₃ transgenic barley lines expressing AVP1 and null segregants were surface-sterilized by a 5-min exposure to ultraviolet light, then germinated at 21 °C for 5 days on moist filter paper in Petri dishes (145 mm diameter), which were placed in polyethylene bags to maintain humidity. Individual uniform size seedlings were transplanted (sowing) to sealed white pots (19.46 cm height × 14.94 cm diameter, Berry Plastics Corporation, Evansville, USA) filled with 3 kg of University of California (UC) mixture (1:1 peat : sand) and either 0 or 150 mm NaCl (9 mL of 5 M NaCl) mixed into the UC mixture (1.5 kg) within the bottom half of each pot. To maintain Ca²⁺ activity similar to that of control pots, an additional 3 mM CaCl₂ (990 µL of 1 M CaCl₂) was added to salt-treated pots. To minimize the loss of soil water via evaporation, the soil surface of each pot was covered in 100 g of blue polypropylene beads (Misc 430C, Plastic's Granulating Service, Kilburn, SA, Australia).

Nondestructive plant imaging and image analysis

Nine days after transplanting, the pots were randomly loaded onto a fully automated conveyor system within a temperaturecontrolled Smarthouse maintained between 15–27 °C (The Plant Accelerator[®], Adelaide, Australia; longitude: 138.639933, latitude: -34.971353). Plants were grown in natural light between the months of June and July in 2010. Every second day, an electronic conveyor system watered each pot using industrial scales (Bizerba, Balingen, Germany) and reverse osmosis (RO) water to maintain the soil water content at field capacity (300 mL water/pot).

Nondestructive measurements of plant growth occurred using a plant image capture and analysis system in The Plant Accelerator® facility (Scanalyzer 3D, LemnaTec, Aachen, Germany). High-resolution visible light (RGB) digital images, including two side and one top view, were obtained for each plant every second day between 9-19 days and between 28-47 days after sowing. The projected shoot area (pixel) of each plant was calculated from the total shoot pixel area derived from the three combined RGB images (Golzarian et al., 2011; Rajendran et al., 2009). A linear correlation between shoot biomass and projected shoot area has been shown to occur in the early stages of plant development (Rajendran et al., 2009). The mean relative growth rate of each line was determined from the slope of an exponential curve fitted to the mean projected shoot area from 9-19 days and 28-47 days after sowing to separate early and late growth stages. Following the final imaging measurements, the 4th leaf blade was sampled for ion analysis and the youngest fully emerged leaf blade for genotyping and gene expression.

DNA extraction and PCR analysis

Genomic DNA was extracted from leaf tissue following the protocol of Edwards *et al.* (1991). The presence or absence of the *AVP1* gene in each plant was determined using PCR amplification from 1 μ L of genomic DNA template with an *AVP1*-specific forward primer 5'-TGT TTT GAC CCC TAA AGT TAT C-3' and reverse primer 5'-TGG CTC TGA ACC CTT TGG TC-3', which amplified a fragment of 439 bp in size. The PCR conditions used to amplify the *AVP1* fragment was an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 72 °C for 1 min. The *HvVRT2* vernalization gene (GenBank DQ201168) was used as a control gene for PCR and was amplified using *HvVRT2*-

specific forward primer 5'-CCG AAT GTA CTG CCG TCA TCA CAG-3' and reverse primer 5'-TGG CAG AGG AAA ATA TGC GCT TGA-3', which amplified a fragment of 280 bp in size. The PCR conditions used to amplify *HvVRT2* were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 55 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. All PCR mixtures contained 1× Platinum[®] *Taq* PCR buffer, 2 mM MgCl₂, 200 μ M each dNTPs and 0.5 U of Platinum[®] Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Gel electrophoresis with 2% agarose gel containing 5 μ L/100 mL SYBR safe[®] stain (Invitrogen) and a ChemiScope 2850 imaging system (Clinx Science Instruments, Shanghai, China) was used to visualize PCR products and record gel images.

RNA extraction and gene expression analysis

Total RNA was extracted from the leaf tissue as described by Chomczynski (1993). Extracted RNA was treated with Ambion® DNase-free (Madison, WI, USA) to remove DNA contamination. Superscript III RT kit (Invitrogen) was used to synthesize cDNA using 1 µL volume of DNase-treated RNA. The expression of AVP1 in each plant was determined using PCR amplification of 1 µL of cDNA template with AVP1-specific forward primer 5'-TGT TTT GAC CCC TAA AGT TAT C-3' and reverse primer 5'-TGG CTC TGA ACC CTT TGG TC-3'. The PCR conditions used to amplify a fragment of the AVP1 transcript (expected band size of 439 bp) were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 53 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. The HvGAP gene (GenBank EF409629) was used as a control gene and amplified using HvGAP-specific forward primer 5'-GTG AGG CTG GTG CTG ATT ACG-3' and reverse primer 5'-TGG TGC AGC TAG CAT TTG ACA C-3'. The PCR conditions used to amplify a fragment of HvGAP (expected band size of 189 bp) were an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 58 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. All PCR mixtures contained 1× Platinum® Taq PCR buffer, 2 mм MgCl₂, 200 µм each dNTPs and 0.5 U of Platinum[®] Tag DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Gel electrophoresis with 2% agarose gel containing 5 µL/100 mL SYBR safe® stain (Invitrogen) and a ChemiScope 2850 imaging system was used to check PCR products and record gel images.

Soil characterization of a saline field trial site

The field trial site was located near Kunjin, Western Australia (longitude: 177.73390, latitude: -32.33960). An electromagnetic (EM) map of the field site showing the apparent electrical conductivity was obtained using a vehicle-fitted EM Geonics device (Precision Agronomics Australia, Esperance, Western Australia). Soil was collected from 0 to 10 cm depth using a spade in two field areas identified from the EM map as having low and high salinity. Soil texture (% sand, silt and clay) was determined using the hydrometer method (Day, 1965). Soil electrical conductivity (EC) and pH were measured in a 1 : 5 (soil : water) extract, after shaking on an orbital shaker for 1 h and settling for 30 mins, using a CyberScan PC 510 meter (Eutech Instruments, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA).

Saline field trial of transgenic barley

A field trial of T_4 transgenic barley lines expressing AVP1 (35S-AVP1-1a, 35S-AVP1-1b, 35S-AVP1-2 and 35S-AVP1-3) and wild-type (cv. Golden Promise) was conducted at the saline field site.

The field trial design was completely randomized with 2 plots (1.2 m width \times 2 m length) per line in each salt treatment (lowand high-salinity area). Plots were sown in July 2011 at a sowing rate of 160 plants/plot (Kalyx Australia, Perth, Western Australia). Total rainfall during the growing season was 287 mm (Weather Station 010536, Corrigin WA, http://www.bom.gov. au/climate/), with the high-salinity field area prone to waterlogging. Standard agronomic practices were used including weed control using 2 L/ha Sprayseed® (Syngenta), 2 L/ha Treflan® (Nufarm) and 1 L/ha Chlorpyrifos® (Dow AgroSciences) immediately before sowing; pre-emergent deep banding of 80 kg/ha Vigour Atlas® fertilizer containing 10N : 12P : 9K (Summit Fertilizers); and pre- and post-emergent application of 100 kg/ha of urea. Shoot and leaf tissues were sampled and plant tillers counted in October 2011 at the vegetative growth stage Z37 (Zadoks et al., 1974). Shoot material was dried for 3 days in an oven at 70 °C (Contherm Scientific Ltd, Wellington, New Zealand) for biomass measurements. A leaf blade was collected for genotyping, and the youngest fully emerged blade was collected for solute measurements. Grain was sampled from each plot in December 2011, and the number of grain heads, the number of individual grains and grain weight per plant were recorded.

ICP-OES determination of leaf solute concentrations

The 4th leaf blade (greenhouse-grown plants) and the youngest fully emerged blade (field-grown plants) were dried for 3 days in an oven at 70 °C (Contherm Scientific Ltd). Dried leaf tissue was cut into 2- to 5-cm pieces and digested using 70% nitric acid and 30% hydrogen peroxide for inductive coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) analysis (Wheal *et al.*, 2011).

Statistical analysis

Data were statistically analysed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in Microsoft[®] Office Excel 2007, and the least significant difference (LSD) was used to identify significantly different means at a probability level of P < 0.05 or <0.01.

Acknowledgements

We thank the ACPFG Transformation Group for barley transformation; Precision Agronomics Australia (Esperance, WA) for EM mapping; Kalyx Australia (Perth, WA), Jan Nield and Andrew Jacobs for GM field trial assistance; the Waite Analytical Services (Adelaide, SA) for ICP-OES analysis; The Plant Accelerator[®] of The Australian Plant Phenomics Facility (APPF) for bioinformatics and horticultural assistance; and Jessica Bovill for technical assistance. We also acknowledge the University of Connecticut (UConn) and Roberto Gaxiola. This project was supported by the Australian Research Council (ARC) and the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC). RS is a recipient of a GRDC Grains Industry Research Scholarship.

References

- Apse, M.P., Aharon, G.S., Snedden, W.A. and Blumwald, E. (1999) Salt tolerance conferred by overexpression of a vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter in *Arabidopsis. Science*, **285**, 1256–1258.
- Bao, A.K., Wang, S.M., Wu, G.Q., Xi, J.J., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, C.M. (2009) Overexpression of the Arabidopsis H⁺-PPase enhanced resistance to salt and drought stress in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa L.*). *Plant Sci.* **176**, 232–240.

AVP1 improves barley growth in saline conditions 385

- Berger, B., Parent, B. and Tester, M. (2010) High-throughput shoot imaging to study drought responses. J. Exp. Bot. 61, 3519–3528.
- Blumwald, E. (2000) Sodium transport and salt tolerance in plants. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 12, 431–434.
- Chomczynski, P. (1993) A reagent for the single step simultaneous isolation of RNA, DNA and proteins from cell and tissue samples. *Biotechniques*, **15**, 532– 537.
- Colmer, T.D., Munns, R. and Flowers, T.J. (2005) Improving salt tolerance of wheat and barley: future prospects. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* 45, 1425– 1443.
- Curtis, M.D. and Grossniklaus, U. (2003) A gateway cloning vector set for high-throughput functional analysis of genes in planta. *Plant Physiol.* 133, 462–469.
- Day, P.R. (1965) Particle fractionation and particle-size analysis. In Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 1 - Physical and Mineralogical Properties Including Statistics of Measurement and Sampling (CA B., ed.), pp. 545–567. Madison: American Society of Agron.
- Duan, X.G., Yang, A.F., Gao, F., Zhang, S.L. and Zhang, J.R. (2007) Heterologous expression of vacuolar H*-PPase enhances the electrochemical gradient across the vacuolar membrane and improves tobacco cell salt tolerance. *Protoplasma*, 232, 87–95.
- Edwards, K., Johnstone, C. and Thompson, C. (1991) A simple and rapid method for the preparation of plant genomic DNA for PCR analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **19**, 1349.
- Ferjani, A., Segami, S., Horiguchi, G., Muto, Y., Maeshima, M. and Tsukaya, H. (2011) Keep an eye on PPi: the vacuolar-type H*-pyrophosphatase regulates postgerminative development in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 23, 2895–2908.
- Flowers, T.J. (2004) Improving crop salt tolerance. J. Exp. Bot. 55, 307–319.
- Furbank, R.T. and Tester, M. (2011) Phenomics technologies to relieve the phenotyping bottleneck. Trends Plant Sci. 16, 635–644.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Li, J.S., Undurraga, S., Dang, L.M., Allen, G.J., Alper, S.L. and Fink, G.R. (2001) Drought- and salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the AVP1 H*-pump. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, **98**, 11444–11449.
- Gaxiola, R.A., Sanchez, C.A., Paez-Valencia, J., Ayre, B.G. and Elser, J.J. (2012) Genetic manipulation of a "vacuolar" H*-PPase: from salt tolerance to yield enhancement under phosphorus-deficient soils. *Plant Physiol.* 159, 3–11.
- Golzarian, M., Frick, R., Rajendran, K., Berger, B., Roy, S., Tester, M. and Lun, D. (2011) Accurate inference of shoot biomass from high-throughput images of cereal plants. *Plant Methods*, 7, 2.
- Gouiaa, S., Khoudi, H., Leidi, E., Pardo, J. and Masmoudi, K. (2012) Expression of wheat Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter *TNHXS1* and H⁺- pyrophosphatase *TVP1* genes in tobacco from a bicistronic transcriptional unit improves salt tolerance. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **79**, 137–155.
- Jacobs, A., Lunde, C., Bacic, A., Tester, M. and Roessner, U. (2007) The impact of constitutive heterologous expression of a moss Na⁺ transporter on the metabolomes of rice and barley. *Metabolomics*, **3**, 307–317.
- Li, J.S., Yang, H.B., Peer, W.A., Richter, G., Blakeslee, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Titapiwantakun, B., Undurraga, S., Khodakovskaya, M., Richards, E.L., Krizek, B., Murphy, A.S., Gilroy, S. and Gaxiola, R. (2005) *Arabidopsis* H*-PPase *AVP1* regulates auxin-mediated organ development. *Science*, **310**, 121–125.
- Li, Z.G., Baldwin, C.M., Hu, Q., Liu, H. and Luo, H. (2010) Heterologous expression of *Arabidopsis* H⁺-pyrophosphatase enhances salt tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera* L.). *Plant, Cell Environ.* 33, 272–289.
- Lv, S., Zhang, K.W., Gao, Q., Lian, L.J., Song, Y.J. and Zhang, J.R. (2008) Overexpression of an H⁺-PPase gene from *Thellungiella halophila* in cotton enhances salt tolerance and improves growth and photosynthetic performance. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **49**, 1150–1164.
- Maeshima, M. (2000) Vacuolar H*-pyrophosphatase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1465, 37–51.
- Munns, R. (2002) Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. Plant, Cell Environ. 25, 239–250.
- Munns, R. and Tester, M. (2008) Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 651–681.

386 Rhiannon K. Schilling et al.

- Paez-Valencia, J., Sanchez-Lares, J., Marsh, E., Dorneles, L.T., Santos, M.P., Sanchez, D., Winter, A., Murphy, S., Cox, J., Trzaska, M., Metler, J., Kozic, A., Facanha, A.R., Schachtman, D., Sanchez, C.A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2013) Enhanced proton translocating pyrophosphatase activity improves nitrogen use efficiency in romaine lettuce. *Plant Physiol.* 161, 1557–1569.
- Park, S., Li, J.S., Pittman, J.K., Berkowitz, G.A., Yang, H.B., Undurraga, S., Morris, J., Hirschi, K.D. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2005) Up-regulation of a H⁺-pyrophosphatase (H⁺-PPase) as a strategy to engineer drought-resistant crop plants. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, **102**, 18830–18835.
- Pasapula, V., Shen, G., Kuppu, S., Paez-Valencia, J., Mendoza, M., Hou, P., Chen, J., Qiu, X., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Auld, D., Blumwald, E., Zhang, H., Gaxiola, R. and Payton, P. (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H⁺-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotech. J.* 9, 88–99.
- Plett, D.C. and Møller, I.S. (2010) Na* transport in glycophytic plants: what we know and would like to know. *Plant, Cell Environ.* 33, 612–626.
- Qin, H., Gu, Q., Kuppu, S., Sun, L., Zhu, X., Mishra, N., Hu, R., Shen, G., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, L., Zhang, X., Burow, M., Payton, P. and Zhang, H. (2013) Expression of the *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H*-pyrophosphatase gene *AVP1* in peanut to improve drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Biotech. Rep.* **7**, 345–355.
- Rajendran, K., Tester, M. and Roy, S.J. (2009) Quantifying the three main components of salinity tolerance in cereals. *Plant, Cell Environ.* 32, 237–249.
- Roy, S.J., Tucker, E.J. and Tester, M. (2011) Genetic analysis of abiotic stress tolerance in crops. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **14**, 232–239.
- Singh, R., Kemp, J., Kollmorgen, J., Qureshi, J. and Fincher, G. (1997) Fertile plant regeneration from cell suspension and protoplast cultures of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* cv. Schooner). *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* **49**, 121–127.
- Sirault, X.R.R., James, R.A. and Furbank, R.T. (2009) A new screening method for osmotic component of salinity tolerance in cereals using infrared thermography. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **36**, 970–977.
- Sze, H., Ward, J.M. and Lai, S.P. (1992) Vacuolar H*-translocating ATPases from plants - structure, function and isoforms. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 24, 371– 381.

- Vercruyssen, L., Gonzalez, N., Werner, T., Schmulling, T. and Inze, D. (2011) Combining enhanced root and shoot growth reveals cross talk between pathways that control plant organ size in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* **155**, 1339–1352.
- Wheal, M.S., Fowles, T.O. and Palmer, L.T. (2011) A cost-effective acid digestion method using closed polypropylene tubes for inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) analysis of plant essential elements. *Anal. Methods*, **3**, 2854–2863.
- Yang, H., Knapp, J., Koirala, P., Rajagopal, D., Peer, W.A., Silbart, L.K., Murphy, A. and Gaxiola, R.A. (2007) Enhanced phosphorus nutrition in monocots and dicots over-expressing a phosphorus-responsive type I H⁺-pyrophosphatase. *Plant Biotech. J.* 5, 735–745.
- Zadoks, J.C., Chang, T.T. and Konzak, C.F. (1974) A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed Res.* 14, 415–421.
- Zhao, F.Y., Zhang, X.J., Li, P.H., Zhao, Y.X. and Zhang, H. (2006) Co-expression of the Suaeda salsa SsNHX1 and Arabidopsis AVP1 confer greater salt tolerance to transgenic rice than the single SsNHX1. Mol. Breed. 17, 341– 353.

Supporting information

Additional Supporting information may be found in the online version of this article:

Figure S1 Leaf Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in a high-salinity field.

Table S1 Projected shoot area and relative growth rates of null segregants and transgenic *AVP1* barley in 0 mM NaCl.

 Table S2 Grain yield of wild-type and transgenic AVP1 barley in a nonsaline field.